Gran Sasso Science Institute

MATHEMATICS OF NATURAL, SOCIAL AND LIFE SCIENCES DOCTORAL PROGRAMME

Cycle XXXI - AY 2015/2018

Nonlinear Schrödinger equations and quantum fluids non-vanishing at infinity: Incompressible limit and quantum vortices

PHD CANDIDATE
Lars Eric Hientzsch

PhD Thesis submitted 6 September 2019

ADVISOR

Prof. Pierangelo Marcati Gran Sasso Science Institute

Dr. Paolo Antonelli Gran Sasso Science Institute









Nonlinear Schrödinger equations and quantum fluids non-vanishing at infinity: Incompressible limit and quantum vortices

PHD CANDIDATE Lars Eric Hientzsch

PhD Thesis Submitted 6 September 2019 ADVISOR Prof. Pierangelo Marcati Dr. Paolo Antonelli

Gran Sasso Science Institute

MATHEMATICS OF NATURAL, SOCIAL AND LIFE SCIENCES DOCTORAL PROGRAMME

Cycle XXXI - AY 2015/2018

Meinen Eltern

Preamble

This thesis concerns the mathematical analysis of some hydrodynamic models describing quantum fluids, namely fluids whose macroscopic behavior still exhibits quantum effects. The prototype model for such fluids is the quantum hydrodynamic (QHD) system arising as model in the description of phenomena like superfluidity, Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC), superconductivity, quantum plasmas and semi conductor devices. From a mathematical point of view, the QHD system is given by a compressible Euler system augmented by a stress tensor accounting for the quantum features in the fluid and which depends on the density and its derivatives. Stress tensors of this kind also appear in the theory of capillarity developed by Korteweg, one refers to these systems as Euler-Korteweg and Navier-Stokes-Korteweg systems when inviscid or viscous respectively. Motivated by the analysis of some physically relevant solutions like quantized vortices, we consider the system on the whole space complemented with non-zero boundary conditions at infinity. The Cauchy problem for finite and infinite energy weak solutions (including vortex solutions) is investigated. Our method relies on the equivalence between QHD systems and NLS type equations through the Madelung transforms and the polar factorization method that renders the equivalence rigorous for rough solutions. We are thus led to study the well-posedness theory in the energy space for a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-zero boundary conditions at infinity that we develop ad-hoc. Moreover, we consider the asymptotic behavior of weak solutions to the QHD system in a suitable scaling regime that is linked to the study of quantized vortices and can be interpreted as quantum counterpart of the low Mach number limit of classical fluid dynamics. The dispersion relation of acoustic waves turns out to be characterized by the Bogoliubov dispersion relation. In the scaling regime, the dynamics of vortex solutions can be asymptotically described by the Kirchhoff-Onsager ODE system.

Secondly, we study the quantum Navier-Stokes (QNS) equations that can be understood as a viscous regularization of the QHD system with density dependent viscosity tensor. Physically, it is motivated by applications in the modeling of dissipative quantum fluids and as a showcase model for capillary fluids. We introduce global existence of finite energy weak solutions of the quantum Navier-Stokes system with non-trivial far-field behavior. In contrast to the results for the QHD system, the analysis of the QNS system is entirely based on techniques from fluid dynamics. Finally, we investigate the low Mach number limit and prove strong convergence to weak solutions of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations for general ill-prepared data.

Acknowledgements

While working on this thesis, I not only ran into a variety of fascinating mathematical problems, but also met many kind and interesting mathematicians, to whom I am thankful. First and foremost, I am grateful to Pierangelo Marcati and Paolo Antonelli for supervising my work. I am indebted to Pierangelo Marcati for introducing me to this exciting and challenging research area. His support, advice, both scientific and personal, and the trust put in this project have been instrumental for this work. His enthusiastic and passionate way of approaching mathematical problems is both contagious and inspirational. I want to thank Paolo Antonelli for mentoring throughout my PhD and even more his availability and limitless patience in teaching me some intriguing mathematics. He never shied away from getting his hands dirty to spend hours problem solving in front of a blackboard. Needless to say, this work could not have been accomplished without their kind and thoughtful guidance and their encouragement. I am indebted to Didier Bresch and Christophe Lacave for accepting to be referee of this thesis. I would like to thank them for their careful revision, their valuable remarks and numerous comments, which contributed to improve this manuscript.

I am honoured that Sara Daneri, Donatella Donatelli, Vladimir Georgiev, Christophe Lacave and Carlo Marchioro accepted to be member of the examination committee and I am grateful to each of them.

During my studies at Gran Sasso Science Institute, I had the chance to conduct my research in an extremely stimulating environment providing all the opportunities I could wish for. I enjoyed studying mathematics together with many highly motivated fellow students and colleagues. Beyond that, GSSI has hosted a large number of visiting scientists, workshops and schools, creating opportunities to interact with many mathematicians. Being too many to list, I would like to mention in particular three of these events: the Gran Sasso Quantum Meetings in November 2018, the intensive program on fluids and waves in June 2018 and the Bose-Einstein condensation day in November 2017. It has been a great honour for me to meet Lev Pitaevskii and Sandro Stringari on the occasion of the BEC day and my understanding of the theory of superfluidity and BEC gained immensely from talking to them. I am thankful to Serena Cenatiempo for organising the BEC day and a series of advanced courses in quantum mechanics as well as introducing me to the theory of quantum many body problems. Furthermore, I want to thank GSSI and especially Pierangelo Marcati as coordinator of the PhD program for their support that allowed me to attend and to deliver talks at various schools and conferences which I greatly benefited from. It has been a great pleasure to be part of the young, dynamic and ambitious graduate school GSSI in these early years of its history, to see the Institute grow and eventually obtain the status of Scuola superiore universitaria.

I acknowledge the support by the University of L'Aquila through the research fellowship "Coherent structures in quantum fluids" and I would like to thank in particular the scientific director of the project Donatella Donatelli for her kind guidance and support. I appreciated sharing many fruitful discussions with my colleagues from the University of L'Aquila. I would like to particularly thank Stefano Spirito, I profited a lot from talking to him about analysis. I also acknowledge the financial support by the GNAMPA project "Esistenza, limiti singolari e comportamento asintotico per equazioni Eulero/Navier–Stokes – Korteweg".

I owe a debt of gratitude to Vladimir Georgiev who introduced me to the mathematical analysis of (dispersive) PDEs during my undergraduate studies and encouraged me to pursue my interests and career in mathematics. I am grateful to him for the interest he followed the progress of my studies with and the enthusiasm for mathematical research he taught me.

Completing this manuscript would have been all the more difficult were it not for the friendship of the fellow students and colleagues in L'Aquila and beyond. In particular, I am very grateful to Antonio, Ahmed, Anna Paola, Cosimo, Gennaro, Jack, Jon, Michele A., Michele D., Raffaele F., Raffaele S., Roberta, Roberto B., Roberto G. and Tian-Yi. I am especially thankful to Gennaro and Raffaele for enthusiastically talking mathematics and sharing ideas at any time of the day as well as to Ahmed and Roberto for their unequaled encouragement. Finally, my most heartfelt thank you goes to my family, first of all my parents, for their unwavering love and unconditional support and in particular in loving memory to my grandfather Helmut who has always followed with great interest the progress of my studies. Finally but most importantly, I am sincerely grateful to my wonderful partner Francesca.

L'Aquila, September 2019

Contents

In	trod	uction	1
	0.1	Review of the physical theory	1
	0.2	Mathematical analysis	4
	0.3	Outline of the thesis	11
	0.4	Notations	12
Ι	Ca	uchy Theory	15
1	NLS	S with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity	17
	1.1	Well-posedness in the energy space	21
		1.1.1 Properties of the energy space \mathbb{E}_2	24
		1.1.2 Local well-posedness in $2d$ and subcubic nonlinearities in $3d$	25
		1.1.3 Global well-posedness in $2d$ and for subcubic nonlinearities in $3d$	40
		1.1.4 Well-posedness theory in $3d$ for supercubic nonlinearities	44
	1.2	Special solutions and large time asymptotics	53
		1.2.1 Travelling waves	53
		1.2.2 Scattering	56
	1.3	Solutions with non-zero degree at infinity	57
2	QH	D with non-trival far-field	61
	2.1	Definitions and main results	63
	2.2	Polar decomposition approach	66
		2.2.1 Stability of the polar factorization for wave-functions in the energy space	68
		2.2.2 Stability of the polar factorization for functions of infinite energy \ldots .	70
		2.2.3 Continuity of the vorticity with respect to weak continuity	74
	2.3	Existence of finite energy weak solutions	76
	2.4	Existence of weak solutions of infinite energy	78
	2.5	Special solutions and large time asymptotics	79
		2.5.1 Solutions of finite energy	80
		2.5.2 Vortex solutions	80

3	QNS	S with non-trivial far-field	87
	3.1	Definition and main results	90
		3.1.1 Truncation functions	92
	3.2	Solutions on periodic domains	93
		3.2.1 Construction of periodic initial data	93
		3.2.2 Existence of solutions on periodic domains	96
	3.3	Extension to approximate solutions and convergence	99
	3.4	Proof of the main Theorems	110
	3.5	Energy and BD entropy inequality	111
II	Lo	w Mach number limit and its quantum counterpart 1	.17
4	Low	Mach number limit for QNS	19
	4.1	Definitions and main results	122
		4.1.1 Scaling	122
	4.2	Uniform estimates	126
		4.2.1 Initial data of finite energy	126
		4.2.2 Uniform estimates on the solution	128
		4.2.3 Bounds on density fluctuation σ_{ε} and momentum m_{ε}	128
	4.3	Acoustic waves	131
	4.4	Convergence to the limiting system	136
	4.5	Strichartz estimates for the acoustic wave system	139
		4.5.1 Dispersive estimate	140
		4.5.2 Strichartz estimates	143
5	Scal	ing limit QHD 1	147
	5.1	Scaling limit for finite energy weak solutions	149

Introduction

This introduction aims to provide a (very) brief review of the physical theory of quantum fluids and its hallmarks accounting for the choice of the models considered in this thesis. Subsequently, we highlight the key features of the mathematical analysis and the author's contributions.

0.1 Review of the physical theory

The first experimental realization of liquefied helium at very low temperatures (around $T \sim$ 4K) by Onnes 1908 [151] was rewarded with a Nobel prize and triggered an extensive research. both experimental and theoretical in low temperature physics. In 1938, Allen and Misener [5] and Kapitza [114] discovered independently that at a temperature T = 2,17K liquid helium undergoes a second-order phase transition, superfluidity - a new state of matter - had been discovered. The critical temperature is called λ -point because of the shape of the specific heat capacity experiencing a peak at that temperature. Superfluid flow exhibits several striking properties among which inviscid flow through narrow capillaries and irrotationality below a critical speed. It was suspected that superfluidity is due to the quantum-mechanical properties of the fluid emerging macroscopically. In early attempts, London [137] proposed to explain this phenomena by a recent theory developed by Einstein to describe ideal Bose gases. In 1925, Einstein inspired by a work of Bose, had argued that for gases of non-interacting particles a phase transition occurs at very low temperatures. A macroscopically relevant fraction of the gas is condensed, namely the atoms occupy the state of lowest energy. By the time, the predicted critical temperature was way beyond reach of experimental methods. However, London [137] argued that superfluidity and Bose-Einstein condensation are linked even though only a small fraction (~ 10%) of superfluid helium is condensed and the system is strongly interacting while Einstein's theory deals with non-interacting gases. These observations inspired Tisza and Landau [117] to design the two-fluid model describing the hydrodynamic behavior of superfluid flow. The description consists in two interpenetrating fluid components, the normal one with density and velocity field (ρ_n, v_n) and the superfluid one characterized by (ρ_s, v_s) . The total density of the fluid is given by $\rho = \rho_n + \rho_v$. The densities ρ_n, ρ_s depend on the temperature as follows. For temperatures above the λ -point, there is no superfluid component, the entire fluid is described as normal fluid, namely $\rho = \rho_n$. The superfluid density increases

while lowering the temperature and at the absolute zero T = 0 reaches the total density of the fluid $\rho = \rho_s$, the normal fluid density vanishes. A milestone in the theory was reached by Bogoliubov [34] in 1947; he introduced a microscopic theory for weakly interacting Bose gases based on the concepts of Bose-Einstein condensation. In particular, his theory elucidating the excitation spectrum of a weakly interacting Bose gas proved to be compatible with the criteria of superfluidity of Landau. Intense theoretical research has been carried out to both explore and interlink the phenomena of superfluidity and Bose-Einstein condensation. We stress that, even though superfluidity and Bose-Einstein condensation are closely connected, these are distinct phenomena; to illustrate their conceptual difference is way beyond the scope of this introduction and we refer the reader for instance to [160]. Continuing our short walk through the history of the physical discoveries, the next cornerstone of superfluid flow was predicted by Onsager [152] in 1949 and Feynman [80] in 1955: the appearance of quantized vortices. Their experimental discovery is due to Hall and Vinen [99] in 1956 and they have directly been observed by Packard and Sanders [156] in 1972.

The experimental validation of the Bose-Einstein condensation theory has only been realized in recent years. Indeed, in order to reach the temperature threshold of around 200nK for the occurrence of Bose-Einstein condensation of hydrogen atoms highly advanced laser-cooling techniques are required. Their development has been been rewarded with the Nobel prize in 1997. The realization of BEC has been achieved in 1995 by Cornell and Wieman (JILA) [64] and shortly after Ketterle (MIT) [116] earning them the Nobel prize of physics in 2001. This breakthrough has triggered a tremendous interest in both theoretical and experimental investigation of Bose-Einstein condensation. We refer the reader again to [160] for more details.

In the following, we sketch some of the cornerstones of the theory that will appear in mathematical context in the body of this thesis. In their seminal papers, Gross [90] and Pitaevskii [159], have independently shown that a weakly interacting Bose gas at zero temperature is characterized by an macroscopic order parameter ψ that satisfies the so called Gross-Pitavskii equation. The equation also well describes superfluid helium II close to the λ -point [87], however we emphasize that the coefficients have a different physical meaning. In the early stages of quantum mechanics, Madelung [138] argued that the linear Schrödinger equation admits an alternative hydrodynamic formulation by decomposing the wave-function in its magnitude and its phase. The velocity field is then associated to the phase gradient of the wave-function. This analogy has been exploited by Landau [117, 126] to investigate nonlinear phenomena in superfluidity. Starting from the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, one is led to a compressible Euler equation augmented by a dispersive stress tensor that sometimes is called quantum pressure term and describes forces due to the spatial variations of the magnitude of the wave-function on small scales. The velocity field is formally associated to the phase gradient and therefore describes an irrotational flow away from vacuum regions. The fact that the wave-function is single-valued leads to the quantization of circulation computed on a small contour around a vortex that can be seen as a topological defect, namely a jump in the phase. The classical pressure and the quantum pressure act on different length-scales, the former dominates if the density of the fluid varies at large length scales while the latter is relevant when the density varies on length scales proportional to the *healing length* of the condensate, typically of order 10^{-6} m for Bose-Einstein condensates and 10^{-10} m for superfluid helium [74, 160]. If one linearizes the hydrodynamic equations around a constant density equilibrium state, then it becomes clear that the quantum pressure alters the dispersion of sound waves. Indeed, for high frequencies or short wave-length, that is at small length scales up to order of the healing length, the dispersion is not linear but rather quadratic. This discovery had been a milestone in the description of the theory, it is a key feature of the Bogoliubov theory of 1947. The dispersion relation characterizes elementary excitations in a weakly interacting Bose gas and creates a strong link with the Landau criterion of superfluidity based on elementary excitations in the superfluid. The core size of a quantized vortex is proportional to the healing length, a feature that together with the quantized circulation distinguishes the quantum vortex essentially from a classical vortex. Both properties are due to the restrictions imposed by the properties of the order parameter. Quantized vortices are believed to be the key in the understanding of quantum turbulence. In their conclusions of [113], the authors argue that since quantum turbulence is reduced to quantized vortices and their entanglements it might be more accessible in some respects compared to classical turbulence. At the same time, a better understanding of quantum turbulence is expected to yield some insight also to classical turbulence strongly motivating the study of hydrodynamic systems of quantum fluids. The dynamics of quantized vortices is completely different in two and three dimensions. While complicated entanglement of vortex filaments may happen in three dimensions, it is meaningful to think about vortices in two dimensions as point vortices given the order of the healing length [18]. If one assumes the healing length to be infinitesimally small compared to the distance between vortices, then it turns out that their dynamics is asymptotically described by the dynamics of classical point vortices through the Kirchhoff-Onsager law. To conclude, we mention that the QHD system has also been derived in various context beyond the description of superfluidity: it has e.g. been used for the description of quantum plasmas [98] and semi conductor devices [83] where the derivation of the QHD system is obtained by means of a momentum expansion of the Wigner-Boltzmann equation. We also point out that similar models were derived by taking into account further correction terms like for instance viscous tensors [91]. The derivation is based on a Wigner-Fokker-Planck model. The approach based on the Wigner equation provides an alternative mathematical derivation of various (dissipative) quantum fluid models including the quantum Navier-Stokes equations. We refer the reader to the review paper [111]. These considerations underline the contextualization of the considered models, namely QHD and QNS in the class of Euler–Korteweg and Navier–Stokes–Korteweg fluids that model capillary effects in fluids. Their name is borrowed from Korteweg who first introduced fluid dynamics equations augmented by stress tensor describing capillary effects [121].

0.2 Mathematical analysis

We introduce the models subject to our study and elucidate the main techniques used for their mathematical analysis. The results obtained in this thesis are highlighted. As already pointed out, the prototype model for quantum fluids, i.e. compressible, inviscid fluids subject to quantum (dispersive) effects is the quantum hydrodynamic system (QHD) that reads

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div} J = 0\\ \partial_t J + \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{J \otimes J}{\rho}\right) + \nabla p(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right), \end{cases}$$
(0.2.1)

The dynamics is considered on the whole space \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2, 3 and equipped with nonvanishing boundary conditions at infinity

$$\rho(x) \to 1, \qquad |x| \to \infty.$$
(0.2.2)

The unknowns are the mass density ρ and the current density J, the pressure is denoted by $p(\rho)$. The boundary condition is motivated by applications such as Bose-Einstein condensation [90, 159, 160] and superfluidity close to the λ -point [87] described by the Gross-Pitaevskii theory. In addition, the non-zero boundary conditions give rise to rich behavior for the equations, namely a variety of special solutions in form of coherent structures. We mention vortex solutions [90, 159, 87], travelling waves [18] and dark solitons in nonlinear optics [122]. The nonlinear third-order dispersive tensor on the right-hand side takes in account for the quantum effects of fluid. Beyond superfluidity and BEC, the QHD system appears in various applications such as superconductivity [79] quantum plasmas [98] and in the modelling of semi conductor devices [83]. In a more general framework, the QHD system belongs to the class of Euler-Korteweg fluids describing inviscid capillary fluids. Capillarity effects in fluid flow are mathematically described by a stress tensor depending on the density and its derivatives. If additionally the phenomena is of viscous nature, we call these Navier-Stokes-Korteweg systems, namely

$$\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0,$$

$$\partial_t(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla P(\rho) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\mathbb{S}) + \kappa^2 \operatorname{div}(\mathbb{K}),$$
(0.2.3)

where the viscous stress tensor $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{S}(\nabla u)$ is given by

$$\mathbb{S} = h(\rho)\mathbf{D}u + g(\rho)\operatorname{div} u\mathbf{I},$$

while the capillary term $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{K}(\rho, \nabla \rho)$ reads

$$\mathbb{K} = \left(\rho \operatorname{div}(k(\rho)\nabla\rho) - \frac{1}{2}(\rho k'(\rho) - k(\rho)|\nabla\rho|^2)\right)\mathbb{I} - k(\rho)\nabla\rho \otimes \nabla\rho.$$

The capillary tensor is referred to as Korteweg tensor [121], see also [165, 166]. The family of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg equations has rigorously been derived in [75] and more recently

in [101]. The quantum Navier-Stokes equation that we study below is obtained from (0.2.3) by setting $h(\rho) = \rho$, $g(\rho) = 0$ and $k(\rho) = \frac{1}{\rho}$. If we additionally set $\nu = 0$, we recover the QHD system. The results of this thesis can hence be interpreted in a framework that is not restricted to the modelling of quantum fluids but rather constituted by the family capillary fluids. Turning our attention to system (0.2.1), we observe that quantum correction term, sometimes also referred to as quantum pressure or Bohm potential, may - under suitable regularity assumptions - also be written in different ways

$$\frac{1}{2}\rho\nabla\left(\frac{\Delta\sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right) = \frac{1}{4}\nabla\Delta\rho - \operatorname{div}(\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho}) = \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{div}(\rho\nabla^2\log\rho).$$
(0.2.4)

Further, we notice that system (0.2.1) is Hamiltonian, whose energy

$$\mathcal{E}(\rho, J) = \int \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{|J|^2}{\rho} + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (0.2.5)$$

is formally conserved along the flow of solutions. The internal energy is characterized by the identity

$$F(\rho) = \rho \int_{1}^{\rho} \frac{p(s)}{s^2} ds - (\rho - 1), \qquad (0.2.6)$$

and incorporates the boundary conditions at infinity (0.2.2), such boundary conditions at infinity are usually called far-field behavior in literature. Our analysis is concerned with the physically relevant barotropic γ -pressure laws, i.e. $p(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma}\rho^{\gamma}$ with $\gamma > 1$ for d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3 so that the internal energy equals

$$F(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma(\gamma - 1)} (\rho^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho - 1)).$$

From a mathematical point of view, system (2.0.1) is a compressible Euler system augmented by the nonlinear stress tensor (0.2.4) encoding the quantum effects. Heuristically, working with weak solutions of finite energy only provides a priori estimates on $\sqrt{\rho}u$ and $\nabla\sqrt{\rho}$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\rho - 1$ in $L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ that are not sufficient to define the velocity field u a.e. in \mathbf{R}^d . This is due to appearance of vacuum that on its turn can not be controlled. In general, the density ρ only has Sobolev regularity and the nodal set { $\rho = 0$ } might be quite irregular. Given the well-known difficulties in the analysis of weak solutions to compressible Euler equations, this suggests that an analysis by means of classical fluid dynamics equations faces various obstacles. To overcome these difficulties, one commonly exploits the analogy between system (0.2.1) and a family of nonlinear Schrödinger equations. This analogy was already established by Madelung [138] since the early days of quantum mechanics and has also been exploited by Landau [117, 126] to investigate nonlinear phenomena in superfluidity. Let us consider the following nonlinear Schrödinger equation of Gross-Pitaevskii type

$$i\partial_t \psi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi + F'(|\psi|^2)\psi, \qquad (0.2.7)$$

where F is the internal energy (0.2.6) and complemented with non-trivial boundary conditions at infinity, i.e.

$$|\psi(x)| \to 1$$
 as $|x| \to \infty$.

The Hamiltonian associated to the evolution equation (0.2.7) reads

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (0.2.8)$$

For $\gamma = 2$, (1.1.1) reduces to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation [90, 159] and the Hamiltonian is given by the celebrated Ginzburg-Landau energy functional [88]. Coming back to the analogy with the hydrodynamic formulation, the approach based on the Madelung transform consists in expressing the wave function in terms of its amplitude and phase $\psi = \sqrt{\rho}e^{iS}$. This ansatz plugged in (0.2.7) and separating real and imaginary parts leads to the system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho \nabla S) = 0, \\ \partial_t S + \frac{1}{2} |\nabla S|^2 + f(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}} \end{cases}$$

Defining the velocity field to be the phase gradient $u = \nabla S$, writing the equation for velocity u and multiplying by the mass density ρ yields

$$\partial_t(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla p(\rho) = \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right)$$

If we further define the current as $J = \rho u$, then (ρ, J) satisfies system (0.2.1). The Madelung transform is valid for smooth solutions away from vacuum, a feature that also constitutes its main drawback. Indeed the phase cannot be uniquely defined where the wave function vanishes. Ruling out the presence of vacuum excludes in particular quantized vortices being coherent structures appearing in the vacuum region of the fluid and one of the most striking phenomena in superfluidity and Bose-Einstein condensation, see e.g. [87, 159]. On the level of the wave-function dynamics, close to the vacuum the phase can only experience jumps by integer multiples of 2π in order for ψ to be single-valued. Consequently, if one considers a contour around a vacuum point, the circulation of the velocity field must be quantized, i.e.

$$\oint_C v \cdot \mathrm{d}\vec{l} = 2\pi \frac{\hbar}{m} n$$

If $n \neq 0$, then the fluid has a quantized vortex in that vacuum point of degree (winding number) n and a quantum of vorticity is given by $\frac{\hbar}{m}$. Unfortunately, albeit giving a very accurate description of the specific phenomena, this approach is not well suited for rough solutions having only the regularity given by the finite energy framework. For this reason, in this thesis we follow the approach developed in [11], which provides a rigorous framework for finite energy weak solutions by using a polar factorisation method. The hydrodynamic variables $(\rho, \Lambda = \frac{J}{\sqrt{\rho}})$ are defined in a self-consistent way not limited by the appearance of vacuum regions. Global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions to (0.2.1) is proved in [11, 12] for vanishing boundary conditions at infinity but for fairly general pressure laws and without any further smallness or regularity assumptions. For that purpose, the method in [11, 12] relies on the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for the underlying effective wave-function dynamics. When (0.2.1) is studied with vanishing boundary conditions at infinity, the H^1 -theory for the well-posedness of the corresponding nonlinear Schrödinger equation is satisfactorily well developed, see e.g. [52, 167]. When complemented with non-vanishing boundary conditions, the well-posedness in the respective energy space of (0.2.7) with nonlinearity $F'(|\psi|^2)\psi$ where F is defined by (0.2.6) is only known [84] for $\gamma = 2$. This motivates us to investigate the Cauchy Problem for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with nonlinearity (0.2.6) and nonzero boundary conditions at infinity for the suitable range of γ . In Theorem 1.1.1, we prove the global well-posedness of the wave-function dynamics in the energy space, which in this context is not a Banach space - for instance in the three-dimensional setting it may rather be seen as an affine space. Consequently, the standard Kato method should be adapted to this situation. On the other hand, the considered equations exhibit a very rich dynamics described by special solutions. In this regards, our well-posedness results complements the known existence results of travelling waves [141, 58, 148, 59], vortex solutions [90, 159], vortex rings [29], dark solitons [122] to mention only some of them. Turning to the Cauchy Problem for (0.2.1), we also need to introduce a suitable polar decomposition for wave-functions in the energy space. As the stability properties of the polar decomposition are crucial, we need to rely on the metric of the energy space combined with a local argument compensating for the lack of integrability. Our first result states global existence of finite energy weak solutions to (0.2.1)with far-field behavior (0.2.2), see Theorem 2.1.3. The constructed solutions allow for vacuum regions and in particular satisfy a generalized irrotational condition that is compatible with the presence of quantized vortices. In a second moment, we aim to study solutions including quantized vortices. Such solutions are in general only locally of finite energy and hence not covered by Theorem 2.1.3. Based on the existence result for vortex solutions to the Gross-Pitaevskii equations in [32] and a further generalization of the polar factorization, our second result for the QHD system states global in time existence for a suitable class of weak solutions of infinite energy including vortex solutions, see Theorem 2.1.4.

The second model we study is given by the quantum Navier-Stokes describing a viscous regularization of the QHD system (0.2.1),

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0, \\ \partial_t(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla P(\rho) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho \mathbf{D} u) + 2\kappa^2 \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right). \end{cases}$$
(0.2.9)

where $(t, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ and complemented with the far-field behavior

$$\rho \to 1$$
 as $|x| \to \infty$. (0.2.10)

The unknowns are the mass density ρ and the velocity field of the fluid u. We consider a barotropic flow with pressure law described by $p(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma}\rho^{\gamma}$. The energy associated to (0.2.9)

reads

$$E(t) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho |u|^2 + 2\kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (0.2.11)$$

where the internal energy is given by (0.2.6). System (0.2.9) arises as model for a dissipative quantum fluid. Mathematically, it has been derived from a Chapman-Enskog expansion for the Wigner equation with a BGK term [46, 112], see also [111] where several dissipative quantum fluid models are derived by means of a moment closure of (quantum) kinetic equations with appropriate choices of the collision terms. We emphasize that the QNS system can feature as model for Navier–Stokes–Korteweg fluids. The far-field behavior is motivated by the study of singular limits and the analogy with its inviscid counterpart, the QHD system with non-trivial far-field. Indeed, in the inviscid limit, namely $\nu \rightarrow 0$, one formally recovers system (0.2.1), the vanishing viscosity limit has recently been investigated [40] to construct dissipative weak solutions to (0.2.1) as limit of dissipative weak solutions of (0.2.9). In the absence of capillary effects, namely $\kappa = 0$, the QNS system reduces to the compressible Navier-Stokes system with density dependent viscosity [38], see also [129, 170] for global existence of weak solutions. From a mathematical point of view, the analysis of viscous compressible fluids with density dependent viscosity is significantly different from the constant viscosity case. Indeed, by a formal computation one is led to the energy inequality,

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho |\mathbf{D}u|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le E(0).$$

We notice that the dissipation is degenerate and hence the natural uniform estimates seem not to be sufficient to define and control the velocity u and its gradient ∇u a.e. on \mathbf{R}^d due to the appearance of vacuum. Contrarily to that, when dealing with constant densities, the energy inequality yields a L^2 bound for ∇u that allows one to define the velocity field a.e. on \mathbf{R}^d . By consequence, the Lions-Feireisl theory, see [135, 77] does not apply in the context of compressible fluids with density dependent viscosity. The loss of control for the velocity field and the positivity of the density is somehow reminiscent to what we observed for the QHD system. However, the analogy to nonlinear Schrödinger equations is lost when introducing viscosity and we need to implement fluid dynamics techniques. In the context of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg fluids, this lack of uniform bounds has been compensated for by the introduction of a new entropy [38, 39], the Bresch-Desjardins entropy valid provided that the viscosity and capillary tensors enjoy a particular structure. The constraint on the viscosity tensor usually reads $q(\rho) = \rho h'(\rho) - h(\rho)$. In recent years, considerable effort has been spent in the mathematical analysis of Korteweg fluids and in generalizing the entropy methods, see [37, 40, 42, 14] and references therein. Global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions to the QNS system on the torus \mathbf{T}^d for d = 2, 3 has been obtained in [13] and [125] following different approaches. The former rather relies on the structure of the equation and requires a constraint on the viscosity coefficient w.r.t. to the capillary coefficient while the latter uses a truncated formulation of the equations. The solutions to the truncated system enjoy suitable stability properties by means of which global weak solutions of the QNS system are

constructed. By implementing an invading domains approach based on the result of [125], we show that there exists global finite energy weak solutions of (0.2.9) on \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2, 3 and with far-field behavior (0.2.10), see Theorem 3.1.2. As byproduct, we can show the same result for the compressible Navier-Stokes equations with density dependent viscosity, see Corollary 3.1.3. Further, we recover the analogue of [13, 125] on the whole space, namely global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions to QNS with vanishing boundary conditions at infinity, see Theorem 3.1.4. For our method, the construction of suitable periodic initial data on the sequence of invading tori is crucial, in particular in view of the far-field behavior (3.0.2). In this context, we remark that the density dependent viscosity and capillary effects allow for an control of the density in Sobolev norms that proves useful in the analysis of the Cauchy Problem as it provides better information on its far-field behavior compared to the constant viscosity case with far-field described in [135].

Next, we investigate the low Mach number limit for the QNS system. We denote by ε the scaled Mach number, so that in the suitable scaling regime system (0.2.9) reads,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) = 0, \\ \partial_t(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla P(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{D} u_{\varepsilon}) + 2\kappa^2 \rho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}{\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}\right), \end{cases} (0.2.12)$$

The rescaled internal energy is given by

$$F_{\varepsilon} = rac{
ho^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(
ho - 1)}{arepsilon^2 \gamma(\gamma - 1)}.$$

In the low Mach number regime, i.e. in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the dynamics of (4.0.3) is formally governed by the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations,

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = \nu \Delta u, \quad \text{div } u = 0.$$
 (0.2.13)

For general ill-prepared initial data of finite energy, we prove strong convergence of finite energy weak solutions towards weak solutions of the incompressible Navier Stokes equations, see Theorem 4.1.2. We deal with a general class of weak solutions which are not smooth enough to allow the use of relative entropy techniques [76]. It is crucial to exploit the bounds yielded by the energy estimates and the Bresch-Desjardins entropy methods [38]. The presence of the Korteweg tensor in system (0.2.12) also affects the low Mach number limit through the analysis of the acoustic waves. Indeed, denoting the density fluctuations $\sigma_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon}-1}{\varepsilon}$, momentum $m_{\varepsilon} = \rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}$ and linearizing around the constant density state 1 we obtain the linear system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \sigma_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}(m_{\varepsilon}) = 0, \\ \partial_t(m_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta \right) \sigma_{\varepsilon} = G_{\varepsilon}, \end{cases}$$

that can be symmetrized by considering

$$\tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} = (1 - \varepsilon^2 \kappa^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma_{\varepsilon}, \qquad \tilde{m}_{\varepsilon} = (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{div} m_{\varepsilon},$$

so that

$$\partial_t \tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} = 0,$$

$$\partial_t \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} = \tilde{G}_{\varepsilon}$$
(0.2.14)

It turns out that $(\tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}, \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}})$ controls $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}))$ where **Q** denotes the Leray-Helmholtz projection on the irrotational part and is therefore sufficient for the control of the decay of acoustic waves. Further, the evolution of system (0.2.14) is characterized by a semi-group operator $e^{-itH_{\varepsilon}}$ where $H_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\sqrt{(-\Delta)(1-\varepsilon^2\kappa^2)\Delta}$. Hence, the dispersion of acoustic waves is enhanced by the capillary tensor. As the viscosity does not alter the linearized system, it agrees with the one for the QHD system. This explains why the dispersion relation associated to H_{ε} is given by the scaled Bogoliubov dispersion relation. Compared to a wave-like dispersion in a fluid without capillary effects, the acoustic dispersion is enhanced and captured by suitable Strichartz estimates. The analysis related to the scaled Bogoliubov dispersion relation can be regarded as the ε -version of the results in [95]. In particular, we stress that since the dispersion relation is not homogeneous, we cannot obtain our estimates just by a rescaling argument and we need to adapt the proof in [95]. Once we have a satisfactory control of the acoustic dispersion, the uniform estimates deriving from energy and entropy methods provide the compactness leading to the strong convergence towards a weak solution to the incompressible Navier–Stokes equation. If the initial data are prepared in such a way that the formation of an initial layer is ruled out, then we obtain convergence towards a Leray solution, see Proposition 4.1.4.

Finally, we study the counter-part of the low Mach number limit also for the QHD system (0.2.1). The equations (0.2.1) and the analogue (0.2.7) as stated are given in the dimensionless scaling where the characteristic spatial length scale over which the density varies is referred to as *healing length* ξ and is typically very small. As already introduced in the previous paragraph, the healing length describes the length scale of density variations for which the quantum pressure is relevant and also determines the core size of a quantized vortex - constituting one of the essential differences to a vortex in a classical fluid. To illustrate this, we notice that the prototype of a vortex solution is given by

$$\sqrt{\rho} = f(|x|), \qquad \Lambda = 2\pi\kappa f(|x|) \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2},$$

where f is a smooth radial profile such that f(0) = 0 and $f(|x|) \to 1$ as $|x| \to \infty$. The properties of the radial profile are well-known [103], the profile f approaches 1 at a distance proportional to ξ away from the core f(0) = 0. We consider the scaling regime in which the vortex core size being proportional to the healing length is small compared to the distance between vortices. This motivates to set $\varepsilon = \xi$ and to scale (0.2.7) by $x' = \frac{x}{\varepsilon}$ and $t' = \frac{t}{\varepsilon^2}$. On the level of the wave-function dynamics, this limit is fairly well-understood [28]. The method relies on refined estimates on the Jacobian of the wave-function that turns out to equal the vorticity $\nabla \wedge J$ modulo a factor 2. It is well-known that for well-prepared vortex configurations the ε -limit is characterized by the Kirchhoff-Onsager ODE system [140] for point vortices for d = 2. Ginzburg-Landau vortices in the ε -limit have extensively been studied in various different contexts see e.g. [25, 2, 162, 63, 133, 145, 105] and references therein. On the hydrodynamic level, the scaled QHD system (0.2.1) reads,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} J_{\varepsilon} = 0\\ \partial_t J_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} \left(\Lambda_{\varepsilon} \otimes \Lambda_{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla p(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2} \rho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}{\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}\right), \end{cases}$$
(0.2.15)

and is reminiscent of the low Mach number scaling for classical fluid. The scaled energy functional is given by

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} |\Lambda_{\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} F(\rho_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}x.$$
 (0.2.16)

If the system (0.2.16) is linearized around the constant density state $\rho = 1$, we recover the analogue of (0.2.14). Here $\kappa = 1$ due to the chosen scaling and the dispersion relation for acoustic waves is precisely given by the Bogoliubov dispersion relation corresponding to H_{ε} . The augmented dispersion relation has its origin in the presence of the quantum pressure term modifying the dispersive behavior for high wave-numbers or respectively at small lengthscales. The threshold wave-number at which the behavior undergoes a change from linear to quadratic dispersion is given by $\frac{1}{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\epsilon}$ that corresponds to the observation that the quantum pressure is relevant on small length scales of order ξ . Heuristically, the density is expected to be almost constant in the ε -limit and the dynamics can be asymptotically described by the incompressible Euler equation. We rigorously show that as $\varepsilon \to 0$, finite energy weak solutions to (0.2.15) converge to the trivial solution ($\rho = 1, u = 0$), see Theorem 5.1.1. This is due to the fact that the solutions for the QHD system, consistent with the physical theory, satisfy a generalized irrotational condition. This rules out any rotational flow in ε -limit. Further for d=2, we study the ε -limit for the dynamics of vortices. Here, we rephrase the result of [28] in the hydrodynamic framework yielding that suitable well-prepared vortex configurations are asymptotically described by the Kirchhoff-Onsager ODE system for point vortices.

0.3 Outline of the thesis

The thesis is divided in two parts; the first one is dedicated to the analysis of the Cauchy Problems while in the second we investigate the low Mach number limit for the QNS system and its quantum counter-part for the QHD system.

Chapter 1 is devoted to the well-posedness theory of a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity. The result is based on a joint work in progress with P. Antonelli and P. Marcati. Beyond the well-posedness theory, we review known results of special solutions and large time asymptotics that complement our analysis of the Cauchy problem. Finally, we review the existence result of vortex-like solutions to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation proved in [32].

In Chapter 2, we investigate the Cauchy Problem of the quantum hydrodynamic (QHD) system posed on \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2, 3 with non-trivial far-field behavior. We introduce global in time

existence of finite and infinite energy weak solutions. Our analysis exploits the well-posedness theory for the nonlinear Schrödinger equations introduced in the preceding chapter. The last part of the chapter is dedicated to special solutions to the QHD system such as travelling waves and vortex solutions. The latter can be considered in the framework of the existence result for weak solutions of infinite energy. These results have been announced in [10] and are obtained in joined work with P. Antonelli and P. Marcati.

Chapter 3 introduces the global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions of the Quantum Navier-Stokes (QNS) equations and is fruit of a work in progress with P. Antonelli and S. Spirito.

Chapter 4 mainly follows [9]. We discuss the low Mach number limit for finite energy weak solutions for general ill-prepared data and prove strong convergence to weak solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. For well-prepared data, convergence to Leray solutions is achieved. The result is also to appear in the proceeding [8].

The final Chapter 5 concerns the scaling limit for the QHD system that is suitable for the study of the vortex dynamics and somehow reminiscent of the low Mach number limit in classical fluids. We show that any finite energy weak solution, namely a solution without vortices, converges to the constant state ($\rho = 1, u = 0$). In a second moment, we rephrase the result of [28] in the hydrodynamic framework provided by the QHD system.

0.4 Notations

We list the notations of function spaces and operators used in the following. We denote

- by $\mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}_+ \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ the space of test functions $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+ \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ and by $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbf{R}_+ \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ the space of distributions. The duality bracket between \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}' is denoted by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$,
- for $0 < T \le \infty$ by $L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for $1 \le p \le \infty$ the Lebesgue space with norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$ and by $L^p(0,T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^d))$ the space of functions $u: (0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d \to \mathbf{R}^n$ with norm

$$\|u\|_{L^pL^q} = \left(\int_0^T \left|\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |u(t,x)|^q\right|^{\frac{p}{q}} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

If $T = \infty$, we write $L^p(\mathbf{R}_+; L^q(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Further, we denote by $L^{p-}(0, T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^d))$, the functions f such that $f \in L^{p'}(0, T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for any $1 \le p' < p$.

- the non-homogeneous Sobolev space by $W^{k,p} = (I \Delta)^{-\frac{k}{2}} L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $H^k(\mathbf{R}^d) = W^{k,2}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Its dual will be denoted by $W^{-k,p'}$ with p' being the Hölder conjugate of p. The homogeneous spaces are denoted by $\dot{W}^{k,p}(\mathbf{R}^d) = (-\Delta)^{-\frac{k}{2}} L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\dot{W}^{k,p}(\mathbf{R}^d) = \dot{H}^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$, and the dual space $\dot{W}^{-k,p'}$,
- by $X^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$ the Zhidkov space [175] defined for $k \in \mathbf{N}$ as

$$X^{k}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) = \left\{ f \in L^{\infty} : \nabla^{\alpha} f \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \; \forall |\alpha| \le k \right\},\$$

• by $L_2^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ the Orlicz space defined as

$$L_2^p(\mathbf{R}^d) = \left\{ f \in L_{loc}^1 \, : \, |f|\chi_{\{|f| \le \frac{1}{2}\}} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \, |f|\chi_{\{|f| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}} \in L^p(\mathbf{R}^d) \right\},$$

we refer to [1, 135] for details.

- by $B^s_{q,r}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ the non-homogeneous Besov space and by $\dot{B}^s_{q,r}$ the homogeneous Besov space, see [22]. We denote by $B^{-s}_{q',r'}$ the dual space of $B^s_{q,r}$,
- by **P** and **Q** the Helmholtz–Leray projectors on divergence-free and gradient vector fields, respectively:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \nabla \Delta^{-1} \operatorname{div}, \qquad \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{Q},$$

For $f \in W^{k,p}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with $1 and k the operators <math>\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{Q}$ can be expressed as composition of Riesz multipliers and are bounded linear operators on $W^{k,p}(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

- the Fourier transform of f by $\hat{f} := \mathcal{F}(f)$ and the inverse Fourier transform by f^{\vee} .
- the frequency cut-off $P_N(f) = (\phi_N(\xi)\hat{f})^{\vee}$, where ϕ is a smooth frequency cut-off compactly supported in $supp(\phi) \subset \{\frac{1}{2}N \leq |\xi| \leq 2N\}$. Similarly, by $P_{\leq N}(f)$ we denote the projection on frequencies of order $|\xi| \leq N$.
- finally the symmetric part of the gradient is denoted by $\mathbf{D}u = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla u + (\nabla u)^T)$ and the asymmetric part by $\mathbf{A}u = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla u (\nabla u)^T)$

In what follows C will be any uniform constant independent from δ, ε or n.

Contents

Part I

Cauchy Theory

CHAPTER 1

Nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity

Abstract .

We introduce a well-posedness theory in the energy space for a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity. Compared to previous results [84, 82], we relax the regularity assumptions on the nonlinearity significantly. Section 1.1 concerns the well-posedness and is composed by several parts. In a first moment, we review the properties of the energy space and the action of the Schrödinger group on the energy space. Secondly, we investigate the problem for d = 2 and subcubic nonlinearities for d = 3. Thirdly, we study supercubic nonlinearities for d = 3 that require a different approach exploiting the particular structure of the energy space for d = 3. In Section 1.2, we briefly review known results regarding travelling waves and scattering. Section 1.3 recalls the existence result of vortex-like solutions of infinite energy introduced in [32].

This chapter presents a joint work with P. Antonelli and P. Marcati and is devoted to study Cauchy problem for a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations, namely we consider

$$i\partial_t \psi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta \psi + F'(|\psi|^2)\psi, \qquad (1.0.1)$$

with non-trivial boundary conditions at infinity, i.e.

$$|\psi(x)| \to 1$$
 as $|x| \to \infty$.

The boundary condition is motivated by a variety of applications. System (1.0.1) arises as model for superfluidity in Helium II [126] close to the λ -point [87, 159] and for quantum vortices [23, 159] as well as in the description of Bose-Einstein condensates [90, 159, 89, 160]. Moreover, it has served to investigate dark solitons in nonlinear optics [120, 122, 158]. For a more detailed introduction to the physical phenomena described by (1.0.1) we refer the reader to the Introduction of this thesis. Here, our aim is to provide a well-posedness theory in the energy space for (1.0.1) for a general class of nonlinearities developed ad hoc for its application to the existence theory of the hydrodynamic system (2.0.1) exposed in the subsequent chapter. More precisely, we consider (1.0.1) as Hamiltonian equations associated to the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (1.0.2)$$

where is given by (0.2.6). In this respect, the internal energy is chosen such that it is non-negative, convex, has minimum at $\rho = 1$ and satisfies

$$p(\rho) = F'(\rho)\rho - F(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma}\rho^{\gamma}.$$

Here, $\gamma > 1$ for d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3. In short, the choice for (1.0.2) corresponds to the hydrodynamic system considered with a γ -pressure law. The well-posedness result for (1.0.1) will yield the existence of finite energy weak solutions to (2.0.1) discussed in Chapter 2. We retain that the well-posedness theory of (1.0.1) with the given nonlinearity F' is of interest beyond its applications to the Cauchy Theory of the QHD system. Regarding the mathematical analysis of the problem, the loss of integrability of ψ requires a Cauchy theory for initial data in the energy space. For the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, namely for $\gamma = 2$, a local in time result in Zhidkov spaces has been introduced in [174] for d = 1, see also [175], and in [81] in the multi-dimensional case. In [30] it had been proven that the Gross-Pitaevskii equation is well-posed in $1+H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for d=2,3. Global well-posedness in the energy space has been introduced in [84]. Subsequently, in [82, 148] a more general class of C^3 -nonlinearities, respectively C^2 -nonlinearities, has been studied. In [82], the author decomposes the initial datum ψ_0 in the energy space as sum of a fixed smooth bounded function ϕ element of the energy space and a H^1 -datum and develops an H^1 -theory for the affine problem $\phi + w$ that ultimately yields the well-posedness result in the energy space. The class of nonlinearities associated to (1.0.2) is such that its gradient is not locally Lipschitz for γ close to 1 and therefore requires a different approach for both local and global theory. The bound $\gamma < 3$ is due to the fact that the equation becomes energy critical for $\gamma = 3$ and d = 3. For d = 3, equation (1.0.1) equipped with a cubic-quintic nonlinearity, thus energy critical, is shown to be well-posed in [118]. The cubic-quintic model is of great physical interest in nonlinear optics [120]. In the limit case $\gamma = 1$, the nonlinearity in (1.0.1) becomes logarithmic. To the best of our knowledge, well-posedness in the energy space for (1.0.1) complemented with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity has not been solved. For vanishing boundary conditions at infinity, the Cauchy Problem has been addressed in [53, 52] and more recently in [51].

Our approach is inspired by the techniques developed in [84] and [82] combined with some new ingredients dealing with the low regularity of the nonlinearity. To that end, we proceed in two steps. We firstly deal with the case d = 2 and subcubic nonlinearities in d = 3. In this regime, we are able to perform the local well-posedness theory directly in the energy space. Our approach does not require a decomposition as in [82], we exploit the properties of the energy space and the action of the Schrödinger semigroup on the energy space as discussed in [84] combined with classical tools for nonlinear Schrödinger equations. This allows us to perform the proof directly in the energy space. In a second moment, we deal with the case d = 3 and $2 \le \gamma < 3$. In this setting, we crucially rely on the special structure of the energy space in the three-dimensional setting that has been pointed out in [84]. For d = 3 the energy space can be up to a phase shift identified with $1 + \dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ so that one may work in the affine space $1 + \dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ and develop a suitable $\dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ -theory by means of Strichartz estimates. The existence of finite energy solutions that do not belong to $1 + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, see for example the travelling waves constructed in [57], further motivates the well-posedness theory in the energy space.

After setting up the well-posedness theory, we review some known results concerning special solutions and large time behavior of (1.0.1). In sharp contrast to its counterpart with vanishing conditions at infinity, the defocusing nonlinear Schrödinger equation for which scattering in the energy space is known [86], system (1.1.1) admits a variety of special solutions. In [59, 142] the authors show that for any speed $0 < c < v_s$, where v_s denotes the sound speed, there exist travelling wave solutions to (1.0.1). For d = 2, these are in particular minimizers of the energy functional for solutions under a prescribed constraint on the total momentum [59] and therefore rule out a scattering theory. The situation for d = 3 is different. There are no travelling waves below a certain energy threshold for (1.0.1), see [141] and at least for $\gamma = 2$, it has been shown that under suitable regularity and smallness assumptions solutions exhibit scattering, see [95, 96, 97] and the more recent paper [92]. Moreover, for $\gamma = 2$ equation (1.1.1) admits vortex solutions. In this regard, for the convenience of the reader in view of its application to the QHD system we briefly recall the main results of [32] in Section 1.3.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 1.1 tackles the well-posedness issue for equation (1.1.1). We start by introducing some preliminary results regarding nonlinear Schrödinger equations and recall the key properties of the energy space in Section 1.1.1. The local in time Cauchy theory follows a different approach for d = 2 and d = 3 for subcubic nonlinearities presented in Section 1.1.2 and for supercubic nonlinearities in d = 3 provided in Section 1.1.4. We discuss special solutions and large time behavior in Section 1.2.1. Finally, we consider vortex solutions in Section 1.3 reviewing the main result of [32].

Preliminary results

This paragraph introduces some notation and recalls basic facts regarding the Cauchy theory for (non)linear Schrödinger equations. We refer the reader to the monographs [52] and [167] for more details. We consider the Cauchy Problem

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t \psi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi + \mathcal{N}(\psi), \\ \psi(0, x) = \psi_0, \end{cases}$$
(1.0.3)

for a given nonlinearity \mathcal{N} and initial data ψ_0 in the energy space. We consider (1.0.3) for a class of nonlinearities such that it describes the evolution equation of the Hamiltonian (1.0.2). The problem can be reformulated in an equivalent way [52] as integral equation, that we refer to as *Duhamel formula*,

$$\psi(t) = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta}\mathcal{N}(\psi)(s)\mathrm{d}s,$$

where $e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}$ denotes the semigroup operator characterizing the linear Schrödinger evolution. Given a metric space X and initial data $\psi_0 \in X$ we say that ψ is a local strong solution if there exists T > 0 such that $\psi \in C([-T,T];X)$ and the integral equation (1) is well-defined and satisfies for all $t \in [-T,T]$. We aim to provide local and global well-posedness for (1.0.3) in the energy space. The Cauchy Problem is locally well-posed in a space X if for any T > 0there exists a unique local in time strong solutions such that the blow-up alternative is satisfied and the solutions depends continuously on the initial data w.rt. to a suitable topology. We say that the problem is globally well-posed if T can be arbitrarily large. The precise notion of well-posedness in the energy space we use in this chapter is quite technical and introduced by Theorem 1.1.1.

A fundamental tool for the Cauchy theory of nonlinear Schrödinger and dispersive equations in general are the well-known Strichartz estimates. The local existence result relies on Strichartz estimates. We say that a pair (q, r) is (Schrödinger) admissible if $q, r \ge 2$ such that

$$\frac{2}{q} + \frac{d}{r} = \frac{d}{2}, \qquad (q, r, d) \neq (2, \infty, 2),$$

and we recall the well-known Strichartz estimates, see [115] and references therein.

Lemma 1.0.1. Let d = 2, 3 and (q, r) be an admissible pair. Then the linear propagator satisfies,

$$\|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}u\|_{L^{q}([-T,T];L^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq C\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}$$

and for any (q_1, r_1) admissible pair one has

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} f(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{q}([-T,T];L^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{d})]} \leq C \|f\|_{L^{q'_{1}}([-T,T];L^{r'_{1}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}.$$
 (1.0.4)

Given a time interval I = [-T, T], it is convenient to introduce the Strichartz space $S^0(I \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ characterised by the norm

$$||u||_{S^0} := \sup_{(q,r) admissible} ||u||_{L^q(I;L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))}.$$

We notice that since $(q, r) = (\infty, 2)$ is admissible one has

$$\|u\|_{C(I;L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \lesssim \|u\|_{S^0}.$$
(1.0.5)

Moreover, we introduce the dual space $N^0 = (S^0(I \times \mathbf{R}^d))^*$ satisfying the estimate

$$\|f\|_{N^0} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{q'_1}(I;L^{r'_1}(\mathbf{R}^d))},\tag{1.0.6}$$

for any admissibile pair (q_1, r_1) . Further, in order to discuss the well-posedness theory for (1.1.59) in the energy space, we also work with the function space $S^1(I \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ and $N^1(I \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ defined by the norms

$$||u||_{S^1} = ||u||_{S^0} + ||\nabla u||_{S^0}, \qquad ||F||_{N^1} = ||F||_{N^0} + ||\nabla F||_{N^0}.$$
(1.0.7)

With the Strichartz estimates at hand, the typical scheme for a fixed-point argument for H^1 theory reads as follows. Firstly, one observes that for u defined by the Duhamel formula and $u_0 \in H^1$ one has,

$$||u||_{S^1} \lesssim ||u_0||_{H^1} + ||\mathcal{N}||_{N^1}.$$

The problem is thus reduced to a suitable control of the nonlinearity \mathcal{N} . Secondly, we show that the solution map defines a contraction on a ball of S^1 .

The present setting requires several modifications due to the fact that the energy space is not included in any L^p space due to the non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity. More precisely, we consider wave-functions such that ψ lies in a subspace of $X^1(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$, where $X^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for $k \in \mathbf{N}$ denotes the Zhidkov space, see Section 0.4 and [175]. For k positive integer, the space X^k is defined as

$$X^{k}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) := \left\{ \psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \quad : \quad \nabla^{\alpha} \psi \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}), \ \forall \ 1 \le |\alpha| \le k \right\}.$$

For a sum of Banach spaces, the norm is defined by

$$\|\psi\|_{X^1+H^1} = \inf \{\|\psi_1\|_{X_1} + \|\psi_2\|_{H^1} : \psi = \psi_1 + \psi_2\}.$$

The space $X^1(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ enjoys a continuous embedding in $L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d) + L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with $2 \leq p \leq 2^*$. We state the following Lemma that will be used repeatedly in the present chapter. Let $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{R})$ be a smooth cut-off function such that

$$\chi(z) = 1 \quad |z| \le 2, \qquad \chi(z) \le 1 \quad z \in \mathbf{C}, \qquad supp(\chi) \subset B_3(0).$$
 (1.0.8)

In particular, given a wave-function $\psi : \mathbf{R}^d \to \mathbf{C}$ we introduce

$$\psi_{low} := \chi(\psi)\psi, \qquad \psi_{high} := (1 - \chi(\psi))\psi, \qquad (1.0.9)$$

that enjoy the following properties.

Lemma 1.0.2 ([84]). Let χ be as in (1.0.8). If $\psi \in X^1 + H^1$ such that $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ then $\psi_{low} \in X^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\psi_{high} \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

The statement is provided Lemma 2.1 in [84].

1.1 Well-posedness in the energy space for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing initial data at infinity

In this section, we investigate the Cauchy Problem for a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing density at infinity given by,

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t \psi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta \psi + F'(|\psi|^2)\psi, \\ \psi(0,x) = \psi_0(x), \end{cases}$$
(1.1.1)

where the initial data satisfies the boundary condition

$$|\psi_0(x)| \to 1, \quad \text{as} \quad |x| \to \infty.$$
 (1.1.2)

Assuming that the boundary condition ρ_0 at infinity equals 1 is not restrictive since one may always renormalize it by a scaling argument. The associated Hamiltonian is given by

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x,$$

where $F(\cdot)$ is the renormalized internal energy defined in (0.2.6). We are led to consider nonlinearities of the type

$$F'(|\psi|^2) = f(|\psi|^2) = \frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma - 1)} - 1 \right), \quad \text{where} \quad \begin{cases} \gamma > 1 & d = 2, \\ 1 < \gamma < 3 & d = 3. \end{cases}$$
(1.1.3)

We observe that F is non-negative, convex and such that F(1) = 0 is the global minimum. The nonlinearity f satisfies f(1) = 0 and f'(1) > 0 and is thus defocusing. The class of nonlinearities (1.1.3) we are interested in is not covered by the mentioned results [84, 82, 148] when $\gamma \neq 2$ and $\gamma < 3$. The present theory is robust enough to treat more general nonlinearities, for the sake of simplicity and conciseness in the exposition we restrict ourselves to the class of (1.1.3). We provide a self-contained presentation of the well-posedness theory for the Cauchy Problem (1.1.1) in the space

$$\mathbb{E}_2 = \left\{ \psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d) \quad : \quad \mathcal{E}_2(\psi) < \infty \right\},\tag{1.1.4}$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left(|\psi|^{2} - 1 \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}x.$$
(1.1.5)

We refer to (1.1.4) as energy space and observe that (1.1.4) is a complete metric space [84] equipped with the distance function

$$d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi, \tilde{\psi}) := \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{X^1 + H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)} + \||\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)}.$$
(1.1.6)

The main result of this section states well-posedness of (1.1.1) in the energy space.

Theorem 1.1.1. Let d = 2, 3, let us assume $\gamma > 1$ for d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3. Then for any $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ there exists a unique strong solution $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}; \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1). Moreover, it enjoys the following properties;

- 1. for every time $t \in \mathbf{R}$, $\mathcal{E}(t) = \mathcal{E}(0)$ with \mathcal{E} defined in (1.0.2),
- 2. if additionally $\Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, then for any $0 < T < \infty$, one has $\Delta \psi \in L^\infty([-T,T], L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$,
- 3. one has $\psi e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 \in C(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)),$

4. for every R > 0, let $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0), \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0^n) \leq R$ and $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \psi_0^n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then, for any $0 < T < \infty$, we have

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi(t), \psi^n(t)) \to 0 \qquad as \quad n \to \infty,$$

where ψ, ψ^n are solutions to (1.1.1) with initial data ψ_0, ψ_0^n respectively.

Remark 1.1.2. Several remarks are in order. In the case $\gamma = 2$, Theorem 1.1.1 has already been proven in [84]. In particular, the author obtains Lipschitz dependence on the initial data that can not be expected for small γ due to the low regularity of the nonlinearity. We recover the Lipschitz stability estimate for $\gamma \geq \frac{3}{2}$, see Proposition 1.1.18. For d = 3 and $\gamma = 3$ equation (1.1.1) is energy critical. Local well-posedness in the energy space for small data has been shown in [82]. Exploiting the particular structure of the energy space for d = 3 and the perturbation Lemma introduced in [168], one can infer well-posedness for the energy critical problem in the energy space. This has been pointed out in [118] where the authors show global well-posedness for the problem with cubic-quintic nonlinearity.

Let us briefly comment on the method of the proof. We distinguish two cases,

- (i) For d = 2, and for d = 3 with $1 < \gamma \leq 2$, we infer local well-posedness in the energy space by a direct argument. We show that there exists a solution $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ to (1.1.1) with initial data ψ_0 such that $\psi - \psi_0 \in C(\mathbf{R}; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$. With the given restriction on γ , the nonlinearity grows sufficiently slowly so that one may work in L^2 -based spaces only. Subsequently, we infer uniqueness and continuous dependence on the initial data. The latter requires a careful analysis due to the low regularity properties of F' for small γ .
- (ii) For d = 3 and $2 \le \gamma < 3$, two observation are crucial. The first is that the energy space can be identified with $\mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^3) = 1 + \dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ so that one may develop an \dot{H}^1 -theory for the affine space. Further, for $\gamma \ge \frac{3}{2}$, the nonlinearity is locally Lipschitz on bounded sets of \mathbb{E}_2 .

The second case can not be treated by the same method as the first case. For γ close to the threshold $\gamma = 3$ being energy critical we need to exploit the membership of $\nabla \psi$ in the whole range of Strichartz spaces. The bounds in L^2 -based spaces used in the former case turn out to be insufficient. Conversely, the former case can not be tackled by the method of the latter since the bounds on the gradient of ψ in Strichartz spaces crucially rely on the special structure of the energy space for d = 3 and the fact that $\gamma \geq \frac{3}{2}$. In neither of the cases, our method requires a decomposition of the wave-function in a smooth part and an H^1 -function as in [82, 148].

The rest of this section is as follows. Firstly, we review the key properties of the energy space. Secondly, we provide a well-posedness result for the case $\gamma > 1$ if d = 2 and $1 < \gamma \leq 2$ if d = 3. Local well-posedness is shown in Section 1.1.2 and global well-posedness in Section 1.1.3. The case $2 \leq \gamma \leq 3$ for d = 3 is tackled in Section 1.1.4. Here, we exploit the special structure of \mathbb{E}_2 in d = 3 and the fact that $\gamma \geq 2$ implies better regularity properties of the nonlinearities.

1.1.1 Properties of the energy space \mathbb{E}_2

We recall some of the properties of the space \mathbb{E}_2 presented in [84] to which we refer the interested reader. The space (1.1.4) is a complete metric space equipped with the distance function (1.1.6), however it is not a vector space. It turns out that the space \mathbb{E}_2 coincides with the energy space for (1.1.1), namely the set of wave-functions ψ for which (1.0.2) is finite, see Lemma 1.1.13.

Lemma 1.1.3 ([84]). The following hold true

- 1. $\mathbb{E}_2 \subset X^1(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^d),$
- 2. $\mathbb{E}_2 + H^1(\mathbf{R}^d) \subset \mathbb{E}_2$, in particular for $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$, $v \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$

$$\||\psi+v|^2 - 1\|_{L^2} \le \||\psi|^2 - 1\|_{L^2} + C\left(1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)}\right) \left(\|v\|_{L^2} + \|v\|_{L^4} + \|v\|_{L^4}^2\right). \quad (1.1.7)$$

3. for $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$, let ψ_{high}, ψ_{low} be defined by (1.0.9). Then $\psi_{low} \in X^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\psi_{high} \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$. In particular

$$\|\psi_{low}\|_{X^1} \le C\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)}, \qquad \|\psi_{high}\|_{H^1} \le C\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)}.$$
(1.1.8)

4. For $\psi, \tilde{\psi} \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $v, \tilde{v} \in H^1$ one has

$$\begin{aligned} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi + v, \tilde{\psi} + \tilde{v}) &\leq C(1 + \|v\|_{H^1} + \|\tilde{v}\|_{H^1}) d_{\mathbb{E}}(\psi, \tilde{\psi}) \\ &+ (1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}(\psi)} + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\psi})} + \|v\|_{H^1} + \|\tilde{v}\|_{H^1}) \|v - \tilde{v}\|_{H^1} \end{aligned}$$

Due to Sobolev embedding, for d = 3, the structure of the energy space is characterized as follows. We notice that whenever $f \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with $\nabla f \in L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with p < d then there exists $c \in \mathbf{R}$ such that $f + c \in L^{p^*}$, see Theorem 4.5.9 in [104]. For d = 3, this yields $f - c \in L^6(\mathbf{R}^3)$. To see that this is false for d = 2, consider $e^{i \log(2+|x|)^{\alpha}}$. For $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$, one has $e^{i \log(2+|x|)^{\alpha}} \in \mathbb{E}_2$. Denote

$$\dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3) = \left\{ v \in L^6(\mathbf{R}^3) : \quad \nabla v \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3) \right\},\,$$

the completion of $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ with the norm $\|\nabla v\|_{L^2}$. We introduce

$$\mathcal{F}_{c} = \left\{ v \in \dot{H}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}) : |v|^{2} + 2Re(c^{-1}v) \in L^{2} \right\}.$$
 (1.1.9)

One readily checks that

$$\tilde{\delta}(u,v) = \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^2} + \||u|^2 + 2Re(c^{-1}u) - |u|^2 - 2Re(c^{-1}v) - |v|^2\|_{L^2}$$

defines a distance function on \mathcal{F}_c .
Proposition 1.1.4 ([84]). For d = 3, the energy space can be identified with the set of functions

$$\mathbb{E} = \{ \psi = c + v, \quad c \in \mathbb{C}, \ |c| = 1, \quad v \in F_c \}.$$
(1.1.10)

Moreover the metric function $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}$ is equivalent to

$$\delta(c+v,\tilde{c}+\tilde{v}) = |c-\tilde{c}| + \|\nabla v - \nabla \tilde{v}\|_{L^2} + \||v|^2 + 2Re(c^{-1}v) - |\tilde{v}|^2 - 2Re(\tilde{c}^{-1}\tilde{v})\|_{L^2}.$$
(1.1.11)

Remark 1.1.5. The particular structure of the energy space allows for an alternative approach to solve the Cauchy Problem in dimension d = 3. This has been pointed out in [84] for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation and has also been implemented in [118] for cubic-quintic nonlinearities and far-field behavior (1.1.2). Here, we will follow this approach to tackle the case d = 3and $2 < \gamma < 3$.

Any function in the energy space \mathbb{E}_2 may be approximated by a sequence of smooth functions.

Lemma 1.1.6. Let $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$, then there exists $\{\psi_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C^{\infty}$ such that

$$d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi,\psi_n) \to 0$$

as $n \to 0$. Moreover, for any $\psi \in \mathbb{E}$, there exists $\varphi \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d) \cap \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\nabla \varphi \in H^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and such that

$$\psi - \varphi \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d). \tag{1.1.12}$$

The first statement is proven in [84] by considering the convolution with a standard mollification kernel and the second statement follows from Proposition 1.1. in [82].

1.1.2 Local well-posedness in 2d and subcubic nonlinearities in 3d

By Definition, a function $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ is a local strong solution to (1.1.1) if there exists T > 0 such that it satisfies the integral equation (1.1.1) described by the the Duhamel formula

$$\psi(t) = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta}\mathcal{N}(\psi)(s)\mathrm{d}s,$$

for all $t \in [-T, T]$, where $\mathcal{N}(\psi) = F'(|\psi|^2)\psi$. Our aim is to show local well-posedness for (1.1.1) by performing a fixed point argument. We start by recalling the action of the linear Schrödinger group on the space $X^k(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

Lemma 1.1.7 ([84]). Let d be a positive integer. For every k, for every $t \in \mathbf{R}$, the operator $e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}$ maps $X^k(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$ into itself respecting the estimates

$$\|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}f\|_{X^{k}+H^{k}} \le C (1+t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|f\|_{X^{k}+H^{k}}, \qquad (1.1.13)$$

and

$$\|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}f - f\|_{L^2} \le C|t|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla f\|_{L^2}.$$
(1.1.14)

Moreover, if $f \in X^k(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$, the map $t \in \mathbf{R} \mapsto e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}f \in X^k(\mathbf{R}^d) + H^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$ is continuous.

Next, we review the action of the linear Schrödinger group on the space \mathbb{E}_2 .

Proposition 1.1.8 ([84]). Let d = 2, 3. For every $t \in \mathbf{R}$, the linear propagator $e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}$ maps \mathbb{E}_2 to itself and for every $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ the map $t \in \mathbf{R} \mapsto e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ is continuous. Moreover, given R > 0, T > 0 there exists C > 0 such that for every $\psi_0, \tilde{\psi}_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ with $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R, \mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{\psi}_0) \leq R$ one has

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0, e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\tilde{\psi}_0) \le C d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \tilde{\psi}_0).$$
(1.1.15)

Further, given R > 0, there exists T(R) > 0 such that, for every $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ with $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$, we have

$$\sup_{|t| \le T(R)} \mathcal{E}_2(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0) \le 2R.$$

Next, we wish to show that the non-homogeneous term appearing in the Duhamel formula is bounded in $L^{\infty}([-T,T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$. We collect some properties of the nonlinearity $\mathcal{N}(\psi) = F'(|\psi|^2)\psi$ with F' defined in (1.1.3). We compute that

$$\nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi) = \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) \nabla \psi + (\gamma-1)|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} \left(1 + \frac{\psi^2}{|\psi|^2} \right) \nabla \overline{\psi}.$$
 (1.1.16)

The quantity $\frac{\psi}{|\psi|}$ can be seen as the polar-factor of the wave-function ψ and will be rigorously introduced in Section 2.2.

Let $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{R})$ be defined by (1.0.8). We denote

$$\mathcal{N}_1(\psi) := \mathcal{N}(\psi)\chi(\psi), \qquad \mathcal{N}_2(\psi) = \mathcal{N}(\psi)(1 - \chi(\psi)). \tag{1.1.17}$$

From the inequality

$$\left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)}\psi - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)}\tilde{\psi} \right| \le C \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} + |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} \right) |\psi - \tilde{\psi}|.$$

we conclude

$$\left| \mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{1}(\tilde{\psi}) \right| \leq C \left| \psi - \tilde{\psi} \right|,$$

$$\left| \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\tilde{\psi}) \right| \leq \left(1 + |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} + |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} \right) \left| \psi - \tilde{\psi} \right|,$$

$$(1.1.18)$$

The next Lemma summarizes the needed properties of the nonlinearity $\mathcal{N}(\psi)$.

Lemma 1.1.9. Let d = 2,3 and $\gamma > 1$ then $\mathcal{N} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$. Further if d = 2,3 and $1 < \gamma \leq 2$, one has for every $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C \||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}, \\ \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)\||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}, \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.19)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}, \\ \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi) \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.20)

If $\gamma > 2$ and d = 2, then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2})} &\leq \||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2})}, \\ \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{(\gamma-1)}\||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}}, \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.21)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_1(\psi)\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)} &\leq C \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)}, \\ \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_2(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^d)} &\leq \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^{(\gamma-1)} \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.22)

Proof. Let us consider \mathcal{N} as $\mathcal{N}: \mathbf{R}^2 \to \mathbf{R}^2$. Then its Jacobian reads

$$D\mathcal{N}(u) = \left(\gamma |u|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1\right) \left(Id - \frac{u \otimes u}{|u|^2}\right),$$

hence $\mathcal{N} \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^2; \mathbf{R}^2)$. We deal separately with the cases $1 < \gamma \leq 2$ for d = 2, 3 and $\gamma > 2$ for d = 2 only.

Case 1: Let d = 2, 3 and $1 < \gamma \leq 2$. We observe that,

$$\left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right| \le \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right|,$$
 (1.1.23)

and thus $|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. From (1.1.17), we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi)| \le \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right| \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

Let ψ_{low} and ψ_{high} be as defined in (1.0.9). From the inequality

$$|\mathcal{N}_2(\psi)| \le \left||\psi|^2 - 1\right| |\psi_{high}|,$$

and the observation, that if $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ then $(1 - \chi(\psi))\psi \in L^6(\mathbf{R}^d)$ thanks to (1.1.8), we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{N}_2\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} &\leq \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^6}^2 \||\psi|^2 - 1\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq C\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \||\psi|^2 - 1\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

In view of (1.1.16), we have that

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{N}_1\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} \le C \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)}$$

For the respective bound of $\nabla \mathcal{N}_2$, we use again that $\psi_{high} \in L^6(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and thus

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{6}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}^{2} \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} \\ &\leq C \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi) \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}. \end{aligned}$$

Case: $\gamma > 2$ and d = 2.

Since $\gamma > 2$, the function $s \mapsto s^{\gamma-1}$ is convex and therefore We notice that,

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi)\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)} \le C \||\psi|^2 - 1\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)},$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{12}(\gamma-1)}^{2(\gamma-1)}(\mathbf{R}^{2})} \||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2})},\\ &\leq \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{(\gamma-1)}\||\psi|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2})}. \end{aligned}$$

Arguing similarly, we conclude

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{N}_1(\psi)\|_{L^2} \le C \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^2},$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{2})} &\leq C \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{6}(\gamma-1)}^{2(\gamma-1)} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{(\gamma-1)} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2})}. \end{aligned}$$

We are now ready to tackle the issue of local well-posedness for (1.1.1). We anticipate that the continuous dependence on the initial data differs significantly from the classical approach as consequence of technicalities arising from the low regularity of the nonlinearity combined with the lack of integrability of ψ .

Proposition 1.1.10. Let $d = 2, 3, \gamma > 1$ if d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 2$ if d = 3. For every R > 0, there exists T > 0 such that for every $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ with $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$ there exists a unique solution $\psi \in C([-T,T];\mathbb{E}_2)$ of (1.1.1) with $\psi(0) = \psi_0$ and the following blow-up alternative is satisfied: either $T = +\infty$ or

$$\lim_{t \nearrow T} \mathcal{E}(t) = +\infty.$$

Finally, if ψ_0^n is such that $\mathcal{E}(\psi_0^n) \leq R$ and $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0^n, \psi_0)$ converges to 0 as n goes to infinity, then $\sup_{t \in [-T,T]} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n, \psi)$ converges to 0 as n goes to infinity.

As it will become clear from the Definition of the solution map (1.1.24), to implement the existence argument directly in the energy space comes with the price of the restriction of $1 < \gamma \leq 2$ for d = 3. Indeed, otherwise one would need to require that $\nabla \psi_0 \in L^p$ for some p > 2. For d = 2, this difficulty can be circumvented by means of Sobolev embeddings. Another way to avoid this issue, is to work with a smooth decomposition as in [82]. In that way, one is forced to work in an affine spaces instead of working directly in the energy space as done in [84]. Moreover, the approach in [82] requires nonlinearities to be of C^3 -regularity.

Proof. Local existence. Fix M > 0 and T > 0 to be chosen later. To show local existence, given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$, we implement a fixed point argument for the map

$$S(u)(t) = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - \psi_0 - i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta}\mathcal{N}(\psi_0 + u)(s)\mathrm{d}s =: e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - \psi_0 + \Phi(\psi_0 + u), \ (1.1.24)$$

in

$$X_T = \left\{ u \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)) : \|u\|_{X_T} \le M \right\},\$$

We define the distance function d for $u, v \in X_T$ as

$$d(u, v) = ||u - v||_{L^{\infty}L^2}.$$

The space (X_T, d) is a complete metric space, indeed it suffices to check that X_T is closed. Let $\{u_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset X_T$ be a Cauchy sequence for the metric d. Then there exists $u \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $u_n \to u$ in $L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Since u_n is uniformly bounded in X_T , by lower-semicontinuity of norms we infer that

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla u_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}$$

and thus $u \in X_T$. We notice that, if $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$ and $u \in X_T$, then thanks to (1.1.7) and Minkowski inequality we obtain

$$\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{0}+u)} \leq \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{0})} + C\left(1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{0})}\right) \|u\|_{H^{1}} + \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\
\leq \sqrt{R} + C(1 + \sqrt{R})M + M^{2} =: C(M, R).$$
(1.1.25)

Next we show that S defined in (1.1.24) maps X_T onto X_T . Let $u \in X_T$, then

$$||S(u)||_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq ||e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_{0} - \psi_{0}||_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + ||\Phi(\psi_{0} + u)||_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}.$$

From (1.1.14), we conclude that

$$\|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - \psi_0\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le CT^{\frac{1}{2}}\|\nabla\psi_0\|_{L^2}.$$
(1.1.26)

To estimate the nonlinear term, we distinguish the cases $1 < \gamma \le 2$ and $\gamma > 2$. Case d = 2, 3 and $1 < \gamma \le 2$.

In the former case, thanks to the bounds (1.1.19), we conclude that for q' such that (q, 6) is an admissible pair,

$$\begin{split} &\|\Phi(\psi_0+u)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq \|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi_0+u)\|_{L^1([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} + \|\mathcal{N}_2(\psi_0+u)\|_{L^{q'}([-T,T];L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq C\left(T+T^{\frac{1}{q'}}\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0+u)\right) \||\psi_0+u|^2 - 1\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))}. \end{split}$$

The inequality (1.1.25) yields that

$$\|\Phi(\psi_0+u)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} \le C\left(T+T^{\frac{1}{q'}}C(M,R)^2\right)C(M,R).$$
(1.1.27)

It remains to infer the desired bound on $\nabla S(u)$. Let q_1 be such that $(q_1, \frac{3}{2})$ is an admissible pair. Then, it follows from (1.1.20) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla S(u)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} &\leq C \|\nabla\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}_{x}} + \|\nabla\mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi_{0}+u)\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + \|\nabla\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{0}+u)\|_{L^{q'}L^{\frac{6}{5}}_{x}} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}_{x}} + C \left(T + T^{\frac{1}{q'}} \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)\right) \left(\|\nabla\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}([-,T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\|\nabla S(u)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq C\sqrt{R} + C\left(T + T^{\frac{1}{q'}}C(R,M)^{2}\right)(\sqrt{R} + M).$$
(1.1.28)

We conclude that

$$S(u) \in C([-T,T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)),$$

and summing up (1.1.26), (1.1.27), (1.1.28) we obtain that

$$||S(u)||_{X_T} \le C(1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})\sqrt{R} + C\left(T+T^{\frac{1}{q'}}C(R,M)^2\right)C(R,M).$$

Next, we check that the map S introduced in (1.1.24) defines a contraction on (X_T, d) . Let $u_1, u_2 \in X_T$ and denote

$$\psi_1 = \psi_0 + u_1, \qquad \psi_2 = \psi_0 + u_2,$$

we observe that since

$$|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}_1(\psi_2)| \le C |u_1 - u_2|$$

and

$$|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{1}) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{2})| \le C \left(1 + |\psi_{1,high}|^{2}\right) + |\psi_{2,high}|^{2}\right) |u_{1} - u_{2}|,$$

we have that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}_1(\psi_2)\|_{L^1L^2} \le CT \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^{\infty}L^2}, \qquad (1.1.29)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{1}) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{2})\|_{L^{q'}L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \\ &\leq CT^{\frac{1}{q'}} \left(\|\psi_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}(X_{1}+H^{1})}^{2} + \|\psi_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}(X_{1}+H^{1})}^{2} \right) \|u_{1} - u_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.30)

We compute

$$d(S(u_1), S(u_2)) = \left\| -i \int_0^t \left(\mathcal{N}(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}(\psi_2) \right)(s) dx \right\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T], L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ \leq \left\| \mathcal{N}_1(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}_1(\psi_2) \right\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} + \left\| \mathcal{N}_2(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}_2(\psi_2) \right\|_{L^{q'}_t L^{\frac{6}{5}}_x} \\ \leq C \left(T + T^{\frac{1}{q'}} \left(\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_1)^2 + \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_2)^2 \right) \right) \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^{\infty} L^2} \\ \leq C \left(T + T^{\frac{1}{q}} C(R, M)^2 \right) d(u_1, u_2).$$

We now choose M and T. Given ψ_0 such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$, we fix M > 0 such that

$$M = 4C\sqrt{R},$$

and we notice that there exists $0 < T \leq 1$ sufficiently small such that

$$C\left(T+T^{\frac{1}{q}}C(R,M)^{2}\right) \leq \frac{1}{2}$$

and

$$C(T + T^{\frac{1}{q'}}C(R,M)^2)C(M,R) \le \frac{1}{2}M,$$

where C(M, R) as defined in (1.1.25). Hence, S maps X_T onto X_T and defines a contraction on X_T . The Banach fixed point Theorem yields a unique $u \in X_T$ such that $\psi_0 + u$ is solution to (1.1.1). In particular, the embedding $\mathbb{E}_2 + H^1 \subset \mathbb{E}_2$ yields that $\psi_0 + u \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$. *Case:* d = 2 and $\gamma > 2$. The proof follows the same lines. Combining the non-homogeneous Strichartz estimates (1.0.4) and (1.1.21) we obtain that

$$\|\Phi(\psi_0+u)\|_{L^{\infty}[-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^2))} \le C\left(T+T^{\frac{2}{3}}\sup_{t}\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0+u)^{\gamma-1}\right)\||\psi_0+u|^2-1\|_{L^2}.$$
 (1.1.31)

Again exploiting the Strichartz estimates (1.0.4) and the nonlinear estimate (1.1.22), we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla S(u)\|_{L^{\infty}[-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2}))} &\leq C(1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})\|\nabla\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &+ C\left(T+T^{\frac{2}{3}}\sup_{t}\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{0}+u)^{\gamma-1}\right)\left(\|\nabla\psi_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}[-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2}))} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}[-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{2}))}\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.1.32)$$

Therefore, combining (1.1.26), (1.1.31) and (1.1.32), we infer that

$$||S(u)||_{X_T} \le C(1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})\sqrt{R} + C\left(T+T^{\frac{2}{3}}C(M,R)^{2(\gamma-1)}\right)C(M,R).$$

Next, we check that S defines a contraction on X_T . To that end, we observe that (1.1.29) still holds. The inequality (1.1.30) is replaced by

$$\left\|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{1}) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{2})\right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \leq CT^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(\left\|\psi_{1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}X^{1} + H^{1}}^{2(\gamma-1)} + \left\|\psi_{2}\right\|_{L^{\infty}X^{1} + H^{1}}^{2(\gamma-1)}\right) \left\|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\right\|_{L^{\infty}L^{2}} \quad (1.1.33)$$

Combining (1.1.29) and (1.1.30), we compute

$$d(S(u_1), S(u_2)) \le C\left(T + T^{\frac{2}{3}}C(M, R)^{2(\gamma - 1)}\right) d(u, v).$$

Thus, proceeding as in the previous case, we define $M = 4C\sqrt{R}$ and we conclude that there exits T > 0 only depending on R such that S maps X_T onto itself and defines a contraction on X_T . Thus, $\psi_0 + u \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ solves (1.1.1).

Uniqueness. Let $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in C([-T, T], \mathbb{E}_2)$ be two solutions to (1.1.1) with initial data $\psi_1(0) = \psi_2(0) = \psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$. One has that

$$\psi_1(t) - \psi_2(t) = -i \int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \left(\mathcal{N}(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}(\psi_2) \right)(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(1.1.34)

We start by discussing the case $1 < \gamma \leq 2$. We recall that (1.1.29) and (1.1.30) yield

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi_1) - \mathcal{N}_1(\psi_2)\|_{L^1L^2} \le C \|\psi_1 - \psi_2\|_{L^1_x L^2_t},\tag{1.1.35}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{1}) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{2})\|_{L_{t}^{q'}L_{x}^{\frac{6}{5}}} \\ &\leq C \|\left(|\psi_{high,1}|^{2(\gamma-1)} + |\psi_{high,2}|^{2(\gamma-1)}(1-\chi(\psi_{2}))\right)|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{L_{t}^{q'}L_{x}^{\frac{6}{5}}} \\ &\leq C \left(\|\psi_{1}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}(X^{1}+H^{1})}^{\gamma-1} + \|\psi_{2}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}(X^{1}+H^{1})}^{\gamma-1}\right)\|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.36)

Therefore, upon applying the Strichartz estimate (1.0.4) and the bounds on \mathcal{N} we conclude that

$$\|\psi_1 - \psi_2\|_{L^{\infty}L^2} \le C \left(T^{\frac{1}{q'}} + \|\psi_1\|_{L^{\infty}(X^1 + H^1)}^{\gamma - 1} + \|\psi_2\|_{L^{\infty}(X^1 + H^1)}^{\gamma - 1} \right) \|\psi_1 - \psi_2\|_{L^{q'}L^2}.$$
 (1.1.37)

Hence, we deduce that $\|\psi_1(t) - \psi_2(t)\|_{L^2} = 0$ for a.e. $t \in [-T, T]$ and hence $\psi_1 = \psi_2$ a.e. on $[-T, T] \times \mathbf{R}^d$, see for example Lemma 4.2.2 in [52]. For the case d = 2 and $\gamma > 2$ it suffices to replace (1.1.30) by (1.1.33) and to notice that one may proceed accordingly to infer the respective version of (1.1.37) yielding uniqueness of solutions on $[-T, T] \times \mathbf{R}^d$.

Blow-up alternative.

Let $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and define

$$T_{max}(\psi_0) = \sup\{T > 0 : \text{ there exists solution to } (1.1.1) \text{ on } [0,T]\},$$

$$T_{min}(\psi_0) = \sup\{T > 0 : \text{ there exists solution to } (1.1.1) \text{ on } [-T,0]\}.$$

From the previous step, we infer $\psi \in C((-T_{min}, T_{max}); \mathbb{E}_2)$ solution of (1.1.1). Proceeding by contradiction, we assume that $T_{max} < \infty$ and that there exists $0 < M < \infty$ and a sequence t_n converging to T_{max} such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t_n)) \leq M$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let k be such that $T(M) + t_k > T_{max}(\psi_0)$. Then starting from t_k , Step 1 provides a solution up to $t_k + T(M)$. This violates the maximality assumption and we conclude that

$$\mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) \to \infty$$
, as $t \to T_{\max}$.

The statement for T_{min} is shown analogously.

The proof of the continuous dependence on the initial data of the solution requires some auxiliary Lemmas and is postponed after Lemma 1.1.12. $\hfill \Box$

Next, we introduce estimates on the nonlinear flow in Strichartz norms that are required for the proof of the continuous dependence on the initial data. The estimates used for the contraction argument in the proof of Proposition 1.1.10 are not sufficient since they only allow to control the difference of solutions ψ_1, ψ_2 provided that $\psi_1 - \psi_2 \in L_t^{\infty} L_x^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. We split the nonlinearity to analyse separately its behavior when the unkowns are small or large. Let $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})$ such that $\eta(z) = 1$ for $|z| \leq \frac{1}{4}$ and $supp(\eta) \subset B_{\frac{1}{2}}(0)$ and define

$$\mathcal{N}_{sing}(\psi) := \mathcal{N}(\psi)\eta(|\psi|), \qquad \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\psi) := \mathcal{N}(\psi)(1 - \eta(|\psi|)), \qquad (1.1.38)$$

The cut-off function η is used to isolate the singular behavior of $|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)}$, namely the set on which the Lipschitz constant blows up. The choice of the support of η ensures that this set is

of finite Lebesgue measure. We underline that η and χ as in (1.0.8) are not to be confused. We recall that the indices high/low indicate functions to which we applied the cut-off χ while reg / sing are used for functions to which η has been applied. Given $\psi \in X^1 + H^1$, the cut-off function χ allows to split $\psi = \psi_{low} + \psi_{high}$ so that $\psi_{low} \in X^1$ and $\psi_{high} \in H^1$. Similarly to the contraction argument, the properties of the regularity \mathcal{N} do not allow to directly control $\|\nabla \Phi(\psi) - \nabla \Phi(\psi_2)\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^2_{x}}$ for $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathbb{E}_2$, hence motivating the following estimates.

Lemma 1.1.11. Let d = 2, 3 and $1 < \gamma < 2$ for d = 3 and $\gamma > 1$ with $\gamma \neq 2$ for d = 2, further let R > 0 be fixed and r = 4 if $\gamma < 2$ and $r = 2\gamma$ if $\gamma > 2$. Given $\psi, \tilde{\psi} \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{\psi}) \leq R$, there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

Proof. We consider separately the cases $1 < \gamma < 2$ and $\gamma > 2$. In the former, for ψ_{low}, ψ_{low} one has

$$\left||\psi_{low}|^{2(\gamma-1)}\psi_{low} - |\tilde{\psi}_{low}|^{2(\gamma-1)}\tilde{\psi}_{low}\right| \le C|\psi_{low} - \tilde{\psi}_{low}|;$$

from which we infer that for $\psi, \tilde{\psi}$, it holds

$$\left|\mathcal{N}_{sing}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{sing}(\tilde{\psi})\right| \le C \left|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\right|.$$
(1.1.40)

Further, for $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ we denote $\mathcal{A} = \{x \in \mathbf{R}^d : |\psi| < \frac{1}{4}\}$, then the Chebycheff inequality yields

$$\mu(\mathcal{A}) \le \mu\left(\{||\psi|^2 - 1||^2 > \frac{1}{2}\}\right) \le 2\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \le 2R.$$

Thus, for $\psi, \tilde{\psi} \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{\psi}) \leq R$ we obtain

$$\left\| \left\| \mathcal{N}_{sing}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{sing}(\tilde{\psi}) \right\| \right\|_{L^{1}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq CT\sqrt{R} \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{\infty}+L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}.$$
 (1.1.41)

While to deal with \mathcal{N}_{reg} , we write

$$\begin{vmatrix} \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\tilde{\psi}) \\ \leq \left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1 - \eta(\psi)) - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1 - \eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right| |\psi| + \left| \left(|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) (\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right|, \quad (1.1.42)$$

The first contribution is controlled by Hölder continuity and local Lipschitz continuity as

$$\begin{aligned} \left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)}(1-\eta(\psi)) - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)}(1-\eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right| |\psi| \\ &\leq C \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)}(1-\eta(\psi)) + |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-2)}(1-\eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right) \left| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right| |\psi_{low}| \\ &+ C \left| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right|^{\gamma-1} |\psi_{high}| \\ &\leq C \left| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right| |\psi_{low}| + \left| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right|^{\gamma-1} |\psi_{high}|, \end{aligned}$$

where we used that $1 < \gamma < 2$. Next, we define

$$\frac{1}{r_1'} = \frac{\gamma - 1}{2} + \frac{1}{6} < \frac{2}{3}.$$

Let q'_1 such that (q_1, r_1) is admissible, then $q'_1 < \frac{12}{12-d}$. Hence, there exits $\alpha = \alpha(q_1) > \frac{3-d}{3}$ such that,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\psi)) - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right| |\psi| \right\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x} + L^{q'_{1}}_{t}L^{r'_{1}}_{x}} \\ \leq C \left(T^{\frac{4}{4-d}} + T^{\alpha} \| |\psi(1-\chi(\psi))\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{6}_{x}} \right) \left\| |\psi|^{2} - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{4}{d}}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.1.43)$$

Concerning the second contribution, we notice that for the specified range of γ estimate (1.1.23) is valid and thus

$$\left| \left(|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) (\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right| \le C \left| \left(|\tilde{\psi}|^2 - 1 \right) (\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right|.$$

Therefore,

$$\left\| \left(|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) (\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right\|_{L^1_t L^2_x + L^{\frac{12}{12-d}}_t L^{\frac{3}{2}}_x} \le C \left(T^{\frac{1}{q}} + T^{\frac{12-d}{12} - \frac{1}{q}} \right) \| |\tilde{\psi}|^2 - 1 \|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \| \psi - \tilde{\psi} \|_{L^q_t (L^{\infty}_x + L^r_x)}$$

We observe that $\frac{12-d}{12} - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{24-5d}{24} > 0$. Finally, we conclude that there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\tilde{\psi}) \right\|_{N^0} &\leq C \sqrt{R} T^{\alpha} \Big(\left\| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right\|_{L^{\frac{4}{d}}_t L^2_x} \\ &+ \left\| \psi - \tilde{\psi} \right\|_{L^q_t (L^{\infty}_x + L^r_x)} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

$$(1.1.44)$$

For $\gamma > 2$ and d = 2, the inequality (1.1.41) is still valid. Instead we replace (1.1.42) by

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\tilde{\psi}) \right| &\leq \left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1 - \eta(\psi)) - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1 - \eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right| |\psi| \\ &+ \left| \left(|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) (\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right|, \end{aligned}$$

followed by

$$\left| |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\psi)) - |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right| |\psi|$$

$$\leq C_{\gamma} |\psi| \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)} + |\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-2)} \right) \left| |\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right|,$$

where

$$C_{\gamma}|\psi|\left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)}+|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-2)}\right)\in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)+L^p(\mathbf{R}^2),$$

for any $1 \le p < \infty$ due to the Sobolev embedding $H^1(\mathbf{R}^2) \hookrightarrow L^p(\mathbf{R}^2)$. Thus, we may choose p such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| \psi\right|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\psi)) - \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2(\gamma-1)} (1-\eta(\tilde{\psi})) \right\| \|\psi\| \\ L_t^1 L_x^2 + L_t^{\frac{4}{3}} L_x^{\frac{4}{3}} &\leq T^{\frac{1}{2}} \||\psi|^2 - \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^2 \|_{L_t^2 L_x^2} \\ &+ CT^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \left(\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^{\gamma-2} + \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{\psi})^{\gamma-2} \right) \right) \||\psi|^2 - \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^2 \|_{L_t^2 L_x^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we observe that

$$|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2) + L^p(\mathbf{R}^2),$$

for any $1 \le p < 2$. This allows to conclude that there exists $\theta > 0$

$$\left\| (|\tilde{\psi}|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1)(\psi - \tilde{\psi}) \right\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2} + L^{\frac{4}{3}}_{t}L^{\frac{4}{3}}_{x} + L^{\frac{3}{2}}_{t}L^{\frac{6}{5}}_{x}$$

$$\leq T^{\theta} \left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\tilde{\psi}) + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\tilde{\psi})^{(\gamma-1)} \right) \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^{q}_{t}(L^{\infty}_{x} + L^{r}_{x})}$$

Finally, we obtain that there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_{reg}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\tilde{\psi})\|_{N^0} \le CT^{\theta} R^{\gamma - 1} \left(\left(\||\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} + \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^q_t (L^\infty_x + L^r_x)} \right).$$

Concatenating the Strichartz estimates (1.0.4) and Lemma 1.1.11 gives the following.

Lemma 1.1.12. Let $\gamma > 1$ with $\gamma \neq 2$ for d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 2$ for d = 3, further Φ as defined in (1.1.24) and R > 0 be fixed. Given $\psi, \tilde{\psi} \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{\psi}) \leq R$, there exists C = C(R) > 0 and $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)\|_{S^0([-T,T]\times\mathbf{R}^d)} \\ &\leq C(R)T^{\alpha} \left(\|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^{\infty}_t(L^{\infty}_x + L^2_x)} + \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^q_t(L^{\infty}_x + L^r_x)} + \||\psi|^2 - |\tilde{\psi}|^2\|_{L^2_tL^2_x} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.45)

We are now in position to complete the proof of Proposition 1.1.10.

Proof of Proposition 1.1.10 continued. We prove **continuous dependence on the initial data**.

We assume $\gamma \neq 2$. For $\gamma = 2$ the nonlinearity is algebraic and Lipschitz dependence on the initial data is proved by Lemma 4 in [84]. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$, let $\{\psi_0^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{E}_2$ be such that

$$d(\psi_0^n, \psi_0) \to 0$$
, as $n \to \infty$.

Let $\psi_n \in C([-T_n, T_n]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ be the unique maximal solution such that $\psi_n(0) = \psi_0^n$. There exists N_0 such that for all $n \geq N_0$, one has that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0^n) \leq 2\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0)$. It follows that there exists $T = T(2\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0))$ such that for sufficiently large n, the solutions ψ and ψ_n are defined on [-T, T] and moreover,

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} \left(\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_n(t)) + \mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) \right) \le C_T \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0).$$

By using (1.1.15), we know that for n sufficiently large we have

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0, e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0^n) \le C d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \psi_0^n),$$
(1.1.46)

for n sufficiently large. To compensate for the lack of a Lipschitz regularity of $\nabla \mathcal{N}$, we proceed in several steps. 1. Let r = 4 if $\gamma < 2$ and $r = 2\gamma$ if $\gamma > 2$, further let q such that (q, r) is an admissible pair. Then, there exists T' > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{\infty}+L^{2})} + \|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{q}([-T',T'];L^{\infty}+L^{r})} \\ + \||\psi_{n}|^{2} - |\psi|^{2}\|_{L^{\frac{4}{d}}([-T',T'];L^{2})} \\ \leq Cd_{\mathbb{E}_{2}}(\psi_{0}^{n},\psi_{0}). \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.47)

2. Provided (1.1.47) holds, we infer that

$$\|\nabla\psi_n - \nabla\psi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^2)} \to 0,$$
 (1.1.48)

as n goes to ∞ .

3. We combine the previous steps to conclude that

$$\sup_{|t| \le T'} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n(t), \psi(t)) \to 0.$$
(1.1.49)

Step 1 We show (1.1.47). We dispose of the first contribution, there exists $\theta > 0$ such that,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq \|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0^n\|_{L^{\infty}_t([-T,T];L^{\infty}_x + L^2_x(\mathbf{R}^d))} + \|\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T],L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq Cd_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0,\psi_0^n) + C \|\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T],L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.50)

where we used (1.1.15) to control the linear part of the solution and (1.1.45) to bound the non-homogeneous contribution $\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)$. Similarly,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq \|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 - e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0^n\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))} + \|\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))} \end{aligned}$$

Applying (1.1.46) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_{0} - e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_{0}^{n}\|_{L_{t}^{q}(L_{x}^{\infty} + L_{x}^{r})} &\leq T^{\frac{1}{q}}d_{\mathbb{E}_{2}}\left(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_{0}, e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_{0}^{n}\right) \\ &\leq CT^{\frac{1}{q}}d_{\mathbb{E}_{2}}(\psi_{0}, \psi_{0}^{n}). \end{aligned}$$

Proceeding as before, we recover

$$\|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^\infty + L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le CT^{\frac{1}{q}}d(\psi_0,\psi_0^n) + \|\Phi(\psi) - \Phi(\psi_n)\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^r(\mathbf{R}^d))}.$$
 (1.1.51)

We notice that

$$\begin{split} \left| |\psi_n|^2 - |\psi|^2 \right| &\leq \left| |e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0|^2 - |e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0^n|^2 \right| + \left| 2Re\left(e^{-it\Delta}\overline{\psi_0^n} \left(\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi) \right) \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| 2Re\left(e^{-it\Delta}(\overline{\psi_0^n} - \overline{\psi_0})\Phi(\psi) \right) \right| \\ &+ \left(|\Phi(\psi_n)| + |\Phi(\psi)| \right) |\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi)| \,. \end{split}$$

We control the terms separately. From (1.1.46), one has that

$$\left\| |e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0|^2 - |e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0^n|^2 \right\|_{L_t^{\frac{4}{d}}L_x^2} \le CT^{\frac{4}{4}}d(\psi_0,\psi_0^n).$$

Next,

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| 2Re\left(e^{-it\Delta} \overline{\psi_0^n} \left(\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi) \right) \right) \right\|_{L_t^{\frac{4}{d}} L_x^2} \\ & \leq T^{\frac{4}{d}} \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} \psi_0^n) \| \Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi) \|_{L_t^{\infty} L_x^2} + T^{\frac{d}{8}} \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} \psi_0^n)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi) \|_{L_t^{\frac{8}{d}} L_x^4} \end{aligned}$$

Using the previous inequalities, we infer that there exists $\theta_1 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| 2Re\left(e^{-it\Delta} \overline{\psi_0^n} \left(\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi) \right) \right) \right\|_{L_t^{\frac{4}{d}} L_x^2} \\ & \leq C(R) T^{\theta_1} \left(\|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L_t^{\infty}(L_x^{\infty} + L_x^2)} + \|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L_t^{\infty}(L_x^{\infty} + L_x^r)} + \||\psi|^2 - |\psi_n|^2\|_{L_t^q L_x^2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| 2Re\left(e^{-it\Delta}(\overline{\psi_0^n} - \overline{\psi_0})\Phi(\psi) \right) \right\|_{L_t^{\frac{q}{2}}L_x^2} \\ & \leq C\left(T^{\frac{d}{4}} \|\Phi(\psi)\|_{L_t^{\infty}L_x^2} + T^{\frac{d}{8}} \|\Phi(\psi)\|_{L_t^{\frac{8}{d}}L_x^4} \right) d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \psi_0^n). \end{aligned}$$

Finally, there exists $\theta_2 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} \| \left(|\Phi(\psi_n)| + |\Phi(\psi)| \right) |\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi)| \|_{L^q_t L^2_t L^2_x} \\ &\leq \left(\|\Phi(\psi_n)\|_{L^q_t L^4_x} + \|\Phi(\psi)\|_{L^q_t L^4_x} \right) \|\Phi(\psi_n) - \Phi(\psi)\|_{L^q_t L^4_x} \\ &\leq CT^{\theta_2} \left(\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) + \left(\sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi_n(t)) \right) \right) \\ &\times \left(\|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^\infty_t (L^\infty_x + L^2_x)} + \|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^\infty_t (L^\infty_x + L^r_x)} + \||\psi|^2 - |\psi_n|^2\|_{L^q_t L^2_x} \right). \end{split}$$

Combining the previous four inequalities, we infer that there exists $\theta > 0$

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |\psi_n|^2 - |\psi|^2 \right\|_{L^q_t L^2_x} &\leq C(R)(1+T^\theta) d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0,\psi_0^n) \\ &+ C(R)T^\theta \Big(\|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^\infty_t(L^\infty_x + L^2_x)} + \|\psi - \psi_n\|_{L^\infty_t(L^\infty_x + L^r_x)} + \||\psi|^2 - |\psi_n|^2\|_{L^q_t L^2_x} \Big). \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.52)

Summing up (1.1.50), (1.1.51) and (1.1.52) and applying (1.1.45) yields that there exists $\theta > 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} \|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{q}([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \||\psi_{n}|^{2} - |\psi|^{2}\|_{L^{\frac{4}{d}}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ &\leq C(1 + T^{\frac{1}{q}})d_{\mathbb{E}_{2}}(\psi_{0}^{n},\psi_{0}) + C(R)T^{\theta} \Big(\|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \|\psi_{n} - \psi\|_{L^{q}([-T,T];L^{\infty} + L^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ &+ \||\psi_{n}|^{2} - |\psi|^{2}\|_{L^{\frac{4}{d}}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \Big). \end{split}$$

For T > 0 sufficiently small depending on R, the desired inequality (1.1.47) follows and Step 1 is complete.

Step 2.

We recall that the linear propagator $e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}$ and ∇ commute, so that

$$\nabla \psi - \nabla \psi_n = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} \left(\nabla \psi_0 - \nabla \psi_0^n \right) - i \int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \left(\nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi) - \nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi_n) \right)(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

We denote $\mathcal{N}'(\psi) = D\mathcal{N}(\psi)$, Lemma 1.1.9 states that $\mathcal{N} \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^2, \mathbf{R}^2)$ and thus we have that $\nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi) = \mathcal{N}'(\psi) \nabla \psi$ for a.e. $\psi \in \mathbf{C}$, see for instance Remark 1.3.(v) in [52]. We estimate the difference of the linear terms as

$$\left\| e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} \left(\nabla \psi_0 - \nabla \psi_0^n \right) \right\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T],L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le C d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \psi_0^n), \tag{1.1.53}$$

since $e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}$ is an isometry on $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. We split the non-homogeneous term in

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| i \int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \left(\nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi) - \nabla \mathcal{N}(\psi_{n}) \right)(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ & \leq \| \mathcal{N}_{1}'(\psi_{n}) (\nabla \psi - \nabla \psi_{n}) \|_{L^{1}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \| \mathcal{N}_{2}'(\psi_{n}) (\nabla \psi - \nabla \psi_{n}) \|_{L^{q'_{1}}([-T,T];L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ & + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_{1}'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{1}'(\psi_{n}) \right) \nabla \psi \right\|_{L^{1}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_{2}'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{2}'(\psi) \right) \nabla \psi_{n} \right\|_{L^{q'_{1}}([-T,T];L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ & \leq C \left(T + T^{\frac{1}{q'}} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{\alpha} \right) \right\| \nabla \psi - \nabla \psi_{n} \|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ & + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_{1}'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{1}'(\psi_{n}) \right) \nabla \psi \right\|_{L^{1}([-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_{2}'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{2}'(\psi) \right) \nabla \psi_{n} \right\|_{L^{q'_{1}}([-T,T];L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))}, \\ & (1.1.54) \end{aligned}$$

where q_1 such that $(q_1, 6)$ is admissibile and $\alpha = \max\{1, \gamma - 1\}$. Thus for T > 0 sufficiently small so that

$$C\left(T+T^{\frac{1}{q'}}\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^{\alpha})\right) \leq \frac{1}{2}.$$

We conclude that combining (1.1.53) and (1.1.54) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla\psi - \nabla\psi_n\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T],L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} &\leq Cd_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0,\psi_0^n) \\ &+ \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}'_1(\psi) - \mathcal{N}'_1(\psi_n) \right) \nabla\psi \right\|_{L^1([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}'_2(\psi) - \mathcal{N}'_2(\psi) \right) \nabla\psi_n \right\|_{L^{q'_1}([-T,T];L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^d))}. \end{aligned}$$

To prove (1.1.48) we are left to show that the second line of the right-hand side converges to 0 as n goes to infinity. We proceed by contradiction assuming that there exists a subsequence still denoted ψ_n such that for all n,

$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_1'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_1'(\psi_n) \right) \nabla \psi \right\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} + \left\| \left(\mathcal{N}_2'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_2'(\psi) \right) \nabla \psi_n \right\|_{L^{q'_1}_t L^{\frac{6}{5}}_x} \ge \varepsilon.$$
(1.1.55)

Inequality (1.1.47) implies that up to passing to a subsequence, still denoted ψ_n , we have ψ_n converges to ψ a.e. on $(-T,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$. Further, there exists $\phi \in L^{\infty}((-T,T); L^{2^*}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ with $2^* = \frac{2d}{d-2}$ such that $|\psi_n|(1-\chi(\psi_n)) \leq \phi$ a.e. on $(-T,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$. Since $\mathcal{N} \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^2, \mathbf{R}^2)$, one has that

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{N}_1'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_1'(\psi_n) \end{pmatrix} \nabla \psi \right| \to 0 \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad (-T, T) \times \mathbf{R}^d, \\ \left| \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{N}_2'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_2'(\psi_n) \end{pmatrix} \nabla \psi \right| \to 0 \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad (-T, T) \times \mathbf{R}^d.$$

Moreover, we control

$$\left| \left(\mathcal{N}_1'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_1'(\psi_n) \right) \nabla \psi \right| \le C |\nabla \psi| \in L^1((-T,T); L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)), \\ \left| \left(\mathcal{N}_2'(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_2'(\psi_n) \right) \nabla \psi \right| \le C \left(|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} + |\phi|^{2(\gamma-1)} \right) |\nabla \psi| \in L^{q_1'}((-T,T); L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^d)),$$

so that the dominated convergence Theorem then implies that (1.1.55) is violated and Step 2 is complete.

Step 3. It remains to show that

$$\||\psi|^2 - |\psi_n|^2\|_{L^{\infty}([-T,T];L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \to 0.$$

Inequality (1.1.15) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |\psi|^{2} - |\psi_{n}|^{2} \right\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} &\leq C \left(1 + \|\psi - \psi_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} + \|\psi_{n} - \psi_{n}^{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} \right) d_{\mathbb{E}_{2}}(\psi_{0},\psi_{0}^{n}) \\ &+ \left(1 + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi) + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{n}) + \|\psi - \psi_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} + \|\psi_{n} - \psi_{n}^{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} \right) \\ &\times \|\psi - \psi_{0} - (\psi_{n} - \psi_{n}^{0})\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, it suffices to show that,

$$\|\psi - \psi_0 - (\psi_n - \psi_n^0)\|_{L^{\infty}_t H^1_x} \to 0.$$

We notice that (1.1.48) yields

$$\|\nabla \left(\psi - \psi_0 - (\psi_n - \psi_n^0)\right)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \le C \|\nabla \psi_n - \nabla \psi\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} + \|\nabla \psi_0 - \nabla \psi_0^n\|_{L^2_x} \to 0,$$

thanks to (1.1.48) from Step 2. We are left to show that

$$\|\psi - \psi_0 - (\psi_n - \psi_n^0)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \to 0$$

To that end we observe that

$$\psi - \psi_0 - (\psi_n - \psi_n^0) = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} (\psi_0 - \psi_0^n) - (\psi_0 - \psi_0^n) - i \int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} (\mathcal{N}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}(\psi)) (s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Lemma 1.1.8 yields that

$$\left\| e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta} \left(\psi_0 - \psi_0^n \right) - \left(\psi_0 - \psi_0^n \right) \right\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \le CT^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \nabla (\psi_0 - \psi_0^n) \|_{L^2_x} \to 0.$$

Applying (1.1.45) or (1.1.45) allows to conclude,

$$\left\|-i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \left(\mathcal{N}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}(\psi)\right)(s) \mathrm{d}s\right\|_{L^\infty_t L^2_x} \to 0.$$

Step 3 is complete and hence we have shown continuous dependence on the initial data w.r.t. to the topology of \mathbb{E}_2 induced by the metric $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}$.

1.1.3 Global well-posedness in 2d and for subcubic nonlinearities in 3d

In this paragraph, we extend the local theory to a global well-posedness result. For that purpose, we firstly show that the energy as defined in (1.0.2) controls $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)$ and vice versa. Secondly, we prove that the energy is conserved by the flow for regular solutions. Finally, persistence of the regularity together with an approximation argument yields global existence for solutions in the energy space.

We start by observing that if ψ is of finite energy, namely $\mathcal{E}(\psi) < \infty$ with \mathcal{E} defined in (1.0.2), then $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_{\gamma}$ given by

$$\mathbb{E}_{\gamma} = \left\{ \psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d) \quad : \quad \nabla \psi \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \quad |\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^{\gamma}_2(\mathbf{R}^d) \right\}.$$
(1.1.56)

Indeed, the property $F(|\psi|^2) \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$, for F defined in (1.0.2), is equivalent to $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, where L_2^{γ} denotes the Orlicz space, as will follow from Lemma 1.1.13, see Chapter 5 in [135] and Appendix A in [9]. In particular, we recall that $F(\rho)$ is equivalent to $|\rho - 1|^2$ if $|\rho - 1| < \frac{1}{2}$ and equivalent to $|\rho - 1|^{\gamma}$ if $|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}$. The choice of the exponent γ therefore influences the behavior for $\rho \to 0$ and $\rho \to \infty$ while the behavior close to the minimum $\rho = 1$ remains quadratic.

Lemma 1.1.13. Let

$$V(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x,$$

then $V \in C^1(\mathbb{E}_2; \mathbb{R})$ and the first variation satisfies $\frac{\delta V}{\delta \psi} = \mathcal{N}(\psi)$. Further, if $\gamma > 1$ for d = 2and $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3, then $\mathbb{E}_{\gamma} = \mathbb{E}_2$.

This can be seen as the analogous statement compared to the subcritical defocusing nonlinear Schrödinger equation where $H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ coincides with the space of functions for which the Hamiltonian is finite.

Proof. Since $\gamma > 1$, the function $F : \mathbf{R}_+ \to R_+$ is convex, non-negative and achieves its global minimum in F(1) = 0. In particular, $F \in C^1(\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{R}_+)$. Next, we check that $V : \mathbb{E}_2 \to \mathbf{R}_+$ is well-defined. Let $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$. In order to conclude that $V(\psi) \leq \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)$, we use that

$$F(|\psi|^2) \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |\psi|^2 - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

Namely, we check that there exists C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\psi|^2 - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}\}} + \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right|^\gamma \mathbf{1}_{\{|\psi|^2 - 1| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le C.$$
(1.1.57)

If $\gamma \leq 2$ the conclusion is immediate. If $\gamma \geq 2$, we observe that $\{|\psi|^2 - 1| \geq \frac{1}{2}\}$ is of finite Lebesgue measure. Moreover, since

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\nabla |\psi||^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\nabla \psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x < +\infty,$$

and

$$||\psi| - 1| \le ||\psi|^2 - 1|,$$

for $x \in \{||\psi|^2 - 1| \leq \frac{1}{2}\}$ we have that $|\psi| - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Thus, by Sobolev embedding we infer that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right|^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{\{|\psi|^2 - 1| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}} \le C.$$

Conversely, arguing analogously it is clear that if $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^2_{\gamma}$ with $\gamma \ge 2$ then (1.1.57) implies that $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ provided that $2\gamma \le 2^*$. If $\gamma < 2$, then we exploit that by Markov-inequality the set $\mathcal{A} = \{x \in \mathbf{R}^d : ||\psi|^2 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}$ is of finite Lebesgue measure and we proceed as before using Sobolev embedding. Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left| |\psi|^2 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\psi|^2 - 1| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}} < +\infty.$$

It follows, $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

We are now ready to show persistence of the regularity and conservation of the energy (1.0.2) for regular solutions to (1.1.1).

Lemma 1.1.14. Let d = 2, 3 and $\gamma > 1$ if d = 2 and $1 < \gamma \leq 2$ if d = 3. Let $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ be such that $\Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then there exists a unique solution $\psi \in C(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1) such that for any $0 < T < \infty$ one has $\Delta \psi \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $\partial_t \psi \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ Moreover,

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0),$$

for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$.

Proof. Let $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $\Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Proposition 1.1.10 provides a T > 0 such that there exists a unique $\psi \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ strong solution to (1.1.1) with initial data $\psi(0) = \psi_0$. The blow-up alternative yields that there exists $T_1 > 0$ and $C = C(\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0)) > 0$ such that for all $t \in [-T_1, T_1]$,

 $\mathcal{E}_2(t) \leq C.$

In particular, exploiting continuity in time we conclude

$$i\partial_t\psi(0) = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi_0 + \mathcal{N}(\psi_0).$$

We claim that $\partial_t \psi(0) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Indeed, for $\mathcal{N}_1, \mathcal{N}_2$ defined in (1.1.17), one has

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi_0)\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} \le \||\psi_0|^2 - 1\|_{L^2},$$

and

$$\|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi_{0})\|_{L^{2}} \leq C \||\psi_{0}|^{2\gamma-1}\|_{L^{2}(supp(\chi(\psi))^{c})} \leq \|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}(2\gamma-1)}^{2(\gamma-1)}(supp(\chi(\psi))^{c})} \leq \|\psi_{0}\|_{X^{2}+H^{2}}^{2\gamma-1},$$

provided $1 < \gamma < \infty$. In particular, we observe that $\|\mathcal{N}_2(\psi_0)\|_{L^2} \leq \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^6$ provided that $\gamma \leq 2$. It follows $\partial_t \psi(0) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Denote $\phi_0 := \partial_t \psi(0)$ and $\phi := \partial_t \psi$. Differentiating (1.1.1) in time yields

$$i\partial_t \phi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\phi + \left(\gamma|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1\right)\phi + (\gamma-1)|\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)}\psi^2\overline{\phi}.$$
 (1.1.58)

Here, we have used that $\partial_t \mathcal{N}(\psi) = \mathcal{N}'(\psi) \partial_t \psi$ a.e. on $(-T, T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ from Lemma 1.1.9. For $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{R})$ as in (1.1.17), we have that

$$\left\| \left(\left(\gamma |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) \phi + (\gamma-1) |\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)} \psi^2 \overline{\phi} \right) \chi(\psi) \right\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} \le \|\phi\|_{L^1_t L^2_x},$$

and for r = 6 and q such that (q, r) is admissible,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left(\left(\gamma |\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1 \right) \phi + (\gamma-1) |\psi|^{2(\gamma-2)} \psi^2 \overline{\phi} \right) (1-\chi(\psi)) \right\|_{L_t^{q'} L_x^{\frac{6}{5}}} \\ & \leq T^{\frac{1}{q'}} \|\psi(1-\chi(\psi)\|_{L_t^{\infty} L^{6(\gamma-1)}}^3 \|\phi\|_{L_t^{\infty} L_x^2} \\ & \leq \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^{2(\gamma-1)} \|\phi\|_{L_t^{\infty} L_x^2}, \end{split}$$

Thus, there exists $0 < T' < T_1$ such that

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq \|\phi_{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \left(T' + T'^{\frac{1}{q'}} \sup_{|t| \leq T'} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)(t)^{3}\right) \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))},$$

and

$$\left(T' + T'^{\frac{1}{q'}} \sup_{|t| \le T'} \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)(t)^3\right) < \frac{1}{2}.$$

Thus,

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq 2\|\phi_{0}\|_{L^{2}}.$$

We stress that $T' < T_1$ only depends on $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0)$. Further, if $\gamma \leq 2$, by using the equation we recover

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta\psi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \|\mathcal{N}(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)(t) + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)(t)^{2\gamma-1}. \end{aligned}$$

If $\gamma > 2$, one has that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(2\gamma-1)}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))$$

If d = 2 the right-hand side is bounded due to the Sobolev embedding. If d = 3, we apply the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality to infer that

$$\|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2(2\gamma-1)}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq \|\Delta\psi\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{\theta}\|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{\infty}([-T',T'];L^{6}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{1-\theta}$$

with $\theta = \frac{\gamma - 2}{2\gamma - 1}$. Therefore,

$$\|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq \|\Delta\psi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{\gamma-2} \|\psi_{high}\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{6}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{\gamma+1},$$

and by consequence,

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta\psi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{\gamma+1} \|\Delta\psi\|_{L^{\infty}[-T',T'];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{\gamma-2}. \end{split}$$

Hence $\Delta \psi \in L^{\infty}[-T', T']; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for all $\gamma > 1$ if d = 2 ad for $1 < \gamma \leq 3$ if d = 3. Next, we show that $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$ for all $t \in [-T', T']$. To that end, we compute the L^2 scalar product of (1.1.1) and $\partial_t \psi$ and take the real part to infer

$$0 = Re \left\langle i \partial_t \psi, \partial_t \psi \right\rangle = Re \left\langle -\Delta \psi + \mathcal{N}(\psi), \partial_t \psi \right\rangle,$$

for any $t \in [-T', T']$. We notice that all products are well-defined and a.e. on \mathbf{R}^d one has that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} Re(\overline{\mathcal{N}(\psi)}\partial_t \psi) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (|\psi|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1) Re(\overline{\psi}\partial_t \psi) \mathrm{d}x = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x.$$

where we used Lemma 1.1.13. We conclude that for all $t \in [-T', T']$

$$0 = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x.$$

By consequence, we have $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$ for all $t \in [-T', T']$. Lemma 1.1.13 states that $\mathcal{E}(\psi)$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi)$ are equivalent and hence since T' > 0 only depends on $\sup_{t \in [-T', T']} \mathcal{E}_2(t)$ and

$$\mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) \sim \mathcal{E}(\psi(t) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)),$$

we may therefore iterate the above procedure and Proposition 1.1.10 to conclude that for any T > 0, there exists a solution $\psi \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1) with $\partial_t \psi \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and $\Delta \psi \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and moreover for all $t \in [-T, T]$ one has $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$. It remains to show that ψ is a global solution, namely $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$. By contradiction, assume that there exists a maximal time $T < \infty$ such that $\psi \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ and $T < \infty$. In view of the blow-up alternative provided by Proposition 1.1.10, we conclude that

$$\lim_{t \nearrow T} \mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) = \infty$$

Since again $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi(t)) \sim \mathcal{E}(\psi)(t)$, we obtain a contradiction to the conservation of energy. By consequence, $T = \infty$ and the proof is complete.

Combining Lemma 1.1.14 and Proposition 1.1.10 yields the global well-posedness result in the space \mathbb{E}_2 .

Corollary 1.1.15. Let d = 2, 3 and $\gamma > 1$ if d = 2 and $1 < \gamma \leq 2$ if d = 3. Then (1.1.1) is globally wellposed in \mathbb{E}_2 . In particular,

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0),$$

for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$.

The statement follows from a standard approximation argument.

Proof. Let $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, then thanks to Proposition 1.1.10 there exits T > 0 and a unique solution $\psi \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1). Moreover, Lemma 1.1.6 states that there exists $\{\psi_0^n\} \subset C^{\infty}$ such that $\nabla \psi_0^n \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ uniformly and $d(\psi_0, \psi_0^n)$ converges to 0 as n goes to infinity. Lemma 1.1.14 provides a sequence of global solutions $\psi_n \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ such that $\mathcal{E}(\psi_n(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0^n)$ for all n. Relying on the continuous dependence on the initial data, we conclude that

$$\sup_{t \in [-T,T]} d(\psi(t), \psi_n(t)) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$

Hence, $\mathcal{E}(\psi_n)(t) \to \mathcal{E}(\psi(t))$ for all $t \in (-T, T)$. Iterating the local existence result of Proposition 1.1.10 together with the blow-up alternative yield the global existence, i.e. $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$.

1.1.4 Well-posedness theory in 3d for supercubic nonlinearities

This paragraph covers the 3*d* well-posedness theory of (1.1.1) for $2 \leq \gamma < 3$. The theory exploits the particular structure of the energy space (1.1.4) for d = 3 and relies on the regularity properties of the nonlinearity \mathcal{N} , namely that in this regime $\nabla \mathcal{N}$ is locally Lipschitz. Indeed, recalling (1.1.16), one may write $\nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u) = F_1(c+u)\nabla u + F_2(c+u)\overline{\nabla u}$, where $F_j(z) = O(|z|^{2(\gamma-1)})$. Further, we have $\nabla F_j(z) = O(|z|^{2\gamma-3})$, so that for $\gamma \geq \frac{3}{2}$ we conclude that $\nabla \mathcal{N}$ is locally Lipschitz. This motivates us to present an existence result for $\gamma \in [\frac{3}{2}, 3)$ including an alternative proof of Proposition 1.1.10 for the range $\frac{3}{2} \leq \gamma \leq 2$. For the energy-critical case $\gamma = 3$ we refer to [82] and [118]. In [82], local well-posedness in the energy space for small data is proven, in [118] the authors obtain global well-posedness for cubic-quintic nonlinearities. With the analoguous approach one may show global well-posedness for quintic nonlinearities. This Section firstly gives a more precise characterization of the energy space for d = 3 and then tackles the well-posedness problem.

Structure of the energy space for d = 3

We provide the following result being a special case of Lemma 1.1.3 for d = 3.

Corollary 1.1.16. The following hold true

1. $\mathcal{F}_c \subset X^1 + H^1(\mathbf{R}^3),$

2. $\mathcal{F}_c + H^1(\mathbf{R}^3) \subset \mathcal{F}_c$, in particular for $u \in \mathcal{F}_c$, $v \in H^1$

$$||c+v+u|^{2}-1||_{L^{2}} \leq ||c+v|^{2}-1||_{L^{2}} + C\left(1+\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+v)}\right)\left(||u||_{L^{2}}+||u||_{L^{4}}+||u||_{L^{4}}^{2}\right).$$

3. For c + v, $\tilde{c} + \tilde{v} \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $u, \tilde{u} \in H^1$ one has

$$\begin{split} \delta_{c,\tilde{c}}(c+v+u,\tilde{c}+\tilde{v}+\tilde{u}) \leq & C(1+\|u\|_{H^1}+\|\tilde{u}\|_{H^1})\delta_{c,\tilde{c}}(c+v+,\tilde{c}+\tilde{v}) \\ &+(1+\sqrt{\mathcal{E}(c+v)}+\sqrt{\mathcal{E}(\tilde{c}+\tilde{v})}+\|u\|_{H^1}+\|\tilde{u}\|_{H^1})\|u-\tilde{u}\|_{H^1}. \end{split}$$

Well-posedness theory

Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, there exists $c \in \mathbb{C}$ with |c| = 1 and $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ such that $\psi_0 = c + u_0$. We show that the dynamics of equation (1.1.1) is characterised by $\psi(t) = c + u(t)$ with $u \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{F}_c)$ unique solution to

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta u + (|c+u|^{2(\gamma-1)} - 1)(c+u), \\ u(0,x) = u. \end{cases}$$
(1.1.59)

For that purpose, we proceed in several steps:

- 1. We introduce a global well-posedness theory for (1.1.59) in \mathcal{F}_c .
- 2. Given $u \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathcal{F}_c)$ solution to (1.1.59), the function $\psi := c + u \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ defines a solution to (1.1.1).
- 3. We prove uniqueness for solutions to (1.1.1) in $C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

Our approach distinguishes itself from the approach chosen in [82]. In [82], the author decomposes a given in initial datum in $\psi_0 = \phi_0 + u_0$ such that $\phi_0 \in C_b^{\infty}$ and $u_0 \in H^1$. Subsequently, an H^1 -theory for (1.1.59) with c replaced by u_0 is developed. This approach, requiring higher regularity assumptions on F', might be carried out in any dimension, while the decomposition $\psi_0 = c + u_0$ used here is only available in d = 3, 4.

Well-posedness for (1.1.59)

This section is inspired by the H^1 -theory for the sub-critical NLS in 3d as presented in Paragraph 3.3. in [167]. To meet notations in literature, we fix the exponents,

$$p := 2\gamma - 1, \qquad q = 10, \quad r = \frac{30}{13},$$

so that $2 \le p < 5$ and (q, r) is a Strichartz admissible pair. The equation (1.1.59) becomes energy critical for $\gamma = 3$ or p = 5 respectively. We recall that the spaces N^0 and N^1 are defined in (1.0.6) and (1.0.7) respectively. **Lemma 1.1.17.** Let $\frac{3}{2} \leq \gamma < 3$ and $\mathcal{N}_1, \mathcal{N}_2$ as in (1.1.17). Denote

$$\alpha_1 = 1 - \frac{p}{10}, \qquad \alpha_2 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{p}{10}.$$

Then for $c \in \mathbf{C}$ with |c| = 1 and $u \in \mathcal{F}_c(\mathbf{R}^3) \cap \dot{W}^{1,r}$, one has

$$\|\mathcal{N}(c+u)\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \leq CT \||c+u|^{2} - 1\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + CT^{1-\frac{p}{10}} \|u\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_{x}}^{p-1} \|u\|_{L^{10}_{t,x}}.$$

For the gradient one has that,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{1}(c+u)\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} &\leq CT \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}(\mathbf{R}^{3})}, \\ \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_{2}(c+u)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{\frac{6}{5}}_{x}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} &\leq CT^{\alpha_{2}}\|u\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}}_{x}(p-1)}(\mathbf{R}^{3})}^{p-1} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}(\mathbf{R}^{3})}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.60)

Moreover, there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that for $u, v \in \mathcal{F}_c(\mathbf{R}^3) \cap \dot{W}^{1,r}$ with

$$\sup_{t \in [-T,T]} \mathcal{E}_2(c+u) + \|u\|_{L^q \dot{W}^{1,r}} \le M,$$
$$\sup_{t \in [-T,T]} \mathcal{E}_2(c+v) + \|v\|_{L^q \dot{W}^{1,r}} \le M,$$

one has

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}(c+u) - \mathcal{N}(c+v)\|_{N^{0}([-T,T]\times\mathbf{R}^{d})} &\leq C(T+T^{\frac{3}{4}})\delta_{c,c}(u,v) \\ &+ T^{\alpha_{2}}M^{p-1}\||c+u|^{2} - |c+v|^{2}\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + T^{\alpha_{2}}M\|u-v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}, \end{aligned}$$
(1.1.61)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u) - \nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u)\|_{N^{1}([-T,T]\times\mathbf{R}^{3})} &\leq C_{\gamma}T\|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \\ &+ C_{\gamma}T^{\alpha_{2}}M^{p-1}\|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} + C_{\gamma}T^{\frac{3}{4}}M\|u - v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{6}_{x}} + C_{\gamma}T^{\alpha_{2}}M\|u - v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{10}_{x}}.\end{aligned}$$

Proof. Let $\mathcal{N}_1, \mathcal{N}_2$ be as in (1.1.17). We observe that Lemma 1.1.3 states that $(c+u)(1-\chi(c+u)) \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ and thus in $L^r(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for all $2 \leq r \leq 6$. Further, $u \in \mathcal{F}_c(\mathbf{R}^3) \cap \dot{W}^{1,r}$ implies that $u \in L^{10}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ and thus by interpolation $(c+u)(1-\chi(c+u)) \in L^r(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for any $2 \leq r \leq 10$ provided $u \in \mathcal{F}_c(\mathbf{R}^3) \cap \dot{W}^{1,r}$. This fact will be used repeatedly during the proof. It is immediate to see that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(c+u)\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} \le CT \||c+u|^2 - 1\|_{L^\infty_t L^2_x}.$$

We observe that the support of $1 - \chi(c+u)$ is of finite Lebesgue measure and moreover $|c+u| \leq 2|u|$ on that set. Taking in account the fact that $u \in L^r_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for $2 \leq r \leq 10$, we conclude that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_2(c+u)\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} \le CT^{1-\frac{p}{10}} \|u\|_{L^{10}_t L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_x(supp((1-\chi(c+u))))}^{p-1} \|u\|_{L^{10}_t L^{10}_x}.$$

We proceed to bound

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{N}_1(c+u)\|_{L^1_t L^2} \le CT \|\nabla u\|_{L^\infty_t L^2}.$$

In order to bound $\nabla \mathcal{N}_2$, we compute that

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{N}_2(c+u)\|_{L^2_t L^{\frac{6}{5}}_x} \le T^{\alpha_2} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}_2(c+u)\|_{L^{\frac{10}{p}}_t L^{\frac{6}{5}}_x} \le C_{\gamma} T^{\alpha_2} \|(1-\chi(c+u))u\|_{L^{\frac{10}{t}}_t L^{\frac{5}{2}}_x}^{p-1} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{10}_t L^{\frac{1}{t}}_x}$$

Let $u, v \in \mathcal{F}_c$, then

$$\begin{aligned} &|\mathcal{N}_{1}(c+u) - \mathcal{N}_{1}(c+v)||_{L_{t}^{1}L_{x}^{2} + L_{t}^{\frac{4}{3}}L_{x}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ &\leq C\left(T\left\||c+u|^{2} - |c+v|^{2}\right\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} + T^{\frac{3}{4}}\||c+v|^{2} - 1\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}}\|u-v\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{6}}\right) \\ &\leq CT\left\||c+u|^{2} - |c+v|^{2}\right\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} + CT^{\frac{3}{4}}\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+v)}\|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}}.\end{aligned}$$

We derive the pointwise estimate,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{N}_2(c+u) - \mathcal{N}_2(c+v)| &\leq \left(|(c+u)_{high}|^{p-3} + |(c+v)_{high}|^{p-3} \right) |(c+u)_{high}| \left| |(c+u)_{high}|^2 - |(c+v)_{high}|^2 \\ &+ \left| (|(c+v)_{high}|^{p-1} - 1)(u-v) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, if $\frac{3}{2} \leq \gamma \leq 2$, we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(c+u) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(c+v)\|_{L_{t}^{\frac{4}{3}}L_{x}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ &\leq CT^{\frac{3}{4}}\sup_{t}\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)} \left(\||c+u|^{2} - |c+v|^{2}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} + \|u-v\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{6}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

For, $\gamma \geq 2$ implying $p \geq 3$ we obtain that there exits $\alpha, \beta > 0$ and $\theta_1, \theta_2 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(c+u) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(c+v)\|_{L_{t}^{\frac{10}{9}}L_{x}^{\frac{30}{17}} + L_{t}^{2}L_{x}^{\frac{6}{5}}} \\ &\leq CT^{\beta} \left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)^{\theta_{1}} \|u\|_{L_{t}^{q}\dot{W}_{x}^{1,r}}^{1-\theta_{1}} \right) \\ &\times \left(\left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)^{\theta_{1}} \|u\|_{L_{t}^{q}\dot{W}_{x}^{1,r}}^{1-\theta_{1}} \right)^{p-2} + \left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(c+v)^{\theta_{1}} \|v\|_{L_{t}^{q}\dot{W}_{x}^{1,r}}^{1-\theta_{1}} \right)^{p-2} \right) \\ &\times \||c+u|^{2} - |c+v|^{2} \|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} + T^{\alpha} \left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)^{\theta_{2}} \|u\|_{L_{t}^{q}\dot{W}_{x}^{1,r}}^{1-\theta_{2}} \right) \|u-v\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}}. \end{split}$$

To show the local Lipschitz bound on the gradient of $\mathcal{N}(\cdot)$, we have the pointwise estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left(\gamma | c + u |^{p-1} - 1 \right) \nabla u - \left(\gamma | c + v |^{p-1} - 1 \right) \nabla v \\ + \left(\gamma - 1 \right) \left(|c + u|^{p-3} (c + u)^2 \overline{\nabla u} - |c + v|^{p-3} (c + v)^2 \overline{\nabla v} \right) \right| \\ \leq \left(\gamma | c + u |^{p-1} - 1 + (\gamma - 1) |c + u|^{p-1} \right) |\nabla u - \nabla v| \\ + \left(2\gamma - 1 \right) \left(1 + |u|^{p-2} + |v|^{p-2} \right) |u - v| |\nabla v|. \end{aligned}$$

We notice that

$$\gamma |c+u|^{p-1} - 1 + (\gamma - 1)|c+u|^{p-1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^3) + L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}(\mathbf{R}^3),$$

and

$$(2\gamma - 1)\left(1 + |u|^{p-2} + |v|^{p-2}\right) \in L^{\infty} + L^{\frac{5(p-1)}{2(p-2)}}(\mathbf{R}^3).$$

Therefore, for $\alpha = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{p}{10}$,

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u) - \nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u)\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x} + L^{\frac{4}{3}}_{t}L^{\frac{3}{2}}_{x} + L^{2}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{5}}_{x}} \\ &\leq C_{\gamma}T \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + C_{\gamma}T^{\alpha} \left(\|u\|^{p-1}_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_{x}} + \|v\|^{p-1}_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_{x}} \right) \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} \\ &+ C_{\gamma}T^{\frac{3}{4}}\|u - v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{6}_{x}} \|\nabla v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + C_{\gamma}T^{\alpha} \left(\|u\|^{p-2}_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{10}{3}(p-2)}_{x}} + \|v\|^{p-2}_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{10}{3}(p-2)}_{x}} \right) \\ &\times \|u - v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{10}_{x}} \|\nabla v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{r}_{x}}. \end{split}$$

We are now in position to show local well-posedness of (1.1.59)

Proposition 1.1.18. Let $\frac{3}{2} \leq \gamma < 3$. Then the equation (1.1.59) is locally well-posed in $\mathcal{F}_c(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Moreover, for every R > 0 there exists T > 0 and C > 0 such that for all $u_0, v_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ with $\mathcal{E}_2(c+u_0) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(c+v_0) \leq R$, one has

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} \delta_{c,c}(u(t), v(t)) \le C \delta_{c,c}(u_0, v_0).$$

Proof. Local existence

Given $c \in \mathbf{C}$ such that |c| = 1 and $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ with $\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(c+u_0)} \leq R$, we perform a fixed point argument for the solution map

$$S(u)(t) = e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}u_0 - i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta}\mathcal{N}(c+u)(s)\mathrm{d}s,$$
(1.1.62)

in

$$X_T = \{ u \in L^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_c \cap L^q \dot{W}^{1,r} : \sup_{|t| \le T} \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(c+u)} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^q([-T,T];L^r(\mathbf{R}^3))} \le M \}.$$

To that end, we first check that $S: X_T \to X_T$. From Lemma 1.1.17, it follows

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla S(u)\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} &\leq C \|\nabla u_{0}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &+ C_{\gamma} \left(T \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + T^{\alpha} \|u\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}}_{x}(p-1)}^{p-1} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where $\alpha = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{p}{10} > 0$. The same argument yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla S(u)\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} &\leq C \|\nabla u_{0}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &+ C_{\gamma} \left(T \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + T^{\alpha} \|u\|^{p-1}_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}}_{x}(p-1)} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Next, we observe that

$$c + u = c + u_0 + \left(e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}u_0 - u_0\right) - i\int_0^t e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta}\mathcal{N}(c+u)(s)\mathrm{d}s,$$

with $c + u_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $u - u_0 \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; H^1)$. Indeed, thanks to (1.1.14) and $u_0 \in X^1 + H^1$, we infer that

$$\|e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}u_0 - u_0\|_{H^1} \le C(1 + |T|^{\frac{1}{2}})\|\nabla u_0\|_{L^2}.$$

Moreover, agaim from Lemma 1.1.17 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|i\int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \mathcal{N}(c+u)(s) \mathrm{d}s\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} &\leq C_{\gamma} \Big(T\||c+u|^{2}-1\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} \\ &+ T^{\alpha}\|u(1-\chi(c+u))\|_{L_{t}^{10}L_{x}^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}}^{p-1}\|u\|_{L_{t}^{10}L_{x}^{10}}\Big), \end{aligned}$$

where $\alpha = 1 - \frac{p}{10}$. Thus

at

$$\begin{aligned} \|u - u_0\|_{L_t^{\infty} H_x^1} &\leq C(1 + T^{\frac{1}{2}}) \|\nabla u_0\|_{L^2} \\ &+ C_{\gamma} \left(T\| |c + u|^2 - 1\|_{L_t^{\infty} L_x^2} + T^{\alpha} \|u(1 - \chi(c + u))\|_{L_t^{10} L_x^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}}^{p-1} \|u\|_{L_t^{10} L_x^{10}} \right) \\ &+ C_{\gamma} \left(T\| \nabla u\|_{L_t^{\infty} L_x^2} + T^{\alpha} \|u\|_{L_t^{10} L_x^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}}^{p-1} \|\nabla u\|_{L_t^q L_x^r} \right) \\ &\leq C(1 + T^{\frac{1}{2}}) \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(c + u_0)} + C_{\gamma} \left(T\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(c + u)} + T^{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{L_t^q L_x^r}^p \right). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, from the second statement of Lemma 1.1.3 we conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |c+u|^2 - 1 \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} &\leq \| |c+u_0|^2 - 1 \|_{L^{2}} + C_{\gamma} \left(1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u_0)} \right) \\ &\times \left((1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u_0)} + T\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)} + T^{\alpha} \| \nabla u \|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}}^{p} \right) \\ &+ C^{2}_{\gamma} \left((1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u_0)} + \left(T\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{2}(c+u)} + T^{\alpha} \| \nabla u \|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}}^{p} \right) \right)^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, there exits C > 0 and $C_{\gamma} > 0$ such that

$$||S(u)||_{X_T} \le CR + C_{\gamma}(1+R) \left((1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})R + TM + T^{\alpha}M^p \right) + C_{\gamma}^2 (1+R)^2 \left((1+T^{\frac{1}{2}})R + TM + T^{\alpha}M^p \right)^2$$

Next, we check that S defines a contraction on X_T . Let $u, v \in X_T$. Firstly, the non-homogeneous Strichartz estimates (1.0.4) and Lemma 1.1.17 yield

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} + \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L_{t}^{q}L_{x}^{r}} &\leq \|\nabla \mathcal{N}(c+u) - \nabla \mathcal{N}(c+v)\|_{L_{t}^{1}L_{x}^{2} + L_{t}^{2}L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \\ &\leq C_{\gamma} \Big(T\|\nabla (u-v)\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} + T^{\alpha}\|u\|_{L_{t}^{10}L_{x}^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}}^{p-1} \|\nabla (u-v)\|_{L_{t}^{q}L_{x}^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \\ &+ T^{\alpha} \left(\|u\|_{L^{\frac{10}{3}(p-2)}}^{p-2} + \|v\|_{L_{t}^{10}L_{x}^{\frac{10}{3}(p-2)}}^{p-2} \right) \|u-v\|_{L_{t,x}^{10}} \|\nabla v\|_{L_{t}^{q}L_{x}^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \Big) \\ &\leq C_{\gamma} \left(T + T^{\alpha}M^{p-1} \right) d(u,v). \end{split}$$

Secondly, using again Lemma 1.1.3, we control

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |c+u|^2 - |c+v|^2 \right\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \\ &\leq \left(1 + 2\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_2(c+u_0)} + \|u-u_0\|_{L^{\infty}_t H^1_x} + \|v-u_0\|_{L^{\infty}_t H^1_x} \right) \|u-v\|_{L^{\infty}_t H^1_x} \\ &\leq C_{\gamma} (1 + 2R + 2(1 + \sqrt{T})M + 2TM + 2T^{\alpha} M^p) (T + T^{\alpha} M^{p-1}) M d(u,v) \end{aligned}$$

We summarize that

$$d(S(u), S(v)) \le C_{\gamma}(1 + 2R + 2(1 + \sqrt{T})M + 2TM + 2T^{\alpha}M^{p})(T + T^{\alpha}M^{p-1})Md(u, v).$$

Given R > 0, we may now choose M and T sufficiently small so that $S : X_T \to X_T$ and so that S defines a contraction on X_T .

Uniqueness Let $u, v \in C(0, T]; \mathcal{F}_c)$ be two solutions with initial data $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$. We consider an interval $[0, \delta]$ with $0 < \delta < T$. Then, applying Lemma 1.1.17 and arguing in the same spirit as for the contraction argument,

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}([0,\delta];L^{2})} + \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{q}_{t}([0,\delta];L^{r})} \\ &\leq C_{\gamma}(\delta + \delta^{\alpha}) \left(1 + \|u\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_{x}} + \|v\|_{L^{10}_{t}L^{\frac{5}{2}(p-1)}_{x}} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + \|\nabla v\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}}\right) \\ &\times \left(\|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}([0,\delta];L^{2})} + \|\nabla u - \nabla v\|_{L^{q}_{t}([0,\delta];L^{r})}\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, for $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small we conclude that $\nabla u = \nabla v$ a.e. on $[0, \delta] \times \mathbf{R}^d$ and therefore u = v a.e. on $[0, \delta] \times \mathbf{R}^d$. We may then iterate the argument to cover the whole interval [0, T]. Uniqueness backward in time is analogue.

Blow-up alternative is proven analogously to Proposition 1.1.10.

Continuous dependence on the initial data.

Let $u_0, v_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(c+u_0) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(c+v_0) \leq R$. Let T' > 0 such that $E(c+u) \leq 3R$, $E(c+v) \leq 3R$ for all $|t| \leq T'$. Then,

$$\sup_{t} d_{\mathcal{F}_{c}}(u, v) \leq C(1 + \|u - u_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} + \|v - v_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}}) d_{\mathcal{F}_{c}}(u_{0}, v_{0})
+ C\left(1 + E(c + u) + E(c + v) + \|u - u_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}} + \|v - v_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}}\right)
\times \|u - u_{0} - v + v_{0}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}H_{x}^{1}}.$$

Combining the above arguments, upon choosing 0 < T < T' sufficiently small we obtain the desired Lipschitz estimate.

Next, we extend the local result to a global existence result. We show the respective version of Lemma 1.1.14.

Lemma 1.1.19. Let $\gamma \geq 2$ and $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ such that additionally $\Delta u_0 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Then the exists a unique solution $u \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathcal{F}_c)$ such that $\Delta u \in L^{\infty}([-T, T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for all T > 0. Moreover,

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) = \mathcal{E}(u_0)$$

for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$.

Proof. Given $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c \cap \dot{H}^2$, there exists $T_* > 0$ and a unique solution $u \in C([-T_*, T_*], \mathcal{F}_c)$ with initial data u_0 . Moreover, there exists T > 0 and $C = C(\mathcal{E}_2(c+u_0))$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(c+u(t)) \leq C$ for all $|t| \leq T$. We obtain that

$$\mathcal{N}(c+u_0) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3),$$

exploiting the fact that $u_0 \in L^{\infty}$. Proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 1.1.14 we infer that there exists $T_1 > 0$ such that $\partial_t u \in L^{\infty}([-T_1, T_1]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $\Delta u \in L^{\infty}([-T_1, T_1]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Relying on the regularity properties of \mathcal{N} introduced in Lemma 1.1.13, one concludes that the energy ins conserved for all $t \in [-T_1, T_1]$. Finally, since $\mathcal{E}_2(c+u) \sim \mathcal{E}(c+u)$ thanks to Lemma 1.1.13, we may iterate the local result to obtain global existence.

The energy conservation for regular solutions allows to extend the local result of Proposition 1.1.18 to global well-posedness.

Corollary 1.1.20. Let d = 3 and $\frac{3}{2} \le \gamma < 3$ Then (1.1.59) is globally-wellposed in \mathcal{F}_c and in particular,

$$\mathcal{E}(c+u(t)) = \mathcal{E}(c+u_0),$$

for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$.

The proof is analogous to the proof of Corollary 1.1.15 and therefore omitted.

Well-posedness for (1.1.1)

The well-posedness result for the system (1.1.59) implies well-posedness for (1.1.1) in the energy space.

Proposition 1.1.21. Let $\frac{3}{2} \leq \gamma < 3$. The problem (1.1.1) is globally well-posed in $\mathbb{E}_2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, namely given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ there exits a unique solution $\psi \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ with initial condition $\psi(0) = \psi_0$. Moreover, the following hold

- 1. for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$, one has $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$,
- 2. if moreover $\Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$, then for any T > 0 $\Delta \psi \in L^{\infty}([-T,T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$,

3.
$$\psi - e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\psi_0 \in C(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)),$$

4. for every R > 0, for every T > 0, there exists C > 0 such that for every $\psi_0, \tilde{\psi}_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0) \leq R$, the respective solutions $\psi, \tilde{\psi}$ satisfy,

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi(t), \tilde{\psi(t)}) \le C d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0, \tilde{\psi}_0).$$

We remark that Proposition 1.1.21 is a generalization of Theorem 1.1 in [84] providing the statement for $\gamma = 2$. Compared to the statement of Proposition 1.1.10, the continuous dependence on the initial data is upgraded to Lipschitz continuity of the flow. In the regime $\gamma \geq \frac{3}{2}$ the nonlinearity is locally Lipschitz on \mathbb{E}_2 allowing for an Lipschitz estimate to be proven.

Proof. Existence. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ there exits $c \in \mathbb{C}$ with |c| = 1 and $u_0 \in \mathcal{F}_c$ such that $\psi_0 = c + u_0$. Proposition 1.1.10 together with Corollary 1.1.20 provide a unique global solution $u \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{F}_c)$ to (1.1.59). Thus, $\psi := c + u \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ is a global solution to (1.1.1) with initial data $\psi(0) = \psi_0$. Moreover, $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$ for all times $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Uniqueness. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$, we denote by ψ the solution constructed previously. Let $\tilde{\psi} \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ be another solution to (1.1.1) such that $\tilde{\psi}(0) = \psi_0$. It suffices to show that $\psi - \tilde{\psi} \in C(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Indeed, this implies that

$$\tilde{\psi} = \psi + (\tilde{\psi} - \psi) \in c + v + H^1 \subset c + \mathcal{F}_c.$$

Hence, $\tilde{\psi} - c \in \mathcal{F}_c$ is a solution to (1.1.59) and therefore in virtue of we infer that $\tilde{\psi} - c$ must coincide with the unique solution $v \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathcal{F}_c)$.

Next, we prove that $\psi - \tilde{\psi} \in C(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Since $\nabla \psi - \nabla \psi \in C(\mathbf{R}; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ by hypothesis, it only remains to show that $\psi - \tilde{\psi} \in C(\mathbf{R}; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. For that purpose, we recall that

$$\|\mathcal{N}_1(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2} \le C \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi),$$

and for $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $2 \le p \le 3$, i.e. $\frac{3}{2} \le \gamma \le 2$, one has

$$\|\mathcal{N}_2(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2} \le C \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi),$$

while for $3 \le p < 5$,

$$\|\mathcal{N}_2(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^{\frac{6}{p}}} \le C \sup_t \mathcal{E}_2(\psi)^p,$$

and $\frac{6}{5} \leq \frac{6}{p} < 2$. The case $p \leq 3$ is immediate, we only treat the case $3 \leq p < 5$, see also Lemma 1.1.17. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi - \tilde{\psi}\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} &\leq \left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{i}{2}(t-s)\Delta} \mathcal{N}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}(\tilde{\psi}) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \\ &\leq C \|\mathcal{N}_{1}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{1}(\tilde{\psi})\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + C \|\mathcal{N}_{2}(\psi) - \mathcal{N}_{2}(\tilde{\psi})\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{6}_{x}} \\ &\leq CT(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi) + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\tilde{\psi}) + CT^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi)^{p} + \sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{2}(\tilde{\psi})^{p}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, $\psi - \tilde{\psi} \in C(\mathbf{R}; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and the uniqueness claim follows.

Lipschitz continuity of the flow. Fix R > 0, let $c+v_0$, $\tilde{c}+\tilde{v}_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$ be such that $\mathcal{E}_2(c+v_0) \leq R$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(\tilde{c}+\tilde{v}_0) \leq R$. Let T > 0 to be chosen later. Denote by c+v, $\tilde{c}+\tilde{v} \in C(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{E}_2)$ the corresponding solutions. Then

$$\begin{split} &\delta_{c,\tilde{c}}(c+v,\tilde{c}+\tilde{v})\\ &\leq C\left(1+\|v-e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}v_0\|_{L^{\infty}_tH^1_x}+\|\tilde{v}-e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\tilde{v}_0\|_{L^{\infty}_tH^1_x}\right)\delta_{c,\tilde{c}}(c+e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}v_0,\tilde{c}+e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\tilde{v})\\ &+\left(1+\mathcal{E}(c+v)+\mathcal{E}(\tilde{c}+\tilde{v})+\|v-e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}v_0\|_{L^{\infty}_tH^1_x}+\|\tilde{v}-e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}\tilde{v}_0\|_{L^{\infty}_tH^1_x}\right)\\ &\times\left\|v-\tilde{v}-e^{\frac{i}{2}t\Delta}(v_0-\tilde{v}_0)\right\|_{L^{\infty}_tH^1_x} \end{split}$$

Applying (1.1.15) to dispose of the linear terms and exploiting Lemma 1.1.17 for the nonlinear term, we conclude that for T > 0 depending only on $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi_0)$ small enough the desired Lipschitz estimate is valid. Relying on the conservation of energy, we may iterate the procedure to obtain the Lipschitz estimate for arbitrary times T > 0.

1.2 Special solutions and large time asymptotics for NLS equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity

This paragraph contains a review of known results for the existence of special solutions, large time asymptotics and scaling regimes for the class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations (1.1.1) with nonlinearity given by (1.1.3) and far-field behavior (1.1.2). The equation (1.1.1) equipped with non zero conditions at infinity is known to possess a variety of special solutions such as e.g. travelling waves [142, 59], solitons [108, 109] and vortices [159, 154, 32, 29]. This is in sharp contrast to its defocusing counterpart with trivial conditions at infinity; scattering is known for the subcritical equation for d = 1, 2, 3, see [86], and thus no special solutions exist. The behavior of (1.1.1) with boundary conditions (1.1.2) highly depends on the dimension d. While scattering is ruled out by the existence of small energy travelling waves for d = 2, non-existence of travelling waves for small energy is known [141] for d = 3 and scattering has been proven for $\gamma = 2$ for small regular data and d = 3 and for d = 4. Extensive literature has been dedicated to the analysis of these questions for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, i.e. when $\gamma = 2$ and for cubic-quintic nonlinearities.

To conclude, we remark that stability properties of special solutions have been extensively studied in literature. Their study is beyond the scope of the present work, we limit ourselves to provide an (incomplete) list of key references [108, 109, 122].

1.2.1 Travelling waves

Fixed $y \in S^{d-1}$, we say that a solution to (1.1.1) is a travelling wave if of the form

$$\Phi(t,x) = \psi(x - tcy),$$

where we refer to c as its velocity. Since (1.1.1) is invariant under rotations, we may assume without loss of generality that y = (1, 0, ..., 0) and $c \ge 0$. The travelling wave is a solution to

$$-ic\partial_{x_1}\psi = -\Delta\Phi + \mathcal{N}(\Phi). \tag{1.2.1}$$

The problem of existence of travelling waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonvanishing conditions at infinity has received remarkable attention in literature. The study of existence of traveling waves and their properties such as stability for Gross-Pitaevskii type equations is often referred to as *Roberts program* due to a series papers by C.A. Jones, C.J. Putterman and P.H. Roberts, see [108, 109] and references therein, initiating the analysis of travelling waves. For an investigation of the existence problem of travelling waves for a class of general nonlinearities, including the one described by (1.1.3), we refer the interested reader to the series of papers [141, 142, 59] and references therein. Although the results in the series of papers allow for more nonlinearities, we restrict our review to the nonlinearity given by (1.1.3). This implies in particular that the respective potential, see (1.0.2) is non-negative. Extensive literature has been dedicated to the analysis of travelling waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, namely $\gamma = 2$, see e.g. [30, 31, 27].

An important threshold for the existence of travelling waves for (1.1.1) is given by the sound speed at infinity $v_S = \sqrt{F''(1)}$. The sound speed is best intrepeted in the framework of QHD system (2.0.1) where the relation reads $v_s(\rho) = \sqrt{\frac{\partial p(\rho)}{\partial \rho}}$. It has been proven in [141] that no travelling waves of finite energy for (1.1.1) exists for supersonic speeds, namely for $c > v_s$ for d = 2, 3. Further, there does not exist any stationary finite energy solution to (1.2.1). More precisely,

$$\Delta \psi = \mathcal{N}(\psi),$$

does not admit any finite energy solution, i.e. $\psi \in \mathcal{E}$. This can be verified by means of Pohozaev identities; given ψ such that $\mathcal{E}(\psi) < +\infty$, one may show that

$$(d-2)\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\nabla \psi|^2 \mathrm{d}x + d\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} F(|\psi|^2) \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

see Lemma 2.4 in [44]. Therefore, we obtain $\psi = 0$ provided the potential is non-negative as for (1.0.2). The picture for velocities $0 < c < v_S$ is completely different for d = 2 and d = 3that we discuss separately. Our considerations are based on the series of papers [141, 142, 59], where the authors, see p. 5 in [59], require that

- 1. the function F' is continuous on $[0, \infty)$ and of class C^1 in a neighborhood of 1, F'(1) = 0and F'(1) > 0;
- 2. the nonlinearity is subcritical, i.e. there exists C > 0 and $p_0 < \frac{2}{d-2}$ (with $p_0 < \infty$ if d = 2) such that

$$|F'(r)| \le C(1+r^{p_0}),$$

for any $r \geq 0$.

- 3. the nonlinearity is non-degenerate, namely there exists $C, \alpha_0 > 0$ and $r_* > 1$ such that for any $r \ge r_*$ one has $F'(r) \ge Cr^{\alpha^0}$;
- 4. F is of class C^2 near 1 and

$$F'(r) = (r-1) + \frac{1}{2}F'''(1)(r-1)^2 + \mathcal{O}((r-1)^3),$$

for r close to 1.

One easily checks that the nonlinearity F' as defined in (1.1.3) verifies all assumptions. For d = 2, Theorem 0.1. in [59] implies that for any speed $0 < c < v_S$, there exists a travelling wave ψ of finite energy solving (1.2.1) and moreover has the following minimizing property.

Theorem 1.2.1 ([59]). Let d = 2 and let F be given by (1.1.3). Then, for any $q \in (0, \infty)$ there exists a travelling wave ψ of (1.2.1) with speed $c = c(\psi) \in (0, v_s)$ such that the momentum $Q(\psi) = q$. Moreover, ψ minimizes the energy \mathcal{E} among all functions of momentum equal to q.

For d = 3, the situation is fundamentally different, there exists an energy threshold so that there are no travelling waves with energy below the threshold. On the other hand, for all speeds $0 < c < v_s$ there exists travelling waves but with higher energy, see [142].



Figure 1.1: Energy (E) momentum (q) diagrams for (1.3.1): a) in dimension 2 and b) in dimension 3. The diagrams are a courtesy of D. Chiron, M. Maris [59]

This is compatible with the energy-momentum diagram, see Figure 1.1. The existing travelling waves at speeds close to the sound speed belong to the upper branch of large energy.

Theorem 1.2.2. [142] Let d = 3 and F as defined in (1.1.3), then for any $0 < c < v_S$, there exists a travelling wave solution ψ to (1.2.1) such that $\mathcal{E} < \infty$.

Regarding travelling waves of small energy we recall the following.

Theorem 1.2.3. [59] Let d = 3 and F as defined in (1.1.3).

- 1. There exists $k_* > 0$ depending only on F such that if $c \in [0, v_s]$ and if $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_{\gamma}$ solution to (1.2.1) satisfying $\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\nabla \psi|^2 dx < k_*$, then ψ is constant.
- 2. Moreover, there exists $l_* > 0$ depending only on F such that any solution $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_{\gamma}$ to (1.2.1) with $c \in [0, v_s]$ and $\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (|\psi|^2 1)^2 dx < l_*$ is constant.

In particular, there exists $0 < c_0 < v_s$ such that there are no travelling waves of speed $c \in (c_0, v_s)$ which minimize the energy at fixed momentum.

We conclude this paragraph with a remark on the transsonic limit $c \to v_s$ and the limit as $c \to 0$. In the transonic limit, it is known that for d = 2, these travelling waves do exists and are rarefaction pulses asymptotically characterised by the ground states of the Kadomtsev-Petsviashvili I equation, see [58]. For $\gamma = 2$, this is due to [27]. For d = 3, Theorem 1.1. and Corollary 1.2. in [142] provide existence of travelling waves with speed close to v_s . The traveling waves constructed in [142] converge to ground state of the KP-I equation as $c \to v_s$, see Theorem 6 in [58] and are hence rarefaction pulses. Contrary to what happens for d = 2, the travelling waves for d = 3 have high energy of order $\frac{1}{\sqrt{v_s^2 - c^2}}$ as $c \to v_s$.

In the limit as $c \to 0$, one heuristically expects the energy to be diverging due to the absence of stationary solutions of finite energy. To the best of our knowledge, a complete description of this limit for general nonlinearities is open, see also p. 80 in [59]. However, for $\gamma = 2$ the limit regime has been investigated in [30] for d = 2.

Theorem 1.2.4 ([30]). There exists $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $0 < c < c_0$, there exists a (non-constant) function solution to (1.2.1) and $\mathcal{E}(\psi) < +\infty$. Moreover,

1. there exists C_0, C_1 such that

$$2\pi |\log c| + C_0 \le \mathcal{E}(\psi) \le 2\pi |\log c| + C_1,$$

- 2. ψ has exactly two vortices, with degree ± 1 , located at a distance $D \sim \frac{1}{c}$ as $c \to 0$,
- 3. ψ is smooth, i.e. $\psi \in C^{\infty}$.

We refer the interested reader also to the review paper [31] and the more recent work [60] where the authors investigate numerically (new) multiple branches of travelling waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1.3.1) corresponding to excited states. For d = 3, [29, 56] provide travelling vortex rings solutions. Numerical evidence for their existence had been provided by [108]. Vortex solutions of infinite energy are discussed in Section 1.3.

1.2.2 Scattering

We start by observing that Theorem 1.2.1 rules out any scattering result for d = 2, since there exists travelling waves for arbitrarily small energy. For d = 3, it had been conjectured in [27] that below the threshold for which no travelling waves exists there are global dispersive solutions to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. Indeed, Theorem 1.2.3 leaves room for a scattering theory, even for general nonlinearities. To the author's knowledge, no scattering theory is available for the general class of nonlinearities. In this direction, we mention the seminal paper [95] followed by [96, 97] where scattering was introduced for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for $d \ge 3$ and subsequently in [96, 97] for small data under suitable regularity assumptions. More recently, in [92] the authors obtain scattering for small data in the energy space assuming additional angular regularity. Provided the solution is radial then scattering for solutions of small energy is proven. Concerning general nonlinearities, in [143] the authors investigate the global behavior for some generalized Gross-Pitaevskii equations. The class of nonlinearities considered is interesting as it modifies the behavior of the internal energy F close to the constant state 1 so that its behavior is no longer quadratic as it is the case for (1.1.2). This is also to be compared to the remark proceeding Lemma 1.1.13 and assumption 4 in Section 1.2.1.

1.3 Nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions and infinite energy

In this section, we review extensions of the existence theory in the energy space to solutions of infinite energy as established in [32]. Here, we restrict ourselves to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, namely $\gamma = 2$, reading

$$i\partial_t \psi = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi + (|\psi|^2 - 1)\psi.$$
 (1.3.1)

Moreover, we are interested in solutions with non-zero degree at infinity such as vortices. In literature, solutions that do not belong to the energy space are often referred to as solutions of infinite energy. e.g. in [157] the author shows the unconditional well-posedness of the equation (1.3.1) for a class of solutions of infinite energy but zero degree. Here, we only address the existence of the former type of infinite energy solutions.

For d = 2, there exists stationary vortex solution for (1.3.1) given by $U_0(x) = f(r)e^{im\theta}$ with r = |x| and θ is defined by $e^{i\theta} = \frac{x}{|x|}$ identifying **C** and **R**² and the radial profile f satisfies

$$\begin{cases} f''(r) + \frac{1}{r}f'(r) - \frac{d^2}{r^2}f(r) + 2\left(1 - f(r)^2\right)f(r) = 0\\ f(0) = 0, \quad f(r) \to 1 \quad \text{as} \quad r \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.2)

The integer n is referred to as degree of the quantum vortex. Explicit computations show that the radial profile is such that $\nabla_x f \in L^2$ and $|\nabla U_0(x)| \sim \frac{d}{|x|}$ asymptotically as $|x| \to \infty$, see [103]. Therefore, $\mathcal{E}_2(U_0) = \infty$, compatible with the observation that there do not exist stationary solutions to (1.1.1) of finite energy, see Section 1.2.1. More in general, it can be proven that continuous wave functions that do not vanish at infinity and with non-trivial degree at infinity have infinite energy. By degree at infinity, we intend the winding number at infinity, i.e. for r > 0 large enough such that $\psi > 0$ on ∂B_r , we define the map $\psi_r : \partial B_r \sim S^1 \to S^1$ as $x \mapsto \frac{\psi(x)}{|\psi(x)|}$. The map $U_{0,r}$ then has topological degree m.

Lemma 1.3.1. Let $\varphi : \mathbf{R}^2 \to \mathbf{C}$ be of class C^1 such that $|\varphi(x)| \to 1$ as $|x| \to \infty$ and such that the degree of φ at infinity is different from 0, then

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}x = +\infty$$

For a proof, see for instance [153]. The question regarding the dynamics of several vortices arises naturally. Multi-vortex configurations may be investigated by considering initial data given by the product of several of these vortices, namely fix $a_1, ..., a_n$ and $m_1, ..., m_n$ and consider

$$U_d = \prod_{j=1}^n f_j (x - a_j) e^{im_j \theta_j},$$
(1.3.3)

with $\theta_j = \frac{x-a_j}{|x-a_j|}$ and for profiles f_j satisfying (1.3.2). The first issue to tackle is the Cauchy Problem for (1.3.1) in a suitable class of initial data allowing for multi-vortex configurations to be studied. In [32], Bethuel and Smets study the problem by considering initial data of the type $\psi = U_0 + v$, where U_0 can be chosen to be a fixed vortex-configuration $U_0 = f(r)e^{im\theta}$ or a multi-vortex configuration and v a H^1 -perturbation. We postpone the qualitative analysis of their dynamics to Chapter 5. For this type of data the suitable framework considered in [32] is $\psi = U_0 + u \in \mathcal{V} + H^1$, where

$$\mathcal{V} := \left\{ U \in L^{\infty} : \quad \nabla |U| \in L^2, \, \nabla^k U \in L^2, \, \text{for any } k \ge 2, \, (|U|^2 - 1) \in L^2 \right\}.$$
(1.3.4)

It is easy to check that $U_0 \in \mathcal{V}$. We notice that

$$(\mathcal{V}+H^1)\cap\dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^d)=\mathbb{E}_2$$

Indeed, this is an immediate consequence of Lemma 1.1.6. We report the following Gagliardo-Nirenberg type inequality for $U \in \mathcal{V}$.

Lemma 1.3.2 ([32]). Let $U \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ such that $\Delta U \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$, then $\nabla U \in L^4(\mathbb{R}^2)$. In particular,

$$\|\nabla U\|_{L^4(\mathbf{R}^2)} \le 18^{\frac{1}{4}} \|U\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\Delta U\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (1.3.5)

The existence result in [32] is proven by decomposing the initial data in $\psi_0 = U + w_0$. Subsequently, it is shown that the problem

$$i\partial_t w = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta w + F_U(w), w(0, x) = w_0 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2);$$
 (1.3.6)

where $F_U(w) = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta U + (|U_0 + w|^2 - 1)(U + w)$, is well-posed in $H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. This approach is somehow reminiscent of the approach in [82] where the author solves (1.3.6) for a fixed $U \in C_b^{\infty} \cap \mathbb{E}_2$. A major difference compared to the well-posedness theory in the energy space consists in the uniqueness statement. While Theorem 1.1.1 provides uniqueness in $C([0,T],\mathbb{E}_2)$, in the case of solutions of infinite energy Theorem 1.3.3 only states uniqueness in the affine space $U + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. The main novelty in the approach of [32] is the introduction of a renormalized energy functional needed to show the global existence result. The authors consider for a given decomposition $\psi = U + w$,

$$\mathcal{E}_{U}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^{2}} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla w|^{2} - \int_{\mathbf{R}^{2}} Re(\Delta U \cdot w) + \int_{R^{2}} \frac{1}{2} \left(|U + w|^{2} - 1 \right)^{2}.$$
(1.3.7)

We recall that for $\psi = U + v$ with $U \in \mathcal{V}$ and $v \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$, the renormalized energy functional introduced in (1.3.7) is finite since $w \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $\Delta U \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Similarly to Lemma 1.1.3 we see that $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$. We summarize the results of [32] in the following Theorem.

Theorem 1.3.3. [32] Let $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. Then there exists a unique solution $t \mapsto \psi(t)$ of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1.3.1) such that $\psi(0) = \psi_0$ and $\psi(t) - \psi(0) \in C^0(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^2))$. Further,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}_U(\psi(t)) = 0 \quad on \quad \mathbf{R}.$$

In addition, if $w_0 \in H^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$, then $w \in C(\mathbf{R}; H^2(\mathbf{R}^2))$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\psi}_0 = U + \tilde{w}_0 \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and $t \mapsto \psi(t)$ the respective solution, then

$$\|\psi(t) - \tilde{\psi}(t)\|_{H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)} \le C(t, \phi_0, \mathcal{E}_U(\psi_0)) \|\psi_0 - \tilde{\psi}_0\|_{H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)}.$$

As pointed out in [32], the renormalized energy functional that may defined equivalently to (1.3.7) under suitable decay assumptions on ∇U as follows. For a fixed decomposition $\psi = U + v$ and fixed R > 0 we define

$$\mathcal{E}_{R,U} = \int_{B(R)} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 - |\nabla U|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left(|\psi|^2 - 1 \right)^2 \mathrm{d}x.$$
(1.3.8)

The functional is well-defined, integrating by parts we recover that

$$\mathcal{E}_{R,U} = \int_{B(R)} \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 - 2Re(\Delta U \cdot v)| + \frac{1}{2} \left(|\psi|^2 - 1 \right)^2 \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial B_R} Re(\partial_r U \cdot v).$$

As observed in [32, 28], one has

$$\int_{\partial B_R} Re(\partial_r U \cdot v) \to 0,$$

as $R \to \infty$ provided that $|\nabla U(z)| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{|z|}}$ for $z \geq 1$. For a proof, see Lemma 3.3 in [28]. This motivates to define

$$\mathcal{V}_* = \left\{ U \in \mathcal{V} \quad : \quad |\nabla U(z)| \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{|z|}}, \quad |z| \ge 1 \right\}.$$
(1.3.9)

We notice that the Definition depends on the choice of the decomposition for ψ . This alternative Definition is motivated by its application to the study of vortices. The multi-vortex configurations we have in mind lie in \mathcal{V}_* . For $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_* + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, we have that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla w|^2 - \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} Re(\Delta U \cdot w) + \int_{R^2} \frac{1}{2} \left(|\phi_0 + w|^2 - 1 \right)^2$$
$$= \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{B(R)} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 - |\nabla U|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left(|\psi|^2 - 1 \right)^2,$$

thus the renormalized energy may be defined equivalently by (1.3.8) if $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_* + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. This second Definition is suitable for the analysis of the corresponding QHD system and will be used

in Section 2. A similar approach has been followed in [155] to investigate the energy of vortex solutions to (1.3.1). There the authors renormalize the energy by subtraction of $\frac{d^2}{|x|^2}(1-\chi_{B_R})$ that corresponds for d=2 to the logarithmic divergence of the energy functional at infinity; we recall that $|\nabla U|^2 \sim \frac{d^2}{|x|^2}$ at infinity. Finally, we mention that the renormalized energy functional is unbounded from below for vortex configurations with total degree $d = deg(\psi, \infty) \geq 2$, see Lemma 4.5 in [28].

Solutions with non-zero degree at infinity for d = 3

We briefly mention known results for solution to (1.3.1) on \mathbb{R}^3 with infinity energy and nonzero degree at infinity. We recall that vortex rings of finite energy are known to exists [29], see also Section 1.2.1. Regarding solutions of infinite energy, in [57] the author shows that there exits vortex helices of infinite energy solving (1.3.1). Finally, straight vortex filaments can be seen as solutions to the two dimensional problem. It turns out that these three geometries straight filaments, vortex rings and helices - are the relevant ones arising as concentration set for the vorticity in the scaling limit of Chapter 5, see also page 1560 in [57]. The phenomena of leapfrogging vortex rings has been studied [105].
CHAPTER 2

Existence of weak solutions to the QHD system with non-trivial far-field

Abstract

This chapter is concerned with the global in time existence of weak solutions to the QHD system on \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2, 3 complemented with non-trivial far-field behavior. Our method exploits the underlying effective wavefunction dynamics, for that purpose we introduce a suitable polar decomposition in Section 2.2. In Section 2.3 we prove global existence of finite energy weak solutions to the QHD system, while Section 2.4 is devoted to the analysis of weak solutions of infinite energy. Finally, we discuss special solutions including quantized vortices in Section 2.5.

This chapter is based on a work in collaboration with P. Antonelli and P. Marcati, some of the results have been announced in paragraph 7 of [10]. The goal of this chapter is to introduce global existence of weak solutions for the quantum hydrodynamic (QHD) system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div} J = 0\\ \partial_t J + \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{J \otimes J}{\rho}\right) + \nabla p(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right), \end{cases}$$
(2.0.1)

posed on \mathbf{R}^d with d = 2, 3 and equipped with non-vanishing boundary conditions at infinity

$$\rho(x) \to 1, \qquad |x| \to \infty.$$
(2.0.2)

The unknowns are the mass (or charge) density ρ and the current density J, the pressure term is denoted by $p(\rho)$. System (2.0.1) describes quantum fluids and arises e.g. as a model in superfluidity, Bose-Einstein condensates and nonlinear optics. The boundary condition is motivated by applications such as quantum vortices [159], superfluidity in Helium II close to the λ -point [87, 159], Bose-Einstein condensates [90, 159, 160] and dark solitons in nonlinear optics [122]. For a more detailed introduction to the physical applications of (2.0.1) we refer the reader to the Introduction of this thesis. We provide an existence theory for finite energy weak solutions and for weak solutions of infinite energy including quantized vortices. Our analysis of the Cauchy problem figures as starting point for a subsequent investigation of quantized vortices being in general of infinite energy. The term on the right hand side takes into account the quantum effects of the fluid and is a nonlinear third order (dispersive) term. Under suitable regularity assumptions, it may also be written in different ways

$$\frac{1}{2}\rho\nabla\left(\frac{\Delta\sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right) = \frac{1}{4}\nabla\Delta\rho - \operatorname{div}(\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho}) = \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{div}(\rho\nabla^2\log\rho).$$
(2.0.3)

System (2.0.1) is Hamiltonian, whose energy

$$\mathcal{E}(\rho, J) = \int \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{|J|^2}{\rho} + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (2.0.4)$$

is formally conserved along the flow of solutions. The internal energy is characterized by the equation $p(\rho) = F'(\rho)\rho - F(\rho)$. Here, we consider barotropic fluids with pressure laws given by the γ -law. The internal energy then reads

$$F(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma(\gamma - 1)} (\rho^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho - 1)).$$

Our analysis is based on the the properties of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation (1.1.1) for which we have proven global well-posedness in the energy space in Chapter 1. Indeed, as mentioned in the Introduction system (2.0.1) is closely related to (1.1.1) studied in the previous Chapter 1. Our method consists in developing a polar decomposition approach that allows us to introduce the hydrodynamic variables $\rho = |\psi|^2$ and $\Lambda = \frac{J}{\sqrt{\rho}}$ in a self-consistent way avoiding to define the velocity field in the vacuum region. The polar factorization method represents an adaption of the method introduced in [11, 12] where the authors show the existence of global finite energy weak solutions to (2.0.1) without far-field. Consequently, they may rely on H^1 -wave functions for which the polar factorization is provided. Here, we deal wave-functions $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1$ respectively. The loss of integrability and the fact that these spaces are only metric but not Banach spaces require some new ingredients in analyzing the stability for the polar decomposition.

The quantum hydrodynamic system has widely been investigated in literature. Without farfield, the existence of finite energy weak solutions has been proven in [11, 12], see also references therein for previous results for more regular solutions. For $\gamma = 1$, we refer to the model as isothermal quantum fluid and global existence of finite energy weak solutions has been shown in [50] in the case without far-field, see also [48] for the analysis of large time behavior. System (2.0.1) is closely related to the class of Euler-Korteweg fluids [19] where capillary effects need to be taken into account. Indeed, system (2.0.1) may be considered as Euler-Korteweg model with a particular choice of the capillary tensor. In [21] local existence and uniqueness of strong solutions for small and regular data for a class of E-K models including the QHD system with far-field (2.0.2) has been considered. The approach in [21] excludes the presence of vacuum. In [16], global existence and uniqueness for strong solutions that are irrotational and a small perturbation of the constant state is proven. The result requires irrotationality, smallness and high Sobolev regularity of the initial data yielding in particular that $0 < c < \rho < C$ for some C, c > 0. For system (2.0.1) with $\gamma = 2$, existence of global strong irrotational solutions has been proven in [17]. The approach of [17] requires the initial data to be a small perturbation of the constant state $\rho = 1$ in the sense that vacuum is excluded and the initial data is small in high Sobolev norms. Under further regularity assumptions, the solutions constructed in [17] are unique. In the framework of weak solutions to the E-K system satisfying the energy inequality, it has been pointed out that infinitely many solutions can be constructed for prescribed initial data by means of convex integration, see [70]. The result applies to the system posed on the torus \mathbf{T}^d . Weak-strong uniqueness has been pointed out in [85]. In [40], the authors introduce a relative entropy suitable for a general framework of Navier-Stokes and Euler-Korteweg fluids, further the weak-strong uniqueness result is recovered. In particular, in [40] it is shown how to construct dissipative weak solutions to (2.0.1) as limit of weak solutions to the quantum Navier-Stokes system (3.0.1). Finally, we mention that local well-posedness for smooth solutions to an incompressible inhomogeneous Euler-Korteweg model has been investigated in [47].

In the present chapter, we deal with finite energy weak solutions for initial data being merely of finite energy without further regularity or smallness assumptions. As it will become clear from the Definition 2.1.1, the weak solutions constructed here are weakly irrotational in the sense that a weaker condition on the vorticity $\nabla \wedge J$, called the generalized irrotationality condition is assumed. In a second moment, we provide a framework for weak solutions including quantized vortices that are in general of finite energy. For that purpose, we introduce a suitable notion of degree for vortex solutions connected to the idea of quantized circulation and prove global existence of solutions exhibiting vortices. In particular, there exists stationary vortex solutions to (2.0.1).

The chapter is organized as follows, the main results are stated in Section 2.1. Section 2.2 sets up the polar decomposition approach and introduces in a self consistent way the hydrodynamic variables. We give a suitable notion of vorticity. Subsequently Section 2.3 and 2.4 introduces global existence of finite energy weak solutions and weak solutions of infinite energy respectively. In Section 2.5.1 we discuss special solutions and large time asymptotics.

2.1 Definitions and main results

Weak solutions

We specify the class of weak solutions subject to our analysis. The pressure functions considered are given by the physically relevant γ -law, i.e. $p(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma}\rho^{\gamma}$. The internal energy density is characterized by the differential equation $p(\rho) = \rho F'(\rho) - F(\rho)$ and is non-negative, convex and the minimum is achieved for $\rho = 1$, i.e.

$$F(\rho) := \frac{\rho^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho - 1)}{\gamma(\gamma - 1)},$$
(2.1.1)

The energy functional (2.0.4) reads

$$\mathcal{E}(\rho, J) = \int \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{|J|^2}{\rho} + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.1.2)

We recall that under suitable regularity assumptions the quantum pressure term can be rewritten as

$$2\rho\nabla\left(\frac{\Delta\sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right) = \operatorname{div}\left(\rho\nabla^2\log\rho\right) = \nabla\Delta\rho - 4\operatorname{div}(\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho}).$$

Definition 2.1.1 (Finite energy weak solutions). Let $\rho_0, J_0 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, we say the pair (ρ, J) is a finite energy weak solution to the Cauchy problem for (2.0.1) with initial data

$$\rho(0) = \rho_0, \qquad J(0) = J_0,$$

in the space-time slab $[0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ if there exist two locally integrable functions

$$\sqrt{\rho} \in L^2_{loc}(0,T; H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \Lambda \in L^2_{loc}(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$$

such that

(i)
$$\rho := (\sqrt{\rho})^2, J := \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda;$$

(ii) $\forall \zeta \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbf{R}^d),$

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho \partial_t \zeta + J \cdot \nabla \zeta \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_0(x) \zeta(0,x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0;$$

(*iii*) $\forall \zeta \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d; \mathbf{R}^d),$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} J \cdot \partial_{t} \zeta + (\Lambda \otimes \Lambda) : \nabla \zeta + p(\rho) \operatorname{div} \zeta + (\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho}) : \nabla \zeta + \frac{1}{4} \rho \Delta \operatorname{div} \zeta \operatorname{dxd} t + \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} J_{0}(x) \cdot \zeta(0, x) \operatorname{dx} = 0;$$

(iv) (finite energy) the total energy defined as in (2.1.2) is finite for almost every $t \in [0, T)$;

(v) (generalized irrotationality condition) for almost every $t \in (0,T)$

$$\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda,$$

holds in the sense of distributions.

We say (ρ, J) is a global in time finite energy weak solution if we can take $T = \infty$ in the above definition.

Remark 2.1.2. For smooth solutions (ρ, J) the generalized irrotationality condition implies that the solution describes an irrotational flow. Indeed, in the smooth framework, one has $J = \rho v$ for a smooth velocity field v. It follows that $\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla\sqrt{\rho} \wedge \sqrt{\rho}v$ implies $\rho \nabla \wedge v = 0$. This suggests that the previous Definition is the suitable weak formulation of the classical irrotationality condition $\rho \nabla \wedge v = 0$ valid away from vacuum in the Madelung transform approach. The generalized irrotationality condition is compatible with the physical phenomena we aim to describe such as superfluidity and Bose-Einstein condensation; the angular momentum is conserved and the vorticity is only carried by quantized vortices that are coherent structure appearing in the nodal set where the density of the fluid vanishes.

Main results

We give a precise formulation of our existence results that require the initial data to be consistent with a wave function $\psi : \mathbf{R}^d \to \mathbf{C}$. The respective function spaces have been introduced in Section 1.1 and Section 1.3.

Theorem 2.1.3. Let $d = 2, 3, \gamma > 1$ for d = 2 and $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_{\gamma}$ defined in (1.1.56), define $\rho_0 := |\psi_0|^2$ and $J_0 = Im(\overline{\psi_0}\nabla\psi_0)$. Then there exists a global in time finite energy weak solution of (2.0.1) with initial data

$$\rho(0) = \rho_0, \qquad J(0) = J_0,$$

and such that

$$\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \Lambda \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$$

Moreover the energy (2.1.2) is conserved for all times $t \in \mathbf{R}$, i.e. $\mathcal{E}(t) = \mathcal{E}(0)$.

The statement of Theorem 2.1.3 can be generalized in the sense that the assumptions on the pressure law might be relaxed to more general barotropic pressure laws. Provided that the well-posedness theory in the energy space \mathbb{E}_2 for the corresponding nonlinear Schrödinger equation (1.1.1) is available, the method leading to Theorem 2.1.3 may be adapted. In particular, monotonicity and non-negativity of F are not needed. For instance, the well-posedness result for cubic-quintic nonlinearities [118] allows one to derive the existence of finite energy weak solutions for the respective QHD system.

Next, we provide an existence result regarding the Cauchy Problem for a class of initial data including vortices. As already mentioned before, when considering non-trivial boundary conditions at infinity (2.0.2) vortex solutions in general have infinite energy, see also Lemma 1.3.1 for the wave-function analogue. For this reason, in the next Theorem we consider weak solutions of infinite energy. More precisely, the solutions constructed in the Theorem below satisfy all the requirements of Definition 2.1.1 but statement (iv). We recall that the space \mathcal{V} is defined in (1.3.4)

Theorem 2.1.4. Let d = 2 and $\gamma = 2$ and let $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and let the decomposition $\psi = U + w$ be fixed. Define $\rho_0 := |\psi_0|^2$ and $J_0 := Im(\overline{\psi_0}\nabla\psi_0)$. Then there exists a global weak solution of (2.0.1). such that $\rho(0) = \rho_0$ and $J(0) = J_0$ and

$$\sqrt{\rho}-1\in L^\infty(0,\infty;H^1({\bf R}^2)) \qquad \Lambda\in L^\infty(0,\infty;L^2_{loc}({\bf R}^2)).$$

If in addition, $U \in \mathcal{V}_*(\mathbf{R}^2)$, namely $|\Lambda_U(x)| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{|x|}}$ for |x| >> 1, then

$$E_{\Lambda_U}(t) = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{B_R(0)} \frac{1}{2} \left(|\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + |\Lambda|^2 - |\Lambda_U|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{4} (\rho - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x < \infty$$

and $E_{\Lambda_U}(t)$ is conserved for a. e. $t \in [0,T]$.

We refer the reader to Section 2.5.2 for an application of Theorem 2.1.4 to the study of quantized vortices.

Remark 2.1.5. The proof of Theorem 2.1.4 relies on the description of the wave-function dynamics provided by [32] and discussed in Section 1.3. The local in time theory is inspired by the method of [82], namely to study the affine problem $\psi = U + w$ with $U \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and $w \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. Even though ∇U is not square integrable, it is regular, i.e. $\nabla^k U \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ for all $k \geq 2$, and therefore the strategy is comparable to the one of [82] where the wave-function is decomposed as $\psi = \phi + w$ with $\phi \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d) \cap \mathbb{E}_2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $w \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$. This suggests that the (local) existence result of [32], see also Theorem 1.3.3 might be extended to the case $\gamma \geq 2$ (ensuring $F'(r) \in C^1$). On its turn, this allows one to extend Theorem 2.1.4.

2.2 Polar decomposition approach

The correspondence between the wave function dynamics described by the nonlinear Schrödinger equation (1.1.1) and the hydrodynamic system (2.0.1) is established by means of the polar decomposition approach that associates to a wave function ψ the hydrodynamic variables $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$. This method is not limited by vacuum regions including quantized vortices to be considered. While the Madelung transform approach, i.e. decomposing $\psi = |\psi|e^{i\frac{S}{\hbar}}$, is only valid for smooth, non-vanishing wave functions, the polar factor decomposition remains valid for wave-functions that are merely of finite energy. Here, the nodal set is of finite Lebesgue measure due to the assumption $|\psi|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ but is not a regular set [66]. Our method is based on the polar decomposition for H^1 -functions as in [11, 12]. Dealing with wave-functions that are neither integrable due to (2.0.2) nor of finite energy requires substantial modifications of the method. In particular, neither the energy space \mathbb{E}_2 nor the space \mathcal{V} are Banach spaces and thus there is no natural topology induced by a norm available. Still, the space \mathbb{E}_2 is a complete metric space, see Section 1.1.1, while the space \mathcal{V} does not seem to be endowed with a nice topology, see also [32].

Our approach consists in factorizing the wave function ψ in its amplitude $\sqrt{\rho} = |\psi|$ and its

polar factor ϕ , namely a function with values in the unitary disk of the complex plane. Given any function $\psi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ we define the set

$$P(\psi) := \left\{ \phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d) : \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1, \, \psi = \sqrt{\rho} \phi \, \text{a. e. in } \mathbf{R}^d \right\},$$

where $\sqrt{\rho} := |\psi|$. It is clear that the polar factor is not uniquely defined on vacuum regions, but one has that $|\phi| = 1 \sqrt{\rho} dx$ a. e. in \mathbf{R}^d and the polar factor ϕ is uniquely defined $\sqrt{\rho} dx$ a. e. in \mathbf{R}^d . This is - in a oversimplified context - somehow reminiscent of Y. Brenier's idea in [36]. We characterize the set $P(\psi)$ by a variational problem. To that end, given $\psi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and R > 0 we define

$$P(\psi, B_R(0)) := \left\{ \phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d) : \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1, \, \psi = \sqrt{\rho} \phi \, \text{a. e. in} \, B_R \right\},\,$$

and consider the maximizer of the functional

$$\Phi_R[\phi] = Re \int_{B_R} \overline{\phi} \psi \mathrm{d}x$$

over the set

$$S_R := \{ \phi \in L^2(B_R) : \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1 \}.$$

It is straightforward to check the following equivalence.

Lemma 2.2.1. Fix a radius R > 0 and let $\psi \in L^2(B_R)$. Then the following are equivalent.

- 1. $\phi \in P(\psi, B_R(0)),$
- 2. ϕ is a maximizer of the functional of $\Phi_R[\cdot]$ over S_R .

Proof. " \Rightarrow " We notice that $\Phi_R[\phi] \leq ||\phi||_{L^{\infty}} ||\psi||_{L^1}$. Let $\phi \in P_R(\psi)$, then $\psi = \phi |\psi| \sqrt{\rho}$ a. e. in B_R and it follows that

$$\int_{B_R} Re(\overline{\phi}\psi) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{B_R} |\psi| \mathrm{d}x,$$

thus ϕ maximizes the functional Φ_R over S_R .

" \Leftarrow " Let ϕ be a maximizer of Φ_R over S_R . A maximizer does indeed exists for a linear functional to be maximized over a convex domain. Since ϕ is a maximizer one has that

$$Re \int_{B_R} \overline{\phi} \psi \mathrm{d}x = \int_{B_R} |\psi| \mathrm{d}x$$

It is easy to check that $\phi \in P(\psi, B_R(0))$.

The property of being a polar factor for a function $\psi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ is a local property as shows the following criterion.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let $\psi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d, \mathbf{C})$. The following are equivalent:

1. The function $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d, \mathbf{C})$ is a polar factor for ψ , i. e. $\phi \in P(\psi)$.

2. There exists a covering of \mathbf{R}^d by a countable union of balls B_j (of finite radius r_j) and ϕ such that $\phi|_{B_j} \in P(\psi, B_j)$ for every $j \in \mathbf{N}$.

Proof. The implication $(1) \to (2)$ is obvious. The polar factor is uniquely defined $\sqrt{\rho} dx$ a. e. in \mathbf{R}^d . Given a countable covering of \mathbf{R}^d , for every j, the restriction $\phi|_{B_j}$ is a polar factor of ψ on B_j .

Conversely, we claim that

$$\phi(x) := \phi_i(x), \quad \text{where} \quad i = \min_j \{j \mid x \in B_j\},$$

is a polar factor of ψ , i. e. $\phi \in P(\psi)$. Indeed, ϕ is well-defined since on every B_j the polar factor is uniquely defined $\sqrt{\rho}dx$ almost everywhere and does not depend on the particular choice of the covering. Given $i \neq j$ such that $A := B_i \cap B_j \neq \emptyset$ and $\mu(A) > 0$, let $\phi_i \in P(\psi, B_i)$ and $\phi_j \in P(\psi, B_j)$, then necessarily $\sqrt{\rho}\phi_i = \sqrt{\rho}\phi_j$ a. e. on A. Assume not, then it is easy to construct a contradiction to the maximizing property of polar factors introduced in Lemma 2.2.1. The set

$$B = \{ x \in A : \phi_i(x) \neq \phi_j(x) \}$$

is such that

$$\int_B \sqrt{\rho} \mathrm{d}x > 0,$$

by assumption. Further, since $\phi_i \in P(\psi, B_i)$ and $\phi_j \in P(\psi, B_j)$ and therefore maximize $\Phi[\cdot]$ on the respective domains one has that

$$\int_B \sqrt{\rho} \mathrm{d}x = \Phi_B[\phi_i] \neq \Phi_B[\phi_j] = \int_B \sqrt{\rho} \mathrm{d}x,$$

yielding the desired contradiction.

With this criterion at hand, it is immediate to check that for any $\psi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ there exists a polar factor ϕ being uniquely determined $\sqrt{\rho} dx$ everywhere.

2.2.1 Stability of the polar factorization for wave-functions in the energy space

Next, we show how to recast the hydrodynamic variables $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$ given the wave function ψ . Although $\mathbb{E}_2 \subset \mathcal{V} + H^1$, see Lemma 1.1.6, we consider separately the cases $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1$. In the former case, we exploit the topology on \mathbb{E}_2 induced by the metric $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}$. In the latter, we prove H^1 -stability for a fixed decomposition.

Lemma 2.2.3 (Stability in \mathbb{E}). Let $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$, let $\sqrt{\rho} := |\psi|$ be its amplitude and let $\phi \in P(\psi)$ be a polar factor associated to ψ . Then $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L^2$ and $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} = \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Moreover, if we define $\Lambda := \operatorname{Im}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right)$, then $\Lambda \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and the following identity holds

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla\bar{\psi}\otimes\nabla\psi\right) = \nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho} + \Lambda\otimes\Lambda \quad a. \ e. \ in \ \mathbf{R}^{d}.$$
(2.2.1)

Furthermore, if $\{\psi_n\} \subset \mathbb{E}$ such that $d_{\mathbb{E}}(\psi_n, \psi) \to 0$, then the stability property holds

$$\begin{split} \nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} &\to \nabla \sqrt{\rho}, \quad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda, \quad in \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \\ \rho_n - \rho \to 0 \quad in \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \qquad \sqrt{\rho_n} - \sqrt{\rho} \to 0 \quad in \quad H^1(\mathbf{R}^d), \end{split}$$

Finally, for $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ the current density $J = \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda$ satisfies,

$$\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d),$$

Proof. Let $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$, then from Lemma 1.1.6 there exists a sequence $\{\psi_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of smooth functions such that

$$d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n,\psi) \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$. Let

$$\phi_n = \begin{cases} \frac{\psi_n(x)}{|\psi_n(x)|} & \psi_n(x) \neq 0, \\ 0 & \psi_n(x) = 0, \end{cases}$$

it is immediate to check that for every $n \in \mathbf{N}$ one has $\phi_n \in P(\psi_n)$. Since $\|\phi_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)} \leq 1$ uniformly there exists $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ such that

$$\phi_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \phi$$
.

It is straightforward to check that ϕ is a polar-factor for ψ , i. e. $\phi \in P(\psi)$, as it is sufficient to check this property locally, see Lemma 2.2.2. Moreover, we have that

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \rightharpoonup \nabla \sqrt{\rho}$$
 in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$,

and

$$Re(\overline{\phi_n}\nabla\psi_n)
ightarrow Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$$
 in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$,

where we have used that $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n, \psi) \to 0$. Since $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} = Re(\overline{\phi_n} \nabla \psi_n)$ for smooth functions, we conclude that $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} = Re(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi)$ a. e. in \mathbf{R}^d . This identity holds independently from the particular choice of the polar factor. Indeed, we have $\nabla \psi = 0$ a.e. on $\{\psi = 0\}$, see for instance Theorem 6.19 in [132], while ϕ is uniquely determined on $\{\psi \neq 0\}$ a.e. in \mathbf{R}^d . By using this property, we may then define $\Lambda := Im(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi)$ without ambiguity given by the particular choice of the polar factor. Exploiting again that $\nabla \psi = 0$ a.e. on $\{\psi = 0\}$ and the fact that $|\phi| = 1$ $\sqrt{\rho}dx$ a.e. in \mathbf{R}^d , one obtains that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla\overline{\psi}\otimes\nabla\psi\right) &= \operatorname{Re}\left(\phi\nabla\overline{\psi}\otimes\overline{\phi}\nabla\phi\right) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right)\otimes\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right) + \operatorname{Im}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right)\otimes\operatorname{Im}\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right) \\ &= \nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho} + \Lambda\otimes\Lambda. \end{aligned}$$

Taking the trace yields,

$$\left|\nabla\psi\right|^{2} = \left|\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\right|^{2} + \left|\Lambda\right|^{2}.$$

Similarly, since

$$\nabla \overline{\psi} \wedge \nabla \psi = \left(\phi \nabla \overline{\psi} \right) \wedge \left(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi \right) = 2i \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda,$$

we recover the identity,

$$\nabla \wedge J = \nabla \wedge Im(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi) = Im(\nabla\overline{\psi}\wedge\nabla\psi) = 2\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\wedge\Lambda.$$

The stability property is shown as follows, let $\{\psi_n\} \subset \mathbb{E}_2$ such that $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n, \psi) \to 0$. Then it is easy to check that

$$Re(\overline{\phi_n}\nabla\psi_n) \rightharpoonup Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi),$$
$$Im(\overline{\phi_n}\nabla\psi_n) \rightharpoonup Im(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi),$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \|\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Lambda\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left(\|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{n}}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Lambda_{n}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla\psi_{n}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

Weak convergence together with convergence in norm implies strong convergence

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \qquad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

The convergence $\rho_n - \rho \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ is an immediate consequence of the assumption. We denote

$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ x \in \mathbf{R}^d : |\psi|^2 \le \frac{1}{2} \right\}, \qquad \mathcal{A}_n = \left\{ x \in \mathbf{R}^d : |\psi_n|^2 \le \frac{1}{2} \right\}.$$

From $\psi, \psi_n \in \mathbb{E}_2$ and the Chebyshev inequality we conclude that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_n are of finite Lebesgue measure for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, for $x \in (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{A}_n)^c$ one has

$$||\psi| - |\psi_n|| \le C ||\psi|^2 - |\psi_n|^2|.$$

Thus,

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_n} - \sqrt{\rho}\|_{L^2((\mathcal{A}\cup\mathcal{A}_n)^c)}^2 \le \|\rho_n - \rho\|_{L^2((\mathcal{A}\cup\mathcal{A}_n)^c)}^2$$

The convergence on the set $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{A}_n$ of finite Lebesgue measure can be derived from the local strong convergence of $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n}$ to $\nabla \sqrt{\rho}$. The proof is complete.

2.2.2 Stability of the polar factorization for functions of infinite energy

Next, we introduce the polar decomposition and its stability for $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ defined in (1.3.4). The next Lemma is the analogue of Lemma 2.2.3 and shows some local properties of the hydrodynamic quantities $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$. The subsequent Lemma 2.2.5 then proves some global properties needed to define the renormalized energy functional.

Lemma 2.2.4 (Stability in $\mathcal{V} + H^1$). Let $\psi \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, let $\sqrt{\rho} := |\psi|$ be its amplitude and let $\phi \in P(\psi)$ be a polar factor associated to ψ . Then $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and $\nabla\sqrt{\rho} =$ $\operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$. Moreover, if $\Lambda := \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$, then $\Lambda \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and the following identity holds

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\nabla\bar{\psi}\otimes\nabla\psi\right)=\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho}+\Lambda\otimes\Lambda\quad a.\ e.\ in\ \mathbf{R}^{2}.$$

Furthermore, if $\{\psi_n\} \subset \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that $\psi_n - \psi \to 0$ in $H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, then the stability property holds

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho}, \quad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda, \quad in \quad L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2), \\ \rho - \rho_n \to 0 \quad in \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^2), \qquad \sqrt{\rho} - \sqrt{\rho_n} \to 0 \quad in \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^2).$$

Finally, for $\psi \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ the current density $J = \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda$ satisfies,

$$\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda.$$

Proof. Given $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, let $U \in \mathcal{V}$ and $w \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that $\psi = U + w$. We notice that inequality (1.1.7) yields that $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L^2$. Further, there exists $\{\psi_n\} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that ψ_n converges to ψ in $H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, the approximating sequence might for instance be constructed by convolution. Let

$$\phi_n = \begin{cases} \frac{\psi_n(x)}{|\psi_n(x)|} & \psi_n(x) \neq 0, \\ 0 & \psi_n(x) = 0, \end{cases}$$

it is immediate to check that for every $n \in \mathbf{N}$ one has $\phi_n \in P(\psi_n)$. Since $\|\phi_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)} \leq 1$ uniformly there exists $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that $\phi_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \phi$. Relying on Lemma 2.2.2 and a local argument, we obtain that $\phi \in P(\psi)$. Further, we infer that

$$\nabla\sqrt{\rho_n} \rightharpoonup \nabla\sqrt{\rho_n}, \quad Re(\overline{\phi_n}\nabla\psi_n) \rightharpoonup Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$$

in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2)$. It follows, $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} = Re(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi)$ a. e. in \mathbf{R}^2 . Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.3, we observe that this identity is independent from the particular choice of the polar factor. Again without ambiguity, we define $\Lambda := Im(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi)$. We proceed as in Proof of Lemma 2.2.3 to check that

$$Re\left(\nabla\overline{\psi}\otimes\nabla\psi\right) = Re\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right)\otimes Re\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right) + Im\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right)\otimes Im\left(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi\right),$$

a. e. in \mathbf{R}^2 . Taking the trace yields,

$$\left|\nabla\psi\right|^{2} = \left|\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\right|^{2} + \left|\Lambda\right|^{2}.$$

As in the proof of Lemma 2.2.3 we recover the identity.

$$\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda.$$

The stability property is shown as follows, let $\{\psi_n\} \subset \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that $\|\psi - \psi_n\|_{H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)} \to 0$. The fourth statement of Lemma 1.1.3 might be adapted so that

$$|||\psi_n|^2 - |\psi|^2||_{L^2} \le C \left(||\psi|^2 - 1||_{L^2} + ||\psi_n - \psi||_{H^1} \right) ||\psi_n - \psi||_{H^1}.$$

Thus, $\rho - \rho_n \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Further, on any compact set $K \subset \mathbf{R}^2$,

$$Re(\phi_n \nabla \psi_n) \rightharpoonup Re(\phi \nabla \psi),$$
$$Im(\overline{\phi_n} \nabla \psi_n) \rightharpoonup Im(\overline{\phi} \nabla \psi),$$

in $L^2(K)$. Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} &= \|\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} + \|\Lambda\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left(\|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{n}}\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} + \|\Lambda_{n}\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} \right) \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla\psi_{n}\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} = \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}(K)}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

Weak convergence together with strong convergence in norm implies strong convergence

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho}, \qquad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda, \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(K).$$

Proceeding as in Lemma 2.2.3, i.e. combining $\rho - \rho_n \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and the local strong L^2 -convergence of $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n}$, we infer that $\sqrt{\rho_n} - \sqrt{\rho} \to 0$ strongly in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$. The proof is complete.

We introduce the renormalized energy functional for the QHD system being the analogue of (1.3.8), see also [32]. Further, we recall that \mathcal{V}_* defined in (1.3.9) is the space such that $U \in \mathcal{V}$ and $|\nabla U(z)| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{|z|}}$ for |z| large.

Lemma 2.2.5. Let $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, and define $\sqrt{\rho} = |\psi|$, then $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} = Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$ a.e. in \mathbf{R}^2 and $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. Moreover, if $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_* + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ is decomposed as $\psi = U + w$, and let $\Lambda_U = \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\phi_U}\nabla U)$ for a polar factor ϕ_U of U. Then the renormalized energy functional defined as

$$E_{\Lambda_U} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{B_R(0)} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + |\Lambda|^2 - |\Lambda_U|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\rho - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (2.2.2)$$

is finite.

We notice that hence for $\psi \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ one has $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. In particular, together with Lemma 2.2.4, this implies that $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n}$ converges weakly to $\nabla \sqrt{\rho}$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$. However, it is in general not clear whether this weak convergence can be upgraded to strong convergence.

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.4, we have that $\nabla |\psi| = Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)$ holds a.e. in \mathbf{R}^2 for a polar factor ϕ of ψ . We recall that the identity does not depend on the particular choice of ϕ being uniquely defined $\sqrt{\rho}$ a.e. in \mathbf{R}^d and that $\nabla\sqrt{\rho}$ vanishes a.e. on $\{\sqrt{\rho} = 0\}$. Given any decomposition $\psi = U + w$ with $U \in \mathcal{V}$ and $w \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ we denote by ϕ_U the polar factor of U being uniquely defined outside the nodal set of U. Moreover $\nabla U = 0$ a. e. on the nodal set of U due to the regularity properties of U. We denote $\sqrt{\rho_U} := |U| = \operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi_U}U)$, thus $\nabla\sqrt{\rho_U} = \operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi_U}\nabla U)$ and

further we define $\Lambda_U = \text{Im}(\overline{\phi_U}\nabla U)$. The quantities are well-defined in view of Lemma 2.2.4. Next, we show that $\nabla\sqrt{\rho} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$.

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} |\nabla\sqrt{\rho}|^2 \mathrm{d}x &= \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} |Re(\overline{\phi}\nabla\psi)|^2 \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \left|Re((\overline{\phi}\nabla U - \overline{\phi_U}\nabla U + \overline{\phi_U}\nabla U + \overline{\phi}\nabla w)\right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \left(\|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_U}\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\phi\|_{L^\infty} \|\nabla w\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} + \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left|\operatorname{Re}\left((\overline{\phi} - \overline{\phi_u})\nabla U\right)\right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \right) \end{aligned}$$

Hence, it suffices to bound the last integral. Let $c \in (0, \frac{1}{2}]$ and define

$$\mathcal{A} := \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^2 : ||U + w|^2 - 1| \ge c \}, \quad \mathcal{B} := \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^2 : ||U|^2 - 1| \ge c \},$$

and notice that \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} are of of finite Lebesgue measure in virtue of the Chebyshev inequality and $U \in \mathcal{V}$ as well as $\psi \in \mathcal{V} + H^1$. We have that

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}\cup\mathcal{B}} \left| \operatorname{Re}\left((\overline{\phi} - \overline{\phi_U}) \nabla U \right) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le C_{c,\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \|\phi - \phi_U\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}\cup\mathcal{B})}^2 \|\nabla U\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}\cup\mathcal{B})}^2$$

Further, neither |U+w| nor |U| vanish on $(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B})^C$, thus the polar factors are uniquely defined on $(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B})^c$. We conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B})} \left| \operatorname{Re}\left((\overline{\phi} - \overline{\phi_u}) \nabla U \right) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le C \|\phi - \phi_U\|_{L^4(\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}))}^2 \|\nabla U\|_{L^4(\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}))}^2,$$

and recall that $\nabla U \in L^4(\mathbf{R}^2)$ from Lemma 3.3.17. To infer the L^4 bound for $\phi - \phi_U$, we notice that

$$\phi = \frac{U+w}{|U+w|}, \quad \phi_U = \frac{U}{|U|}$$
 a.e. on $\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}).$

Since on $\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B})$, by Definition $||U + w| - 1| \le c$ and $||U| - 1| \le c$ one has

$$\left|\frac{U+w}{|U+w|} - \frac{U}{|U|}\right|^2 \le C\left(|U+w|(|U|-|U+w|) + |w|^2\right) \le C\left(|U|-|U+w| + |w|^2\right).$$

Moreover, on $(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B})^c$, one has

$$||U+w| - |U|| \le C||U+w|^2 - |U|^2,$$

and therefore we conclude that

$$\|\phi - \phi_U\|_{L^4(\mathbf{R}^2 \setminus (\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}))}^2 \le C_c \left(\||U + w|^2 - |U|^2 \|_{L^2} + \|v\|_{L^4}^2 \right) \|\nabla U\|_{L^4}^2 < +\infty.$$

In the last step we used that $|U|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and $|U+w|^2 - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$.

It remains to show that if $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_* + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, then (2.2.2) is finite. For a fixed decomposition $\psi = U + w$, the renormalized energy functional is defined by (1.3.8) and finite. We invoke the identity

$$|\nabla \psi|^2 - |\nabla U|^2 = |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 - |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_U}|^2 + |\Lambda|^2 - |\Lambda_U|^2,$$

thus by recalling that $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ and $\nabla |U| \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$,

$$E_{\Lambda_U} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 - |\nabla |U||^2 + |\Lambda|^2 - |\Lambda_U|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\rho - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x,$$

is finite.

Remark 2.2.6. Instead of assuming that $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_*$ in order to define the renormalized energy in Lemma 2.2.5, one may equivalently suppose that given the decomposition $\psi = U + w$, one has $|\Lambda_U| \leq \frac{C}{|x|}$ for $|x| \to \infty$. We recall that the Definitions given in (1.3.7) and (1.3.8) are equivalent provided that

$$\int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Re}(\partial_r U w) \to 0,$$

as $R \to \infty$. We write

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Re}(\partial_r Uw) &= \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi_U} \partial_r U\phi_U w), \\ &= \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi_U} \partial_r U) \operatorname{Re}(\phi_U v) + \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\phi_U} \partial_r U) \operatorname{Im}(\phi_U v) \\ &= \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Re}(\phi_U w) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_U} \cdot n + \int_{\partial B_R} \operatorname{Im}(\phi_U w) \Lambda_U \cdot n. \end{split}$$

Since $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_U} = \nabla |U| \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ the first term in the sum goes to 0 as $R \to \infty$. Further, for any $w \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$,

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\partial B_R} |w|^2 = 0,$$

see Lemma 3.4 in [28]. The idea consists in showing that $f(R) = \int_{\partial B_R} |w|^2 \in W^{1,1}(\mathbf{R})$ and thus in $C_0(\mathbf{R})$. Hence, the boundary term goes to zero if there exists C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\partial B_R} |\Lambda_U|^2 \le C,$$

uniformly in R. This is achieved by assuming $|\Lambda_U(z)| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{|z|}}$, compatible to the hypothesis $U \in \mathcal{V}_*$.

2.2.3 Continuity of the vorticity with respect to weak continuity

The following analysis on the continuity of the vorticity $\nabla \wedge J$ is needed in view of the study of the singular limit in Sections 5.1 and 5.2. We recall that from Lemma 2.2.4 and 2.2.3 respectively, we have that $\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda$. If $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2$ then $\nabla \wedge J \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$, while if $\psi \in \mathcal{V}(\mathbf{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ we only have $\nabla \wedge J \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

Lemma 2.2.7. Let d = 2, 3 and $\{\psi_n\} \subset H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ be a sequence converging weakly to some $\psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Define $J_n := \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\psi_n} \nabla \psi_n)$ and $J := \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\psi} \nabla \psi)$. If there exists C > 0 uniform in n such that $\mathcal{E}(\psi_n) \leq C$, then

$$J_n \rightharpoonup J$$
 in $L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$,

with $1 \le p < 2$ for d = 2 and for $1 \le p < \frac{3}{2}$ for d = 3. Moreover,

$$\nabla \wedge J_n \to \nabla \wedge J,$$
$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \wedge \Lambda_n \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda,$$

in \mathcal{D}' .

We notice that if $J = Im(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi)$, then up to a factor 2 the vorticity of the current density $\nabla \wedge J$ equals the Jacobian $Jac(\psi) = det(\nabla\psi)$, namely

$$\frac{1}{2}\nabla \wedge J = \operatorname{Jac}(\psi).$$

For d = 2, the statement of the Lemma is an immediate consequence of the continuity of distributional Jacobians with respect to weak convergence. The distributional Jacobian is defined by

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} [\operatorname{Jac}(\psi)] \phi \mathrm{d}x := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} J \cdot \nabla \wedge \phi, \qquad \phi \in C_c^1,$$

provided that $J \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. We notice that for $\psi_n, \psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ the distributional Jacobian is well-defined and coincides with $Jac(\psi)$. Thus,

$$\nabla \wedge J_n = [\operatorname{Jac}(\psi_n)] \to [\operatorname{Jac}(\psi)] = \nabla \wedge J \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{D}'.$$

For d = 3, assuming $\psi \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ is in general not sufficient neither to define nor to identify the distributional Jacobian and the Jacobian, while assuming for instance $\psi \in W_{loc}^{1,d}$ would be sufficient. More in general, the Jacobian $det(\nabla \psi)$ and the distributional $[Jac(\psi)]$ coincide whenever the latter satisfies $[Jac(\psi)] \in L_{loc}^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$, see [149]. This will become relevant in the context of vortex solutions addressed in Section 1.3 and in Section 2.5.2. Indeed, the prototype of an idealized vortex solutions is given by $\frac{x}{|x|}$ where we identify \mathbf{C} with \mathbf{R}^2 . It's Jacobian is 0 a.e. in \mathbf{R}^d while its distributional Jacobian equals $[Jac(\frac{x}{|x|})] = \delta_0$. We refer the reader to the review paper [146] and to [4] for Jacobians of functions with values in the sphere.

Here, we give a proof of the Lemma that does not rely on the continuity of Jacobians but exploits that J is consistent with a wave-function ψ .

Proof. The weak H^1_{loc} -convergence implies that ψ_n converges strongly to ψ in $L^r_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for $2 \leq r \leq \frac{2d}{d-2}$ and $\nabla \psi_n$ converges weakly to $\nabla \psi$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Hence

$$J_n \rightharpoonup J = \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi) \quad \text{in} \quad L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d),$$

for any $1 \le p < 2$ if d = 2 and for any $1 \le p < \frac{3}{2}$ if d = 3. Moreover, we have that

$$\nabla \wedge J_n \to \nabla \wedge J$$
 in $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

Since $J = \text{Im}(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi)$ with $\psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, it follows from Lemma 2.2.4 that

$$\nabla \wedge J = \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$$

where $\sqrt{\rho}$, Λ are the hydrodynamic variables associated to ψ . In particular,

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \wedge \Lambda_n \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{D}'(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

2.3 Existence of finite energy weak solutions

This section is dedicated to the proof of Theorem 2.1.3. We construct a global in time finite energy weak solution to (2.0.1) with initial data (ρ_0, J_0) by combining the well-posedness theory for (1.1.1) introduced in Chapter 1 and the polar decomposition of Section 2.2. In order to derive global existence of finite energy weak solutions to (2.0.1), we do not require any further regularity or smallness assumptions beyond the ones imposed by the well-posedness theory for the corresponding NLS equation (1.1.1) and the polar decomposition of Lemma 2.2.3, namely, we work in the natural framework of initial data of finite energy. In particular, by identity (2.2.1), one has that the energy functional (2.1.2) equals the Hamiltonian (1.0.2). However, the initial data must be consistent with an initial wave function. While Lemma 2.2.3 provides a definition of the initial data for the hydrodynamic system on the basis of a given wave-function ψ_0 , the possible appearance of vacuum generally rules out the converse. In addition, the generalized irrotationality condition is a necessary condition for the hydrodynamic quantities to be consistent with a wave function. At this stage, several questions arise. What are the sufficient assumptions on the initial data (ρ_0, J_0) in terms of regularity so that the wavefunction can be reconstructed? In physics literature, this problem is referred to as Pauli problem, see [172]. From a mathematical point of view, this task is related to the lifting problem that has been investigated in [35, 43, 147], see also references therein. Lifting properties have also been exploited in the study of travelling wave solutions to (1.1.1) of transonic speeds, see [58]. Can the level of generality of initial data generated by a wave function among the set of initial data (ρ_0, J_0) of finite energy by determined? For a more detailed discussion of these issues, we refer the reader to [11], p. 659.

Finally, we remark that in order to give a rigorous derivation of system (2.0.1) we exploit the persistence of regularity properties of NLS equations, namely (1.1.1), which in the present setting means that if $\psi_0 \in X^2 \cap \mathbb{E}_2$ then $\psi \in X^2 \cap \mathbb{E}_2$ for all finite times. For NLS equations that do not enjoy this property the method may adapted by implementing a regularization procedure, see for instance [10] where a perturbation Lemma is used, or by relying on the integral formulation of the corresponding nonlinear Schrödinger equation [7].

Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$, Lemma 1.1.13 implies that $\psi_0 \in \mathbb{E}_2$. In virtue of Theorem 1.1.1 there exists a unique solution $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1) with initial data $\psi(0) = \psi_0$. Moreover, ψ is such that the energy \mathcal{E} is conserved for all time, i.e. $\mathcal{E}(\psi(t)) = \mathcal{E}(\psi_0)$ for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$. Further, thanks to Lemma 1.1.6 there exists a sequence ψ_0^n such that $\Delta \psi_0^n \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_0^n, \psi_0)$ converges to 0 as n goes to infinity. Theorem 1.1.1 provides a unique solution $\psi^n \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ with initial data ψ_0^n that conserves the energy and enjoys the bound $\Delta \psi^n \in L^{\infty}([-T, T], L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for any T > 0 finite. We define the initial data

$$\sqrt{\rho_0^n} := |\psi_0^n|, \qquad J_0^n := Im(\overline{\psi_0^n} \nabla \psi_0^n)$$

and we introduce

$$\sqrt{\rho_n} := |\psi_n|, \qquad J_n := Im(\overline{\psi_n}\nabla\psi_n).$$

We shall show that $(\rho_n := \sqrt{\rho_n^2}, J_n)$ is a global finite energy weak solution to (2.0.1) according to Definition 2.1.1. Firstly, we verify the required *a priori* bounds. Since $\nabla |\psi^n| \leq \nabla \psi^n$ a.e. on \mathbf{R}^d and $\psi^n \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ we conclude $\sqrt{\rho_n} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}, H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and for any T > 0finite that $\sqrt{\rho_n} - 1 \in L^{\infty}([0, T]; H^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$, see also Lemma 2.2.3. Similarly, by Definition $\Lambda_n \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}, L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and we infer that $J_n \in L^{\infty}([0, T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$. We prove that (ρ_n, J_n) is a finite energy weak solution of (2.0.1). Let $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}([0, T] \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ and consider

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n \partial_t \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n^0(x) \eta(0, x) \mathrm{d}x &= -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \partial_t \rho_n \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} 2Im(\overline{\psi_n} i\partial_t \psi_n) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} 2Im\left(\overline{\psi_n}(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi_n + F'(|\psi_n|^2)\psi_n)\right) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (J_n) \cdot \nabla \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

We observe that since $\psi_n \in C([0,T], H^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ all integrals are well-defined and (ρ_n, J_n) satisfies the continuity equation. Similarly, we derive the momentum equation. Let $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbf{R}^d; \mathbf{R}^d)$, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \partial_{t} J_{n} \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} Im \left(\nabla \psi_{n} \left(-\frac{i}{2} \Delta \overline{\psi}_{n} + iF'(\rho_{n}) \overline{\psi}_{n} \right) \right) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} Im \left(\overline{\psi_{n}} \left(\frac{i}{2} \Delta \nabla \psi_{n} - i(\nabla F'(\rho_{n})) \psi_{n} - iF'(\rho_{n}) \nabla \psi_{n} \right) \right) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} Im \left(-\frac{i}{2} \nabla \psi_{n} \Delta \overline{\psi_{n}} + \frac{i}{2} \overline{\psi}_{n} \Delta \nabla \psi_{n} \right) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} \nabla F'(\rho_{n}) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} Re \left(\nabla \overline{\psi_{n}} \otimes \nabla \psi_{n} \right) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{4} \nabla \Delta \rho_{n} \zeta - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} \nabla F'(\rho_{n}) \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \end{split}$$

We stress that the quantity

$$Im \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \overline{\psi_n} \nabla \Delta \psi_n \zeta \mathrm{d}x,$$

is meaningful as pairing between $\nabla \Delta \psi_n \in H^{-1}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\psi_n \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Using identity (2.0.3), (2.2.1) and $p(\rho) = F'(\rho)\rho - F(\rho)\rho$, we infer that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} J_{0,n}\zeta(0) \mathrm{d}x &+ \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} J_n \partial_t \zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left((\Lambda_n \otimes \Lambda) + (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_n}) \right) : \nabla \zeta + p(\rho) \operatorname{div}\zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &- \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{4} \rho_n \Delta \operatorname{div}\zeta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = 0 \end{split}$$

Hence, (ρ_n, J_n) is a weak solution of (2.0.1). We introduce $\sqrt{\rho} = |\psi|$ and $J = Im(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi)$ and it remains to show that (ρ, J) is a finite energy weak solution for the initial data (ρ_0, J_0) . To that end, we observe that

$$\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)), \qquad J \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}, L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^d) + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)).$$

In particular, for Λ as in Lemma 2.2.3, we have $\Lambda \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $J = \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda$. Since $d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n^0, \psi^0) \to 0$, Theorem 1.1.1 ensures that for any T > 0 finite,

$$\sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n(t), \psi(t)) \to 0, \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$

The stability property of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation combined with the stability of the polar decomposition provided by Lemma 2.2.3 w.r.t. to the topology of \mathbb{E}_2 yields that

$$\sqrt{\rho_n} - 1 \to \sqrt{\rho} - 1$$
 in $L^{\infty}([0,T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda$ in $L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)).$

In particular, J_n converges strongly to J in $L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^{\frac{3}{2}}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Further, we observe that

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\rho_n - \rho\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} \le \sup_{|t| \le T} d_{\mathbb{E}_2}(\psi_n, \psi) \to 0.$$

One derives the respective convergences for the initial data analogously. The strong convergence results allow us to pass to the limit in the weak formulation of the equations and thus (ρ, J) is a weak solution to (2.0.1) complemented with initial data (ρ_0, J_0) . Finally, we observe that the conservation of energy of ψ together with identity (2.2.1) yields conservation of energy (2.1.2) for (ρ, J) and for all times $t \in [0, T]$. It remains to check the generalized irrotationality condition. By definition, one has

$$\nabla \wedge J = Im(\nabla \overline{\psi} \wedge \nabla \psi), \quad a.e. \text{ on } \mathbf{R}^d,$$

and again from Lemma 2.2.3,

$$\nabla \overline{\psi} \wedge \nabla \psi = 2i \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda$$

The proof is complete.

2.4 Existence of weak solutions of infinite energy

Relying on this existence result for the underlying wave-function, we show that there exists a global weak solution to (2.0.1) equipped with nontrivial conditions at infinity (2.0.2) and with initial data of infinite energy. The class of initial data $\mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, with \mathcal{V} defined in (1.3.4), includes in particular H^1 -perturbations of vortex solutions.

The proof follows a similar scheme as the Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. Here $\gamma = 2$ and thus we rely on the existence results for (1.3.1) provided by Theorem 1.3.3, see also [32]. Regarding the stability of the polar factorization, we can not exploit the metric of the energy space but need to decompose the wave-functions in order to be able to exploit the H^1 -topology.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.4. Given $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{V} + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$, we decompose the initial data in in $\psi_0 = U + w_0$ with $U \in \mathcal{V}$ and $w_0 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$. From Theorem 1.3.3, see also [32] we conclude that there exists a unique solution ψ to (1.3.1) such that $\psi - \psi_0 \in C(\mathbf{R}; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Moreover, given $\{w_{0,n}\}_{n \in \mathbf{N}} \subset H^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$ such that $w_{0,n} \to w_0$ in $H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ there exists a sequence $\psi_n = U + w_n$ of solutions to (1.3.1) such that $\psi_n - \psi_{0,n} \in C(\mathbf{R}; H^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ where $\psi_{0,n} = U + w_{0,n}$ and

$$\|\psi_n - \psi\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^1(\mathbf{R}^2))} \le \|\psi_{n,0} - \psi_0\|_{H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)}.$$

From Poincaré inequality $\psi_n \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2))$ and thus we proceed as in Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. Defining $\rho_n := |\psi_n|^2$ and $J_n = Im(\overline{\psi_n} \nabla \psi_n)$, we infer that (ρ_n, J_n) is a global weak solution to (2.0.1). Let $\rho := |\psi|^2$ and $J_n = Im(\overline{\psi} \nabla \psi)$, we need to ensure that we are in position to pass to the limit in the weak formulation of the equations and to conclude that (ρ, J) is a weak solution of (2.0.1). To that end, we exploit the stability properties provided by Lemma 2.2.4; we obtain that

$$\nabla\sqrt{\rho_n} \to \nabla\sqrt{\rho} \quad L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2), \qquad \Lambda_n \to \Lambda \quad L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2),$$

and

$$\sqrt{\rho_n} - \sqrt{\rho} \to \sqrt{\rho} \quad L^2(\mathbf{R}^2), \quad J_n \to J \quad L^q_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^2),$$

where $2 \leq p < \infty$ and $1 \leq q < 2$. Hence, the passage to the limit as n goes to ∞ in the weak formulation of the equations is justified. From Lemma 2.2.5, we infer that $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^2)$. In virtue of Proposition 1.3.3, the renormalized energy (1.3.7) is conserved during the evolution of (1.3.1). If $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_* + H^1(\mathbf{R}^2)$ then the definitions (1.3.7) and (1.3.8) are equivalent, see Remark 2.2.6. Thus,

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \frac{1}{2} (|\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 - |\nabla |U||^2 + |\Lambda|^2 - |\Lambda_U|^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\rho - 1) \mathrm{d}x < +\infty,$$
(2.4.1)

and the renormalized energy is conserved for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$; indeed the renormalized energy functional (2.2.2) differs from (2.4.1) by $-\int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla| U| |^2 dx$ being finite and constant in time.

2.5 Special solutions and large time asymptotics

This section aims to give a short (not exhaustive) overview about some special solutions to the QHD system (2.0.1). In particular, we notice that the properties of solutions (1.1.1) discussed in Section 1.2.1 can be translated to the class of weak solutions of (2.0.1) by means of Theorem 2.1.3. Thus, setting up the Cauchy theory for (2.0.1) is suitable for the study the hydrodynamic counterpart of a variety of special solutions to (1.1.1) such as travelling waves [30, 31, 27, 142, 59], travelling vortex ring [29, 56] and a travelling vortex-antivortex pair [108].

2.5.1 Solutions of finite energy

We show how to translate the results for (1.1.1) obtained in [142, 59] to travelling waves for (2.0.1). The method is illustrated at the example of Theorem 1.2.1.

Corollary 2.5.1. Let d = 2, 3 for any $0 < c < v_s$, there exists a travelling wave solution (ρ, J) to (2.0.1). Namely, there exists $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$ such that $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\Lambda \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and

$$\rho = (\sqrt{\rho(x - ct)})^2, \qquad J = \sqrt{\rho(x - ct)}\Lambda(x - ct),$$

being solution to (2.0.1). In particular, for d = 2, there exists a travelling wave for initial data with arbitrarily small prescribed energy.

Proof. In virtue of Theorem 1.2.1 and 1.2.2, see also [142, 59], there exists a travelling wave solution $\psi \in C(\mathbf{R}, \mathbb{E}_2)$ to (1.1.1). Thanks to Theorem 2.1.3 the travelling wave ψ induces a finite energy weak solution (ρ, J) to (2.0.1) of the form $\rho(t, x) = \rho(x - ct)$ and J(t, x) = J(x - ct).

For d = 2, this results rules out the possibility of a scattering theory for the QHD system. Recalling figure 1.1, we notice that the situation is different for d = 3. At least in the class of finite energy weak solutions provided by Theorem 2.1.3, Theorem 1.2.3 suggests that no travelling waves are to be expected at small energies. A major draw-back is clearly given by the fact that this approach does not enable us to construct travelling waves directly in the class of finite energy weak solutions to (2.0.1) but only in the subset of solutions that are consistent with a wave-function dynamics.

We remark that the stability of planar travelling waves in capillary fluids has been subject of the study in [20]. Small energy travelling waves for the Euler-Korteweg system for d = 2have been investigated in [15]. The approach requires high regularity and smallness of the initial data. As mentioned in Section 1.2.1, in [29] the authors show existence of vortex rings of finite energy for (1.1.1) for d = 3. It would be interesting to investigate the corresponding weak solutions to (2.0.1). In the present work, we focus on vortex solution for d = 2 of infinite energy.

By means of the mentioned results in Section 1.2.2, in particular [95, 97], it is immediate to construct global dispersive solutions to (2.0.1). For the sake of conciseness, we illustrate the procedure for the result. This scattering theory is only valid for solutions to (2.0.1) that are consistent with an underlying wave-function dynamics. It would be of great interest for future investigations to prove scattering for solutions that are not necessarily induced by a wave function. It was shown in [16] that global strong irrotional solutions to the QHD system for $d \geq 3$ scatter under suitable smallness and regularity assumptions.

2.5.2 Vortex solutions

We discuss vortical solutions in the hydrodynamic framework provided by (2.0.1), we start by giving a heuristic approach that will be made rigorous in Proposition 2.5.2 by means of Theorem 2.1.4 and the stability of the polar decomposition introduced in Section 2.2. Quantized vortices for d = 2 and quantized vortex lines for d = 3 have been predicted by Onsager [152] in 1949 and Feynman [80] in 1955. Even though their approaches and the respective conclusions are somehow different, both authors suggest that the circulation in a superfluid is quantized. We refer the reader to Chapter 2 in [74] for an overview of these early results. The fluid is supposed to be irrotational in the absence of vortices and it was predicted that if v denotes the velocity field of the fluid, then for an arbitrary contour C around the vortex, the circulation equals

$$\Gamma = \oint_C v \cdot d\vec{l} = 2\pi n \frac{\hbar}{m}, \qquad (2.5.1)$$

for an integer n with \hbar denoting the reduced Planck constant and m the exact mass of the bare helium atom. A quantum of circulation is therefore given by $\kappa = \frac{\hbar}{m}$. By passing to polar coordinates, we conclude from (2.5.1) that the azimuthal speed around the vortex reads

$$v_{\theta} = \kappa \frac{n}{r},$$

where r = |x|. This highlights a further difference compared to vortices in a classical fluid, e.g. a Rankine vortex, for which one usually supposes that flow close to the vortex core is governed by a rigid body motion, namely $v = \Omega \wedge r$ for some angular speed Ω . Hence, away from vacuum $\nabla \wedge v = 2\Omega \neq 0$ for classical fluids, in contradiction to the (generalized) irrotationality condition assumed for quantum fluids. These ideas can be made rigorous in the framework of the Gross-Pitaevskii theory developed by [90] and [159]. The latter states that the fluid is characterized by an order parameter ψ satisfying the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1.3.1). We look for stationary vortex solutions to (1.3.1). To that end, if we assume the velocity field to be of the form $v = 2\pi \kappa \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}$ as suggested by (2.5.1) and think of v as phase gradient then we are led to plug into the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1.3.1) the ansatz $\psi = f(|x|)e^{in\theta}$. In [87], see also [160], it was observed that $\psi = f(|x|)e^{in\theta}$ is a solution to (1.3.1) provided that the radial profile f(|x|) satisfies (1.3.2). By means of the elliptic regularity, the velocity profile fcan be seen to be regular and to enjoy the following asymptotic.

If n denotes the circulation integer, then f_n behaves like $f_n \sim r^{|n|}$ for $r \to 0$ and for r > 1 one has

$$1 - \frac{d^2}{2r^2} \le f_n(r) \le 1,$$

see e.g. [103]. The density profile is plotted in Figure 2.1. We recall that (1.3.1) has been scaled such that it is in dimensionless form, the characteristic length scale is given by the healing length ξ as discussed in the Introduction of this thesis. By consequence, the density profile reaches the unperturbed density f = 1 over a distance proportional to the healing length ξ , explaining its name.

We observe that for a vortex solution of the type $\psi = f_n(|x|)e^{in\theta}$, the hydrodynamic variables



Figure 2.1: Density profile as function of $\eta = r$, here n = 1 solid line, n = 2 dashed line. The diagram is a courtesy of L. Pitaevskii, S. Stringari [160]

defined by the polar factorization trivially read

$$\sqrt{\rho} = f_n(|x|), \qquad \Lambda(x) = n f_n(x) \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}.$$
 (2.5.2)

Since for all |x| > 0 it holds f(|x|) > 0, for such a special solution one may actually define $v = \frac{\Lambda}{\sqrt{\rho}} = n \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}$ for |x| > 0. This yields for all R > 0,

$$\oint_{\partial B_R} v \cdot \mathrm{d}\vec{l} = 2\pi n$$

namely the circulation is quantized. Since we consider the equations in dimensionless scaling, here a quantum of circulation equals $\kappa = 1$. It is not clear how to compute the (quantized) circulation for general hydrodynamic solutions $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$, as one should need some regularity as well as control on the vacuum set. On the other hand, heuristically we expect that

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\partial B_R} v \cdot d\vec{l} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\partial B_R} J \cdot d\vec{l},$$

since formally we have $\rho \to 1$ as $|x| \to \infty$. Moreover, by using Stokes' Theorem, we also have

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\partial B_R} J \cdot d\vec{l} = \int_{\mathbf{R}^2} \nabla \wedge J dx.$$

For this reason, it could be useful to define the degree at infinity in the following way

$$deg(J,\infty) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\partial B_R} J \cdot d\vec{l} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{B_R} \nabla \wedge J dx.$$
(2.5.3)

In the next Proposition we provide a straightforward example that for the vortex solution (2.5.2) this is indeed a satisfactory definition.

Proposition 2.5.2. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and f_n solution to (1.3.2). Then

$$\sqrt{\rho} = f_n(|x|), \qquad \Lambda = f_n(|x|) \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}, \qquad J = \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda$$

defines a stationary vortex solution to (2.0.1). Moreover,

$$deg(J,\infty) = n$$

and its vorticity is quantized in the sense that for |x| > 0 one may define $v = \frac{\Lambda}{\sqrt{\rho}}$ and

$$\oint_{\partial B_R} v \cdot \mathrm{d}\vec{l} = 2\pi n.$$

For fixed R > 0, the energy of a vortex solution on $B_R(0)$ is given by

$$\int_{B_R} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + |\Lambda|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\rho - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x = 2\pi n^2 |\log R| + C, \qquad (2.5.4)$$

for some universal constant C > 0.

The proof is immediate but we decide to provide it nevertheless to illustrate the above heuristic in the spcial case of a vortex solution.

Proof of Proposition. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and consider $\psi = f_n(|x|)e^{in\theta}$ such that f_n satisfies (1.3.2). Then ψ defines a stationary solution to (1.3.1), see [87]. By means of Theorem 2.1.4, if we define

$$\sqrt{\rho} = f_n(|x|), \qquad J = Im\left(f_n(|x|)e^{-in\theta}\nabla(f_n(|x|)e^{in\theta})\right) = df_n(|x|)^2 \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2},$$

then (ρ, J) is a stationary weak solution to (2.0.1) in virtue of Theorem 2.1.4. The renormalized energy functional (2.2.2) is finite and trivially conserved for all times. For fixed R > 0, the energy can be computed using the explicit representation of a vortex and is given by

$$\int_{B_R} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + |\Lambda|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\rho - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x = 2\pi n^2 |\log R| + C,$$

for some universal constant C > 0. Finally, by exploiting the identity $\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda$ it is immediate to see that

$$\int_{B_R} \nabla \wedge J \mathrm{d}x = \int_0^R \int_0^{2\pi} 2f_n(|x|) f'_n(|x|) \mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}r = 2\pi n f_n(R).$$

In virtue of Stokes' Theorem for R > 0,

$$\int_{B_R} \nabla \wedge J \mathrm{d}x = \oint_{\partial B_R} J \cdot \mathrm{d}\vec{l},$$

leading to

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\partial B_R} J \cdot \mathrm{d}\vec{l} = 2\pi n.$$

In particular, we notice that if $\psi \in \mathbb{E}_2 \cap C^1$, then one verifies that the associated current J satisfies

$$deg(J,\infty) = 0,$$

since otherwise $\mathcal{E}_2(\psi) = +\infty$, see also Lemma 1.3.1. At Sobolev regularity, the definition of degree is substantially more involved, since the nodal set is in general not regular. We refer the interested reader to [24, 6] for an mathematically rigorous investigation of the topological degree in this context. The dynamics of vortices for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation in the scaling limit considered in Chapter 5 has been proven in [28]. For a general introduction to topological degree theory see [45]. We refer to the seminal book [25] for a complete analysis of Ginzburg-Landau vortices.

To conclude, we summarize the key differences between classical and quantum vortices:

- (i) the circulation of quantum vortices is quantized, namely equal to $2\pi n$ with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we refer to n as the degree of the vortex;
- (ii) quantum vortices describe an irrotational flow away from the vortex core in contrast to classical vortices that generically are modelled by a rigid body motion around the vortex core. In classical turbulence, e.g. the Rankine vortex for a viscous fluid combines the behavior of a rigid body motion up to a threshold distance from the vortex core and an irrotational motion beyond that threshold, see also Figure 2.2.
- (iii) the size of a quantum vortex core is determined and of the order of the healing length ξ .



Figure 2.2: Angular velocity for (i) solid body rotation, (ii) vortex line in a condensate (irrotational flow), and (iii) flow around a hurricane or a bathtub vortex, which combines solid body rotation in the inner region $r \ll a_0$ and irrotational flow in the outer region $r \gg a_0$. The figure is a courtesy of C. Barenghi and N. Parker [18]

We remark that Theorem 2.1.4 provides a suitable framework for the mathematical analysis of the dynamics for initial data given by multi-vortex configuration characterized by the vortex core centers $(a_1,...a_n)$ and degrees $(m_1,...,m_n)$ of the form

$$\sqrt{\rho} = \prod_{j=1}^{n} f_{m_j}(|x - a_j|), \qquad \Lambda = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} f_{m_j}(|x - a_j|)\right) \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_j \frac{|x - a_j|^{\perp}}{|x - a_j|^2}.$$

We postpone the discussion to Section 5.2 where we address the dynamics of small perturbations of such vortex initial data in a suitable scaling limit, namely in the regime when the healing length is small, $\xi \to 0$.

CHAPTER 3

Existence of finite energy weak solutions to the quantum Navier-Stokes equations with non-trivial far-field

Abstract

We introduce existence of global finite energy weak solutions to the quantum Navier-Stokes equations posed on the whole space with non trivial far-field behavior in dimensions d = 2, 3. The main results of this chapter are presented in Section 3.1. In Section 3.2, we construct a sequence of suitable periodic initial data on a sequence of growing tori and discuss existence of respective periodic solutions to a truncated formulation based on [125]. The periodic solutions are extended to approximate truncated weak solutions on the whole space in Section 3.3. Further, we show that the sequence converges to a truncated weak solution to QNS. The proof of the main results is given in Section 3.4, namely we show that truncated weak solutions are weak solutions. In Section 3.5, we show how to construct weak solutions satisfying a slightly stronger version of the energy inequality based on the result in [13]. This is motivated by its applications to chapter 4.

This chapter, based on a joint work in progress with P. Antonelli and S. Spirito, is devoted to the study the Cauchy problem for the Quantum-Navier-Stokes equations (QNS) posed on $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$,

$$\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0,$$

$$\partial_t(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla p(\rho) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho \mathbf{D} u) + 2\kappa^2 \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right),$$
(3.0.1)

complemented with the far-field behavior

$$\rho \to 1 \qquad \text{as} \quad |x| \to \infty.$$
 (3.0.2)

The unknowns are given by the mass density ρ and the velocity field of the fluid u. We consider a pressure given by the γ -law with $\gamma > 1$. We refer to the coefficients ν and κ as viscosity and capillarity coefficients respectively. The energy we consider for system (3.0.1) is given by

$$E(t) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho |u|^2 + 2\kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (3.0.3)$$

where the internal energy is as defined in (0.2.5), namely

$$F(\rho) = \frac{\rho^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho - 1)}{\gamma(\gamma - 1)}.$$
(3.0.4)

The integrability of (3.0.4) encodes the far-field condition for finite energy solutions. Our main result in this Chapter states the global existence of finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) with $\kappa \geq 0$ and far-field (3.0.2). We do not require any smallness or further regularity of the initial data, in particular vacuum regions are considered.

The quantum Navier-Stokes equations arise as model for a dissipative quantum fluid [111]. In this regard, it represents an approach that aims to include diffusive phenomena in the standard model for quantum fluids given by the QHD system (2.0.1) discussed in Chapter 2. It has been derived from a Chapman-Enskog expansion for the Wigner equation with a BGK term [46, 112], see also [111] where several dissipative quantum fluid models are derived by means of a moment closure of (quantum) kinetic equations with appropriate choices of the collision term. System (2.0.1) can also be recovered as inviscid limit of the QNS system (3.0.1) in the framework of solutions studied in [40]. From this perspective, the global existence of finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) with non-trivial far-field behavior can be seen as analogue result to the one for the inviscid counter-part (2.0.1). While the mathematical analysis of the inviscid system (2.0.1) exploits the analogy with a nonlinear Schrödinger equation, the analysis of the Cauchy Problem for (3.0.1) shares similarities with techniques developed in the context of capillary fluids. As already mentioned in the Introduction, system (3.0.1)belongs to the class of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg systems. In the general framework, the capillary tensor on the right-hand side of (3.0.1) is referred to as Korteweg tensor [121]. The family of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg equations has rigorously been derived in [75] and more recently in [101]. In the absence of capillary effects, namely $\kappa = 0$, system (3.0.1) reduces to the compressible Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosity tensor [38]. Global existence of weak solutions on \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2,3 has been obtained in [170] and [129] with vanishing boundary conditions at infinity, i.e. for integrable densities. Concerning the Quantum-Navier Stokes system, the existence of finite energy weak solutions on the torus \mathbf{T}^d , for d = 2.3has been introduced in [13] and [125], see also references therein for previous results. The former approach relies on a suitable construction of approximate solutions which retains the same a priori bounds, while the latter exploits a truncated formulation of the problem and suitable compactness properties. Global existence of weak solutions to the isothermal quantum Navier-Stokes equations, i.e. $\gamma = 1$, has been introduced in [50]. The result of [50] is proven on \mathbf{R}^d for d = 2,3 with vanishing boundary conditions at infinity, the proof makes use on an invading domain approach. In general, the mathematical analysis of fluids with density dependent viscosity, even without capillary tensor, requires new tools compared to the case of constant viscosity (Lions [134, 135]-Feireisl theory [77]). This is due to a loss of control on uniform bounds on the velocity field in possible vacuum regions where the density vanishes. A crucial contribution in this regard has been made in [38] where the authors observe that

provided a particular structure of the equations additional information and uniform bounds can be obtained by means of the so called Bresch-Desjardins entropy [38]. We refer the reader also to the review paper [161] and the recent paper [42] considering the problem in a general framework regarding compressible Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosity. When considered with capillary effects, the nonlinear structure of the dispersive tensor depending on the density and its derivatives entails additional mathematical difficulties, see for instance [38, 39, 41].

Turning to system, (3.0.1), the choice of the far-field behavior (3.0.2) is motivated by its applications to the study of singular limits such as the low Mach number limit exposed in Chapter 4. We remark that our result of global existence of finite energy weak solutions also applies to the compressible Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosity tensor, namely for $\kappa = 0$. To the best of our knowledge, the Cauchy Problem for (3.0.1) with $\kappa \geq 0$ and far-field behavior (3.0.2) has not been previously investigated in literature in the class of weak solutions for d = 2, 3. Local strong solutions have been constructed in [94, 130, 131] for (3.0.1) with $\nu > 0$ and $\kappa = 0$. For $d = 1, \nu > 0$ and $\kappa = 0$, existence and uniqueness of global strong solutions with (3.0.2) has been shown in [144, 100].

We comment on the suitable mathematical framework for the analysis of weak solutions to (3.0.1). For finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) without further regularity assumptions neither u, ∇u nor $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}}$ are defined almost everywhere due to the possible presence of vacuum - as it occurs for the analysis of the QHD system (2.0.1) studied in Chapter 2. For the inviscid system, we introduce the hydrodynamic variables by means of a polar factorization that is not limited by the appearance of vacuum, see Section 2.2. Due the these reasons, it turns out that also the Cauchy problem for (3.0.1) is best studied in terms of the more suitable variables $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$. The same difficulty arises in the context of barotropic Navier-Stokes equations with density dependent viscosity, see for instance [129]. We define the tensor $\mathbf{T}_{\nu} \in L^2(\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ satisfying

$$\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{\rho}\mathbf{T}_{\nu} = \nu\nabla(\rho u) - 2\nu\nabla\sqrt{\rho}\otimes\Lambda \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{D}'((0,T)\times\mathbf{R}^d)).$$
 (3.0.5)

By denoting $\mathbf{S}_{\nu} = \mathbf{T}_{\nu}^{sym}$, we see that for smooth solutions we have $\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{\rho}\mathbf{S}_{\nu} = \nu\rho\mathbf{D}u$. Analogously, for the capillary tensor we use the identity (2.0.3) as well as the relation

$$\kappa \sqrt{\rho} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} = \kappa^2 \sqrt{\rho} \left(\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho} - 4(\nabla \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \rho^{\frac{1}{4}}) \right), \qquad (3.0.6)$$

that is well-defined in view of the regularity inferred by the *a priori*, i.e. energy and Bresch-Desjardins entropy estimates. It is in general not possible to infer the usual energy inequality which reads

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho \, |\mathbf{D}u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le E(0).$$
 (3.0.7)

The energy inequality (3.0.7) is replaced by its weaker formulation below (3.1.1). For the sake of consistency with the literature regarding (quantum) Navier-Stokes equations, we do not use the hydrodynamic variable Λ in this chapter. However, we stress that whenever the symbol $\sqrt{\rho u}$ appears it should be read as Λ . Analogously, whenever the symbol $\rho \mathbf{D} u$ appears it has to be intended as in (3.0.5).

Our method consists in an invading-domains approach relying on the existence of weak solutions [125] that in addition satisfy a truncated formulation of the momentum equation. More precisely, given initial data of finite energy we construct periodic initial data on a sequence of invading domains. On each of them, [125] provides a periodic truncated weak solution. Next, we show that these periodic solutions provide a sequence of approximate solutions on the whole space. In the limit, we recover a truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) on the whole space that can be shown to be a finite energy weak solution.

This chapter is structured as follows. In Section 3.1, we give the precise definition of finite energy weak solution and state our main results. Section 3.2 is dedicated to the construction of suitable periodic initial data on growing tori \mathbf{T}_n^d for which we postulate the existence of finite energy weak solutions based on [125]. In particular, the periodic weak solutions satisfy a truncated formulation of the momentum equation that will be crucial for the sequel. In section 3.3, we extend the sequence of truncated periodic solutions on invading domains to approximate truncated weak solutions on the whole space with far-field behavior (3.0.2). Further, we obtain an truncated finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) in the limit. Finally, we present the proof of the main Theorem in Section 3.4, namely we show that the obtained truncated weak solutions are finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1). Section 3.5 discusses (3.1.1) and (3.1.2). More precisely, we elucidate the reason for the constant *C* appearing on the right-hand side of both inequalities. Further, we show that there exists - at least for d = 3- finite energy weak solutions that satisfy (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) with C = 1. This information is essential in the context of the low Mach number limit, especially for Proposition 4.1.4.

3.1 Definition and main results

As already mentioned, the strategy for proving the existence Theorem 3.1.2 goes through constructing suitable solutions on domains $\mathbf{T}_n^d = \mathbf{R}^d/n\mathbf{Z}^d$ with $n \in \mathbf{N}$. By performing the limit as $n \to \infty$ and by using suitable truncations, we will then define weak solutions on the whole space \mathbf{R}^d . Hence, for the sake of generality we give the Definition of finite energy weak solutions for an arbitrary domain Ω , which will be $\Omega = \mathbf{R}^d, \mathbf{T}^d$ or $\Omega = \mathbf{T}_n^d$ respectively according to our purposes.

Definition 3.1.1. A pair (ρ, u) with $\rho \ge 0$ is said to be a finite energy weak solution of the Cauchy Problem (3.0.1) posed on $[0, T) \times \Omega$ complemented with initial data (ρ_0, u_0) if

(i) integrability conditions

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{\rho} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \sqrt{\rho} u \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \qquad \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \\ &\nabla \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \mathbf{T}_{\nu} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \kappa \nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \\ &\sqrt{\kappa} \nabla \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} \in L^4_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega) \end{split}$$

(ii) continuity equation

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho_0 \phi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \rho \phi_t + \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\rho} u \nabla \phi = 0,$$

for any $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \Omega)$.

(iii) momentum equation

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho_0 u_0 \psi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\rho} u \psi_t + (\sqrt{\rho} u \otimes \sqrt{\rho} u) \nabla \psi + \rho^{\gamma} \operatorname{div} \psi$$
$$- 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} (\sqrt{\rho} u \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho}) \nabla \psi - 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \otimes \sqrt{\rho} u) \nabla \psi$$
$$+ \nu \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\rho} u \Delta \psi + \nu \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\rho} u \nabla \operatorname{div} \psi$$
$$- 4\kappa^2 \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho}) \nabla \psi + 2\kappa^2 \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \sqrt{\rho} \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \nabla \operatorname{div} \psi = 0,$$

for any $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbf{R}^d)$.

(iv) there exists a tensor $\mathbf{T}_{\nu} \in L^2((0,T) \times \Omega)$ satisfying identity (3.0.5) in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \Omega)$ such that the following energy inequality holds for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$,

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_\Omega |\mathbf{S}_\nu|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le CE(0), \qquad (3.1.1)$$

where \mathbf{S}_{ν} is the symmetric part of \mathbf{T}_{ν} and E as defined in (3.0.3).

(v) Let

$$B(t) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} |\sqrt{\rho}u|^2 + (2\kappa^2 + 4\nu^2) |\nabla\sqrt{\rho}|^2 + F(\rho) dx.$$

Then for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$,

$$B(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{A}_{\nu}|^{2} dx ds + \nu \kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla^{2} \sqrt{\rho} \right|^{2} + |\nabla \rho^{\frac{1}{4}}|^{4} dx ds + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \right|^{2} dx ds$$

$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} |\sqrt{\rho_{0}} u_{0}|^{2} + (2\kappa^{2} + 4\nu) |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} + F(\rho_{0}) dx,$$

(3.1.2)

where $\mathbf{A}_{\nu} = \mathbf{T}_{\nu}^{asym}$, with \mathbf{T}_{ν} defined as in the previous point.

Notice that the far-field behavior is encoded in the definition of the energy functional (3.0.3). Our main results states the existence of global finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) with non-vanishing density at infinity.

Theorem 3.1.2. Let d = 2, 3 and $\gamma > 1$. Given initial data (ρ_0, u_0) of finite energy, there exists a global finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) on \mathbf{R}^d satisfying the far-field condition (3.0.2).

When $\kappa = 0$, system (3.0.1) reduces to the compressible Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosity for which we have the following existence result

Corollary 3.1.3. Let d = 2, 3 and $\kappa = 0, \gamma > 1$. Given initial data (ρ_0, u_0) of finite energy and BD entropy, there exists a global finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) on \mathbf{R}^d satisfying the far field condition (3.0.2).

The statement of Theorem 3.1.2 remains true if we consider system (3.0.1) on \mathbf{R}^d with trivial far-field behavior, i.e.

$$\rho \to 0$$
, as $|x| \to \infty$.

In this case, the internal energy does not need to be renormalized and is given by

$$F(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \rho^{\gamma}.$$
(3.1.3)

The following is the analogue result on the whole space to [13, 125] for $\kappa > 0$ and [170] for $\kappa = 0$ respectively.

Theorem 3.1.4. Let d = 2, 3 and $\nu > 0, \kappa \ge 0$ and $\gamma > 1$. Given initial data (ρ_0, u_0) of finite energy and BD entropy, there exists a global finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) on \mathbf{R}^d with trivial far-field behavior.

The proof can adapted with minor modifications, we therefore only provide a sketch of the proof. Gaining integrability of the density removes technical difficulties and simplifies both the construction of initial data and the extensions of periodic solutions to functions on the whole space.

3.1.1 Truncation functions

Next, we introduce the cut-off functions by means of which we shall construct the aforementioned solutions to the truncated formulation of (3.0.1). Here, we work with a specific choice for the truncation function β that is suitable for our purpose.

Definition 3.1.5. Let $\overline{\beta} : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$ be an even positive compactly supported smooth function such that $\overline{\beta}(z) = 1$ for $z \in [-1, 1]$ and $supp(\overline{\beta}) \subset (-2, 2)$ and $0 \leq \overline{\beta} \leq 1$. Further, we define $\tilde{\beta} : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$ as

$$\tilde{\beta}(z) = \int_0^z \overline{\beta}(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

For any $\delta > 0$, we define $\overline{\beta}_{\delta}(z) := \overline{\beta}(\delta z)$ and $\tilde{\beta}_{\delta}(z) := \frac{1}{\delta}\tilde{\beta}(\delta z)$. Given $y \in \mathbf{R}^3$, we denote

$$\hat{\beta}_{\delta}(z) := \prod_{l=1}^{3} \overline{\beta}_{\delta}(y_l),$$

further

$$\beta_{\delta}^{1}(y) = \int_{0}^{y_{1}} \hat{\beta}_{\delta}(y_{1}', y_{2}, y_{3}) \mathrm{d}y_{1}' = \tilde{\beta}_{\delta}(y_{1})\overline{\beta}_{\delta}(y_{2})\overline{\beta}_{\delta}(y_{3}).$$

The functions $\beta_{\delta}^2(y), \beta_{\delta}^3(y)$ are defined analogously.

We drop the indices of β_{δ}^{l} whenever this does not cause ambiguity in order to simplify notations. We summarize some properties of the truncation functions introduced in Definition 3.1.5.

Lemma 3.1.6. Let $\delta > 0$, β_{δ}^{l} as in Definition 3.1.5 and $M := \|\beta\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$. Then, there exists C = C(M) > 0 such that the following bounds hold.

1. for $1 \le l \le d$,

$$\|\beta_{\delta}^{l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C}{\delta}, \qquad \|\nabla\beta_{\delta}^{l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C, \qquad \|\nabla^{2}\beta_{\delta}^{l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C\delta,$$

2. As δ goes to 0, for every $y \in \mathbf{R}^d$,

$$\beta^l_{\delta}(y) \to y_l, \qquad \nabla \beta^l_{\delta}(y) \to e_l,$$

where $e_l \in \mathbf{R}^d$ such that $e_l^i = 1$ for i = l and $e_l^i = 0$ otherwise.

3.2 Solutions on periodic domains

3.2.1 Construction of periodic initial data

Given initial data of finite energy $(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \sqrt{\rho_0}u_0)$ for the problem (3.0.1) posed on \mathbf{R}^d with far-field boundary conditions (3.0.2), we construct a sequence of initial data to the periodic problem on \mathbf{T}_n^d , where we define the scaled torus as

$$\mathbf{T}_n^d = \mathbf{R}^d / n \mathbf{Z}^d.$$

To that end, we consider a smooth cut-off function $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with $supp(\chi) \subset [-1, 1]^d$ such that

$$\mathbf{1}_{[-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}]^d} \le \chi \le \mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]^d},$$

and the rescaling $\chi_n(x) = \chi(\frac{x}{n})$. We observe that $\|\nabla \chi_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)} = O(\frac{1}{n})$. We define the sequence of initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_n^0}, \sqrt{\rho_n^0}u_n^0)$ on \mathbf{T}_n^d as follows

$$\sqrt{\rho_n^0} = \sqrt{\rho^0} \chi_n + (1 - \chi_n), \qquad \sqrt{\rho_n^0} u_n^0 = \sqrt{\rho^0} u^0 \mathbf{1}_{(-n,n)^d}.$$
(3.2.1)

We observe that due to the choice of the cut-off functions, the sequence of initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_{0,n}}, \Lambda_{0,n})$ can be extended to periodic functions and may therefore be considered as functions defined on \mathbf{T}_n^d . A similar construction has recently been used in [49] for the existence of weak solutions to isothermal fluids. In the present setting, we additionally need to take into account the non-vanishing conditions at infinity leading to a lack of integrability. We collect some of its properties. For that purpose, we recall the uniform estimates satisfied by the initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \Lambda_0)$ on \mathbf{R}^d . More details are provided in Section 4.2. For a generic pair $(\sqrt{\rho}, \sqrt{\rho u})$ of finite energy we have the following bounds.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let $(\sqrt{\rho}, \sqrt{\rho}u)$ be such that $E(\sqrt{\rho}, \sqrt{\rho}u) < +\infty$. Then

$$\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d), \quad \rho - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d) \cap L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \quad \sqrt{\rho}u \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

Proof. The bound $E(\sqrt{\rho}, \sqrt{\rho}u) < +\infty$ implies $\nabla\sqrt{\rho} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. By a convexity argument, see Section 4.2 or also [136], the bound $F(\rho) \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ yields the estimate in the Orlicz space $\rho - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, i.e. there exists C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\rho - 1|^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}\}} + |\rho - 1|^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le C.$$

If $\gamma \geq 2$, this implies $\rho - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. The inequality $|\sqrt{\rho} - 1| \leq |\rho - 1|$ yields $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. If $\gamma < 2$, we notice that the set $\{|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}$ is of finite Lebesgue measure and $\nabla\sqrt{\rho} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ implies $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in L_{loc}^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Hence, there exists $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\sqrt{\rho} - 1|^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le C_1$$

therefore $\sqrt{\rho} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$. For real $s \ge 0$ such that $|s^2 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}$, there exists c > 0 such that $(s^2 - 1)^2 \le c(s - 1)^4$ implying that there exists $C_2 > 0$, such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\rho - 1|^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\sqrt{\rho} - 1|^4 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho - 1| > \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le C_2.$$

Hence, we conclude $\rho - 1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. The remaining bounds are immediate consequences of the finite energy assumption.

Next, we infer uniform bounds (in n) for the sequence of periodic initial data defined in (3.2.1).

Lemma 3.2.2. Given $(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \sqrt{\rho_0}u_0)$ such that $E_{\mathbf{R}^d}(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \sqrt{\rho_0}u_0) < \infty$, the sequence of initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n}u_0^n)$ defined by (3.2.1) satisfies the following. For every *n* there exists $C_n > 0$ such that denoting $\rho_{0,n} = (\sqrt{\rho_0^n})^2$, one has

$$\int_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} \left| \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}^{n}} \right|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left| \sqrt{\rho_{0}^{n}} u_{0}^{n} \right|^{2} + \frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \rho_{0}^{n,\gamma} \mathrm{d}x \le Cn^{d}, \tag{3.2.2}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \frac{1}{2} \left| \sqrt{\rho_0^n} - 1 \right|^2 = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1|^2 \mathrm{d}x, \tag{3.2.3}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \frac{1}{2} \left| \nabla \sqrt{\rho_0^n} \right|^2 = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_0}|^2 \mathrm{d}x, \tag{3.2.4}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} F(\rho_0^n) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} F(\rho_0) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (3.2.5)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho_n^0 \left| u_n^0 \right|^2 = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho^0 |u^0|^2 \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (3.2.6)$$

In particular, there exists C > 0 such that $E_{T_n^d}(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n}u_0^n) \leq C$ uniformly in n, with E as defined in (3.0.3) and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} E_{T_n^d} \left(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n} u_0^n \right) = E(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \sqrt{\rho_0} u_0).$$

We emphasize that the constant C_n on the right-hand side of (3.2.2) is not uniform in n in view of the far-field condition (3.0.2).

Proof. Given $(\sqrt{\rho^0}, \sqrt{\rho^0}u^0)$ of finite energy let the sequence $(\sqrt{\rho_n^0}, \sqrt{\rho_n^0}u_0^n)$ be defined by (3.2.1). Inequality (3.2.2) will then follow from the convergences (3.2.4), (3.2.5) and (3.2.6). Since (3.2.3) and (3.2.4) imply that $\|\sqrt{\rho_0^n} - 1\|_{H^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d)} \leq C$ uniformly in n, we conclude that $\sqrt{\rho_{0,n}} \in H^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d)$ for all $n \in \mathbf{N}$. From (3.2.5), one has that $\rho_0^n - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{T}_n^d)$, thus also $\rho_{0,n}^{\gamma} \in L^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d)$ by checking that

$$\int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} (\rho_0^n)^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho_0^n - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} 1 + L_{\gamma} |\rho - 1| \mathbf{1}_{\{|\rho_0^n - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}\}} \mathrm{d}x \le C_{n,d},$$

where $C_{n,d}$ is proportional to the volume of \mathbf{T}_n^d . Thus, it only remains to prove (3.2.3) - (3.2.6). Let us show (3.2.3). We notice that

$$\sqrt{\rho_0^n} - 1 = (\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1)\chi_n,$$

and thus

$$|\sqrt{\rho_0^n} - 1| \le |\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1|.$$

We conclude by means of the dominated convergence Theorem that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \left| \sqrt{\rho_0^n} - 1 \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1|^2 \mathrm{d}x$$

Similarly in order to derive (3.2.4), we denote $\omega_n = supp(\nabla \chi_n)$ and observe that ω_n has measure of order $O(n^d)$. We have that for all $n \in \mathbf{N}$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}^{n}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} \left| (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}) \chi_{n} + (\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1) \nabla \chi_{n} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \chi_{n}^{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} + 2\chi_{n} (\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}} \cdot \nabla \chi_{n} + (\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1)^{2} |\nabla \chi_{n}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x + \left(\|\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{n})} \|\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1\|_{L^{6}(\omega_{n})} \|\chi_{n} \nabla \chi_{n}\|_{L^{3}(\omega_{n})} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \chi_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\omega_{n})}^{2} \|\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{n})}^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x + n^{\frac{d-3}{3}} \|\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{n})} \|\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1\|_{L^{6}(\omega_{n})} + \frac{1}{2} n^{-2} \|\sqrt{\rho_{0}} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{n})}^{2} \end{split}$$

We observe that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(n^{\frac{d-3}{3}} \| \nabla \sqrt{\rho_0} \|_{L^2(\omega_n)} \| \sqrt{\rho_0} - 1 \|_{L^6(\omega_n)} \right) = 0$$

Indeed, one has that $\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and therefore

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1\|_{L^p(\omega_n)} = 0,$$

for all $2 \le p \le p^*$ as consequence of the decay of the tails of L^p -functions. It is immediate to see,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{2} n^{-2} \| \sqrt{\rho_0} - 1 \|_{L^2(\omega_n)}^2 \right) = 0$$

The dominated convergence Theorem yields that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_0^n}|^2 \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_0}|^2 \mathrm{d}x$$

For (3.2.5), we observe that $\sqrt{\rho_{0,n}}$ converges pointwise to $\sqrt{\rho_0}$ a.e. on \mathbf{R}^d . Since, $F(\cdot)$ is convex on $\mathbf{R}_{\geq 0}$, it follows that $F(\rho_0^n)$ converges pointwise to $F(\rho_0)$ a. e. on \mathbf{R}^d . We aim to show the desired inequality and the convergence by introducing G defined as

$$G(x) = \begin{cases} C & \text{if } x \in \{\sqrt{\rho_0} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}, \\ C|\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1|^2 & \text{if } x \in \{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \le \sqrt{\rho_0} \le 1\}, \\ F(\rho_0) & \text{if } x \in \{\sqrt{\rho_0} \ge 1\}, \end{cases}$$

We notice that $G : \mathbf{R}_{\geq 0} \to \mathbf{R}_{\geq 0}$ and $G \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Splitting the integral, we have that the contribution coming from the domain $\{\sqrt{\rho_0} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}$ is finite since the volume of the set is bounded. The second contribution is bounded as $\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and the last is bounded as $F(\rho_0) \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

We claim that $F(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}^2)(x) \leq G(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbf{T}_n^d$ and $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Indeed, if $x \in \{\sqrt{\rho_0} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}$, then $x \in \{0 \leq \sqrt{\rho_0^n} \leq 1\}$ for all $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Thus, on the given set $F(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}^2) \leq F(0) = \gamma - 1$. Next, if $x \in \{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \leq \sqrt{\rho_0} \leq 1\}$ then $x \in \{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \leq \sqrt{\rho_0^n} \leq 1\}$ for all $n \in \mathbf{N}$. Thus, on the prescribed domain

$$F(\sqrt{\rho_n}^2) \le C \left| \sqrt{\rho_0^n}^2 - 1 \right|^2 = \left| (\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1)^2 \chi_n^2 + 2(\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1)\chi_n \right|^2 \le C |\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1|^2,$$

as $|\sqrt{\rho_0} - 1| \le 1$. If $x \in \{\sqrt{\rho_0} \ge 1\}$, then in particular $x \in \{\sqrt{\rho_0^n} \ge 1\}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus, the concatenation $F((\sqrt{\rho_0^n})^2)$ is a convex function on the set $\{\sqrt{\rho_0} \ge 1\}$ and

$$F(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}^2) \le \chi_n F(\sqrt{\rho_0}^2) + (1 - \chi_n) F(1) \le F(\rho_0).$$

We may therefore apply the dominated convergence Theorem to obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} F(\rho_0^n) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} F(\rho_0) \mathrm{d}x.$$

The convergence (3.2.6) is immediate.

3.2.2 Existence of solutions on periodic domains

In this section, we discuss the existence of a sequence of weak solutions to the system (3.0.1) on \mathbf{T}_n^d with initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n} u_0^n)$ provided by Lemma 3.2.2. For that purpose, we rely
on the result in [125], where the authors show global existence of weak solutions to (3.0.1)posed on $[0,T) \times \mathbf{T}_n^d$ for $\gamma > 1$, $\nu > 0$ and $\kappa \ge 0$ complemented with initial data of finite energy. In a first step, the authors construct weak solutions to a truncated formulation of the momentum equation; these are referred to as renormalized solutions and are obtained as limit of a sequence of weak solutions to the truncated formulation of the system augmented by drag forces. The use of a truncated solutions of the momentum equation is crucial for the construction considering that as a sequence of truncated solutions enjoys suitable compactness properties. These compactness properties will be pivotal to our approach for the proof of Theorem 3.1.2. The second step consists in showing that solutions to the truncated formulation also are also weak solutions to (3.0.1). Following a different approach, namely constructing smooth approximate weak solutions to (3.0.1), the existence of weak solutions to (3.0.1) posed on \mathbf{T}_n^d satisfying properties (i)-(iii) has also been obtained in [13] provided that $\kappa < \nu$ and $\gamma > 1$ for d = 2 and $\kappa^2 < \nu < \frac{9}{8}\kappa^2$ as well as $1 < \gamma < 3$ for d = 3. It can rigorously be shown that the solutions constructed in [13] actually are finite energy weak solutions to (3.0.1) on \mathbf{T}_n^d in the sense of Definition 3.1.1. In particular, the solutions provided in [13] satisfy (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) with C = 1, see also Section 3.5. Following the arguments in [125] and Section 3.5. it can be checked that the solutions provided in [125] are finite energy weak solution in the sense of Definition 3.1.1, namely also satisfy the inequalities (3.1.1) and (3.1.2). We define

$$\kappa_n = \begin{cases} \kappa_n = \kappa & \text{if } \kappa > 0, \\ \kappa_n = \frac{1}{n} & \text{if } \kappa = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.7)

Next, we give the Definition of finite energy weak solution to the truncated formulation based on the notion of renormalized solution in [125]. The truncation functions are introduced in 3.1.5.

Definition 3.2.3. Let d = 2, 3. Given a domain Ω , a sequence $(\sqrt{\rho_n}, \sqrt{\rho_n}u_n)$ is called approximate truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) on $(0, T) \times \Omega$ with initial data (ρ_0^n, u_0^n) if the following are satisfied.

1. integrability conditions

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{\rho_n} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \sqrt{\rho_n} u_n \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \qquad \nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \\ &\nabla \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \mathbf{T}_{\nu,n} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \quad \kappa_n \nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_n} \in L^2_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega); \\ &\sqrt{\kappa_n} \nabla \rho_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \in L^4_{loc}((0,T) \times \Omega) \end{split}$$

2. (approximate continuity equation) there exists a sequence of distributions $D_n \in \mathcal{D}'([0,T) \times \Omega)$ such that $D_n \to 0$ in \mathcal{D}' as $n \to \infty$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho_0^n \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \rho_n \psi_t + \sqrt{\rho_n} \sqrt{\rho_n} u_n \cdot \nabla \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = \langle D_n, \psi \rangle, \qquad (3.2.8)$$

for any $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \Omega)$.

3. (approximate momentum equation and compatibility conditions) for any truncation function β as in Definition 3.1.5, there exist sequences of measures $\mu_{\beta}^{n}, \overline{\mu}_{\beta}^{n}$ obeying the bound

$$\|\mu_{\beta}^{n}\|_{\mathcal{M}} + \|\overline{\mu}_{\beta}^{n}\|_{\mathcal{M}} \le C \|\beta''\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

uniformly in n and distributions $G_n, K_n, V_n \in \mathcal{D}'([0,T) \times \Omega)$ such that $G_n, K_n, V_n \to 0$ in \mathcal{D}' as $n \to \infty$ and such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho_0^n \beta(u_0^n) \psi(0, x) dx + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \rho_n \beta(u_n) \partial_t \psi + \rho_n \beta(u_n) u_n \cdot \nabla \psi dx dt
- 2 \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \left(\sqrt{\nu_n} \mathbf{S}_{\nu, n} \beta'(u_n) + \kappa_n \sqrt{\rho_n} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa, n} \beta'(u_n) \right) \cdot \nabla \psi + 2\rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \right) \beta'(u_n) \cdot \nabla \psi dx dt
= \left\langle \mu_{\beta}^n + G_n, \psi \right\rangle,$$
(3.2.9)

with $\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}$ being the symmetric part of $\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}$ satisfying the compatibility condition

$$\sqrt{\nu_n}\sqrt{\rho_n}[\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}]_{ik} = \nu\partial_j(\rho\beta_i'(u_n)u_{k,n}) - 2\nu\sqrt{\rho_n}u_{k,n}\beta_i'(u_n)\partial_j\sqrt{\rho_n} + \overline{\mu}_{\beta}^n + V_n$$

in $\mathcal{D}'([0,T) \times \Omega)$ and the capillary tensor $\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}$ satisfying

$$\kappa_n \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} = \kappa_n^2 \left(\sqrt{\rho_n} \left(\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_n} - 4(\nabla \rho_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \rho_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \right) \right) + K_n.$$
(3.2.10)

in $\mathcal{D}'([0,T) \times \Omega)$.

Finally, we say that $(\sqrt{\rho_n}, \sqrt{\rho_n}u_n)$ is a sequence of truncated weak solutions if $D_n = G_n = K_n = V_n = 0$. Further, a truncated weak solution is called finite energy truncated weak solution if in addition (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) are satisfied.

Based on the aforementioned result of [125] and above considerations, we postulate the following existence result.

Theorem 3.2.4. Let $\gamma > 1, \nu > 0$, κ_n as defined in (3.2.7) and $(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n}u_0^n)$ be provided by Lemma 3.2.2. Then there exists a sequence $(\sqrt{\rho_n}, \sqrt{\rho_n}u_n)$ of finite energy truncated weak solutions to (3.0.1) on $(0,T) \times \mathbf{T}_n^d$ with defect measures $R_{\beta}^n, \overline{R}_{\beta}^n$.

Several remarks are in order.

- 1. In (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) the pressure term $\frac{1}{\gamma-1}\rho^{\gamma}$, has been replaced by the internal energy $F(\rho)$. On a bounded domain Ω , one easily checks that $F(\rho_n) \in L^1(\Omega)$ is equivalent to $\rho_n \in L^{\gamma}(\Omega)$.
- 2. The bounds on the measures $R_{\beta}^{n}, \overline{R}_{\beta}^{n}$ are uniform in *n* since only depending on the second derivatives of β being bounded in virtue of Lemma 3.1.6.

3. We comment on the energy and entropy inequalities. The solutions provided by Theorem 3.2.4 satisfy the following bounds uniformly in n. Firstly, since the solutions provided by Theorem 3.2.4 satisfy the energy (3.1.1) and BD entropy inequality (3.1.2) and we infer from Lemma 3.2.2 that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(E_{\mathbf{T}_n^d}(t)(\sqrt{\rho_n}, \sqrt{\rho_n}u_n) + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} |\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \right) \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} E_{\mathbf{T}_n^d}(\sqrt{\rho_0^n}, \sqrt{\rho_0^n}u_0^n) \\
\le C \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2}\rho_0 |u_0|^2 + 2\kappa^2 |\nabla\sqrt{\rho_0}|^2 + F(\rho_0) \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.2.11)

Secondly, from Theorem 3.2.4 and again from Lemma 3.2.2 we conclude that there exists C>0 such that

$$\begin{split} & \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(B_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}}(t) + \int_{0}^{T} \left(\nu |\nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}|^{2} + \nu \kappa_{n}^{2} (|\nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}|^{4} + |\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\rho_{n}}|^{2}) + |\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}|^{2} \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \right) \\ & \leq C \limsup_{n \to \infty} B_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}} (\sqrt{\rho_{0}^{n}}, \sqrt{\rho_{0}^{n}} u_{0}^{n}) \\ & \leq C \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} \rho_{0} |u_{0}|^{2} + (2\kappa^{2} + 4v^{2}) |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} + F(\rho_{0}) \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$
(3.2.12)

3.3 Extension to approximate solutions and convergence

In this section, we show that there exists a finite energy truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) on the whole space with far-field condition (3.0.2). The strategy of our method consists in several steps.

- (i) We extend the sequence of periodic solutions provided by Theorem 3.2.4 to a sequence of functions defined on the whole space.
- (ii) We prove that the extension are approximate truncated solutions to (3.0.1) on \mathbf{R}^d according to Definition 3.2.3. As n goes to ∞ we obtain a finite energy truncated weak solution to (3.0.1).

Given a sequence of approximate truncated solutions on the invading domains \mathbf{T}_n^d provided by Theorem 3.2.4, we define the density and momenta $(\rho_n := (\sqrt{\rho_n})^2, m_n := \sqrt{\rho_n}\sqrt{\rho_n}u_n)$. We extend (ρ_n, m_n) by the stationary solution $(\rho = 1, m = 0)$ on $\mathbf{R}^d \setminus [-n, n]^d$. Let $\eta_n \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ be a smooth cut-off function such that

$$\mathbf{1}_{[-n+\frac{1}{2},n-\frac{1}{2}]^d} \le \eta_n \le \mathbf{1}_{[-n,n]^d},$$

and denote $\mathcal{Q}_n = [-n, n]^d \setminus (-n + \frac{1}{2}, n - \frac{1}{2})^d$ so that $supp(\nabla \eta_n) \subset \mathcal{Q}_n$. We introduce,

$$\widetilde{\rho_n} := \rho_n \eta_n + (1 - \eta_n), \quad \widetilde{m}_n = m_n \eta_n$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}} = \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} \eta_n, \quad \widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}} = \mathbf{T}_{\nu,n} \eta_n.$$
(3.3.1)

Further, we denote

$$\tilde{u}_n = \begin{cases} \frac{\tilde{m}_n(t,x)}{\bar{\rho}_n(t,x)} & \text{if } (t,x) \in \{\tilde{\rho}_n > 0\}, \\ 0 & \text{if } (t,x) \in \{\tilde{\rho}_n = 0\}. \end{cases}$$

Finally, we define

$$\tilde{\rho}_n^0 = (\sqrt{\rho_n^0})^2 \eta_n + (1 - \eta_n), \qquad \tilde{m}_n^0 = m_n^0 \eta_n, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

and

$$\tilde{u}_{n}^{0} = \begin{cases} \frac{\tilde{m}_{n}^{0}(x)}{\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{0}(x)} & \text{if } x \in \{\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{0} > 0\}, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \{\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{0} = 0\}. \end{cases}$$

The main result of this Section is the following.

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $d = 2, 3, \gamma > 1, \nu > 0$ and κ_n as defined in (3.2.7). Then $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{u}_n)$ defined in (3.3.1) is an approximate truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) with initial data $(\tilde{\rho}_n^0, \tilde{u}_n^0)$ given by (3.3.2) and viscosity and capillary tensor $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\nu,n}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}}_{\kappa,n}$ respectively. Further, the measures $\mu_{\beta}^n, \overline{\mu_{\beta}^n}$ satisfy

$$\mu_{\beta}^{n} = R_{\beta}^{n}\eta_{n}, \quad \overline{\mu_{\beta}^{n}} = \overline{R}_{\beta}^{n}\eta_{n},$$

with $R^n_{\beta}, \overline{R}^n_{\beta}$ provided by Theorem 3.2.4.

Moreover, as n goes to infinity $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{u}_n, \widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}})$ converges to a finite energy truncated weak solution (ρ, u) with initial data (ρ^0, u^0) and with viscosity and capillary tensors $(\mathbf{T}_{\nu}, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa})$ weak L^2 -limits of $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}}$ respectively. More precisely, $\tilde{\rho}_n$ converges strongly to ρ in $C(\mathbf{R}_+; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for $1 , the momenta <math>\tilde{m}_n$ converge strongly to m in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ in $1 \leq p < \frac{3}{2}$ and $\tilde{\rho}_n u_n \beta(\tilde{u}_n)$ converges strongly to $\rho u\beta(u)$ in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$.

We notice that the measures are well-defined on $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ taking into account the support properties of η_n . We start by collecting the needed uniform estimates that will follow from (3.2.11) as well as (3.2.12). These will be used to show the first part of Theorem 3.3.1. Subsequently, we provide convergence results for the sequence being needed for the passage to the limit.

Lemma 3.3.2. The extensions introduced in (3.3.1) obey the following uniformly in n,

$$\tilde{\rho}_n - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \quad F(\tilde{\rho}_n) \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)),$$

$$\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} - 1 \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \tilde{m}_n \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+, L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^d) + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)),$$

$$\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \tilde{u}_n \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)).$$
(3.3.3)

Moreover, there exists $\sqrt{\rho}, m, \mathbf{T}_{\nu}, \mathbf{S}_{\nu}, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}$ such that

$$\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} - 1 \rightharpoonup \sqrt{\rho} - 1 \quad in \quad L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \tilde{m_n} \rightharpoonup m \quad in \quad L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^{\frac{3}{2}} + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)), \\
\widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}} \rightharpoonup \mathbf{T}_{\nu} \quad in \quad L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}} \rightharpoonup \mathbf{S}_{\nu} \quad in \quad L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)).$$
(3.3.4)

If $\kappa > 0$, one has additionally that

$$\kappa \nabla^2 \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)), \quad \kappa^{\frac{1}{4}} \nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \in L^4_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^4(\mathbf{R}^d)), \tag{3.3.5}$$

and $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}}, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ such that $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}} \rightharpoonup \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}$ in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Finally, for a.e. $t \in [0,T)$, one has that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\rho}_n |\tilde{u}_n|^2 + 2\kappa_n^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}|^2 + F(\tilde{\rho}_n) \mathrm{d}x + 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \right) \\
\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho_0 |u_0|^2 + 2\kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_0}|^2 \mathrm{d}x,$$
(3.3.6)

and

$$\begin{aligned} &\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} \left| \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \tilde{u}_{n}(t) \right|^{2} + (\kappa^{2} + 2\nu^{2}) |\nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}}(t)|^{2} + F((\tilde{\rho}_{n})^{2})(t) \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ 2\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} |\widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} |\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \nu \kappa \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} |\nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}|^{4} + |\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}}|^{2} \right) \quad (3.3.7) \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{2} \rho_{0} |u_{0}|^{2} + (2\kappa^{2} + 4\nu^{2}) |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{0}}|^{2} + F(\rho_{0}) \mathrm{d}x \right). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We start by showing the bounds (3.3.3). One has

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\tilde{\rho}_n - 1\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|(\rho_n - 1)\eta_n\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x} \le C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|(\rho_n - 1)\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x (\mathbf{T}^d_n)},$$

that is bounded in view of (3.2.11) and (3.2.12). Indeed, proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1, one obtains that the right hand side is bounded by the sum of $F(\rho_n) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d))$ and $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d))$. Those, in their turn, are uniformly bounded in virtue of (3.2.11) and (3.2.12). Next, due to convexity of the renormalized internal energy and F(1) = 0, one has

$$F(\tilde{\rho}_n) \leq \eta_n F(\rho_n),$$

which yields

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F(\tilde{\rho}_n)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+;L^1(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F(\rho_n)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+;L^1(\mathbf{T}_n^d))},$$

being bounded again by (3.2.11). The pointwise inequality

$$|\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} - 1| \le |\tilde{\rho}_n - 1|,$$

yields the bound $\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}-1\in L^\infty({\bf R}_+;L^2({\bf R}^d))$ uniformly. Next,

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &= \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\rho_n \eta_n + (1 - \eta_n)}} \left(\eta_n \nabla \rho_n + (\rho_n - 1) \nabla \eta_n \right) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \\ &\leq C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\|\frac{\sqrt{\eta_n}}{2\sqrt{\rho_n}} \nabla \rho_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} + \|\frac{(\rho_n - 1)}{2\sqrt{(\rho_n - 1)\eta_n + 1}} \nabla \eta_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \right) \\ &\leq C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \sqrt{\rho_n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))}, \end{split}$$

where we used that

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n \to \infty} \| \frac{\rho_n - 1}{\sqrt{(\rho_n - 1)\eta_n + 1}} \nabla \eta_n \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))} \\ &\leq C \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup \left(\left\| (\rho_n - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n > \frac{1}{4}\}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))} + \left\| \frac{(\rho_n - 1)}{\sqrt{1 - \eta_n}} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n < \frac{1}{4}\}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))} \right) \\ &\leq C' \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\left\| (\rho_n - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n > \frac{1}{4}\}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))} + \left\| \frac{(\sqrt{\rho_n} - 1)}{\sqrt{1 - \eta_n}} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n < \frac{1}{4}\}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))} \right) \\ &\leq C' \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\left\| (\rho_n - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n > \frac{1}{4}\}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathcal{Q}_n))} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\| \sqrt{\rho_n} - 1 \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^4(\mathcal{Q}_n)} \left\| \nabla \sqrt{1 - \eta_n} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^4(\mathcal{Q}_n)} \right) \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

following from the integrability properties of $\rho_n - 1$, the L^{∞} -bound and the support properties for the cut-off η_n and its gradient. The bound on the momenta is an immediate consequence of (3.2.11) by observing that $|\tilde{m_n}| \leq |m_n|$ on $[-n, n]^d$ and $\tilde{m_n} = 0$ on $\mathbf{R}^d \setminus [-n, n]^d$. The bound on $\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}_{\nu,n}$ is analogous. Next, we show the bound on $\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}$. If $\gamma \geq 3$, then $f(t) = t^{\frac{\gamma-1}{2}}$ is convex and therefore

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^2_{t,x}} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\gamma (\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n})^{\gamma - 1} \nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}\|_{L^2_{t,x}} \\ &\leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\gamma \left((\eta_n \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma - 1}{2}} + (1 - \eta_n)) \nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \right) \|_{L^2_{t,x}}, \end{split}$$

and proceeding analogously as in the bound for $\nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}$ we conclude by invoking (3.2.12). If $1 < \gamma < 3$, we use that $f(t) = t^{\frac{\gamma-1}{2}}$ is a concave function s.t. f(0) = 0 and therefore sub-additive and proceed as in the previous case. We conclude that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2_x(\mathbf{T}_n^d))}.$$

Finally, we show the bounds (3.3.5),

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{1}{4}}\|_{L^4_{t,x}} \le C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\left\| \frac{\eta_n}{4(\rho_n \eta_n + 1 - \eta_n)^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \rho_n \right\|_{L^4_{t,x}} + \left\| \frac{(\rho_n - 1)}{4(\rho_n \eta_n + 1 - \eta_n)^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^4_{t,x}} \right)$$

The first term is controlled by

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| \frac{\eta_n}{4(\rho_n \eta_n + 1 - \eta_n)^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \rho_n \right\|_{L^4_{t,x}} \le \left\| \eta_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \nabla \rho_n^{\frac{1}{4}} \right\|_{L^4_t L^4(\mathbf{T}_n^d)},$$

that is uniformly bounded from (3.2.12). The second term is estimated as

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| \frac{(\rho_n - 1)}{4(\rho_n \eta_n + 1 - \eta_n)^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \eta_n \right\|_{L^4_{t,x}} \\ &\leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left(\| \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n - 1 < 0\}} \frac{1}{4(1 - \eta_n)^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \eta_n \|_{L^4 L^4(\mathcal{Q}_n)} + \| \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho_n - 1 > 0\}} \frac{(\rho_n - 1)^{\frac{1}{4}}}{4\eta_n^{\frac{3}{4}}} \nabla \eta_n \|_{L^4 L^4(\mathcal{Q}_n)} \right) \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \limsup_{n \to \infty} (\|\rho_n - 1\|_{L^4 L^2(\mathcal{Q}_n)}) \right) = C. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{1}{4}}\|_{L^4(0,T;L^4(\mathbf{R}^d))} \le C \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{1}{4}}\|_{L^4(0,T;L^4(\mathbf{T}_n^d))}.$$

It remains to bound $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}$ in $L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. To that end we compute that

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla^2 \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}} \eta_n \nabla^2 \rho_n - \frac{1}{4} \frac{\eta_n^2}{\tilde{\rho}_n^3} (\nabla \rho_n)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{\rho_n}{\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}} \nabla^2 \eta_n - \frac{1}{4} \frac{(\rho_n - 1)^2}{\tilde{\rho}_n^3} (\nabla \eta)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}} \nabla \eta_n \nabla \rho_n - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\eta_n (\rho_n - 1)}{\tilde{\rho}_n^3} \nabla \eta_n \nabla \rho_n \end{aligned}$$

Proceeding analogously as for the previous bound, the L^2L^2 -norm of the RHS of the first line is bounded by $\|\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_n}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{T}_n^d))}$ that again is uniformly bounded in view of (3.2.11). The other terms can be controlled by exploiting the properties of η_n and (3.2.11) and (3.2.12) holding uniformly in n. Finally, we observe that since

$$\left|\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}\tilde{u}_n\right| = \left|\frac{m_n\eta_n}{\sqrt{\rho_n\eta_n + (1-\eta_n)}}\right| \le \sqrt{\eta_n} \left|\frac{m_n}{\sqrt{\rho_n}}\right|$$

one has

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\rho}_n |\tilde{u}_n|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbf{T}_n^d} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\rho_n} |u_n|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x$$

Therefore, combing the previous inequalities with (3.2.11) and (3.2.12) we conclude that inequalities (3.3.6) and (3.3.7) are satisfied for a.e. $t \in [0, T)$. Hence, the uniform bounds (3.3.3) follow.

The uniform bounds lead to the following convergence results.

Lemma 3.3.3. The following convergences hold up to subsequences.

- 1. $\tilde{\rho}_n \to \rho$ strongly in $C(\mathbf{R}_+; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for 1 .
- 2. $\tilde{m_n} \to m$ strongly in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ in $1 \le p < \frac{3}{2}$.

3.
$$\nabla \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \rightharpoonup \nabla \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}$$
 weakly in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$.

If $\kappa > 0$, then

1.
$$\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \to \sqrt{\rho} \text{ strongly in } L^2_{loc}(0,T;H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)),$$

2. $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \rightharpoonup \nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho} \text{ weakly in } L^2_{loc}(0,T;L^2_{loc}\mathbf{R}^d)).$

Proof. 1. One has that uniformly in n,

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_{t}\tilde{\rho}_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};W_{loc}^{-1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} &= \|\eta_{n}\partial_{t}\rho_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};W_{loc}^{-1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \\ &\leq \|m_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};L_{loc}^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}))}, \end{split}$$

being bounded in virtue of (3.2.11). On the other hand, $\tilde{\rho}_n \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^{\gamma}_{loc} \cap L^3_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and $\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) + L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and hence $\tilde{\rho}_n \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; W^{1,\frac{3}{2}}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Thus, we conclude from the Aubin-Lions Lemma that $\tilde{\rho}_n - 1$ is compact in $C(\mathbf{R}_+; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for any $1 \leq p < \sup\{3, \gamma\}$.

- 2. Since $\partial_t \tilde{m}_n = \eta_n \partial_t m_n$, from the second equation of (3.0.1) we infer that $\partial_t(\rho_n u_n)$ is uniformly bounded in $L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; H_{loc}^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for *s* large enough by applying the uniform bounds of (3.2.11) and (3.2.12). From (3.3.3), we have that $\tilde{m}_n \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^{\frac{3}{2}} + L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $\nabla \tilde{m}_n = \eta_n \nabla m_n + m_n \nabla \eta_n$ is bounded in $L^2(0,T; L_{loc}^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$, thus $\tilde{m}_n \in L^2(0,T; W_{loc}^{1,1}(\mathbf{R}^d))$. The Aubin-Lions lemma implies that \tilde{m}_n is compact in $L^2(0,T; L_{loc}^p(\mathbf{R}^d))$ for $1 \leq p < \frac{3}{2}$.
- 3. The uniform bound $\nabla \tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ implies that up to passing to subsequences the sequence converges weakly with the weak limit being identified by $\nabla \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}$ by means of point (1).

If $\kappa > 0$, we have $\nabla \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ additionally to $\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Hence, $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}$ converges weakly to $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho}$ in $L^2_{loc}(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ up to subsequences. Further, by combining the strong convergence of $\tilde{\rho}_n$ and the bounds on the second order derivatives of $\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}$ we obtain that

$$\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \to \sqrt{\rho}$$
 in $L^2_{loc}(0,T; H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)).$

Lemma 3.3.4. Let $f \in C \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d; \mathbf{R})$ and let $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{u}_n)$ be as defined in (3.3.1) and let u be defined as

$$u = \begin{cases} \frac{m(t,x)}{\rho(t,x)} & (t,x) \in \{\rho > 0\}, \\ 0 & (t,x) \in \{\rho = 0\}. \end{cases}$$
(3.3.8)

Then,

1. for any
$$0 < \alpha < \frac{5\gamma}{3}$$
, one has $\tilde{\rho}_n^{\alpha} f(\tilde{u}_n) \to \rho^{\alpha} f(u)$ in $L^p((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ with $1 \le p < \frac{5\gamma}{3\alpha}$,

2.
$$\tilde{\rho}_n u_n f(\tilde{u}_n) \to \rho u f(u)$$
 strongly in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$,

Proof. We recall that (1) and (2) of Lemma 3.3.3 imply that $\tilde{\rho}_n$ converges to ρ a.e. in $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ and \tilde{m}_n converges to m a.e. in $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$. The Fatou Lemma implies that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{R}_{+}} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{\tilde{m_{n}}^{2}}{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}_{+}} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \frac{\tilde{m_{n}}^{2}}{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}_{+}} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \eta_{n} |\sqrt{\rho_{n}} u_{n}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}_{+}} \int_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{d}} |\sqrt{\rho_{n}} u_{n}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t < +\infty, \end{split}$$

due to inequality (3.2.11). Hence m = 0 on the null set of ρ and by consequence $\sqrt{\rho}u \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Moreover, since $\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n}\tilde{u}_n$ is uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ it converges weakly-* to some limit function $\Lambda \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. By uniqueness of weak-limits and the a.e. convergence of $\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{m}_n$ we recover, $m = \rho u = \sqrt{\rho}\Lambda$. We show (1). On $\{\rho > 0\}$, we have that

$$\tilde{\rho}_n^{\alpha} f(\tilde{u}_n) \to \rho^{\alpha} f(u), \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad \{\rho > 0\}.$$

As by hypothesis $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d; \mathbf{R})$ and $\alpha > 0$ we have that

$$|\tilde{\rho}_n^{\alpha}f(u_n)| \leq |\tilde{\rho}_n|^{\alpha} \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \to 0 \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad \{\rho=0\}$$

It follows, that $\tilde{\rho}_n^{\alpha} f(\tilde{u}_n)$ converges to $\rho^{\alpha} f(u)$ a.e. in $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$. From (3.3.3), we have that $\tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)) \cap L^2(0,T; L^6_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ uniformly. By interpolation $\tilde{\rho}_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \in L^{\frac{10}{3}}(0,T; L^{\frac{10}{3}}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Together with Vitali's convergence theorm, this yields strong convergence of $\tilde{\rho}_n^{\alpha} f(\tilde{u}_n)$ in $L^p_{loc}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ for $0 < \alpha < \frac{5\gamma}{3}$ and $1 \le p < \frac{5\gamma}{3\alpha}$.

Next, we show (2). We use again that $\tilde{\rho}_n$ and \tilde{m}_n converge a.e. in $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d$ and conclude that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\rho}_n \tilde{u}_n f(\tilde{u}_n) &\to m f(u) \qquad \text{a.e. in} \quad \{\rho > 0\}, \\ |\tilde{\rho}_n \tilde{u}_n f(\tilde{u}_n)| &\leq |\tilde{m}_n| \, \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \to 0 \qquad \text{a.e. in} \quad \{\rho = 0\} \end{split}$$

Vitali's convergence theorem together with the uniform bounds from Lemma 3.3.2 yield the strong convergence in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$.

We are now in position to proof Theorem 3.3.1.

Proof. Let $(\rho_n^0, \tilde{m}_n^0)$ and \tilde{u}_n^0 be defined by (3.3.2) and $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{m}_n)$ be defined by (3.3.1). The required uniform bounds are consequence of (3.3.3) and (3.3.5). We compute

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_{0,n}^{\tilde{n}} \psi(0,x) \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \tilde{\rho}_n \psi_t + \tilde{m}_n \cdot \nabla \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_0^n \eta_n \psi \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^T \int_{R^d} \rho_n \partial_t (\eta_n \psi) + m_n \cdot \nabla (\eta_n \psi) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (1 - \eta_n) \psi(0,x) \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \partial_t \left((1 - \eta_n) \psi \right) - m_n \psi \cdot \nabla \eta_n \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} m_n \psi \cdot \nabla \eta_n \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

where we used that $\eta_n \psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{T}_n^d)$ and thus the second line is the weak formulation of the continuity equation for (ρ_n, m_n) on \mathbf{T}_n^d for an admissible test-function. We denote

$$\langle D_n, \psi \rangle = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} m_n \psi \cdot \nabla \eta_n \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t,$$
 (3.3.9)

and observe that D_n is well-defined and uniformly bounded in $\mathcal{D}'([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ since $m_n \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{T}_n^d))$ and $\eta_n \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Further, as $supp(\nabla \eta_n) \subset \mathcal{Q}_n$, we conclude $supp(D_n) \subset \mathcal{Q}_n$. This allows to infer that D_n converges to 0 in \mathcal{D}' as it is uniformly bounded and for n sufficiently large $supp(\psi) \cap supp(D_n) = \emptyset$. We proceed to verify that $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{u}_n)$ is an approximate solution to the truncated formulation of the momentum equation. One has that,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho_{n}^{0}} \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}^{0}) \psi(0, x) dx = \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n}^{0} \beta(u_{n}^{0})(\eta_{n}\psi_{0}) dx + \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n}^{0} \left(\beta(\tilde{u}_{n}^{0}) - \beta(u_{n}^{0})\right) \eta_{n}\psi(0, x) + (1 - \eta_{n})\psi(0, x) dx.$$
(3.3.10)

Next, one has

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho}_{n} \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) \partial_{t} \psi dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} \beta(u_{n}) \partial_{t}(\eta_{n}\psi) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} \left(\beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \beta(u_{n})\right) \partial_{t}(\eta_{n}\psi) + (1 - \eta_{n})\beta(\tilde{u}_{n})\partial_{t}\psi(0, x) dx dt.$$
(3.3.11)

Similarly,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho}_{n} \tilde{u}_{n} \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) \cdot \nabla \psi dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} u_{n} \beta(u_{n}) \cdot \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n} u_{n} \left(\left(\beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \beta(u_{n}) \right) \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) - \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi \nabla \eta_{n} \right) dx dt.$$
(3.3.12)

The pressure time is dealt with as follows,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \beta'(u_{n}) \eta_{n} \psi dx dt$$
$$- \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} (\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\gamma} - \eta_{n} \rho_{n}^{\gamma}) \nabla (\beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi) dx dt \qquad (3.3.13)$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \rho_{n}^{\gamma} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi \nabla \eta_{n} + \rho_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \beta(u_{n})) \eta_{n} \psi dx dt.$$

The second line of (3.3.13) can be controlled bu using the convexity of $s \mapsto s^{\gamma}$ as follows

$$\left|\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left(\tilde{\rho}_n^{\gamma} - \eta_n \rho_n^{\gamma}\right) \nabla(\beta'(\tilde{u}_n)\psi) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t\right| \le \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left|(1 - \eta_n) \nabla(\beta'(\tilde{u}_n)\psi)\right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

The third line is easily seen to be uniformly bounded and to have support contained in Q_n due to the properties of $\nabla \eta_n$ and $\eta_n(\beta(\tilde{u}_n) - \beta(u_n)) \neq 0$ only on Q_n . For the viscosity tensor we recover,

$$\int_{0}^{T} 2\nu \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \widetilde{\mathbf{S}}_{\nu,n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \nabla \psi dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} 2\nu \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} \beta'(u_{n}) \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) dx dt - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}}^{d} 2\nu \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi \nabla \eta_{n} + 2\nu \left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \beta'(u_{n})\right) \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) dx dt.$$
(3.3.14)

Similarly, for the capillary tensor, one has

$$\int_{0}^{T} 2\kappa^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \widetilde{\mathbf{S}}_{\kappa,n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \nabla \psi dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} 2\kappa^{2} \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \beta'(u_{n}) \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) dx dt - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}}^{d} 2\kappa^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi \nabla \eta_{n} + 2\kappa^{2} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n} - \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \beta'(u_{n}) \right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \nabla(\psi \eta_{n}) dx dt.$$
(3.3.15)

Summing up equations from (3.3.10) to (3.3.15) yields that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho}_{0,n} u_{\tilde{0},n} + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \tilde{\rho}_{n} \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) \partial_{t} \psi + \tilde{\rho}_{n} \tilde{u}_{n} \beta(\tilde{u}_{n}) \cdot \nabla \psi - \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \psi dx dt
- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \left(2\nu \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \widetilde{\mathbf{S}}_{\nu,n} + 2\kappa^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \widetilde{S}_{\kappa,n} \right) \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) \cdot \nabla \psi dx dt = \left\langle R_{\beta}^{n}, \eta_{n} \psi \right\rangle + \left\langle G_{n}, \psi \right\rangle,$$
(3.3.16)

where R^n_{β} is the measure provided by Theorem 3.2.4 and G_n is a distribution such that

$$\begin{split} \langle G_n, \psi \rangle &= \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n^0 \left(\beta(\tilde{u}_n^0) - \beta(u_n^0) \right) \eta_n \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_0^T \left(\beta(\tilde{u}_n) - \beta(u_n) \right) \left(\rho_n \partial_t (\eta_n \psi) + \rho_n u_n \cdot \nabla(\psi \eta_n) \right) - \rho_n u_n \beta(\tilde{u}_n) \psi \nabla \eta_n \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &- \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left(2\nu \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} + 2\kappa^2 \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \right) \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_n) \psi \nabla \eta_n \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ 2 \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n} \beta'(\tilde{u}_n) - \sqrt{\rho_n} \beta'(u_n) \right) \left(\nu \mathbf{S}_{\nu,n} + \kappa \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \right) \nabla(\psi \eta_n) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &- \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left(\tilde{\rho}_n^\gamma - \eta_n \rho_n^\gamma \right) \nabla(\beta'(\tilde{u}_n) \psi) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n^\gamma \beta'(\tilde{u}_n) \psi \nabla \eta_n + \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \nabla \rho_n^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\beta(\tilde{u}_n) - \beta(u_n)) \eta_n \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

$$(3.3.17)$$

From the uniform bounds provided by Lemma 3.3.2, the properties of β and η_n and the fact that $supp(\tilde{u}_n) \subset [-n,n]^d$, we conclude that $supp(G_n) \subset \mathcal{Q}_n$ and thus that there exists a uniform constant C > 0 such that,

$$|\langle G_n, \psi \rangle| \le C \|\psi\|_{C_c^{\infty}}.$$

In particular, arguing as for D_n , we observe that G_n converges to 0 in \mathcal{D}' since for n large enough $supp(G_n) \cap supp(\psi) = \emptyset$. It remains to check that the compatibility conditions for the tensors $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\nu,n}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}}$ are satisfied. Let $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$, then

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}\beta'(\tilde{u}_{n})[\widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}}]_{jk}\psi\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{\rho_{n}}\beta'(u_{n})[\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}]_{jk}(\eta_{n}\psi)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &+\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\sqrt{\nu}\left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}\beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \sqrt{\rho_{n}}\beta'(u_{n})\right)[\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}]_{jk}(\eta_{n}\psi)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &=\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\nu\left(\partial_{j}(\rho_{n}\beta'_{i}(u_{n})u_{n,k}) - 2\sqrt{\rho_{n}}u_{n}\beta'_{i}(u_{n})\partial_{j}\sqrt{\rho_{n}} + \overline{R_{\beta}}\right)(\eta_{n}\psi)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &+\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\sqrt{\nu}\left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}\beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \sqrt{\rho_{n}}\beta'(u_{n})\right)[\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}]_{jk}(\eta_{n}\psi)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &=\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\nu\left(\partial_{j}(\tilde{\rho}_{n}\beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n})\tilde{u}_{n,k}) - 2\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}u_{n}\beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n})\partial_{j}\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}\right)\psi + \overline{R_{\beta}}\eta_{n}\psi\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &+\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\nu\left(\eta_{n}\partial_{j}(\rho_{n}\beta'_{i}(u_{n})u_{n,k}) - \partial_{j}(\tilde{\rho}_{n}\beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n})\tilde{u}_{n,k})\right)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &-\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}2\nu\left(\eta_{n}\left(\sqrt{\rho_{n}}u_{n}\beta'_{i}(u_{n})\partial_{j}\sqrt{\rho_{n}}\right) + \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}}u_{n}\beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n})\partial_{j}\sqrt{\tilde{\rho_{n}}}\right)\psi\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t \\ &+\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}}\sqrt{\nu}\left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}}\beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) - \sqrt{\rho_{n}}\beta'(u_{n})\right)[\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}]_{jk}(\eta_{n}\psi)\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Thus, there exists a distribution V_n with $supp(V_n) \subset Q_n$ and such that for any $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbf{R}^d)$ one has

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \sqrt{\nu} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_{n}) [\widetilde{\mathbf{T}_{\nu,n}}]_{jk} \psi dx dt$$

= $\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \left(\partial_{j} (\tilde{\rho}_{n} \beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n}) \tilde{u}_{n,k}) - 2\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} u_{n} \beta'_{i}(\tilde{u}_{n}) \partial_{j} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \right) \psi dx dt$
+ $\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \overline{R_{\beta}} \eta_{n} \psi + V_{n} \psi dx dt.$

Moreover, there exists a uniform C > 0 such that

 $|\langle V_n, \psi \rangle| \le C \|\psi\|_{C^{\infty}_c},$

for any $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbf{R}^d)$. The uniform bound in \mathcal{D}' together with the support properties imply that V_n converges to 0 as $n \to \infty$. Arguing similarly, we recover for the capillary tensor

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} 2\kappa \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}} \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = \kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \left(\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\rho_{n}} - 4(\nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}) \right) \eta_{n} \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ 2\kappa \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} (\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} - \sqrt{\rho_{n}}) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \eta_{n} \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \left(\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} - 4(\nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}) \right) \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \left(\sqrt{\rho_{n}} \left(\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\rho_{n}} - 4(\nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \rho_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}) \right) \eta_{n} - \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} \left(\nabla^{2} \sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} - 4(\nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}} \otimes \nabla \tilde{\rho}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}}) \right) \right) \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ 2\kappa \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d}} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_{n}} - \sqrt{\rho_{n}} \right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n} \eta_{n} \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \end{split}$$

Hence, the error is given by a distribution K_n such that $supp(K_n) \subset Q_n$ and K_n is uniformly bounded in \mathcal{D}' and converges to 0 as n goes to infinity. We conclude that $(\tilde{\rho}_n, \tilde{u}_n)$ as defined in (3.3.1) is an approximate truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) with initial data (3.3.2).

It remains to perform the limit as n goes to infinity. We start by verifying that the inequalities (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) are satisfied. Since (3.3.6) and (3.3.7) are verified, the inequalities follow from the weak convergences provided by (3.3.4), (3.3.5), the second statement of Lemma 3.3.4, lower semi-continuity of norms and the following observation. Denote by Λ the weak-* $L^{\infty}L^2$ -limit of $\sqrt{\tilde{\rho}_n \tilde{u}_n}$. Then, since $\Lambda = \sqrt{\rho u}$ whenever $\rho \neq 0$, we infer for a.e. $t \in [0, T)$,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho |u|^2(t) \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\Lambda|^2(t) \mathrm{d}x.$$

Next, we wish to pass to the limit in (3.2.8). We check that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \tilde{\rho}_n^0 \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x &= \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n^0 \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (\rho_n^0 - 1)(1 - \eta_n) \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x \\ &\to \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho^0 \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

where the first term converges thank to Lemma 3.2.2 and the second term converges to 0 since for any ψ there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $n \ge n_0$, one has $supp(\psi) \cap supp((1-\eta_n)) = \emptyset$. We may thus pass to the limit on the left-hand-side. Thus (ρ, u) satisfies the continuity equation of (3.0.1). We proceed to the limit of (3.2.9). Firstly, we infer that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \tilde{\rho}_n^0 \beta(\tilde{u}_n^0) \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x \to \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho^0 \beta(u_n^0) \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x,$$

by splitting the integral as in (3.3.10), applying Lemma 3.2.2 to the first term and arguing with the support properties to dispose of the remainder. Indeed, $(\beta(\tilde{u}_n) - \beta(u_n))\eta_n \neq 0$ only on Q_n and thus

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_n^0(\beta(\tilde{u}_n) - \beta(u_n))\eta_n \psi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x \to 0.$$

The last term converges to 0 as $\beta \in L^{\infty}$ and for sufficiently large $n \ supp(\psi) \cap supp((1-\eta_n)) = \emptyset$. By applying the convergence results of Lemma 3.3.3 and Lemma 3.3.4, we may pass to the limit on the left-hand-side of (3.3.16). We refer the reader to [125] for more details. Since $R^n_{\beta}\eta_n$ is uniformly bounded, there exists a measure μ_{β} such that

$$\left\langle R^n_\beta \eta_n, \psi \right\rangle \to \left\langle \mu_\beta, \psi \right\rangle.$$

Thus, (ρ, u) satisfies (3.2.8), (3.2.9) with F = G = 0. Similarly, since $\overline{R_{\beta}}^n \eta_n$ is uniformly bounded, there exists a measure $\overline{\mu_{\beta}}$ such that

$$\left\langle \overline{R_{\beta}}^{n}\eta_{n},\psi\right\rangle \rightarrow\left\langle \overline{\mu_{\beta}},\psi\right\rangle .$$

Given that V_n, K_n converge to 0 in the limit as $n \to \infty$, we infer that the compatibility conditions are satisfied in the limit.

3.4 Proof of the main Theorems

It remains to show that the truncated weak solution (ρ, u) provided by Theorem 3.3.1 is a finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) with (3.0.2). We proceed as in [125]. Being a local argument, the non trivial far-field entails only minor changes and therefore we omit details.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.2. Given initial data $(\sqrt{\rho_0}, \sqrt{\rho_0}u_0)$ of finite energy, i.e. such that (3.0.3) is bounded, concatenating Lemma 3.2.2, Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.3.1 provides a truncated weak solution (ρ, u) to (3.0.1) with far-field condition (3.0.2) such that (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) are satisfied. It remains to show that (ρ, u) is a finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) according to Definition 3.1.1. For that purpose, we recall that β in (3.2.9) is a stated in Definition 3.1.5. From Lemma 3.1.6 and the uniform bounds , we conclude by applying the dominated convergence Theorem that for any $1 \leq l \leq 3$ and any compact set $K \subset \mathbf{R}^d$,

$$\begin{split} \rho\beta_{\delta}^{l}(u) &\to \rho u^{l} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{1}((0,T)\times K), \qquad \sqrt{\rho}\beta_{\delta}^{l}(u) \to \sqrt{\rho}u^{l} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{2}(0,T)\times K), \\ \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\nabla\rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\nabla\beta_{\delta}^{l}(u) &\to \rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\nabla\rho^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{1}((0,T)\times K), \\ \sqrt{\rho}(\sqrt{\nu}\mathbf{S}_{\nu}+\kappa\mathbf{S}_{\kappa})\nabla\beta_{\delta}^{l}(u) \to \sqrt{\rho}(\sqrt{\nu}\mathbf{S}_{\nu}+\kappa\mathbf{S}_{\kappa}) \quad \text{in} \quad L^{1}((0,T)\times K). \end{split}$$

Further we have that

$$\|\mu_{\beta}\|_{\mathcal{M}} + \|\overline{\mu}_{\beta}\|_{\mathcal{M}} \le 2M.\delta.$$

Thus, performing the δ -limit in (3.2.9) yields a weak solution to the momentum equation of (3.0.1) which completes the proof.

Next, we comment on the proof of Corollary 3.1.3.

Proof of Corollary 3.1.3. If $\kappa = 0$, the BD entropy of the initial data yields a $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ bound for $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_0}$. We may then construct periodic initia data on \mathbf{T}_n^d by means of Lemma 3.2.2. Concatenating Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.3.1 provides a finite energy weak solution to (3.0.1) that additionally satisfies the truncated formulation. The capillary tensor $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}}$ is uniformly bounded in $L^2_{loc}(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ and since $\kappa_n \to 0$ the corresponding contribution in (3.3.16) satisfies

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} 2\kappa_n \widetilde{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa,n}} \beta'(\tilde{u}_n) \cdot \nabla \psi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \to 0.$$

Thus, the pair $(\sqrt{\rho}, u)$ is a truncated weak solution to (3.0.1) with $\kappa = 0$. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 3.1.2 we carry out the δ -limit to obtain a finite energy weak solution.

Finally, we sketch the proof of Theorem 3.1.4. It follows the strategy of proof of Theorem 3.1.2. Minor modifications are necessary to the different far-field behavior. However, gaining integrability for ρ in the present setting simplifies the proof.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.4. If the system is considered with trivial far-field behavior, then the internal energy is given by (3.1.3). Let $(\sqrt{\rho^0}, \sqrt{\rho^0}u^0)$ be initial data of finite energy and BD-entropy. One easily verifies that Lemma 3.2.2 is still valid and provides periodic initial data.

We then concatenated Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.3.1 to obtain a truncated weak solution on the whole space, where one only needs to substitute the renormalized internal energy by (3.1.3) and adapt the related uniform bounds. The δ -limit is then performed analogously to the proof of Theorem 3.1.2.

3.5 Energy and BD entropy inequality

Definition 3.1.1 requires a finite energy weak solution to satisfy the energy inequality and entropy inequality as stated in (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) respectively. Both inequalities include a constant $C \ge 1$ on the right-hand side. This is motivated by the fact that the result in [125], which we exploit in order to get a truncated weak solution in each periodic domain \mathbf{T}_n^d , does not yield a solution with the natural energy inequality, but only a general estimate as in (3.1.1) and (3.1.2). In view of the analysis of the low Mach number limit, we address the question whether there exists weak solutions that satisfy (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) with C = 1. For suitable well-prepared data, we aim to show that finite energy weak solutions strongly converge to a Leray solutions of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations in the low Mach number limit. In this section, we prove that the solutions to (3.0.1) in \mathbf{T}^d constructed in [13] do satisfy (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) with C = 1. The approach in [13] requires a constraint on the coefficients ν and κ but on the other hand the weak solutions constructed there are obtained as limit of smooth solutions to an approximating system retaining the same *a priori* bounds as (3.0.1).

Based on this existence result on the torus, one may then construct finite energy weak solutions on \mathbf{R}^3 with far-field (3.0.2) that satisfy the desired energy inequality and entropy inequality. Indeed, the procedure of invading domains does not entail additional constant on the righthand side of the energy inequality, see also Lemma 3.2.2.

We shall consider initial data (ρ^0, u^0) of finite energy, i.e. $E(\rho^0, u^0) < +\infty$ satisfying the following assumptions,

$$\rho^{0} \geq 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbf{T}^{3},$$

$$\rho \in L^{1}(\mathbf{T}^{3}) \cap L^{\gamma}(\mathbf{T}^{3}),$$

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}^{3}),$$
(3.5.1)

and

$$u_0 = 0$$
 on $\{\rho^0 = 0\},$
 $\sqrt{\rho^0} u^0 \in L^2(\mathbf{T}^3) \cap L^{2+}(\mathbf{T}^3).$ (3.5.2)

Theorem 3.5.1. Let d = 3. Let ν, κ and γ positive such that $\kappa^2 < \nu^2 < \frac{9}{8}\kappa^2$ and $1 < \gamma < 3$. Then for any $0 < T < \infty$ there exists a finite energy weak solution (ρ, u) of (3.0.1) on $(0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^3$ with initial data (ρ^0, u^0) of finite energy satisfying (3.5.1) and (3.5.2). In particular, (ρ, u) satisfies (3.1.1) and (3.1.2). Moreover for a.e. $0 \le s < t < T$ one has

$$E(t) + \int_{s}^{t} |\mathbf{S}_{\nu}(t')|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t' \le E(s).$$
(3.5.3)

Firstly, we recall needed uniform estimates and compactness results obtained in [13] and secondly, we show Proposition 3.5.7 and Proposition 3.5.8 that imply Theorem 3.5.1. The weak solution provided in [13] is obtained as limit of a sequence of approximating solutions $\{(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})\}_{\delta}$ satisfying the following system.

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\delta} + \operatorname{div} \rho_{\delta} u_{\delta} = 0\\ \partial_t (\rho_{\delta} u_{\delta}) + \operatorname{div} (\rho_{\delta} u_{\delta} \otimes u_{\delta}) + \nabla \left((\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma} + P_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \right) + \tilde{p}_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) u_{\delta} = \kappa^2 \operatorname{div} \mathcal{K}_{\delta} + 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\mathcal{S}_{\delta}), \end{cases}$$
(3.5.4)

with initial data

$$\rho_{\delta}(0,x) = \rho_{\delta}^{0}(x),
\rho_{0}(0,x) = \rho_{\delta}^{0}(x)u_{\delta}^{0}(x).$$
(3.5.5)

The approximating viscosity term is defined as

$$\mathcal{S}_{\delta} = h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})\mathbf{D}u_{\delta} + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})\operatorname{div} u_{\delta}\mathbf{I},$$

with

$$h_{\delta} = \rho_{\delta} + \delta(\rho_{\delta})^{\frac{7}{8}} + \delta(\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma}, \qquad g_{\delta} = \rho_{\delta} h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) - h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}). \tag{3.5.6}$$

The approximating dispersive term reads

$$\operatorname{div} \mathcal{K}_{\delta} = 2\rho_{\delta} \nabla \left(\frac{h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \operatorname{div}(h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}})}{\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}} \right).$$

Initial data

Next, we specify the initial data for which the system (3.5.4) is considered. Given initial data (ρ^0, u^0) of finite energy satisfying (3.5.1) and (3.5.2) one may construct a sequence of smooth initial data $(\rho^{0,\delta}, u^{0,\delta})$ such that

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\delta}^{0} &\to \rho^{0} \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{1}(\mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ \{\rho_{\delta}^{0}\}_{\delta} \quad \text{uniformly bounded in} \quad L^{1} \cap L^{\gamma}(\mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ \{h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}^{0})\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}^{0}}\}_{\delta} \quad \text{uniformly bounded in} \quad L^{2} \cap L^{2+\eta}(\mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}^{0})\nabla\sqrt{\rho^{\delta,0}} \to \nabla\sqrt{\rho^{0}} \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{2}(\mathbf{T}^{d}) \\ \{\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}^{0}}u_{\delta}^{0}\}_{\delta} \quad \text{uniformly bounded in} \quad L^{2} \cap L^{2+\eta}(\mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ \rho_{\delta}^{0}u_{\delta}^{0} \to \rho^{0}u^{0} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{1}(\mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ f_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}^{0}) \to 0 \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{1}(\mathbf{T}^{d}) \end{split}$$

In virtue of Theorem 6 in [13], there exists a global smooth solution to the Cauchy problem (3.5.4) equipped with initial data as specified as in (3.5.7).

Proposition 3.5.2. Let $\nu, \kappa > 0$ such that $\kappa^2 < \nu^2 < \frac{9}{8}\kappa^2$ and $\gamma \in (1,3)$. Then, for $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, there exists a global smooth solution of (3.5.4) with initial data (3.5.5).

A priori bounds

We provide the uniform estimates that will be needed subsequently, for their proof we refer the reader to [13]. These bounds are obtained from the energy equality and the Bresch-Desjardins entropy inequality for the system (3.5.4). The energy functional for the approximating system (3.5.4) is defined for $t \in [0, T)$ as

$$E_{\delta}(t) = \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho_{\delta} |u_{\delta}|^2 + \frac{\kappa^2}{2} |h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}|^2 + \frac{1}{(\gamma - 1)} (\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma} + f_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.5.8)

Firstly, we recall the energy inequality for the system (3.5.4).

Lemma 3.5.3. Let $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ be a global smooth solution of (3.5.4). Then for any $0 \le s < t \le T$ and $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$,

$$E_{\delta}(t) + 2\nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{D}u_{\delta}|^{2} + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})| \operatorname{div} u_{\delta}|^{2} + \tilde{p}_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |u_{\delta}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = E_{\delta}(s)$$
(3.5.9)

Secondly, given a smooth solution $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ of (3.5.4), we introduce the effective velocity $v_{\delta} = u_{\delta} + c \nabla \phi_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})$, for some suitable constant c. Then $(\rho_{\delta}, v_{\delta})$ is a smooth solution of the viscous Euler system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\delta} + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\delta} v_{\delta}) = c \Delta h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}), \\ \partial_t(\rho_{\delta} v_{\delta}) + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\delta} v_{\delta} \otimes v_{\delta}) + \nabla(\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma} + \tilde{\lambda} \nabla p_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) - c \Delta(h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) v_{\delta}) + \tilde{p}(\rho_{\delta}) v_{\delta} \\ -2(\nu - c) \operatorname{div}(h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \mathbf{D} v_{\delta}) - 2(\nu - c) \nabla(g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \operatorname{div} v_{\delta}) - \tilde{\kappa}^2 \operatorname{div} \mathcal{K}_{\delta} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.5.10)

where the function ϕ is defined as in [13] and

$$\begin{cases} \mu = \nu - \sqrt{\nu^2 - \kappa^2}, \\ \tilde{\kappa}^2 = \kappa^2 - 2\nu c + c^2, \\ \tilde{\lambda} = (\mu - c)/\mu. \end{cases}$$

The Bresch-Desjardins entropy is defined as

$$B_{\delta}(t) = \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho_{\delta} |v_{\delta}|^2 + \frac{(\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma}}{(\gamma - 1)} + \tilde{\lambda} f_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) + 2\tilde{\kappa}^2 \left| h_{\delta}'(\rho) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \right|^2.$$
(3.5.11)

By Proposition 2 in [13], any smooth solution $(\rho_{\delta}, v_{\delta})$ of (3.5.10) satisfies the related energy inequality.

Lemma 3.5.4. Let $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ be a global smooth solution of (3.5.4). Given $c \in (0, \mu)$, the pair

 (ρ, v_{δ}) is a smooth solution of (3.5.10) and the BD entropy inequality is satisfied,

$$B_{\delta}(t) + c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{A}v_{\delta}|^{2} dx dt + (2\nu - c) \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |Dv_{\delta}|^{2} + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |div v_{\delta}|^{2} dx dt + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} \tilde{p}_{\delta} |v_{\delta}|^{2} dx dt + c\gamma \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) |\nabla\rho_{\delta}|^{2} (\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma - 2} dx dt + c\tilde{\lambda} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) |\nabla\rho_{\delta}|^{2} f_{\delta}''(\rho_{\delta}) dx dt + c\tilde{\kappa}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\nabla^{2}\phi_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})|^{2} dx dt + c\tilde{\kappa}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\Delta\phi_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})|^{2} dx dt \leq B_{\delta}(0)$$

$$(3.5.12)$$

We summarize the needed *a priori bounds* that are consequences of Lemma 3.5.3 and Lemma 3.5.4.

Lemma 3.5.5. Let $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ be a smooth solution of (3.5.4) with initial data satisfying $\rho_{\delta} > 0$ and assumptions in 3.5, then there exists C > 0 independent from δ such that

$$\sup_{t} \int \rho_{\delta} |u_{\delta}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \leq C, \quad \sup_{t} \int |h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \leq C$$
(3.5.13)

$$\sup_{t} \int \left(\rho_{\delta} + (\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le C \qquad \int \int \int h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{D}u_{\delta}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le C \tag{3.5.14}$$

$$\sup_{t} \int f_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \mathrm{d}x \le C, \quad \int \int |\tilde{p}(\rho_{\delta})| |u_{\delta}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$
(3.5.15)

In particular,

$$\sup_{t} \int |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C, \qquad \int \int \rho_{\delta} \left| \mathbf{D} u_{\delta} \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t. \tag{3.5.16}$$

Moreover, we recall the following convergence results from [13].

Lemma 3.5.6. Let $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ be a smooth solution of (3.5.4). Then

$$\begin{split} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) &- \rho_{\delta} \to 0 \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{1}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \to \sqrt{\rho} \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{2}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ h_{\delta}'(\rho_{\delta}) \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{2}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ (\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma} \to \rho^{\gamma} \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{1}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ p(\rho_{\delta}) \to 0 \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{1}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ \tilde{p}(\rho_{\delta}) \to 0 \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{1}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \\ \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} u_{\delta} \to \sqrt{\rho} u \quad strongly \ in \quad L^{2}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d}), \end{split}$$
(3.5.17)

Given the construction of the sequence of approximating solutions done in [13], in what follows we show that finite energy weak solutions (ρ, u) obtained as limit of $(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})$ satisfy (3.1.1). The key-point consists in observing that, the energy dissipation for the approximating system (3.5.4) is bounded from below by

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} \rho_{\delta} |\mathbf{D}u_{\delta}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{T}^{d}} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{D}u_{\delta}|^{2} + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathrm{div}\,u_{\delta}|^{2} + \tilde{p}_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |u_{\delta}|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t, \quad (3.5.18)$$

Indeed, by definition $\gamma > 1$ and

$$h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) \ge \rho_{\delta} \ge 0, \qquad g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) = -\frac{1}{8}\varepsilon(\rho_{\delta})^{\frac{7}{8}} + \varepsilon(\gamma - 1)(\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma}.$$

Given a vector valued function u such that $\nabla u \in L^2(\mathbf{T}^d)$, it holds

$$\|\operatorname{div} u\|_{L^2(\mathbf{T}^d)} \le C\sqrt{d}\|\mathbf{D}u\|_{L^2(\mathbf{T}^d)}.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{D} u_{\delta}|^2 + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\operatorname{div} u_{\delta}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\geq \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \rho_{\delta} |\mathbf{D} u_{\delta}|^2 + \varepsilon \left((\rho_{\delta})^{\frac{7}{8}} + (\rho_{\delta})^{\gamma} \right) |\mathbf{D} u_{\delta}|^2 - \frac{3}{8} \varepsilon (\rho_{\delta})^{\frac{7}{8}} |\mathbf{D} u_{\delta}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\geq \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \rho_{\delta} |\mathbf{D} u_{\delta}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Observing that $\tilde{p}(\rho_{\delta})|u_{\delta}|^2 \geq 0$, we conclude (3.5.18).

Proposition 3.5.7. Let (ρ, u) be a finite energy weak solution of (3.0.1) on $(0, T) \times \mathbf{T}^3$ obtained as limit of a sequence $\{(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})\}$ smooth solution of (3.5.4). Then (ρ, u) satisfies (3.1.1).

Proof. First, we observe that from (3.5.7) we conclude that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho^{\delta,0} |u^{\delta,0}|^2 + \frac{\kappa^2}{2} |h_{\delta}'(\rho^{\delta,0}) \nabla \sqrt{\rho^{\delta,0}}|^2 + \frac{1}{(\gamma-1)} (\rho^{\delta,0})^{\gamma} + f_{\delta}(\rho^{\delta,0}) \mathrm{d}x \\ &\to \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho^0 |u^0|^2 + \frac{\kappa^2}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho^0}|^2 + \frac{1}{\gamma-1} (\rho^0)^{\gamma} \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Next, we notice that since $\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \mathbf{D} u_{\delta} \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))$, there exists $\mathbf{S}_{\nu} \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))$ such that $\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \mathbf{D} u_{\delta} \rightarrow \mathbf{S}_{\nu}$ weakly in $L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))$ as $\delta \rightarrow 0$. By exploiting the lower semicontinuity of the energy functional, we conclude

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{1}{2} \rho |u|^2 + \frac{\kappa^2}{2} |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + \frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \rho^{\gamma} \mathrm{d}x + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} |\mathbf{S}_{\nu}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} E_{\delta}(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\mathbf{D}u_{\delta}|^2 + g_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |\operatorname{div} u_{\delta}|^2 + \tilde{p}_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta}) |u_{\delta}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} E_{\delta}(0) = E(0) \end{split}$$

It remains to check that \mathbf{S}_{ν} is such that (3.0.5) is satisfied. From Lemma 3.5.6 we conclude that $\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}\mathbf{D}u_{\delta} \rightharpoonup \sqrt{\rho}\mathbf{S}_{\nu}$ in $L^{1}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^{d})$. We are left to show that

$$\sqrt{\rho} \mathbf{S}_{\nu} = (\nabla(\rho u) - \nabla\sqrt{\rho} \otimes \sqrt{\rho} u)^{sym}$$
 in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^d)$.

Let $\phi \in \mathcal{D}((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^d)$ and consider

$$\langle \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \mathbf{D} u_{\delta}, \phi \rangle = \langle (\nabla(\rho_{\delta} u_{\delta}))^{sym}, \phi \rangle - 2 \langle (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} u_{\delta})^{sym}, \phi \rangle$$

From $\rho_{\delta}u_{\delta} \to \rho u$ in $L^1((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^d)$ as well as $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \to \nabla \sqrt{\rho}$ and $\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}u_{\delta} \to \sqrt{\rho}u$ both strongly in $L^2((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^d)$ we conclude that

$$(RHS) \to \nabla(\rho u)^{sym} - 2 \left(\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} u_{\delta}\right)^{sym}$$

in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{T}^d)$.

Proposition 3.5.8. Let (ρ, u) be a finite energy weak solution of (3.0.1) on $(0, T) \times \mathbf{T}^3$ obtained as limit of a sequence $\{(\rho_{\delta}, u_{\delta})\}$ smooth solution of (3.5.4). Then (ρ, u) satisfies (3.1.2).

Proof. We denote by \mathbf{A}_{ν} the weak $L^2(0, T; L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))$ -limit of $\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}} \mathbf{A} u_{\delta}$. Similarly to the considerations made for \mathbf{S}_{ν} , we show that $\sqrt{\rho} \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{\rho} \mathbf{T}_{\nu}^{asymm}$ with \mathbf{T}_{ν} as defined in (3.0.5). Thus,

$$\|\mathbf{A}_{\nu}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{T}^{d}))}^{2} \leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \|\sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}\mathbf{A}u_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{T}^{d}))}^{2} \leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \|\sqrt{h_{\delta}(\rho_{\delta})}\mathbf{A}u_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{T}^{d}))}^{2}$$

Further, we have that $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_{\delta}}$ converges weakly to $\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho}$ in $L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))$ from Lemma 3.5.6, thus by Lemma 5.3 in [13] we conclude that

$$\|\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{T}^d))}^2 \le \liminf_{\delta \to 0} C \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} h_\delta(\rho_\delta) \left|\nabla^2 \phi_\delta(\rho_\delta)\right|^2 + g_\delta(\rho_\delta) |\Delta\phi_\delta(\rho_\delta)|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

Moreover,

$$c\gamma \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} |\nabla \rho|^2 \rho^{\gamma-2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le \liminf_{\delta \to 0} c\gamma \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} h_\delta'(\rho_\delta) |\nabla \rho_\delta|^2 (\rho_\delta)^{\gamma-2} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

By observing that $B_{\delta}(0) \to B(0)$ and exploiting lower semi-continuity of norms, we infer (3.1.2).

Part II

Low Mach number limit and its quantum counterpart

CHAPTER 4

Low Mach number limit for the Quantum Navier-Stokes equations

Abstract .

In this chapter, we investigate the low Mach number limit for the quantum Navier-Stokes system considered in the three-dimensional space. For general ill-prepared initial data of finite energy, we prove strong convergence of finite energy weak solutions towards weak solutions of the incompressible Navier Stokes equations. Section 4.1 introduces the suitable scaling, the notion of solutions and the main results. In Section 4.2 we collect the required uniform bounds. Section 4.3 concerns the study of the linearized system of acoustic waves that exploits the enhanced dispersion given by the Bogoliubov dispersion relation. Once we have a control of the acoustic dispersion, the compactness provided by the uniform bounds leads to the strong convergence towards a weak solution to the incompressible Navier–Stokes equation in Section 4.4. Finally, we present the detailed dispersive analysis of the semigroup operator associated to the Bogoliubov dispersion relation in Section 4.5.

This chapter, based on [9] in collaboration with P. Antonelli and P. Marcati, presents the analysis the low Mach number limit the Quantum-Navier-Stokes equations (QNS) studied in the previous chapter. The system is considered on $(0, T) \times \mathbf{R}^3$,

$$\begin{aligned}
\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) &= 0, \\
\partial_t(\rho u) + \operatorname{div}(\rho u \otimes u) + \nabla P(\rho) &= 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho \mathbf{D} u) + 2\kappa^2 \rho \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho}}{\sqrt{\rho}}\right),
\end{aligned}$$
(4.0.1)

the unknowns are given by the mass density ρ and the fluid velocity field u. We consider a barotropic pressure given by the usual γ -law, i.e. $P(\rho) = \frac{1}{\gamma}\rho^{\gamma}$, with $\gamma > 1$, ν and κ denote the viscosity and capillarity coefficients respectively. The energy we consider for this system (4.0.3) is given by

$$E(t) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \rho |u|^2 + 2\kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho}|^2 + F(\rho) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (4.0.2)$$

where the internal energy takes the form (3.0.4). The finite energy assumption, more precisely the integrability of F encodes the far-field behavior,

$$\rho \to 1$$
 as $|x| \to \infty$.

As already said, system (4.0.1) enters the more general class of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg systems, see also the Introduction and Chapter 3.

After a suitable rescaling (see subsection 4.1.1), the system (4.0.1) reads,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) = 0, \\ \partial_t(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla P(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{D} u_{\varepsilon}) + 2\kappa^2 \rho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}{\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}\right), \end{cases}$$
(4.0.3)

with initial data

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\varepsilon}(0,x) &= \rho_{\varepsilon,0},\\ (\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon})(0,x) &= \rho_{\varepsilon,0} u_{\varepsilon,0}, \end{split}$$

where $\varepsilon \ll 1$ is the scaled Mach number. Therefore the rescaled internal energy becomes

$$F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1)}{\varepsilon^2 \gamma(\gamma - 1)}.$$
(4.0.4)

In the low Mach number regime, i.e. in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the dynamics of (4.0.3) is formally governed by the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations,

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = \nu \Delta u, \quad \text{div} \, u = 0.$$
 (4.0.5)

The aim of this chapter is to rigorously study this limit in its full generality, i.e. by considering arbitrary finite energy initial data without imposing further regularity or smallness assumptions and in particular without being well-prepared. This class of initial data cannot provide in the limit smooth solutions to incompressible Navier-Stokes, for this reason we have to exclude the use of relative entropy methods [73], [76]. As it emerged during the analysis of the Cauchy Problem of (4.0.3) in Chapter 3, the system entails some mathematical difficulties due to the possible appearance of vacuum regions. Indeed, the degenerate viscosity prevents a suitable control of the velocity field in the vacuum. In particular this yields some problems in establishing the necessary compactness estimates on the convective term $\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon}$. Global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions to (4.0.3) with far-field behavior is provided by Theorem 3.1.2. The proof of Theorem 3.1.2 is based on an invading domain approach based on the existence result in [125]. Besides the mathematical difficulties originated from the degenerate viscosity, in this framework we also have to cope with the lack of integrability of the mass density due to non-trivial boundary conditions at infinity. The precise notion of solution is given in Definition 4.1.1 below.

One of the main tools in this Chapter is provided by a class of suitable Strichartz estimates, that allow to capture more accurately the different dispersive scales involved in the propagation of the acoustic waves, as a consequence of the specific dispersion relation. Indeed, contrarily to the classical case where the fluctuations evolve accordingly to the classical wave equation [136, 68, 169], here in our problem the presence of the quantum term contributes in a non-trivial way to the dispersion relation, especially at high frequencies. The dispersion relation inferred here, see formula (4.3.1) below, is strictly related to the Bogoliubov spectrum describing excitations in a Bose-Einstein condensate, which predicts the superfluid behavior of the gas [34, 33, 163]. This is somehow reminiscent of the analysis of fluctuations done when studying

the quasi-neutral limit for a class of Navier-Stokes-Korteweg systems [71, 72]. The analysis related to the dispersion relation (4.3.1) can be regarded as the ε -version of the results in [95]. We will present this analysis in Section 4.5. Here we remark that since the dispersion relation (4.3.1) is not homogeneous, we cannot obtain our estimates by a rescaling argument and we need to adapt the proof in [95]. On the other hand, it should be remarked that if we perform a frequency splitting as in [26], then the estimates (4.3.9), (4.3.10) deteriorate at low frequencies. A more detailed explanation can be found in Section 4.3 and Section 4.5.

Furthermore, in the limit we recover a weak solution of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)) \cap L^2(0,T, \dot{H}^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. We remark that we are able to obtain bounds on the gradient of the limiting solution to (4.0.5), even though at fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ only a weak version of the energy inequality (4.1.4) is available. The mathematical motivations for this have been addressed in Chapter 3. The validity of (4.1.4) is clarified in Section 4.1, see also the discussion in Section 3.5. However, this weak version of the energy inequality will anyway yield the aforementioned natural bounds on the gradient of the velocity field in the low Mach number limit. In fact, thanks to some uniform bounds satisfied by the momentum density, we can also infer further smoothing properties for the limiting solution to (4.0.5), see Theorem 4.1.2 and Proposition 4.4.5 for more details. Due to the presence of an initial layer which cannot be avoided for general ill-prepared data, the weak solution enters the Leray class only if further assumptions on the initial data are made. More precisely, only for well-prepared data it is possible to show that the solutions obtained in the limiting procedure satisfy the energy inequality.

The study of singular limits for fluid dynamical equations occupies a vast portion of mathematical literature, for a more comprehensive introduction to the topic we address the reader to the monograph [76] and the reviews [3, 138]. Our method shares some similarities with [68] which studies the compressible Navier-Stokes equations on the whole space. Indeed, there the authors exploit some Strichartz type estimates to analyse the acoustic waves. On the other hand, for the QNS system the dispersion relation is modified and reads as in formula (4.3.1); thus for high frequencies the fluctuations appearing in classical fluid dynamics and in system (4.0.1) differ considerably. Recently, the incompressible limit for a similar system has been investigated in [173] and later in [123]. In both papers the quantum Navier-Stokes system is augmented by adding a damping term in the momentum equation. This extra term allows to circumvent mathematical difficulties related to the lack of control of the velocity field in the vacuum. Moreover both papers deal with smooth local in time solutions for the limiting incompressible dynamics. By using this further regularity assumption, it is then possible for them to exploit a relative entropy method.

Here, we tackle the problem from a different perspective, namely we retrieve global weak solutions in the limit rather than convergence to the unique local strong solution to the limiting system. Moreover, while in [123, 173] the fluctuations are studied by using a wave-like dispersion as for classical fluid dynamical systems, here we consider the full dispersion relation determined by the Bogoliubov spectrum (4.3.1) and the enhanced dispersion leads to a better

control on the fluctuations. This is achieved by carrying out a refined analysis on the dispersive properties of the acoustic waves that together with new uniform estimates enables us to study the low Mach number limit for general ill-prepared initial data without regularity or smallness assumptions and without damping. For the inviscid system, i.e. the QHD system, the low Mach number limit with ill-prepared data has been studied in [73] on the torus. The authors consider - differently from the solutions considered in Chapter 2 - solutions that are not generalized irrotational. As we will elucidate in Chapter 5, the analogue of the low Mach number system for the QHD system (5.0.2) should rather be interpreted as scaling limit where the scaling parameter is given by the healing length being the characteristic length scale of the system.

This paper is organized as follows, we introduce notations and preliminary results in Section 4.1. Subsequently, the needed *a priori* estimates are provided in Section 4.2. This is particularly relevant since finite energy weak solutions of (4.0.3) only obey a weak form of the energy inequality, for a detailed discussion see Chapter 3 and in particular Section 3.5. Section 4.3 is dedicated to the analysis of the acoustic waves. The strong convergence of finite energy weak solutions of (4.0.3) to weak solutions of (4.0.4) is achieved in Section 4.4 by means of an Aubin-Lions compactness argument. Furthermore, we investigate the regularity properties of the limit u and show that u lies in the class of Leray solutions under suitable additional assumptions. Section 4.5 is devoted to the proof of the dispersive estimates.

4.1 Definitions and main results

In what follows C will be any constant independent from ε .

4.1.1 Scaling

Different scalings are reasonable see for instance the review papers [3, 138] and references therein. To recast the introduced scaling (4.0.3) of system (4.0.1), one starts writing the equations by re-scaling each length scale by its characteristic value (dimensionless scaling) and we assume the Mach number to be small. We expect the fluid to behave like an incompressible fluid on large time scales when the density is almost constant and the velocity is small. Thus, we introduce the change of variable and unknowns,

 $t \mapsto \varepsilon t, \qquad u \mapsto \varepsilon u_{\varepsilon}.$

Moreover, the viscosity and capillarity coefficients scale as

 $\nu \mapsto \varepsilon \nu, \qquad \kappa \mapsto \varepsilon \kappa.$

Weak solutions

The global in time existence of finite energy weak solutions to (4.0.3) is provided by Theorem 3.1.2. As pointed out in Chapter 3, the degenerate viscosity prevents the velocity field to be

uniquely determined in the vacuum region; indeed system (4.0.3) lacks bounds for u_{ε} . Following up on the analysis of the Cauchy problem in Chapter 3, we notice that in this framework (ρ, Λ) are the suitable variables to tackle the problem. We encounter similar difficulties also in the analysis of the inviscid system (2.0.1). Mathematically speaking, this means that whenever the symbol ρ_{ε} appears, it should be read as $\rho_{\varepsilon} = (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}})^2$ and similarly for the momentum density $m_{\varepsilon} = \rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \Lambda_{\varepsilon}$. At no moment neither the velocity field u_{ε} nor its gradient ∇u_{ε} are defined a.e. in \mathbf{R}^3 . Analogue to (3.0.5), the tensor \mathbf{T}_{ε} is defined through the following identity

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon} = \nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) - 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \Lambda_{\varepsilon}, \qquad (4.1.1)$$

in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ and

$$\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}^{sym}, \qquad (4.1.2)$$

in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. Under suitable assumptions on the mass density ρ the quantum pressure term can be alternatively rewritten as in (2.0.3) and (3.0.6). In this way the equation for the momentum density in (4.0.3) reads

$$\partial_t(\rho_\varepsilon u_\varepsilon) + \operatorname{div}\left(\rho_\varepsilon u_\varepsilon \otimes u_\varepsilon + 4\kappa^2 \nabla \sqrt{\rho} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho}\right) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla P(\rho_\varepsilon) - 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\sqrt{\rho_\varepsilon} \mathbf{S}_\varepsilon) - \kappa^2 \nabla \Delta \rho_\varepsilon = 0.$$

In particular, we observe that, at present it is not clear whether arbitrary finite energy weak solutions to (4.0.3) satisfy the following energy inequality,

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \rho_\varepsilon |\mathbf{D}u_\varepsilon|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t' \le E(0), \qquad (4.1.3)$$

We therefore work with the weaker form of the energy inequality (4.1.4) whose validity has been discussed in Section 3.5.

For the sake of consistency with Chapter 3 and the literature on (quantum) Navier–Stokes equations, we avoid the use of Λ_{ε} in the present chapter. The above considerations motivate the notion of solution in terms of the mathematical unknowns $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}$ and $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ instead of the physical unknowns of density ρ_{ε} and momentum m_{ε} . For the convenience of the reader and in order to introduce the ε -dependent objects, we recall the definition of finite energy weak solutions.

Definition 4.1.1. A pair $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ with $\rho_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$ is said to be a finite energy weak solution of the Cauchy Problem (4.0.3) if

(i) integrability conditions

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \in L^{2}_{loc}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^{3}); \quad \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{2}_{loc}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^{3}); \\
\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \in L^{2}_{loc}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^{3});$$

(ii) continuity equation

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 \phi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \rho_{\varepsilon} \phi_t + \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \nabla \phi = 0,$$

for any $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$.

(iii) momentum equation

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 u_{\varepsilon}^0 \psi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \psi_t + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \psi + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} \operatorname{div} \psi \\ &- 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}) \nabla \psi - 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \psi \\ &+ \nu_{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \Delta \psi + \nu_{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \nabla \operatorname{div} \psi \\ &- 4\kappa^2 \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}) \nabla \psi + 2\kappa^2 \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \nabla \operatorname{div} \psi = 0, \end{split}$$

for any $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3; \mathbf{R}^3)$.

j

(iv) there exists a tensor $\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon} \in L^2((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ satisfying identity (4.1.1) in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ such that the following energy inequality holds for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$,

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le E(0), \qquad (4.1.4)$$

where \mathbf{S}_{ε} is the symmetric part of \mathbf{T}_{ε} , i.e. $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}^{sym}$.

(v) Define

$$B_{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} |\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}|^2 + 2(\kappa^2 + 4\nu^2) |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}|^2 + F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}x.$$

Then the Bresch-Desjardins entropy inequality holds for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$,

$$B_{\varepsilon}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s + \nu \kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \left| \nabla^{2} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \right|^{2} + \left| \nabla \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{4}} \right|^{4} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s + \frac{\nu \gamma}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \left| \nabla \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s \\ \leq \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \right|^{2} + (2\kappa^{2} + 4\nu^{2}) \left| \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} \right|^{2} + F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}) \mathrm{d}x,$$

$$(4.1.5)$$

where $\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}^{asym}$, with \mathbf{T}_{ε} defined as in the previous point.

We remark that Definition 4.1.1 differs from scaled version of Definition 3.1.1 by the constants C > 0 appearing in (3.1.1) and (3.1.2). Here, we require C = 1. In general, it is not clear whether the solutions provided by Theorem 3.1.2 of the previous chapter satisfy the energy and entropy inequality with C = 1. This is due to the fact that Theorem 3.1.2 is proven by an invading domain approach that is based on the periodic solutions introduced in [125]. The result in [125] is on its turn obtained by means of a truncation procedure during which the appearance of constant C in the inequalities occurs. However, as pointed out in Section 3.5, there exists weak solutions to (4.0.3) compatible with Definition 4.1.1. Indeed, based on the result of [13] one may construct suitable finite energy weak solutions satisfying (4.1.4) and (4.1.5) at the expense of a restriction on the coefficients ν and κ .

Main result

Let us specify the assumptions on the initial data for the system (4.0.3). We consider initial data $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^0, u_{\varepsilon}^0)$ such that

$$\|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \leq C, \quad \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}}u_{\varepsilon}^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \leq C, \quad \|F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0})\|_{L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3})} \leq C, \quad (4.1.6)$$

where is C independent on $\varepsilon > 0$. Furthermore, we assume that

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} u_{\varepsilon}^0 \rightharpoonup u_0 \quad \text{in } L^2(\mathbf{R}^3).$$
 (4.1.7)

With this definition at hand, we now state the main Theorem characterising the low Mach number regime for (4.0.3).

Theorem 4.1.2. Let $1 < \gamma < 3$, let $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ be a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3) with initial data satisfying (4.1.6) and (4.1.7) and let $0 < T < \infty$ be an arbitrary time. Then $\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})) \cap L^{4}(0,T; H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$ for any $0 \leq s < 1$. For any subsequence (not relabeled) $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ converging weakly to u in $L^{\infty}(0,T, L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$, then $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})) \cap L^{2}(0,T; \dot{H}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$ is a global weak solution to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation (4.0.5) with initial data $u_{|t=0} = \mathbf{P}(u_{0})$ and $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ converges strongly to u in $L^{2}(0,T; L^{2}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$.

Moreover, $\mathbf{Q}(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon})$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(0,T,L^q(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for any $2 < q < \frac{9}{4}$. Finally the limiting solution u also satisfies $u \in L^{\frac{4}{1+4s}-}(0,T;H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$, for $0 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}$.

Remark 4.1.3. Let us remark that in order for the limiting function u to satisfy the energy inequality, i.e. to be a Leray weak solution [127], stronger assumptions on the initial data $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}, u_{\varepsilon}^{0})$ are needed. Indeed the initial total energy for the compressible system in general does not converge, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, to the initial energy for (4.0.5), which would be given by $\frac{1}{2} \int |\mathbf{P}u_{0}|^{2}$. The excess energy determines an initial layer which cannot be avoided for ill-prepared data. On the other hand, if we require

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \to u_{0} = \mathbf{P}(u_{0}) \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}),$$

$$F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}) \to 0 \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}),$$

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} \to 0 \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$$
(4.1.8)

then the following Proposition holds true.

Proposition 4.1.4. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.1.2, let $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}, u_{\varepsilon}^{0}$ further satisfy (4.1.8). Then the limiting solution u to (4.0.5) satisfies the energy inequality

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} |u(t)|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\nabla u|^2 \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t' \le \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} |u_0|^2 \mathrm{d}x, \tag{4.1.9}$$

for almost every $t \in [0, T]$.

4.2 Uniform estimates

In this Section, we start our analysis on the low Mach number limit by inferring some uniform estimates for finite energy weak solutions to (4.0.3). In our framework we need to take into account the non trivial boundary conditions for the mass density. For this reason, we provide some estimates on the quantities $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ and $\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1$. Furthermore, the lack of control for ∇u_{ε} in the vacuum will be compensated by the bounds inferred from (4.1.4) and (4.1.5).

The techniques to obtain integrability properties for $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ are in sense reminiscent of the analysis of the energy space \mathbb{E}_2 in Section 1.1.1 and the study of the far-field for (2.0.1) in Chapter 2. Indeed, we shall use repeatedly the following observation, see for instance Theorem 4.5.9 in [104]: if $f \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with $\nabla f \in L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ for p < d, then there exists a constant c such that $f - c \in L^{p^*}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, where p^* is the critical Sobolev exponent. The condition p < d is sharp. Firstly, we state some a priori bounds on the initial data.

4.2.1 Initial data of finite energy

If the initial data $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^0, u_{\varepsilon}^0)$ is assumed to be of finite energy, i.e. $E(\rho_{\varepsilon}^0, u_{\varepsilon}^0) < \infty$, then

$$\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}), \qquad \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}), \qquad \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0} - 1 - \gamma(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0} - 1)}{\varepsilon^{2} \gamma(\gamma - 1)} \in L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$$

This implies additional bounds which we summarize.

Lemma 4.2.1. If the initial data $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^0, u_{\varepsilon}^0)$ is of finite energy, then there exists C > 0 independent from $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

(i) $\|\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}-1\|_{L^{2}} \leq C\varepsilon^{\beta}$, where

$$\beta = \beta(\gamma) = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{(6-\gamma)} & \gamma < 2; \\ 1 & \gamma \ge 2; \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.1)$$

(ii) $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} - 1 \in H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$ and in particular for $2 \leq p < 6$ we have $\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} - 1\|_{L^{p}} \leq C\varepsilon^{\alpha(p)}$, where

$$\alpha(p) = \begin{cases} \frac{2(6-p)}{p(6-\gamma)} & \gamma < 2;\\ \frac{(6-p)}{2p} & \gamma \ge 2; \end{cases}$$
(4.2.2)

(iii) $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$. In particular $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$ with $s > \frac{1}{2}$.

Proof. We prove the first statement following the method in [136]. By convexity of the function $s \to s^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(s - 1)$ for $\gamma > 1$ and the fact that the internal energy, as defined in (4.0.4), satisfies $F_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}) \in L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$ one concludes that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left| \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}} + \left| \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1 \right|^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le C\varepsilon^2 \tag{4.2.3}$$

and when $\gamma \geq 2$ one has

J

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} (\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x \le C\varepsilon^2.$$

Upon observing that

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 = \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{1 + \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}} \le (\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1),$$

we obtain,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}^0 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}} + \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \right|^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le C\varepsilon^2, \tag{4.2.4}$$

in particular $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \in L_2^m$. From what we said before, the bound $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$ implies there exists c > 0 such that $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - c \in L^6(\mathbf{R}^3)$. It is easy to conclude that necessarily c = 1since $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \in L_2^m(\mathbf{R}^3)$ and by interpolation with (4.2.4) we have

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}^0 - 1 \right|^p \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}} + \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \right|^p \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le C \varepsilon^{p\alpha(p)},$$

for any $2 \le p \le 6$, where $\alpha(p) = \frac{2(6-p)}{p(6-\gamma)}$ for $\gamma < 2$ and $\alpha(p) = \frac{6-p}{2p}$ for $\gamma \ge 2$. In particular,

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)} \le C\varepsilon^{\alpha},$$

where

$$\alpha(2) = \begin{cases} \frac{4}{6-\gamma} & \gamma < 2, \\ 1 & \gamma \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Next we show that for $1 < \gamma < 2$, one has

$$\|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)} \le C\varepsilon^{2\alpha(4)},$$

In view of (4.2.3), it is sufficient to show that the second term in (4.2.3) is bounded by $C\varepsilon^{\alpha}$. To that end we observe that for $|z-1| \ge \frac{1}{2}$, one has

$$(z^2 - 1)^2 \le 25(z - 1)^4.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left| \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left| \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \right|^4 \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le C\varepsilon^{4\alpha(4)}.$$

Since for $1 < \gamma < 2$, we have $2\alpha(4) = \frac{2}{6-\gamma}$, the statement (i) follows. Finally, to prove (iii) we notice that if the initial data is of finite energy then we obtain

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} - 1 \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^3), \qquad \qquad \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} u_{\varepsilon}^0 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^3),$$

which allow us to conclude

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}u_{\varepsilon}^{0} = \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}}u_{\varepsilon}^{0} + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}^{0} - 1)\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}}u_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{3}).$$

4.2.2 Uniform estimates on the solution

By Definition 4.1.1, the finite energy weak solution $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ we consider satisfies the energy inequality (4.1.4) and the BD entropy type inequality (4.1.5) that imply the following *a priori* estimates listed below.

Lemma 4.2.2. If $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3), then there exists C > 0 independent from $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

(i) $\|\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq C\varepsilon^{\beta}$, for $\beta(\gamma)$ defined as in (4.2.1)

(*ii*)
$$\|\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}_+;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))} \leq C$$
,

- (iii) $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+}; H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$ and in particular for $2 \leq p < 6$ and for $\alpha(p)$ defined as in (4.2.2) it holds $\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+}; L^{p}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq C\varepsilon^{\alpha(p)}$,
- (iv) $\|\nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{R}_+;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))} \le C$,
- $\begin{array}{l} (v) \ \ for \ any \ 0 \leq s < 2 \ and \ 2 \leq p < \frac{4}{s}, \ there \ exists \ 0 < \beta(p,s) < 2 \ such \ that \ \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} 1\|_{L^{p}(\mathbf{R}_{+};H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq C\varepsilon^{\beta}. \\ Moreover, \ for \ 1 < s \leq 2, \\ \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} 1\|_{L^{\frac{2}{s-1}}(\mathbf{R}_{+};H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq C. \ In \ particular, \ \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} 1 \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}_{+};L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^{3})). \end{array}$

(vi)
$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} \leq C_{\varepsilon}$$

Proof. The first and the third statement are proven similarly to Lemma 4.2.1 exploiting the fact that $F_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+}; L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$. The remaining statements except the fifth are direct consequences of inequalities (4.1.4) and (4.1.5). Statement (v) follows by interpolation of (ii) and (iv). For 0 < s < 2 and $0 < \theta < 1$ there exists $\beta > 0$ such that

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{p}(\mathbf{R}_{+};H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \leq C \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}_{+};H^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{\theta} \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_{+};L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))}^{1-\theta} \leq C\varepsilon^{\beta},$$

where $s = 2\theta$ and p such that $p \leq \frac{2}{\theta}$. In particular if $s > \frac{3}{2}$ this yields for any $2 \leq p < \frac{8}{3}$ that $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^p(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^3))$. By interpolation between the bounds $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+;H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $\nabla^2(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$, one may infer the slightly stronger bound $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{\frac{2}{s-1}}(\mathbf{R}_+;H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $1 < s \leq 2$.

4.2.3 Bounds on density fluctuation σ_{ε} and momentum m_{ε}

Next, we provide bounds on the density fluctuation $\sigma_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon}$.

Lemma 4.2.3. If $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3), then for any $0 < T < \infty$, σ_{ε} satisfies

- (i) $\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in L_{m}^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})$ with $m = \min\{2, \gamma\};$
- (*ii*) $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2_m(\mathbf{R}^3));$

- $(iii) \ \varepsilon \nabla \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((\mathbf{R}_{+}; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})) + L^{4}(0, T; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})) \ and \ \varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{4}(0, T; H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}));$
- $(iv) \ \varepsilon \nabla^2 \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)) + L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)) \ and \ \varepsilon \nabla^2 \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T;H^2(\mathbf{R}^3));$
- (v) In particular, if $\gamma = 2$, then $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0, T, H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

All the previous bounds are uniform in $\varepsilon > 0$.

Proof. The first bound follows from

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \left| \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1 \right|^2 \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| \le \frac{1}{2}} + \left| \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1 \right|^{\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{|\rho_{\varepsilon}^0 - 1| > \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \le C\varepsilon^2; \tag{4.2.5}$$

and similarly the second.

The third bound follows by observing $\varepsilon \nabla \sigma_{\varepsilon} = 2\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}$ and applying the bounds for $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ of Lemma 4.2.2. In particular,

$$\|\varepsilon\nabla\sigma_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{4}(0,T;L^{2})} \leq \|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^{4}(0,T;L^{2})} + \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{4}(0,T;L^{\infty})}\|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2})}.$$

Hence, we conclude that $\varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^4(0, T; L^6(\mathbf{R}^3))$. By interpolation with $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(L^2 + L^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^3))$, it follows $\varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^4(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. We remark that if $\gamma \geq 2$, then $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0, \infty; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and the interpolation is not needed. Thus, $\varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^4(0, T; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Similarly for,

$$\varepsilon \nabla^2 \sigma_{\varepsilon} = 2 \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \nabla^2 \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} + 2 \left| \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \right|^2,$$

we conclude exploiting again the bounds on $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$. Moreover, for $\gamma = 2$, the estimate $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ allows us to conclude that $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0, T, H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

Corollary 4.2.4. If $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3), then for any $0 < T < \infty$,

$$o_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{4-}(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$$

Proof. It is sufficient to write $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon} + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1)\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ and to see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{4-}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))} &\leq C\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2})}\left(T^{\frac{1}{4}+} + \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{4-}L^{\infty}}\right) \\ &\leq C'(1+T^{\frac{1}{4}+}), \end{aligned}$$

since $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{4-}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ from Lemma 4.2.2.

The Corollary 4.2.4 together with the a priori bounds on $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ and \mathbf{S}_{ε} allow us to prove a stronger estimate on $\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}$ by splitting high and low frequencies.

Proposition 4.2.5. If $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3), then for any $0 < T < \infty$ and for any $0 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $1 \le p < \frac{4}{1+4s}$,

$$\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \in L^p(0, T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3)), \tag{4.2.6}$$

where the bound is uniform in $\varepsilon > 0$. In particular for any $0 \le s_1 < \frac{1}{4}$, one has $\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0,T; H^{s_1}(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

The following Lemma is necessary for the proof of Proposition 4.2.5.

Lemma 4.2.6. There exist $f_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; W^{1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $f_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ such that

 $\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} = f_1 + f_2, \quad a.e. \ in \ \mathbf{R}^3.$

Proof. From (4.1.1), the following identity holds in \mathcal{D}' ,

$$\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}) = \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon} + \nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon} + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1)\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon} + 2\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$$

and from the bounds of Lemma 4.2.2 we deduce that $\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}) \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3) + L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{t}^{2}L_{x}^{\frac{3}{2}}} &\leq C \|\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L_{t}^{2}L_{x}^{6}} \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{t}^{\infty}L_{x}^{2}} \\ \|(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}-1)\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{t}^{\frac{4}{3}-}L_{x}^{2}} + \|\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{t}^{\frac{4}{3}-}L_{x}^{2}} &\leq C_{T}(1+\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}-1\|_{L_{t}^{4-}L_{x}^{\infty}})\|\mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{t}^{2}L_{x}^{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

Therefore there exist g_1, g_2 such that

$$\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}) = g_1 + g_2$$
 a.e. in \mathbf{R}^3 and $g_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3)), \quad g_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0, T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$

We show that g_1, g_2 can always be chosen such that they are gradient fields. If not, then given a decomposition g_1, g_2 , we observe that

$$0 = \mathbf{P}(\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon})) = \mathbf{P}(g_1) + \mathbf{P}(g_2), \qquad (4.2.7)$$

where **P** denotes the Leray projector onto divergence free vector fields. We define $\tilde{g}_1 := \mathbf{Q}(g_1)$ and $\tilde{g}_2 := g_2 + \mathbf{P}(g_1)$. From (4.2.7) this implies that

$$\tilde{g}_2 = g_2 + \mathbf{P}(g_1) = g_2 - \mathbf{P}(g_2) = \mathbf{Q}(g_2).$$

Hence, there exist \tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2 such that

$$\tilde{g_1} = \nabla \tilde{f_1}, \qquad \tilde{g_2} = \nabla \tilde{f_2}, \quad \text{a.e. in } \mathbf{R}^3,$$

and $\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}) = \tilde{g}_1 + \tilde{g}_2$. We recall again that for any distribution f such that $\nabla f \in L^p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with p < d, there exists a $c \in \mathbf{R}$ such that $f - c \in L^{p^*}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ with the Sobolev exponent $p^* = \frac{dp}{d-p}$. Thus, there exist real numbers c_1, c_2 such that

$$\tilde{f}_1 - c_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; L^3(\mathbf{R}^3)), \text{ and } \tilde{f}_2 - c_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0, T; L^6(\mathbf{R}^3)).$$

Define,

$$f_1 = \tilde{f}_1 - c_1 - P_{\leq 1} \left(\tilde{f}_1 - c_1 \right), \qquad f_2 = \tilde{f}_2 - c_2 + P_{\leq 1} \left(\tilde{f}_1 - c_1 \right).$$

We claim that $f_1 \in L^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Indeed, since $\dot{B}^0_{\frac{3}{2},\frac{3}{2}} \hookrightarrow L^{\frac{3}{2}}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_1\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} &\leq C \|f_1\|_{\dot{B}^{0}_{\frac{3}{2},\frac{3}{2}}} = \left(\sum_{j>0} 2^{-\frac{3}{2}j} 2^{\frac{3}{2}j} \|P_j f_1\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}^{\frac{3}{2}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \\ &\leq C \|f_1\|_{\dot{B}^{1}_{\frac{3}{2},2}} \leq C \|\nabla f_1\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}, \end{aligned}$$

where we used in the last step that $L^{\frac{3}{2}} \hookrightarrow \dot{B}^{0}_{\frac{3}{2},2}$. We conclude that $f_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; W^{1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Next, we check that $f_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. An application of Bernstein's inequality gives

$$\|P_{\leq N}(\tilde{f}_1 - c_1)\|_{L^6} \leq CN^{\frac{1}{2}} \|P_{\leq N}(\tilde{f}_1 - c_1)\|_{L^3},$$

therefore $f_2 \in L^6$. Again by Bernstein's inequality, we control

$$\|\nabla f_2\|_{L^2} \le C\left(\|\nabla (\tilde{f}_2 - c_2)\|_{L^2} + C\|\nabla (P_{\le 1}(\tilde{f}_1 - c_1))\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right)$$

Thus $f_2 \in L^6$ and $\nabla f_2 \in L^2$. Since

$$abla (
ho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} - f_1 - f_2) = 0$$
 a.e. in \mathbf{R}^3 ,

we infer

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} - f_1 - f_2 = C \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad \mathbf{R}^3.$$

The Sobolev embedding yields that since $f_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; W^{1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ also $f_1 \in L^2(\mathbf{R}_+; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$, thus by Corollary 4.2.4,

$$f_2 + C = \rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} - f_1 \in L^2(0, T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)).$$

This implies $f_2 + C \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T;H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and in particular $f_2 + C \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T;L^6(\mathbf{R}^3))$, again by Sobolev embedding. We recover that necessarily C = 0. Finally,

$$\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} = f_1 + f_2 \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad \mathbf{R}^3,$$
where $f_1 \in L^2(0, T; W^{1, \frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $f_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0, T; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

The statement of Proposition 4.2.5 follows by interpolation.

Proof of Proposition 4.2.5. By Lemma 4.2.6, we have that $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} = f_1 + f_2$, where $f_1 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T;W^{1,\frac{3}{2}})$ and $f_2 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T;H^1)$. By Sobolev embedding $f_1 \in L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T;H^{\frac{1}{2}})$, thus we conclude $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{4}{3}-}(0,T;H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$. By interpolation we conclude that for $0 \leq s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ it follows

$$\|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}_{t}H^{s}_{x}} \leq C\|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\|^{2s}_{L^{\frac{4}{3}}-H^{\frac{1}{2}}}\|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\|^{1-2s}_{L^{4}-L^{2s}}$$

for p such that $p < \frac{4}{1+4s}$, that completes the proof.

4.3 Acoustic waves

This section is devoted to the analysis of the acoustic waves in the system. For highly subsonic flows they undergo rapid oscillations in time, so that one expects the acoustic waves to converge weakly to 0. Furthermore, we will see that the dispersion relation satisfied by

the fluctuations around the incompressible flow is not given by the classical waves but by the (scaled) Bogoliubov dispersion relation [34], which in our system reads

$$\omega(\xi) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sqrt{|\xi|^2 + \varepsilon^2 \kappa^2 |\xi|^4}, \qquad (4.3.1)$$

see (4.3.8) below.

To perform this analysis we use identity (2.0.3) and rewrite system (4.0.3) as

$$\partial_t \rho_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) = 0,$$

$$\partial_t (\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla P(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = 2\nu \operatorname{div}(\rho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{D} u_{\varepsilon}) - 4\kappa^2 \operatorname{div}(\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}) + \kappa^2 \nabla \Delta \rho_{\varepsilon}.$$

(4.3.2)

where we recall that the term $\rho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{D} u_{\varepsilon}$ should be interpreted as in (4.1.2). We notice that, by using (4.0.4) we can write

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla P(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{\gamma \varepsilon^2} \nabla \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \sigma_{\varepsilon} + (\gamma - 1) \nabla F_{\varepsilon},$$

so that (4.3.2) reads

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t \sigma_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}(m_{\varepsilon}) = 0, \\
\partial_t m_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta \right) \sigma_{\varepsilon} = G_{\varepsilon},
\end{cases}$$
(4.3.3)

and

$$G_{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div}\left(-\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\otimes u_{\varepsilon} - 4\kappa^{2}\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} + 2\nu\rho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{D}u_{\varepsilon} - (\gamma-1)F_{\varepsilon}\mathbb{I}\right).$$
(4.3.4)

Projecting onto irrotational vector fields we obtain the system describing acoustic waves

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \sigma_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}) = 0, \\ \partial_t \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta\right) \sigma_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{Q}(G_{\varepsilon}). \end{cases}$$
(4.3.5)

The initial datum for (4.3.5) is given by

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{0} = \frac{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \qquad \qquad m_{\varepsilon}^{0} = \rho_{\varepsilon}^{0} u_{\varepsilon}^{0},$$

where we observe that by Lemma 4.2.1,

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in H^{-\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{3}), \qquad m_{\varepsilon}^{0} \in H^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{3}).$$

$$(4.3.6)$$

The main result of this section shows the strong convergence to 0 of the acoustic waves.

Theorem 4.3.1. Let $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ be a finite energy weak solution of (4.0.3). Then, for any $0 < T < \infty$

- (i) the density fluctuations $\rho_{\varepsilon}-1$ converge strongly to 0 in $C(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and in $L^4(0,T;H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for any $s \in (-\frac{3}{2},1)$,
- (ii) If $\gamma = 2$, then σ_{ε} converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(0,T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for any 2 < q < 6,
(iii) for any $2 < q < \frac{9}{4}$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(0,T; B^{\delta}_{a,2}(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

In order to infer estimates on $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon})$ by studying (4.3.5), we derive Strichartz estimates for a symmetrization of the linearised system (4.3.5) that will ultimately imply the convergence of $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon})$. More precisely, we define

$$\tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} := (1 - \varepsilon^2 \kappa^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma_{\varepsilon} \qquad \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} := (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{div} m_{\varepsilon},$$

and check that if $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, m_{\varepsilon})$ is a solution of (4.3.5) then $(\tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}, \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}})$ satisfies the symmetrized system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} = 0, \\ \partial_t \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \kappa^2 \varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} = \tilde{F_{\varepsilon}}, \end{cases}$$
(4.3.7)

where $\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon} = (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{div} F_{\varepsilon}$. Hence, the linear evolution is characterised by the unitary semigroup $e^{-itH_{\varepsilon}}$, where

$$H_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sqrt{(-\Delta)(1 - (\varepsilon \kappa)^2 \Delta)}$$
(4.3.8)

is a self-adjoint operator with Fourier multiplier given by (4.3.1). In what follows, we are going to provide a class of Strichartz estimates for the linear propagator $e^{-itH_{\varepsilon}}$ which will yield a control of some mixed space-time norms of $(\tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}, \tilde{m_{\varepsilon}})$ in terms of the (scaled) Mach number. An interpolation argument exploiting the *a priori* estimates introduced in Section 4.2 gives the final result. The Strichartz estimates are stated in the framework of Besov spaces, for the sake of conciseness we postpone their proof to the Section 4.5.

Before stating the next Proposition, we recall that a pair of Lebesgue exponents (p,q) is called Schrödinger admissible if $2 \le p, q \le \infty$ and $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = \frac{3}{2}$.

Proposition 4.3.2. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, fix $\alpha > 0$ arbitrarily small and let (p,q), (p_1,q_1) be two admissible pairs. Then the following estimates hold true

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{0}_{q,2}} \le C\varepsilon^{\alpha}\|f\|_{B^{\alpha}_{2,2}},\tag{4.3.9}$$

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L_{t}^{p} B_{q,2}^{0}} \le C \varepsilon^{\alpha} \|F\|_{L^{p'_{1}} B_{q'_{1},2}^{\alpha}}.$$
(4.3.10)

Proposition 4.3.2 will be proved in Section 4.5, in fact it will be a consequence of the more general Proposition 4.5.10.

Let us remark that the case $\varepsilon = 1$ was already studied in [95], where the authors infer dispersive estimates for the propagator e^{itH_1} in order to study scattering properties for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. In our case we need to keep track of the ε -dependence of the estimates, in order to show the convergence to zero of the acoustic part. However, since $H_{\varepsilon} = H_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{-\Delta})$ is a non-homogeneous function of $\sqrt{-\Delta}$, it is not possible to obtain a decay in ε by simply rescaling the estimates in [95]. This is for example different from what happens for classical fluids [68] where the wave-like acoustic dispersion yields the convergence to zero by scaling the estimates and by considering the fast dynamics for the fluctuations.

On the other hand here we can exploit that the Strichartz estimates associated to the operator (4.3.8) are slightly better than the ones for the Schrödinger operator close to the Fourier origin. This fact is also noticed in [95] for H_1 . By exploiting this regularizing effect, Proposition 4.3.2 somehow improves a class of similar estimates inferred in [26] in another context (the linear wave regime for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation). Indeed the authors of [26] consider H_{ε} in two different regimes: for low frequencies below the threshold $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ the operator behaves like the wave operator, while above the threshold it is Schrödinger-like. In this way the low frequency part experiences a derivative loss, due to the wave-type dispersive estimates inferred.

Here we do not split H_{ε} in low and high frequencies, nevertheless we prove the convergence to zero of the acoustic part by only losing a small amount of derivatives.

In order to apply the estimates (4.3.9), (4.3.10) to system (4.3.5), we first need to bound F_{ε} defined in (4.3.4) in suitable spaces.

Lemma 4.3.3. If $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a finite energy solution to (4.0.3), then one has,

- (i) $F_{\varepsilon,1} = \operatorname{div}\left(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon} + 4\kappa^2 \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\right) + (\gamma 1) \nabla F_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; B_{2,2}^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3)), \text{ for } s > \frac{5}{2},$
- (*ii*) $F_{\varepsilon,2} = 2\nu \operatorname{div} (\rho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{D} u_{\varepsilon}) \in L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T; B_{2,2}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

Proof. We shall use repeatedly the embeddings $L^1(\mathbf{R}^3) \hookrightarrow H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3) = B^{-s}_{2,2}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ valid for $s > \frac{3}{2}$. For the first statement, we observe that

$$(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\otimes u_{\varepsilon})+4\kappa^2(\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\otimes\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}})+F_{\varepsilon}\in L^{\infty}(0,T;L^1(\mathbf{R}^3)),$$

and thus $G_{\varepsilon,1} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $s > \frac{5}{2}$. In particular this implies $G_{\varepsilon,1} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; B_{q,2}^{-s-\frac{3}{2}+\frac{3}{q}}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $q \ge 2$ and $s > \frac{5}{2}$.

Regarding the second statement, we observe that

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{4}{3}-}L^{2}} \leq C_{T}\left(\|\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{t,x}} + \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{4-}_{t}L^{\infty}_{x}}\|\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{t,x}}\right),$$

= $L^{\infty}(0, T; H^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^{3})).$

and thus $F_{\varepsilon,2} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

Remark 4.3.4. Here, we need to use Strichartz estimates in non-homogeneous spaces. This is due to the fact that L^1 has no embedding in any homogeneous Besov space but $\dot{B}^0_{1,\infty}$.

By combining the dispersive estimates of Proposition 4.3.2 and the bounds in Lemma 4.3.3 we can then infer the convergence to zero of $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon})$.

Proposition 4.3.5. Let $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, m_{\varepsilon})$ be solution of (4.3.3) with initial data $(\sigma_{\varepsilon,0}, m_{\varepsilon,0})$. Then for any $s \in \mathbf{R}$, $\alpha > 0$ arbitrarily small and for any admissible pairs $(p,q), (p_1,q_1)$, the following estimate holds true

$$\|(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}))\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{s-\alpha}_{q,2}} \leq C_{T}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha}\|(\sigma_{\varepsilon,0}, m_{\varepsilon,0})\|_{H^{s}} + \varepsilon^{\alpha}\|F_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p'_{1}}B^{s}_{q'_{1},2}}\right).$$
(4.3.11)

Moreover, for any admissible pair (p,q) and any s > 5/2,

$$\|(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}))\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{-s-\alpha}_{q,2}} \le C_{T}\varepsilon^{\alpha}.$$
(4.3.12)

The condition s > 5/2 is due to the low regularity of the nonlinearity in (4.3.5).

Proof. The inequality (4.3.11) follows from (4.3.9), (4.3.10) and the observation that for any $s \in \mathbf{R}$ and $1 < q \leq \infty$ one has that

$$\|\sigma_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^p_t B^s_{q,2}} \le C \|\tilde{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^p_t B^s_{q,2}},\tag{4.3.13}$$

and

$$\|\mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{s}_{q,2}} \le C\|\tilde{m_{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{s}_{q,2}}.$$
(4.3.14)

Indeed, to check (4.3.13) we define the operator $T(f) = (1 - \varepsilon^2 \kappa^2 \Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f$. By means of Bernstein inequalities and straight forward estimates on the derivatives of the symbol of T, we conclude that $T: B^s_{q,2} \to B^s_{q,2}$ is bounded for any $s \in \mathbf{R}$.

The inequality (4.3.14), follows from observing that the projection on the gradient part \mathbf{Q} is given by a matrix valued Fourier multiplier $m(\xi) = \frac{\xi_k \xi_j}{|\xi|^2}$ while the change of variables $(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ div corresponds to the multiplier $\frac{\xi_j}{|\xi|}$. Hence, the operator $\tilde{m_{\varepsilon}} \mapsto \mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}$ is a Fourier multiplier of degree 0. Therefore for any $1 \leq q, r \leq \infty$ and $s \in \mathbf{R}$ one has

$$\|\mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}\|_{B^{s}_{q,r}} \leq C \|\tilde{m_{\varepsilon}}\|_{B^{s}_{q,r}}.$$

Similarly, it is easy to check that

$$\|\tilde{m}_{\varepsilon,0}\|_{B^s_{q,r}} \le C \|m_{\varepsilon,0}\|_{B^s_{q,r}}.$$

and that

$$\|\tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon,0}\|_{B^s_{2,2}} \le C\left(\|P_{\le \frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(\sigma_{\varepsilon,0})\|_{B^s_{2,2}} + \|P_{>\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(\varepsilon\nabla\sigma_{\varepsilon,0})\|_{B^s_{2,2}}\right),$$

where we recall that $\sigma_{\varepsilon,0} \in B_{2,2}^{-s}$ for $s < \frac{3}{2}$ and $\varepsilon \nabla \sigma_{\varepsilon,0} \in H^{-\frac{1}{2}-}$ uniformly in ε in virtue of Lemma 4.2.1. It remains to prove (4.3.12). From (4.3.6), we have that $\sigma_{\varepsilon,0}, m_{\varepsilon,0} \in H^{\tilde{s}}$ if $\tilde{s} < -\frac{3}{2}$. Lemma 4.3.3 yields $G_{\varepsilon} = G_{\varepsilon,1} + G_{\varepsilon,2}$ with $G_{\varepsilon,1} \in L^{\infty}(0,\infty; B_{2,2}^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $s > \frac{5}{2}$ and $G_{\varepsilon,2} \in L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T; B_{2,2}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Hence, for $(p_1, q_1) = (\infty, 2)$ we obtain

$$||G_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{p'_{1}}(0,T;B^{-s}_{q'_{1},2})} \le C_{T},$$

provided $s > \frac{5}{2}$. Thus for any admissible pair (p,q) and $s > \frac{5}{2}$, one has that

$$\|(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}))\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{-s-\alpha}_{q,2}} \leq C_{T}\varepsilon^{\alpha} \left(\|(\sigma^{0}_{\varepsilon}, m^{0}_{\varepsilon})\|_{B^{-s}_{2,2}} + \|G_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}B^{-s}_{2,2}}\right) \leq C_{T}'\varepsilon^{\alpha}$$

This completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.1.

Proof. The statements of point (i) follow from the uniform bounds established in Lemma 4.2.3. The first statement is immediate and the second statement follows from the bound $\varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^4(\mathbf{R}_+; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $s > \frac{3}{2}$. By interpolation $\varepsilon \sigma_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in $L^4(0, T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for any $s \in (-\frac{3}{2}, 1)$. The statement (ii) is inferred by observing that from Lemma 4.2.3 one has $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0, T; H^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$ if $\gamma = 2$. Interpolation with (4.3.12) yields that $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in $L^2(0, T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

Finally, to obtain a bound on $\mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}$, we interpolate between the *a priori* bound (4.2.6) and the inequality (4.3.12) that holds for any $\tilde{s} > \frac{5}{2}$, any $\tilde{\alpha} > 0$ sufficiently small. Bound (4.2.6) implies that $m_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{4}{1+4s}-}(0,T; B_{q,2}^{s-3(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q})}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for any $q \ge 2$ and $0 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}$. By interpolation, we have that for $r = \theta(-\tilde{s} - \tilde{\alpha}) + (1 - \theta)(s - 3(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}))$ it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})\|_{L_{t}^{p}B_{q,2}^{r}} &\leq \left\| \|\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})\|_{B_{q,2}^{r_{1}}}^{\theta} \|\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})\|_{B_{q,2}^{r_{2}}}^{1-\theta} \right\|_{L_{t}^{p}} \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})\|_{L_{t}^{p_{1}}B_{q,2}^{r_{1}}}^{\theta} \|\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})\|_{L_{t}^{p_{2}}B_{q,2}^{r_{2}}}^{1-\theta} \end{aligned}$$

Hence, choosing $\tilde{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q} \right)$, we look for (θ, s, r, q) such that $0 < \theta < 1$, $0 < s \leq \frac{1}{2}$, $2 < q \leq 6$ and moreover

$$\theta > \frac{\frac{11}{4} - \frac{1}{2q}}{s + \frac{5}{2q} + \frac{5}{4}} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad r > 0,$$

as well as

$$\frac{1}{p} = \theta \left(s + \frac{3}{2q} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q} \right).$$

We compute that for $2 < q < \frac{9}{4}$ there exists $\alpha > 0$ and (θ, s, r) such that the above requirements are met and moreover $r > \alpha$ and $p \ge 2$. We find that

$$\|\mathbf{Q}m_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;B^{\alpha}_{q,2})} \leq C_{T}\varepsilon^{(1-\theta)\alpha}.$$

4.4 Convergence to the limiting system

The uniform bound $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{4}{1+4s}}(0,T;H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$ for $0 \leq s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ shown in Proposition 4.2.5 implies that up to passing to a subsequence there exists $u \in L^{\frac{4}{1+4s}}(0,T;H^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$ such that $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup u$. We decompose $\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} = m_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}) + \mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon})$ by means of the Helmholtz projection operator and analyse the convergence of the incompressible part $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon})$.

Proposition 4.4.1. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.2, $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon})$ converges strongly to u in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ as ε goes to 0. Further, m_{ε} converges strongly to u in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3))$.

Proof. From (4.2.6), we have $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \in L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $0 \leq s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ and $1 \leq p < \frac{4}{1+4s}$. Thus, there exists $\tilde{u} \in L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ such that $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup \tilde{u}$ weakly in $L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Moreover, from

$$\partial_t \mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) + \mathbf{P}\left(\operatorname{div}\left(m_{\varepsilon} \otimes u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) = 2\nu \mathbf{P}\left(\operatorname{div}\left(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) + \kappa^2 \mathbf{P}\left(\operatorname{div}\left(\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\right)\right),$$

with \mathbf{S}_{ε} defined in (4.1.2), we conclude that $\partial_t \mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \in L^2(0,T; H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for any $s > \frac{5}{2}$. Indeed, it suffices to observe that from the energy bounds of Lemma 4.2.2 we have $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$, $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. In the virtue of the Aubin-Lions Lemma, we infer from $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \in L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$ with $0 \leq s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ and $1 \leq p < \frac{4}{1+4s}$ and from $\partial_t \mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \in L^2(0,T; H^{-s}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $s > \frac{5}{2}$ that if \tilde{u} is the weak limit of $\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon})$ then

$$\mathbf{P}(m_{\varepsilon}) \to \tilde{u}$$
 strongly in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

We recall that $m_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup u$ weakly in $L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$. In order to conclude that the sequence $\{m_{\varepsilon}\}$ converges strongly to u in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3))$, i. e. $u = \tilde{u}$, it remains to show that

$$\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$$
 strongly in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3)).$

From Theorem 4.3.1, one has that $\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon})$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(0,T; B^{\delta}_{q,2}(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for some q > 2 and $\delta > 0$. We notice that $B^{\delta}_{q,2}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ is continuously embedded in L^q , thus $\mathbf{Q}(m_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$ in $L^2(0,T; L^q(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for some q > 2 and therefore in particular in $L^2(0,T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^3))$. \Box

The strong convergence of $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1$ provided by Lemma 4.2.2 allows us to infer the strong convergence of $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ to u.

Corollary 4.4.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.2, $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}$ converges strongly to u in $L^{2}(0,T; L^{2}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^{3})).$

Proof. It suffices to consider for any compact $K \subset \mathbf{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} \|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon} - u\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(K))} &\leq \|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} - u\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(K))}\| + \|(1 - \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}})\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(K))} \\ &\leq \|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} - u\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(K))} \\ &+ C\|(1 - \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}})\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{\infty}(K))}\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(K))} \\ &\leq C\left(\|\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon} - u\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(K))}\| + \varepsilon^{\beta}\right), \end{split}$$

for some $\beta > 0$, where we used the convergence provided by Lemma 4.2.2 in the last step. \Box

The obtained compactness enables us to pass to limit in the weak formulation of the equations.

Lemma 4.4.3. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.2, the limit function u is a weak solution of (4.0.5) with initial data $u|_{t=0} = \mathbf{P}(u_0)$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3; \mathbf{R}^3)$. We infer from Lemma 4.2.2 and Corollary 4.4.2, that passing to the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ in the continuity equation

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \rho_{\varepsilon,0} \phi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \rho_{\varepsilon} \phi_t + \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \nabla \phi = 0,$$

yields div u = 0 in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. We consider the weak formulation of the momentum equation projected onto divergence free vector fields, let $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3; \mathbf{R}^3)$ such that div $\psi = 0$, and consider

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \rho_{\varepsilon,0} u_{\varepsilon,0} \psi(0) + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \psi_{t} + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \psi
- 2\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}) \nabla \psi - 2\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \psi
+ \nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} u_{\varepsilon} \Delta \psi - 4\kappa^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} (\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}) \nabla \psi = 0,$$
(4.4.1)

Invoking Lemma 4.2.2 and Corollary 4.4.2, one concludes that the (4.4.1) converges to

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \mathbf{P}(u_0)\psi(0) + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} u\psi_t + (u \otimes u) \nabla \psi + \nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} u\Delta \psi = 0$$

Moreover we used that $\rho_{\varepsilon,0}u_{\varepsilon,0}$ converges weakly to u_0 in $L_{loc}^{\frac{3}{2}-}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ as consequence from (4.1.7) and Lemma 4.2.1. We conclude by recalling that ψ is divergence free. Therefore, there exists a function p defined on $(0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3$ such that u is solution of

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = 2\nu \Delta u, \quad \operatorname{div} u = 0 \quad \operatorname{in} \mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3),$$

with initial data $\mathbf{P}(u_0)$, where we recall that by (4.1.7) we assumed $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0} u_{\varepsilon}^0 \rightharpoonup u_0$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^3)$. \Box

As we already said, at fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ the finite energy weak solutions $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ to (4.0.3) satisfy a weak version of the energy inequality due to the degenerate viscosity, namely

$$E(t) + 2\nu \int_0^t |\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}x \le E(0),$$

where \mathbf{S}_{ε} is given by (4.1.2). We remark that in fact in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ it is possible to recover the usual energy dissipation. More precisely, the uniform boundedness of $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0, T, L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ only yields that $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \to S$ weakly in $L^2((0, T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. In the next Proposition we show that in fact we have $S = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{D}u$. Moreover, by assuming the initial data to be well-prepared then by the convergence of the total energy at initial time we can also show that the limit function uobtained is indeed a Leray solution.

Proposition 4.4.4. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.2, let \mathbf{S}_{ε} be as defined in (4.1.2) then

 $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup \mathbf{D}u$ in $L^2((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$.

Consequently, the limiting u solution to (4.0.5) satisfies $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{3})) \cap L^{2}(0,T; \dot{H}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{3}))$. If additionally, $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}, u_{\varepsilon}^{0})$ satisfies (4.1.8), then u is a Leray solution of (4.0.5), i.e. it satisfies (4.1.9).

Proof. In virtue of Lemma 4.4.3 the limit function u is a weak solution of (4.0.5) with initial data $u|_{t=0} = \mathbf{P}(u_0)$. Next, we show that $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{D}u$ in $L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. From Lemma 4.2.2, one has that $\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \to S$ weakly in $L^2((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. Moreover, $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \to S$ in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. Indeed, let us write $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} + (\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1)\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}$. The second term converges to 0 in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ since $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \to 0$ strongly in $L^{\infty}(0,T,L^q(\mathbf{R}^3))$ for $2 \leq q < 6$ from Lemma 4.2.2. On the other hand, from (4.1.2) we infer that $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{D}u$ in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$. Indeed, from Proposition 4.4.1, we have $\nabla(\rho_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}) \to \nabla u$ in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^3)$ and from $\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \to 0$ in $L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ by Lemma 4.2.2, it follows $\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}u_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in $L^2(0,T,L^1(\mathbf{R}^3))$. Thus $S = \mathbf{D}u \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. We observe that for $u \in H^1(\mathbf{R}^3)$ such that div u = 0, one has

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 2 \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\mathbf{D}u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Finally, by lower semi-continuity we conclude that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} |u|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\nabla u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \rho_\varepsilon |u_\varepsilon|^2 + \kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_\varepsilon}|^2 \mathrm{d}x + 2\nu \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |\mathbf{S}_\varepsilon|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \rho_\varepsilon^0 |u_\varepsilon^0|^2 + \kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_\varepsilon^0}|^2 + F_\varepsilon^0 \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Thus, $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$ and $\nabla u \in L^2(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^3))$. The additional uniform estimate is provided by Proposition 4.2.5. In order to conclude (4.1.9), it remains to show that,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \rho_{\varepsilon}^0 |u_{\varepsilon}^0|^2 + \kappa^2 |\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^0}|^2 + F_{\varepsilon}^0 dx \to \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} |u^0|^2 \mathrm{d}x.$$

If the initial data satisfies (4.1.8), the proof is complete.

Finally, we stress that, since the bounds obtained in Proposition 4.2.5 are uniform in $\varepsilon > 0$, they are also inherited by the solution to (4.0.5) obtained in the limit. Next Proposition proves the last statement of Theorem 4.1.2.

Proposition 4.4.5. Let u be the solution to (4.0.5) obtained in the limit. Then for any $0 < T < \infty$ it satisfies $u \in L^p(0,T; H^s(\mathbf{R}^3))$, with $0 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $1 \le p < \frac{1}{1+4s}$.

4.5 Strichartz estimates for the acoustic wave system

The main purpose of this Section is to give a proof of Proposition 4.3.2 (see Proposition 4.5.10 below), that is we want to study the dispersive properties satisfied by solutions to

system (4.3.7). Even if this chapter only studies the three dimensional setting for the sake of completeness the whole analysis is carried out in the general *d*-dimensional setting ($d \ge 2$). As already mentioned, for $\varepsilon = 1$, the dispersive analysis associated to the operator H_1 has been carried out in [95, 96, 97]. In this study, we need to carefully track down the ε -dependence on the estimates as the (scaled) Mach number ε not only determines a time scale but also a frequency threshold such that the operator behaves differently. This is due to the nonhomogenity of the dispersion relation and is opposite to the analysis of low Mach number limit in classical fluid dynamics where the Mach number ε only determines the time scale. The dispersive analysis for non-homogeneous symbols has been investigated in more general framework also in [93, 61, 92].

4.5.1 Dispersive estimate

In what follows we are going to prove the $L^{\infty} - L^1$ dispersive estimate associated for the semigroup $e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}$. For the convenience of the reader, we recall the stationary phase estimate in [95].

Proposition 4.5.1 ([95]). Let $\phi(r) \in C^{\infty}(0, \infty)$ satisfy the following.

- (i) $\phi'(r), \phi''(r) > 0$ for all r > 0.
- (ii) $\phi'(r) \sim \phi'(s)$ and $\phi''(r) \sim \phi''(s)$ for all 0 < s < r < 2s.
- (iii) $\left|\phi^{(k+1)}(r)\right| \lesssim \frac{\phi'(r)}{r^k}$ for all r > 0 and $k \in \mathbf{N}$.

Let $\chi(r)$ be a dyadic cut-off function with support around $r \sim R$ and that satisfies

$$|\chi^{(k+1)}(r)| \lesssim R^{-k}.$$

These estimates are supposed to hold uniformly for r and R, but may depend on k. Then if

$$I_{\phi}(t,x,R) := \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} e^{it\phi(|\xi|) + ix \cdot \xi} \, d\xi$$

we have

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^d} |I_{\phi}(t, x, R)| \lesssim t^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{\phi'(R)}{R}\right)^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\phi''(R)\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(4.5.1)

Several observations are in order. We define

$$h(r) = \det\left(\operatorname{Hess}(\phi(r))\right), \qquad (4.5.2)$$

and exploiting that ϕ is a radial function we compute

$$h(r) = \left(\frac{\phi'(r)}{r}\right)^{d-1} \phi''(r)$$

so that the right hand side of (4.5.1) involves $h(R)^{-1/2}$. This is consistent with the general theory for stationary phase estimates, see for instance Theorem 7.7.6 in [104]. Furthermore, from Proposition 2 in [61] it follows that the dispersive estimate (4.5.1) is sharp in the sense that there exists t_0 and R_0 such that for all $|t| > |t_0|$ and $R > R_0$ there exists C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^d} |I_{\phi}(t, x, R)| \ge Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{\phi'(R)}{R}\right)^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\phi''(R)\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(4.5.3)

In [95], the estimate (4.5.1) has been applied to the pseudo-differential operator H_1 , i.e. $\phi(r) = r\sqrt{1 + \kappa^2 r^2}$. We remark that the dispersive estimate for the symbol ω defined by the Bogliubov dispersion relation (4.3.1) can be obtained from estimate (4.5.1) by defining

$$\phi_{\varepsilon}(r) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \phi(\varepsilon r).$$

Indeed, we notice that $\omega(r) = \phi_{\varepsilon}(r)$ and after a computation that

$$\det (\operatorname{Hess}(\phi_{\varepsilon}(r))) = h(\varepsilon r)$$

as well as

$$I_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}(t,x,R) := \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} e^{ix\xi + it\phi_{\varepsilon}(r)} \chi(r) d\xi = \varepsilon^{-d} I_{\phi}(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^2}, \frac{x}{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon R), \qquad (4.5.4)$$

by rescaling. We remark that the scaling affects the support of frequencies. Finally, to track down the ε -dependence in the dispersive estimate it is enough to study the properties of the Hessian matrix of ϕ_{ε} in terms of its determinant $h(\varepsilon r)$.

Lemma 4.5.2. Let h be defined as in (4.5.2). There exists C > 0 such that for any $\lambda \in [0, \infty]$,

$$0 \le h(\lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le C \frac{1}{\kappa^{\frac{d}{2}}} \left(\frac{\kappa\lambda}{\sqrt{1+(\kappa\lambda)^2}}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}$$
(4.5.5)

For d = 2, there exists C > 0 such that for any $\lambda \in [0, \infty)$,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \le h(\lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le C.$$

Proof. This follows from immediate computations.

The information on the (scaled) function h allows to derive the dispersive estimate for the symbol ϕ_{ε} .

Corollary 4.5.3. Let $\phi_{\varepsilon}(r) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}r\sqrt{1 + (\varepsilon\kappa)^2r^2}$, R > 0 be given and let $\chi(r) \in C_c(0,\infty)$ be as in Proposition 4.5.1. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^d} |I_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}(t, x, R)| \le Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{\phi_{\varepsilon}'(R)}{R}\right)^{-\frac{(d-1)}{2}} \phi_{\varepsilon}''(R)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(4.5.6)

In particular, this implies there exists C > 0 independent from ε such that,

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^d} |I_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}(t, x, R)| \le Ct^{-\frac{a}{2}} h(\varepsilon R)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le C' t^{-\frac{a}{2}}$$
(4.5.7)

Proof. For fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, the assumptions of Proposition 4.5.1 on $\phi_{\varepsilon}(r)$ are met and (4.5.6) follows. By using (4.5.4) and (4.5.1) we obtain

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^{d}} |I_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}(t, x, R)| = \varepsilon^{-d} \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^{d}} \left| I_{\phi}(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^{2}}, \frac{x}{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon R) \right|$$
$$\leq Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{\phi'(\varepsilon R)}{\varepsilon R} \right)^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\phi''(\varepsilon R) \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} = Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}} h(\varepsilon R)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

To conclude the second estimate, it is enough to observe that for $d \ge 2$ there exists C > 0 such that $h(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le C$ uniformly on $(0, \infty)$ as consequence of Lemma 4.5.2.

The estimate in (4.5.7) implies that the operator H_{ε} has the same dispersive properties as the Schrödinger operator. As a consequence (4.5.7) would yield Schrödinger type dispersive estimates for frequency localized functions. However, from (4.5.5) we shall infer that in fact, for d > 2, we can derive better estimates, due to the regularizing effect of $\frac{(\varepsilon r)}{\sqrt{1+(\varepsilon r)^2}}$ when εr is small. This has already been pointed out in [95] for the operator e^{itH_1} and is explained by a different curvature of the geometric surface $|\xi|\sqrt{1+|\xi|^2}$ with respect to $|\xi|^2$. We reformulate this observation in the next Corollary.

Corollary 4.5.4. Let $d \ge 2$, $\phi_{\varepsilon}(r) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}r\sqrt{1 + (\varepsilon\kappa)^2r^2}$, R > 0 be given and let $\chi(r) \in C_c(0,\infty)$ be as in Proposition 4.5.1. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^d} |I_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}(t, x, R)| \le \frac{C}{\kappa^{\frac{d}{2}}} t^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{\varepsilon \kappa R}{\sqrt{1 + (\varepsilon \kappa R)^2}} \right)^{\delta}, \tag{4.5.8}$$

for any $0 \le \delta \le \frac{d-2}{2}$.

Remark 4.5.5. We emphasize that the RHS in the estimate (4.5.8) blows up as κ goes to 0. This reflects the contribution of the quantum pressure term to the dispersion relation. In the absence of the quantum pressure, i.e. $\kappa = 0$, one recovers a linear dispersion relation for which wave-type dispersive estimates are to be expected and (4.5.8) being of Schrödinger type does not hold. However, here we consider the system (4.0.3) for fixed and bounded κ and thus we set $\kappa = 1$ in the following, see also the scaling chosen in Section 4.1.1.

This motivates to define the pseudo-differential operator U_{ε} corresponding to the Fourier multiplier

$$m(\varepsilon\xi) = \frac{(\varepsilon\xi)}{\sqrt{1 + (\varepsilon|\xi|)^2}}, \quad \text{as} \quad U_\varepsilon := (-\varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \varepsilon^2 \Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}. \tag{4.5.9}$$

In particular, this allows to gain the factor ε^{δ} in the estimate at the expense of a factor R^{δ} corresponding to a loss of derivatives, see inequality (4.5.10).

4.5.2 Strichartz estimates

Next, we infer the needed Strichartz estimates from the dispersive estimate (4.5.8). First, we recall the definition of admissible exponents.

Definition 4.5.6. We say the pair of exponents (p,q) is Schrödinger admissible if $2 \le p,q \le \infty$,

$$\frac{2}{p} + \frac{d}{q} = \frac{d}{2}$$

and $(p,q,d) \neq (2,\infty,2)$.

The first step consists in showing a pointwise in time estimate.

Lemma 4.5.7 (Pointwise estimate). For fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ and R > 0, let $f \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ such that $supp(\hat{f}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbf{R}^d : \frac{1}{2}R \leq |\xi| \leq 2R\}$. The following estimate holds for any $2 \leq q \leq \infty$:

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} \leq Ct^{-d\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)}f\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbf{R}^{d})},$$

and consequently

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} \leq Ct^{-d\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} (\varepsilon R)^{\delta\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)} \|f\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbf{R}^{d})}.$$
(4.5.10)

Proof. The operator $e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}$ is unitary on L^2 therefore there exists $C_1 > 0$ not depending on ε, R so that

$$||e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f||_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} \leq C_{1}||f||_{L^{2}},$$

Furthermore, Corollary 4.5.4 guarantees that there exists $C_2 > 0$ not depending on ε, R

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)} \leq C_2 t^{-\frac{d}{2}} \|U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}f\|_{L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)}.$$

By a standard interpolation argument we conclude the proof. Estimate (4.5.10) follows from

$$\left(\frac{\varepsilon R}{\sqrt{1+\varepsilon^2 R^2}}\right)^{\delta\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)} \le (\varepsilon R)^{\delta\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)}.$$

Next, we show Strichartz estimates localized in frequencies on dyadic blocks.

Lemma 4.5.8. For $d \ge 2$, $\varepsilon, R > 0$ and $0 < \delta \le \frac{d-2}{2}$, let $f \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $F \in L^{p'}(0,T;L^{q'})$ such that $supp(\hat{f}), supp(\hat{F}(t)) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbf{R}^d : \frac{1}{2}R \le |\xi| \le 2R\}$ Then there exists a constant C > 0 independent from T, ε such that for any $(p, q), (p_1, q_1)$ admissible pairs,

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}L^{q}_{x}} \le C\|U^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}_{\varepsilon}f\|_{L^{2}}, \qquad (4.5.11)$$

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{-itH_{\varepsilon}} F(t) dt \right\|_{L^2} \le C \| U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} F \|_{L_t^{p'} L_x^{q'}}.$$
(4.5.12)

Moreover,

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}_{t}L^{q}_{x}} \leq C^{2} \| U^{\delta\left(1-\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)}_{\varepsilon} F \|_{L^{p'_{1}}_{t}L^{q'_{1}}_{x}},$$

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}_{t}L^{q}_{x}} \leq C^{2} \| U^{\delta\left(1-\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)}_{\varepsilon} F \|_{L^{p'_{1}}_{t}L^{q'_{1}}_{x}}.$$
(4.5.13)

Proof. Given (4.5.8) and considering the fact that $e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}$ is an isometry on $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, we observe that Theorem 1 of [115] applies. We notice that the constants in the estimates (4.5.11) are identical as coming from an abstract duality argument.

We remark that for $\varepsilon = 1$, we recover the Strichartz estimates provided by Theorem 2.1 in [95].

Proposition 4.5.9. Let $d \ge 2$, $\varepsilon > 0$, $0 < \delta \le \frac{d-2}{2}$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 independent from T, ε such that for any (p, q), (p_1, q_1) admissible pairs,

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}\dot{B}^{0}_{q,2}} \leq C\|U^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}_{\varepsilon}f\|_{L^{2}},$$
(4.5.14)

and

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}_{t}\dot{B}^{0}_{q,2}} \le C \| U^{\delta\left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)}_{\varepsilon} f \|_{L^{p'_{1}}\dot{B}^{0}_{q'_{1},2}}.$$
(4.5.15)

Proof. By the scaling $t' = \frac{t}{R^2}$ and $x' = \frac{x}{R}$, for $R \in \mathbf{R}$, we achieve that $P_R(e^{it'H_{\varepsilon}}f)(t', x')$ is spectrally supported in the annulus $\{\xi \in \mathbf{R}^d : \frac{1}{2} \le |\xi| \le 2\}$. Therefore, we infer from (4.5.11) that

$$\left\| P_R\left(e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\right) \right\|_{L^p_t L^q_x} = R^{\frac{d}{q} + \frac{2}{p}} \left\| P_1\left(e^{it'H_{\varepsilon}}f\right) \right\|_{L^p_t L^q_{x'}}$$
$$\leq CR^{\frac{d}{q} + \frac{2}{p}} \left\| P_1\left(U^{\frac{\beta(q)}{2}}_{\varepsilon}f\right) \right\|_{L^2_{x'}} \leq C \left\| P_R\left(U^{\frac{\beta(q)}{2}}_{\varepsilon}f\right) \right\|_{L^2}$$

for any admissible pair (p,q). Similarly, the bound (4.5.13) implies that for admissible pairs (p,q) and (p_1,q_1) , we have

$$\left\| P_R\left(\int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right) \right\|_{L^p_t L^q_x} \le C^2 \left\| P_R\left(U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta\left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_1}\right)} F \right) \right\|_{L^{p'_1} L^{q'_1}}$$

Hence, given an admissible pair (p, q), we compute

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| e^{itH_{\varepsilon}} f \right\|_{L^{p}\dot{B}^{s}_{q,2}} &\leq \left\| R^{s} \right\| P_{R} \left(e^{itH_{\varepsilon}} f \right) \|_{L^{p}L^{q}} \right\|_{l^{2}} \\ &\leq C \left\| R^{s} \left\| P_{R} \left(U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} f \right) \right\|_{L^{2}} \right\|_{l^{2}} \\ &\leq C \left\| U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} f \right\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{2,2}}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used Minkowski inequality in the first and third inequality and (4.5.11) in the second. Similarly, we proceed for (4.5.12). Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}\dot{B}^{s}_{q,2}} &= \left\| R^{s} \| P_{R} \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right) \|_{L^{p}L^{q}} \right\|_{l^{2}} \\ &\leq C \left\| R^{s} \left\| P_{R} \left(U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta \left(1-\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)} F \right) \right\|_{L^{p_{1}'}L^{q_{1}'}} \right\|_{l^{2}} \\ &\leq C \| U_{\varepsilon}^{\delta \left(1-\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)} F \|_{L^{p_{1}'}\dot{B}^{s}_{q_{1}',2}}, \end{split}$$

The final estimates follows upon observing that the presence of the operator U_{ε} may be exploited to gain a factor ε as shown in (4.5.10). Further, for our purpose we need the Strichartz estimates to hold in non-homogeneous Besov spaces.

Proposition 4.5.10. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$, fix $\frac{d-2}{2} > \delta > 0$ and $s \in \mathbf{R}$. Let $d \ge 2$. There exists a constant C > 0 independent from T, ε such that for any (p,q) admissible pair, the following hold true,

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{-s-s_{0}}_{q,2}} \le C\varepsilon^{\delta(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q})}\|f\|_{B^{-s}_{2,2}},$$
(4.5.16)

where $s_0 = \delta\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right)$. Moreover for any (p_1, q_1) admissible, we have

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L_{t}^{p} B_{q,2}^{-s-s_{1}}} \le C \varepsilon^{s_{1}} \|F\|_{L^{p_{1}'} B_{q_{1}',2}^{-s}}, \tag{4.5.17}$$

where $s_1 = \delta \left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_1} \right)$

Proof. For $\alpha \geq 0$, one has the following bound for the Fourier multiplier U_{ε}^{α} ,

$$\|U_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha}f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{q,2}} \leq C\varepsilon^{\alpha}\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s+\alpha}_{q,2}}$$

Hence, we conclude

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}\dot{B}^{0}_{q,2}} \leq C\varepsilon^{\delta(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q})}\|f\|_{B^{\delta(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q})}_{2,2}}$$
(4.5.18)

Moreover for any (p_1, q_1) admissible, we have

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}_{t}\dot{B}^{0}_{q,2}} \le C\varepsilon^{\delta\left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)} \|F\|_{L^{p'_{1}}\dot{B}^{\delta\left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)}.$$
(4.5.19)

For s > 0, one has that $B^s_{q,r}$ is continuously embedded in $\dot{B}^s_{q,r}$ if q is finite with

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{q,r}} \le \frac{C}{s} \|f\|_{B^{s}_{q,r}},$$

while for s<0 the space $\dot{B}^s_{q,r}$ is continuously embedded in $B^s_{q,r}$ with

$$||f||_{B^s_{q,r}} \le \frac{C}{|s|} ||f||_{\dot{B}^s_{q,r}}.$$

Using these embeddings and applying the estimates to $(1 - \Delta)^{-\frac{\tilde{s}}{2}} f$ with $\tilde{s} = s + \delta \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right)$, we obtain from (4.5.18) that

$$\|e^{itH_{\varepsilon}}f\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{-s-\delta}_{q,2}\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} \leq C\varepsilon^{\delta\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|f\|_{B^{-s}_{2,2}}.$$

Similarly, from (4.5.19), we conclude

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} e^{i(t-s)H_{\varepsilon}} F(s) \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^{p}_{t}B^{0}_{q,2}} \le C \varepsilon^{\delta \left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)} \|F\|_{L^{p'_{1}}B^{\delta \left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_{1}}\right)}_{q'_{1},2}.$$
(4.5.20)

Applying (4.5.20) to $(1 - \Delta)^{-\frac{\tilde{s}}{2}} F$ with $\tilde{s} = s + \delta \left(1 - \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{q_1} \right)$ yields (4.5.17)

CHAPTER 5

Scaling limit for the QHD system and applications to vortex dynamics

Abstract .

This chapter studies the scaling limit for the QHD system. The characteristic length scale of QHD system which is determined by the healing length is assumed to be infinitesimally small. The scaling limit is reminiscent to the incompressible limit. Section 5.1 proves that in the finite energy framework the convergence provides the trivial solution. We discuss the same limit in the presence of vortices by rephrasing [28] in the hydrodynamic framework in Section 5.2.

The characteristic length scale for the QHD system (2.0.1) over which the density ρ varies is given by the healing length ξ . The healing length, typically very small, characterises the core size of a quantized vortex being radial and of radius $\mathcal{O}(\xi)$, see Proposition 2.5.2. This motivates to consider equilibrium states at infinitesimally small healing length $\xi \to 0$, namely the regime in which the size of the vortex core shrinks to 0. If we denote $\varepsilon := \xi$ and rescale the spatial variable by $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$, we obtain that the scaled stationary vortex solution of degree *n* given by Proposition 2.5.2 reads

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} = f_n^{\varepsilon}(|x|), \qquad \Lambda_{\varepsilon} = n f_n^{\varepsilon}(|x|) \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}, \tag{5.0.1}$$

where $f_n^{\varepsilon}(|x|) = f_n(\frac{|x|}{\varepsilon})$ with f_n solution of (1.3.2). Taking into account the properties of solutions to (1.3.2), see also [103], we find that $f_{\varepsilon,n} \sim \left(\frac{|x|}{\varepsilon}\right)^n$ for $|x| << \varepsilon$, while for $|x| >> \varepsilon$, we have $1 - \frac{\varepsilon^2 n^2}{|x|^2} \leq f_{n,\varepsilon}(|x|) \leq 1$. For a single vortex, we hence recover that as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \to 1, \qquad \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \to n \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2},$$

Moreover, this leads to

div $J_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in \mathcal{D}' , $\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} \to 2\pi n \delta_0$ in \mathcal{D}' .

One is hence heuristically led to an incompressible dynamics with highly concentrated vorticity. Formally, $\rho_{\varepsilon} \to 1$ and the weak limit of J_{ε} , that can be identified with the weak limit of Λ_{ε} , defines a velocity field satisfying

div
$$u = 0$$
, curl $u = 2\pi n\delta$.

An incompressible target system for the scaling limit is consistent with the physical intuition given in the Introduction of this thesis, see Section 0.1. The quantum pressure is relevant to the system if the density varies on length scales of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$. Thus, heuristically by scaling the space variable by $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ one expects that the dynamics is described by the compressible Euler equation, as can easily be seen by comparing

$$P \sim \frac{1}{\gamma} \rho^{\gamma}$$
, and $P_{quantum} = \rho \nabla^2 \log \rho$,

where we used (2.0.3) for the Bohm potential. As discussed in Chapter 4, the presence of the quantum pressure modifies the dispersion relation and, because of quantum effects, leads to the celebrated Bogoliubov dispersion relation and heuristically explains that this modification occurs at a threshold $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$. For the scaled equations (5.0.2), this corresponds to density changes on length-scales of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$. Rescaling further time and the current in a suitable way formally leads to a low Mach number regime. More precisely, we perform the typical parabolic scaling, $t' = \frac{t}{\varepsilon^2}$ and $x' = \frac{x}{\varepsilon}$. Hence, the hydrodynamic unknowns scale as

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}(t',x') = \sqrt{\rho}\left(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^2},\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right), \qquad \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(t',x') = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Lambda\left(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^2},\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right),$$

leading us to investigate the scaling limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ for the rescaled QHD system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} J_{\varepsilon} = 0\\ \partial_t J_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} \left(\Lambda_{\varepsilon} \otimes \Lambda_{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \nabla p(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2} \rho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \left(\frac{\Delta \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}{\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}\right). \end{cases}$$
(5.0.2)

The scaled energy functional reads

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}},\Lambda_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} |\Lambda_{\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2 \gamma(\gamma-1)} \left(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} - 1 - \gamma(\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1)\right) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (5.0.3)$$

and corresponds to the celebrated Ginzburg-Landau energy for $\gamma = 2$. Formally, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the target system (d = 2) is given by the incompressible Euler equation

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = 0, \qquad \text{div}\, u = 0.$$
 (5.0.4)

We are going to consider two distinguished scenarios: firstly we consider finite energy weak solutions to the primitive system (2.0.1), secondly and more interestingly we address the scaling limit for vortex solutions of (5.0.2) which carry infinite energy. In the former case, we show that any sequence of finite energy weak solutions consistent with a scaled wave-function dynamics converges to the trivial solution $\rho = 1$ and u = 0. This results holds true in \mathbb{R}^d for d = 2, 3. In view of the considerations made in Section 2.5.2, the assumption of finite energy rules out the presence of vortices. The physical intuition suggests that since rotational motion is only carried by quantized vortices appearing in the vacuum region, no dynamics should emerge in the given asymptotic regime. The solution of the target system is divergence free, irrotational and of finite energy, hence the trivial one. This heuristics is made rigorous in Section 5.1. In Section 5.2, we aim to consider a sequence of solutions to (2.0.1) exhibiting vortices. We observe that the energy for the stationary solution (5.0.1) to (5.0.2) computed on a sufficiently large ball $B_R(0) \subset \mathbf{R}^2$ reads

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon}, B_R) = 2\pi n^2 |\log \varepsilon| + 2\pi n^2 |\log R| + C,$$

thus is diverging logarithmically. In order to compute the energy functional on the plane, we renormalize it by means of (2.2.2). In this context, we rephrase the result in [28] in hydrodynamic variables. Our motivation is to illustrate the analogy and differences of the vortex dynamics for (2.0.1) in the ε -limit compared to the dynamics of highly concentrated vorticity in an ideal and incompressible fluid. It is well-known that in this context the incompressible Euler equation reduces to the singular dynamics described by the Kirchhoff law (5.2.4) for point vortices. The mathematical model for point vortices has been introduced in [140]. The motion of a two-dimensional ideal incompressible fluid in which the vorticity is given by a diffuse part and a sum of Dirac δ is described by the vortex wave system [139, 124, 65]. For the scaled Gross-Pitaevskii equation (5.2.5), the main result in [28] states that for small $\varepsilon > 0$ the evolution of a sufficiently well-prepared multi-vortex configuration through (5.2.5) stays close to the multi-vortex configuration that is given by the evolution of the initial configuration through the Kirchhoff-Onsager ODE system, at least up to the first collision.

5.1 Scaling limit for finite energy weak solutions

This section presents the analysis of the scaling limit in the class of finite energy weak solutions provided by Theorem 2.1.3, namely solutions that are consistent with a underlying wavefunction dynamics. As pointed out, the dynamics is asymptotically governed by an ideal incompressible fluid. Further, we consider finite energy weak solutions for the primitive system that satisfy the generalized irrotationality condition

$$\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \Lambda_{\varepsilon},$$

that on its turn will entail $\nabla \wedge u = 0$ in the ε -limit. We recall the scaled energy functional is defined in (5.0.3).

Theorem 5.1.1. Let d = 2, 3 and let $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ be a finite energy weak solution consistent with a wave-function dynamics and such that there exists C > 0 with

 $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon}) \leq C,$

for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$. Then $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ converges to $\rho = 1$ and J = 0 as $\varepsilon \to 0$. More precisely,

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\varepsilon} &-1 \to 0 \quad in \quad L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})); \\ J_{\varepsilon} &\rightharpoonup^{*} 0 \quad in \quad L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{p}_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^{d})); \\ \Lambda_{\varepsilon} &\rightharpoonup^{*} 0 \quad in \quad L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})). \end{split}$$

The proof of the Theorem relies crucially on the assumptions that the sequence of solutions $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ is consistent with the respective wave-function dynamics. This consistency allows us to exploit the continuity of the vorticity provided by Lemma 2.2.7 and to infer that the vorticity vanishes in the ε -limit. The incompressible limit for finite energy weak solutions consistent with the wave-function dynamics and $\gamma = 2$ has also been investigated in [128]. For well-prepared solutions it is shown that the limit system is governed by the incompressible Euler equations. We stress that in virtue of Theorem 5.1.1 the only limit solution that can be obtained is the trivial one $\rho = 1$ and u = 0. We remark that at present, we are not able to derive the same result for a sequence of finite energy weak solutions to (5.0.2) that is not necessarily consistent with the wave-function dynamics. The main obstruction is that Lemma 2.2.7 crucially relies on the consistency of the hydrodynamic variables with a wave-function ψ . Without this information, it is not clear whether

$$\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup^* 0 \quad \text{in} \quad L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)).$$

The uniform bound in $L^{\infty}L^1$ only ensures that up to passing to subsequences $\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon}$ converges to a measure μ .

If the system (2.0.1) is considered as model for capillary fluids in a general framework not limited to quantum fluids, it is meaningful to study finite energy weak solutions without the constraint of the generalized irrotationality condition. In this setting, the analysis of the scaling limit for finite energy solutions is conceivably more involved than the one presented in Chapter 4: the analysis of Theorem 4.1.2 relies on the uniform bounds deriving from the dissipation. Moreover, the global existence of weak solution to the incompressible Euler equations for d = 3 is open so that local strong solutions for the target system need to be considered. This analysis has been carried out in [72] for the problem posed on \mathbf{T}^d , where the authors use a relative entropy method to show convergence to local strong solutions of the incompressile Euler equation for ill-prepared data under suitable regularity assumptions.

We summarize needed uniform bounds in the next Lemma that are implied by Theorem 2.1.3.

Lemma 5.1.2. Let T > 0 and $\{\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0}\} \subset \mathbb{E}_{2}$ be such that $\mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0})$ is uniformly bounded in ε . Let $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ be the finite energy weak solution to (5.0.2) on $[0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{d}$ provided by Theorem 2.1.3. Then $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}(t), \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(t)) = \mathcal{E}_{2}(\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0})$ for all times and the following bounds hold uniformly in ε ,

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{d})), \quad \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})), \\ &\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \cap L^{\gamma}_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})) \quad J_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) + L^{p}(\mathbf{R}^{d})), \end{split}$$

where $1 \le p < 2$ for d = 2 and $1 \le p \le \frac{3}{2}$ for d = 3. In particular,

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}))} \le C\varepsilon^{\alpha},$$

for some $\alpha > 0$. The vorticity enjoys the uniform bound

$$\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{d})).$$

Proof. The bounds are immediate consequences of the uniform energy bound and Lemma 2.2.3. We recall that $F(\rho_{\varepsilon}) \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$ is equivalent to $\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \in L_2^{\gamma}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ that together with the bound on $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}$ in $L^{\infty}L^2$ yields $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$ uniformly, see also Lemma 2.2.3. Proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 4.2.1, we recover that there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\|\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})} \le C\varepsilon^{\alpha}$$

The uniform $L^{\infty}L^1$ -bound for the vorticity follows from Hölder inequality.

Next, we show that the vorticity $\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon}$ converges to 0 in distributional sense.

Proposition 5.1.3. Let $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ be a finite energy weak solution to (5.0.2) provided by Theorem 2.1.3 such that there exists C > 0 independent from ε such that for all $t \in [0,T]$ one has $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon}) \leq C$. Then

$$\nabla_x \wedge J_{\varepsilon} \to 0$$
 in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$.

For d = 2, the result of Proposition 5.1.3 can also be inferred from the following quantitative result provided by [106], see also Appendix B in [105]. If $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$ is a bounded domain, $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ and $\psi \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbf{C})$ such that $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\psi) < \pi |\log \varepsilon|$, then

$$\|\operatorname{Jac}(\psi)\|_{\dot{W}^{-1,1}(\Omega)} \le \varepsilon C \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\psi) exp(\frac{1}{\pi} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\psi)).$$
(5.1.1)

Since $2\operatorname{Jac}(\psi) = \nabla \wedge J$, this quantifies the decay of the vorticity in the ε -limit. The energy bound ensures that the wave function exhibits no vortices. The motivation for the choice of the norm $\dot{W}^{-1,1}$ will become clear in Section 5.2. Here, we provide an alternative proof that yields convergence in distributional sense while the Jacobian estimate is tailored for a fine analysis of the concentration of Jacobian, i.e. vorticity in the hydrodynamic framework, in the presence of vortices.

Proof. Since provided by Theorem 2.1.3, the solution $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, J_{\varepsilon})$ is generated by a sequence of solutions to the scaled nonlinear Schrödinger equation (5.2.5) that satisfies $\{\psi_{\varepsilon}\} \subset C(\mathbf{R}; \mathbb{E}_2)$. Moreover, we infer that there exists $\psi \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ such that up to passing to a subsequence ψ_{ε} converges weakly-* to ψ . From Lemma 2.2.7, it follows that there exists a subsequence J_{ε_k} that converges weakly-* to $J = \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi)$ in $L^{\infty}(0,T; L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d))$ with 1 for <math>d = 2 and 1 for <math>d = 3. Moreover, from the uniform energy bound one has that up to subsequences $\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}$ converges weakly-* to 0 in $L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. Indeed, since

 $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; H^1(\mathbf{R}^d))$ uniformly and $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} - 1 \to 0$ strongly $L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$, the weak $L^{\infty}L^2$ -limit of $\nabla\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}$ equals 0. There exists $\Lambda \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$ such that again up to subsequences Λ_{ε} converges weakly-* to Λ . By applying Lemma 2.2.7 we get that for all $\eta \in \mathcal{D}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d)$,

$$\int_{(0,T)\times\mathbf{R}^d} (\nabla\wedge J_{\varepsilon})\eta \to \int_{(0,T)\times\mathbf{R}^d} (\nabla\wedge J)\eta$$

Since J is induced by a wave-function $\psi \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, it follows from Lemma 2.2.3 that

$$\nabla \wedge J = \nabla \wedge \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\psi}\nabla\psi) = 2\nabla\sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda = 0, \quad a.e. \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^d,$$

due to $\nabla \sqrt{\rho} = 0$ in the ε -limit. Hence, we have proven that

$$abla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \to 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^d).$$

We deduce that the current J_{ε} vanishes in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Corollary 5.1.4. Under the assumption of Proposition 5.1.3,

$$J_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup 0$$
 in $L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^d)$, $\Lambda_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup 0$ in $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

Proof. Since $J_{\varepsilon} \in L^{p}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) + L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d})$ for some $1 \leq p < \frac{3}{2}$, the current J_{ε} defines a tempered distribution. We have that $\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in \mathcal{S}' from Proposition 5.1.3. Moreover, for any $\eta \in \mathcal{D}((0,T) \times \mathbf{R}^{d})$,

$$\int_{(0,T)\times\mathbf{R}^d} \operatorname{div} J_{\varepsilon} \eta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = \varepsilon \int_{(0,T)\times\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{\partial_t (\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1)}{\varepsilon} \eta \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \to 0.$$

By density, also div J = 0 in S'. It follows that J is a tempered distribution such that div $J = \nabla \wedge J = 0$. Since $J = \Lambda$ is square integrable on \mathbf{R}^d it follows that J = 0, see e.g. Chapter 1 in [55].

We are now in position to show Theorem 5.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.1. We check that $\rho_{\varepsilon} - 1$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^{\infty}([0,T]; L^2(\mathbf{R}^d))$. With the uniform bounds of Lemma 5.1.2 at hand, we proceed as in the proof of Lemma 4.2.1 to infer the strong convergence result. Corollary 5.1.4 yields the statement of Theorem 5.1.1.

5.2 Applications to vortex dynamics

This section provides the hydrodynamic rephrasing of the result in [28]. For that purpose, we briefly recall the point vortex system for an ideal incompressible fluid [140]. Subsequently,

we discuss the analysis of vortices for the QHD sytem (2.0.1). For d = 2, the incompressible Euler equation reads

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = 0, \qquad \text{div} \, u = 0,$$
(5.2.1)

where the unknown u describes the velocity field and p the pressure. We define the vorticity as $\omega = \nabla \wedge u$. In d = 2, the velocity field u and the vorticity ω are related through the Biot-Savart law,

$$v = \left(\nabla^{\perp} G\right) * \omega, \qquad G(x) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log|x|,$$
(5.2.2)

where G denotes the Green function. The velocity field u can hence be recovered from ω provided that the vorticity satisfies suitable regularity and integrability properties. If u is solution to (5.2.1), then ω formally satisfies the transport equation

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = 0. \tag{5.2.3}$$

At least in the smooth setting ω is constant along the trajectories $\omega(t, \Phi_t(x)) = \omega_0(x)$ where Φ is the flow associated to the ODE

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Phi_t(x) = u(t, \Phi_t(x)), \qquad \Phi_0(x) = x.$$

There is a vast literature also in the context of rough vector fields initiated by the seminal paper [69]. This description gives rise to a variety of conserved quantities associated to (5.2.3) that turn out to be crucial for the purpose of the localization of vorticity. We recall the well-known existence and uniqueness result by Yudovich.

Theorem 5.2.1 ([110]). Let $\omega_0 \in L^1(\mathbf{R}^2) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2)$. There exists a unique global weak solution (u, ω) of (5.2.1) complemented with $\omega(0, x) = \omega_0(x)$. Moreover, $\omega \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}_+; L^1(\mathbf{R}^2) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^2))$, and u, ω are related by (5.2.2). Further, ω is a weak solution to (5.2.3).

We also recall the well-known result from Delort [67].

Theorem 5.2.2 ([67]). Let ω_0 is a positive Radon measure such that $\omega_0 \in H^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^2)$, then there exists a weak solution u to (5.2.1).

In the present context, our motivation is the investigation of the dynamics of point vortices that has intrigued scientists since Helmholtz [102] suggested that in an ideal incompresible fluid vorticity that is highly concentrated in a collection of points stays concentrated for finite time. Since $\delta_0 \notin H^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^2)$, none of the previous results applies. The physical intuition leads to the idea that a single vortex describes a stationary solution in the absence of interaction with the boundary and a suitable symmetric approximation formally shows that if the initial data is given by a sum of Dirac δ located in $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, ..., a_k)$ with intensities $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, ..., n_k)$ and mean $n = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i$, i.e.

$$\omega_0 = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i \delta_{a_i(0)},$$

then the dynamics is formally governed up to the first collision time by the Kirchhoff [119] law

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}a_i(t) = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i \frac{(a_i(t) - a_j(t))^{\perp}}{|a_i(t) - a_j(t)|^2}, & \text{for } i = 1, ..., N, \\ a_i(0) = a_i^0, & \text{for } i = 1, ..., k \end{cases}$$
(5.2.4)

System (5.2.4) has been subject to a remarkable number of papers, we refer the reader to [140] and reference therein. The Kirchhoff law is a Hamiltonian system where the Hamiltonian is commonly referred to as Kirchhoff-Onsager functional and reads,

$$H(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{n}) = -\sum_{i \neq j} n_i n_k \log |a_i - a_j|.$$

System (5.2.4) is known to have global solutions if all n_i have the same sign, collisions may occur otherwise. In particular, in [140] an explicit example of three point vortices that collapse in a self-similar way is given. The analysis of (5.2.4) substantially relies on its conserved quantities. While, as mentioned, a link between (5.2.1) and (5.2.4) had already been suspected since the days of Helmholtz, it has systematically been investigated in [140]. The authors show that if the vorticity is initially sharply concentrated at vortex blobs around points $\mathbf{a} =$ $(a_1, ..., a_k)$, then it stays concentrated up to a finite time. The localization property of the vorticity turns out to present the key difficulty for the proof of the asymptotic dynamics. The strategy in [140] relies on conserved quantities for (5.2.3). Once the localization property is obtained, the authors prove that the dynamics is asymptotically described by the Kirchhoff law (5.2.4). The strategy requires that the blobs are well separated at initial time on scales of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and proves that on time scales of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ the vorticity remains sharply concentrated. A series of improvements has been made subsequently. We mention in particular existence and uniqueness results for the vortex-wave system describing the evolution of a two-dimensional incompressible fluid with vorticity given by a sum of Dirac δ and a diffuse part [139, 124, 65]. Further, we indicate a very recent result [54] that is of interest in the present context as it uses weak concentration measures that are reminiscent of the techniques used for the analysis of Ginzburg-Landau vortices [63]. The stability of vortex patches has been investigated in [171]. The authors derive a L^1 -stability criterion for circular vortex patches, where the L^1 -stability is of Lyapunov type. The L^1 -distance between a patch of arbitrary geometry and a circular one of the same total mass is controlled. In [164], stability in L^1 of circular vortex patches is established among the class of all bounded vortex patches of equal strength. More precisely,

Theorem 5.2.3 ([164]). Let $B = B_r(0)$. Then for any bounded set $A \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, we have that

$$\|\omega_{B_R} - \omega_{A(t)}\|_{L^1}^2 \le 4\pi \sup_{\Omega_0 \Delta B_R} \left| |x|^2 - r^2 \right| \|\omega_{B_R} - \omega_{A(t)}\|_{L^1},$$

for all t > 0.

Given a configuration (\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{n}) such that their minimum mutual distance is of order one, and vortex patches of the form

$$\omega_i = \frac{n_i}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbf{1}_{B_\varepsilon}(a_i),$$

a direct computation shows that for the velocity u given by the Biot-Savart law the kinetic energy computed on a ball containing all

$$E_{Euler}(B_R) = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i^2 |\log \varepsilon|^2 + H(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{n}) + C(d^2, \log R) + C,$$

where $H(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{n})$ is the Kirchhoff-Onsager functional and C an absolute constant. We stress that the divergent term (in ε) does not depend on the position of the vortices but only on the degree.

Let us turn to the analysis of quantized vortices. Extensive literature has been devoted to the study of vortices in the limit for the wave-function dynamics described the scaled Gross-Pitaevskii equation

$$i\partial_t \psi_{\varepsilon} = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2}(|\psi_{\varepsilon}|^2 - 1)\psi_{\varepsilon}, \qquad (5.2.5)$$

with Ginzburg-Landau energy,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi_{\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon^2} (|\psi_{\varepsilon}|^2 - 1)^2 \mathrm{d}x.$$
 (5.2.6)

It is well-known that for suitable initial data the vortex dynamics is governed by the Kirchhoff-Onsager ODE system (5.2.4). This was predicted in [78] and numerically investigated in [150]. Typically the initial data is given by small perturbations of the scaled multi-vortex configurations (1.3.3). First rigorous results appeared for the study of bounded domains [62, 63, 133]. The problem has been addressed in [28] on the plane. Based on (1.3.3), given $(a_1, ..., a_k) \in \mathbb{R}^{2k}$ and $n_i = \pm 1$, we introduce

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}^{*}(a_{i}, n_{i})(x) := \prod_{i=1}^{k} f_{\varepsilon, n_{i}}(|z - a_{i}|) \left(\frac{z - a_{i}}{|z - a_{i}|}\right)^{n_{i}}, \qquad (5.2.7)$$

where f_{ε,n_i} as defined in (5.0.1) and set again $n = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i$. The energy of (5.2.7) computed on a large ball B_R containing all a_i is given by

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi_{\varepsilon}(a_i, n_i)) = \pi \sum_{i=1}^k n_i^2 |\log \varepsilon| + H(a_i, d_i) + C(d^2, |\log R|),$$

where H is the Kirchhoff-Onsager functional and C an absolute constant. The configuration (5.2.7) turns out to be almost energy minimizing in the class of functions with prescribed total degree equal to n. The energy of Ginzburg-Landau vortices has been intensively investigated, see for instance [25] and [28] and references therein. The assumptions $n_i = \pm 1$ is a necessary condition for the configuration to be almost energy minimizing since the energy depends quadratically on the degrees of the vortices. In hydrodynamic variables, the vortex configuration (5.2.7) reads,

$$\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^*} = \prod_{j=1}^k f_{\varepsilon,m_j}(|x-a_j|), \qquad \Lambda_{\varepsilon}^* = \left(\prod_{j=1}^n f_{\varepsilon,n_j}(|x-a_j|)\right) \sum_i^k n_j \frac{|x-a_j|^\perp}{|x-a_j|^2}.$$
 (5.2.8)

Exploiting the properties of f_{ε,n_i} being the scaled solution of (1.3.2), we notice that the size of the vortex cores is of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$ for such a configuration, while

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}^* \to \sum_{i}^k n_j \frac{|x - a_j|^{\perp}}{|x - a_j|^2}.$$

One computes that the vorticity for $(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^*}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon}^*)$ concentrates in the sense that

$$\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon}^* \to 2\pi \sum_{i=1}^k n_i \delta_{a_i}.$$

The vortex configuration (5.2.8) therefore approximates circular vortex patches of size ε^2 with intensity n_i that weakly concentrate as a sum of weighted Dirac δ . The main result in [28] states that if the initial data is sufficiently close to a configuration of the type (5.2.7) or (5.2.8) respectively then the vorticity remains sharply concentrated. More precisely, up to first collision times, the vorticity remains sharply concentrated close to a vortex configuration of type (5.2.7) where (a_i, d_i) is given by the solution of (5.2.4) with initial data (a_i^0, d_i^0) . We give the precise statement of the Theorem rephrased in hydrodynamic variables. We define $A_n = B(2^n) \setminus B(2^{n-1}) \subset \mathbf{R}^2$ and recall the Definition of well-preparedness [28].

Definition 5.2.4. Let $a_1, ..., a_N$ be N points in \mathbb{R}^2 , let $d_i = \pm 1$ for i = 1, ..., N. We say that a family $\{\psi_{\varepsilon}\}_{0 < \varepsilon < 1}$ of maps in $\mathcal{V}_*(\mathbb{R}^2) + H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is well-prepared w.r.t. the vortex configuration (a_i, d_i) if and only if there exits $R = 2^{n_0} > \max\{|a_i|\}$ and $K_0 > 0$ such that the associated hydrodynamic variables $(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon})$ satisfy

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} - 2\pi \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i \delta_{a_i} \right\|_{[C_c^{0,1}(B(R))]^*} = 0,$$
(5.2.9)

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon}, A_n) \le K_0, \quad \forall n \ge n_0,$$
(5.2.10)

and denoting $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\Lambda_d}(\cdot,\cdot)$ the scaled renormalized energy functional (2.2.2) w.r.t. to $\Lambda_d = \left(\frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|^2}\right)^d$, it holds

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\Lambda_d}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}},\Lambda_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\Lambda_d}(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}^*,\Lambda_{\varepsilon}^*(a_i,n_i)) \right] = 0$$
(5.2.11)

The assumption (5.2.9) describes the assumption that the vorticity is concentrated close to the sum of Dirac deltas characterized by the vortex configuration (a, d). Inequality (5.2.10) implements the requirement that no vortex is located at spatial infinity. Finally, in view of condition (5.2.11) on the difference of the renormalized energies, the solution $(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon})$ is sufficiently well approximated by (5.2.8) with vortex configuration (a, d) in the sense that the excess energy is small.

In hydrodynamic terms, Theorem 1 in [28] then reads as follows.

Theorem 5.2.5. Let $\{\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0}\}_{0<\varepsilon<1}$ be well-prepared with respect to the configuration (a^{0}, n_{i}) . Define $\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{0}} = |\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0}|$ and $J_{\varepsilon}^{0} = Im(\overline{\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0}}\nabla\psi_{\varepsilon}^{0})$ and denote by $(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon})$ the solution to (5.0.2) provided by Theorem 2.1.4. Let $\{a_{i}(t)\}_{i=1,...,N}$ denote the solution of the point-vortex system (5.2.4) with initial data $(a_{i}^{0})_{i=1,...,N}$ and let (T_{*}, T^{*}) denote its maximal interval of existence. Then, for every $T_{*} \leq t \leq T^{*}$, the solution $(\sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon})$ is well-prepared.

The Theorem should be read as follows. Fixed $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \dots a_k)$ and $n_i = \pm 1$, let us assume that the initial data is well-prepared with respect to the vortex configuration described by (5.2.8). Then up a to a finite time depending on the first collision, the hydrodynamic solution $(\rho_{\varepsilon}, \Lambda_{\varepsilon})$ exhibits a vorticity that is highly characterised in the sense that it is concentrated close to the multi-vortex configuration (5.2.8) where the vortex cores are the evolution of the initial vortex cores by the Kirchhoff law - in analogy to what happens for ideal incompressible fluids. This results remains valid up to the first collision time that may occur in finite time [140]. In [28] a quantitative analysis for small $\varepsilon > 0$ is provided while previous results only characterise the ε -limit. This is due to an improvement of refined Jacobian estimates introduced in [107] measuring the concentration of vorticity. To consider the problem on an unbounded domain entails several mathematical obstacles such as the divergence of the energy and the need of a renormalized energy functional as considered in [32], see also Section 1.3 and the respective version (2.1.1) for (2.0.1). As it emerged in Section 2.5.2 the suitable notion of degree is highly not trivial, see e.g. [28] and [6]. The proof in the framework of the wave-function dynamics described by (5.2.5) in [28] is based on several crucial facts. The solution given by (1.3.3)is almost energy minimizing if initially well-prepared in the sense of Definition 5.2.4. Highly accurate Jacobian estimates provide a characterization of the solution for small $\varepsilon > 0$ meaning that the vorticity is concentrated in a suitable sense close to a sum of Dirac δ . This allows one to control the distance of ψ_{ε} to an almost energy minimizing vortex configuration of the type (5.2.7) by means of a relative energy functional. However, we stress that the analysis in the context of (5.2.5) requires conceivably more sophisticated techniques. Once the localization property is obtained, one considers the evolution of the vorticity described by the equation

$$\partial_t \left(\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} \right) = -\nabla \wedge \operatorname{div} \left(\Lambda_{\varepsilon} \otimes \Lambda_{\varepsilon} \right) - \nabla \wedge \operatorname{div} \left(\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \otimes \nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \right), \tag{5.2.12}$$

to be seen as analogue of (5.2.3) - even though due to the compressibility of system (2.0.1), equation (5.2.12) does not describe a transport equation. The strong concentration property together with the mentioned relative entropy functional can be exploited to derive the approximation by the ODE system in the ε -limit.

In the context of (5.0.2) and (5.2.5), we deal with a compressible system; difficulties can mathematically be associated to the fact that while the Biot-Savart law (5.2.2) (formally) relates velocity and vorticity while the same is not true in the quantum setting. On the level of the wave-function dynamics the Jacobian corresponding to half of the vorticity does not relate to the velocity field, thought of as the phase gradient in the ε -limit, nicely. Mathematically, this can be also put in the context of lifting problems. This is even less clear in the context of the generalized irrotationality condition $\nabla \wedge J_{\varepsilon} = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \Lambda_{\varepsilon}$. On the other hand, the dynamics of (5.0.2) and (5.2.5) provides information that is not available in the classical setting. For instance, the quantized vortices have a radial-symmetric geometry and a determined core size that is prescribed by the healing length. The scaling parameter ε arises naturally. To complete the analogy with classical fluid dynamics, we notice that the stronger concentration estimates for the vorticity of (5.2.5) compared to (5.2.1) suggest that the dynamics of a quantum fluid allows one to better localize concentrated vorticity. While the stability estimates of Theorem 5.2.3 and the one in [171] are posed in L^1 , the vorticity for the QHD system concentrates in $W^{-1,1}$. We mention the recent result [54] where the authors rely on weak concentration measure to analyse the vortex dynamics for the incompressible Euler equation. In this respect, we also point out that for d = 3 in [105] leap-frogging was proved for vortex rings solution to (5.2.5) while to the best of our knowledge the analogue for the incompressible Euler equations is open. It is therefore natural to pose the question if the results for (5.2.5) can be recovered for (5.0.2) without relying on the wave-function dynamics. For instance, it would be of great interest to study the scaling limit for (5.0.2) for d = 2 only relying on the hydrodynamic variables $(\sqrt{\rho}, \Lambda)$. To that end, it occurs to further study to which extent the properties of the finite energy weak solutions to (2.0.1) including the generalized irrotationality condition $\nabla \wedge J = 2\nabla \sqrt{\rho} \wedge \Lambda$ can compensate for the properties entailed by the wave-function dynamics.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. A. ADAMS AND J. J. F. FOURNIER, Sobolev spaces, vol. 140 of Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam), Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, second ed., 2003.
- [2] A. AFTALION, Vortices in Bose-Einstein condensates, vol. 67 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2006.
- [3] T. ALAZARD, A minicourse on the low Mach number limit, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S, 1 (2008), pp. 365–404.
- [4] G. ALBERTI, Distributional Jacobian and singularities of Sobolev maps, Ricerche Mat., 54 (2005), pp. 375–394 (2006).
- [5] J. F. ALLEN AND A. D. MISENER, Flow of liquid helium ii, Nature, 141 (1938), pp. 75–75.
- [6] L. ALMEIDA, Threshold transition energies for Ginzburg-Landau functionals, Nonlinearity, 12 (1999), pp. 1389–1414.
- [7] P. ANTONELLI, Remarks on the derivation of finite energy weak solutions to the QHD system, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, (2019).
- [8] P. ANTONELLI, L. E. HIENTZSCH, AND P. MARCATI, The incompressible limit for finite energy weak solutions of quantum Navier-Stokes equations, accepted and to appear in Proceedings of the XVII International Conference on Hyperbolic Problems: Theory, Numerics, Applications 2018, (2019).
- [9] —, On the low Mach number limit for Quantum Navier-Stokes equations, arXiv eprints, (2019), p. arXiv:1902.00402.
- [10] P. ANTONELLI, L. E. HIENTZSCH, P. MARCATI, AND H. ZHENG, On some results for quantum hydrodynamical models, in Mathematical Analysis in Fluid and Gas Dynamics, T. Kobayashi, ed., vol. 2070, RIMS Kôkyûroku, 2018, pp. 107–129.

- [11] P. ANTONELLI AND P. MARCATI, On the finite energy weak solutions to a system in quantum fluid dynamics, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 287 (2008), pp. 657– 686.
- [12] —, The Quantum Hydrodynamics System in Two Space Dimensions, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 203 (2012), pp. 499–527.
- [13] P. ANTONELLI AND S. SPIRITO, Global existence of finite energy weak solutions of quantum navier-stokes equations, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 225 (2017), pp. 1161–1199.
- [14] —, Global existence of weak solutions to the Navier-Stokes-Korteweg equations, arXiv e-prints, (2019), p. arXiv:1903.02441.
- [15] C. AUDIARD, Small energy traveling waves for the Euler-Korteweg system, Nonlinearity, 30 (2017), pp. 3362–3399.
- [16] C. AUDIARD AND B. HASPOT, Global well-posedness of the Euler-Korteweg system for small irrotational data, Comm. Math. Phys., 351 (2017), pp. 201–247.
- [17] —, From the Gross-Pitaevskii equation to the Euler Korteweg system, existence of global strong solutions with small irrotational initial data, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 197 (2018), pp. 721–760.
- [18] C. BARENGHI AND N. PARKER, A primer on quantum fluids, Springer Briefs in Physics, 08 2016.
- [19] S. BENZONI-GAVAGE, Propagating phase boundaries and capillary fluids. Lecture notes CIRM - Levico, June 2010.
- [20] —, Planar traveling waves in capillary fluids, Differential Integral Equations, 26 (2013), pp. 439–485.
- [21] S. BENZONI-GAVAGE, R. DANCHIN, AND S. DESCOMBES, On the well-posedness for the Euler-Korteweg model in several space dimensions, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 56 (2007), pp. 1499–1579.
- [22] J. BERGH AND J. LÖFSTRÖM, Interpolation spaces. An introduction, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 223.
- [23] N. G. BERLOFF, Quantised vortices, travelling coherent structures and superfluid turbulence, in Stationary and time dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equations, vol. 473 of Contemp. Math., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008, pp. 27–54.
- [24] F. BÉTHUEL, The approximation problem for Sobolev maps between two manifolds, Acta Math., 167 (1991), pp. 153–206.

- [25] F. BETHUEL, H. BREZIS, AND F. HÉLEIN, *Ginzburg-Landau vortices*, vol. 13 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1994.
- [26] F. BÉTHUEL, R. DANCHIN, AND D. SMETS, On the linear wave regime of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Journal d'Analyse Mathématique, 110 (2010), pp. 297–338.
- [27] F. BÉTHUEL, P. GRAVEJAT, AND J.-C. SAUT, Travelling waves for the gross-pitaevskii equation ii, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 285 (2009), pp. 567–651.
- [28] F. BETHUEL, R. L. JERRARD, AND D. SMETS, On the NLS dynamics for infinite energy vortex configurations on the plane, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 24 (2008), pp. 671–702.
- [29] F. BETHUEL, G. ORLANDI, AND D. SMETS, Vortex rings for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 6 (2004), pp. 17–94.
- [30] F. BÉTHUEL AND J.-C. SAUT, Travelling waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation i, Annales de l'I.H.P. Physique théorique, 70 (1999), pp. 147–238.
- [31] F. BÉTHUEL AND J. C. SAUT, Vortices and Sound Waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii Equation, vol. 569 of Nato Science Series C: 569, Springer Netherlands, 2002, pp. 339– 354.
- [32] F. BÉTHUEL AND D. SMETS, A remark on the Cauchy problem for the 2d Gross-Pitaevskii equation with nonzero degree at infinity, Differential Integral Equations, 20 (2007), pp. 325–338.
- [33] C. BOCCATO, C. BRENNECKE, S. CENATIEMPO, AND B. SCHLEIN, Bogoliubov theory in the Gross-Pitaevskii limit, Acta Math., 222 (2019), pp. 219–225.
- [34] N. N. BOGOLYUBOV, On the theory of superfluidity, J. Phys.(USSR), 11 (1947), pp. 23–32. [Izv. Akad. Nauk Ser. Fiz.11,77(1947)].
- [35] J. BOURGAIN, H. BREZIS, AND P. MIRONESCU, Lifting in Sobolev spaces, J. Anal. Math., 80 (2000), pp. 37–86.
- [36] Y. BRENIER, Polar factorization and monotone rearrangement of vector-valued functions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 44 (1991), pp. 375–417.
- [37] D. BRESCH, F. COUDERC, P. NOBLE, AND J.-P. VILA, A generalization of the quantum Bohm identity: hyperbolic CFL condition for Euler-Korteweg equations, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 354 (2016), pp. 39–43.
- [38] D. BRESCH AND B. DESJARDINS, Quelques modèles diffusifs capillaires de type Korteweg, Comptes Rendus Mécanique, 332 (2004), pp. 881 – 886.

- [39] D. BRESCH, B. DESJARDINS, AND C.-K. LIN, On some compressible fluid models: Korteweg, lubrication, and shallow water systems, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 28 (2003), pp. 843–868.
- [40] D. BRESCH, M. GISCLON, AND I. LACROIX-VIOLET, On Navier-Stokes-Korteweg and Euler-Korteweg systems: application to quantum fluids models, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 233 (2019), pp. 975–1025.
- [41] D. BRESCH, P. NOBLE, AND J.-P. VILA, Relative entropy for compressible Navier-Stokes equations with density-dependent viscosities and applications, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 354 (2016), pp. 45–49.
- [42] D. BRESCH, A. VASSEUR, AND C. YU, Global Existence of Entropy-Weak Solutions to the Compressible Navier-Stokes Equations with Non-Linear Density Dependent Viscosities, arXiv e-prints, (2019), p. arXiv:1905.02701.
- [43] H. BREZIS, How to recognize constant functions. A connection with Sobolev spaces, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 57 (2002), pp. 59–74.
- [44] H. BREZIS AND E. H. LIEB, Minimum action solutions of some vector field equations, Comm. Math. Phys., 96 (1984), pp. 97–113.
- [45] H. BREZIS AND L. NIRENBERG, Degree theory and BMO; part i: Compact manifolds without boundaries, Selecta Mathematica, 1 (1995), pp. 197–263.
- [46] S. BRULL AND F. MÉHATS, Derivation of viscous correction terms for the isothermal quantum euler model, ZAMM - Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics / Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, 90 (2010), pp. 219–230.
- [47] M. BULÍČEK, E. FEIREISL, J. MÁLEK, AND R. SHVYDKOY, On the motion of incompressible inhomogeneous Euler-Korteweg fluids, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S, 3 (2010), pp. 497–515.
- [48] R. CARLES, K. CARRAPATOSO, AND M. HILLAIRET, Rigidity results in generalized isothermal fluids, Ann. H. Lebesgue, 1 (2018), pp. 47–85.
- [49] —, *Rigidity results in generalized isothermal fluids*, arXiv e-prints, (2018), p. arXiv:1803.07837.
- [50] —, Global weak solutions for quantum isothermal fluids, arXiv e-prints, (2019), p. arXiv:1905.00732.
- [51] R. CARLES AND I. GALLAGHER, Universal dynamics for the defocusing logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Duke Math. J., 167 (2018), pp. 1761–1801.

- [52] T. CAZENAVE, Semilinear Schrödinger equations, vol. 10 of Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, New York University, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York; American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [53] T. CAZENAVE AND A. HARAUX, Équations d'évolution avec non linéarité logarithmique, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (5), 2 (1980), pp. 21–51.
- [54] S. CECI AND C. SEIS, Vortex dynamics for 2D Euler flows with unbounded vorticity, arXiv e-prints, (2019), p. arXiv:1907.10923.
- [55] J.-Y. CHEMIN, Perfect incompressible fluids, vol. 14 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998. Translated from the 1995 French original by Isabelle Gallagher and Dragos Iftimie.
- [56] D. CHIRON, Travelling waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation in dimension larger than two, Nonlinear Anal., 58 (2004), pp. 175–204.
- [57] —, Vortex helices for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées, 84 (2005), pp. 1555–1647.
- [58] D. CHIRON AND M. MARIŞ, Rarefaction pulses for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation in the transonic limit, Comm. Math. Phys., 326 (2014), pp. 329–392.
- [59] D. CHIRON AND M. MARIŞ, Traveling waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonzero conditions at infinity, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 226 (2017), pp. 143–242.
- [60] D. CHIRON AND C. SCHEID, Multiple branches of travelling waves for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Nonlinearity, 31 (2018), pp. 2809–2853.
- [61] Y. CHO, T. OZAWA, AND S. XIA, Remarks on some dispersive estimates, Communications on Pure & Applied Analysis, 10 (2011), pp. 1121–1128.
- [62] J. E. COLLIANDER AND R. L. JERRARD, Vortex dynamics for the Ginzburg-Landau-Schrödinger equation, International Mathematics Research Notices, 1998 (1998), pp. 333–358.
- [63] —, Ginzburg-Landau vortices: weak stability and Schrödinger equation dynamics, Journal d'Analyse Mathématique, 77 (1999), pp. 129–205.
- [64] E. CORNELL AND C. WIEMAN, Nobel Lecture: Bose-Einstein condensation in a dilute gas, the first 70 years and some recent experiments, Review of Modern Physics, 74 (2002), pp. 875–893.
- [65] G. CRIPPA, M. C. LOPES FILHO, E. MIOT, AND H. J. NUSSENZVEIG LOPES, Flows of vector fields with point singularities and the vortex-wave system, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 36 (2016), pp. 2405–2417.

- [66] L. DE PASCALE, The Morse-Sard theorem in Sobolev spaces, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 50 (2001), pp. 1371–1386.
- [67] J.-M. DELORT, Existence de nappes de tourbillon en dimension deux, J. Amer. Math. Soc., 4 (1991), pp. 553–586.
- [68] B. DESJARDINS AND E. GRENIER, Low Mach number limit of viscous compressible flows in the whole space, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 455 (1999), pp. 2271–2279.
- [69] R. J. DIPERNA AND P.-L. LIONS, Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and Sobolev spaces, Invent. Math., 98 (1989), pp. 511–547.
- [70] D. DONATELLI, E. FEIREISL, AND P. MARCATI, Well/ill posedness for the Euler-Korteweg-Poisson system and related problems, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 40 (2015), pp. 1314–1335.
- [71] D. DONATELLI AND P. MARCATI, A quasineutral type limit for the navier-stokespoisson system with large data, Nonlinearity, 21 (2007), p. 135.
- [72] —, Quasi-neutral limit, dispersion, and oscillations for korteweg-type fluids, SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 47 (2015), pp. 2265–2282.
- [73] —, Low mach number limit for the quantum hydrodynamics system, Research in the Mathematical Sciences, 3 (2016), p. 13.
- [74] R. J. DONELLY, Quantized Vortices in Helium II, Cambridge Studies in Low Temperature Physics, 1991.
- [75] J. E. DUNN AND J. SERRIN, On the thermomechanics of interstitial working, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 88 (1985), pp. 95–133.
- [76] E. FEIREISL AND A. NOVOTNY, Singular limits in thermodynamics of viscous fluids, Springer, 2009.
- [77] E. FEIREISL, A. NOVOTNÝ, AND H. PETZELTOVÁ, On the existence of globally defined weak solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 3 (2001), pp. 358– 392.
- [78] A. L. FETTER, Vortices in an imperfect Bose gas. iv. translational velocity, Phys. Rev., 151 (1966), pp. 100–104.
- [79] R. P. FEYNMAN, Superfluidity and superconductivity, Reviews of modern physics, 29 (1957), p. 205.

- [80] FEYNMAN, R.P., Chapter II Application of Quantum Mechanics to Liquid Helium, in Progress in low temperature physics, C. Gorter, ed., vol. 1 of Progress in Low Temperature Physics, Elsevier, 1955, pp. 17 – 53.
- [81] C. GALLO, Schrödinger group on Zhidkov spaces, Adv. Differential Equations, 9 (2004), pp. 509–538.
- [82] —, The Cauchy problem for defocusing nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonvanishing initial data at infinity, Communications in Partial Differential Equations, 33 (2008), pp. 729–771.
- [83] C. L. GARDNER, The quantum hydrodynamic model for semiconductor devices, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 54 (1994), pp. 409–427.
- [84] P. GÉRARD, The Cauchy problem for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 23 (2006), pp. 765–779.
- [85] J. GIESSELMANN, C. LATTANZIO, AND A. E. TZAVARAS, Relative energy for the Korteweg theory and related Hamiltonian flows in gas dynamics, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 223 (2017), pp. 1427–1484.
- [86] J. GINIBRE AND G. VELO, Scattering theory in the energy space for a class of nonlinear Schrödinger equations, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 64 (1985), pp. 363–401.
- [87] V. GINZBURG AND L. PITAEVSKII, On the theory of superfluidity, Sov. Phys. JETP, 7 (1958), pp. 858–861.
- [88] V. L. GINZBURG AND L. D. LANDAU, On the Theory of Superconductivity, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2009, pp. 113–137.
- [89] J. GRANT AND P. H. ROBERTS, Motions in a Bose condensate. III. the structure and effective masses of charged and uncharged impurities, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical, Nuclear and General, 7 (1974), pp. 260–279.
- [90] E. P. GROSS, Hydrodynamics of a superfluid condensate, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 4 (1963), pp. 195–207.
- [91] M. P. GUALDANI AND A. JÜNGEL, Analysis of the viscous quantum hydrodynamic equations for semiconductors, European J. Appl. Math., 15 (2004), pp. 577–595.
- [92] Z. GUO, Z. HANI, AND K. NAKANISHI, Scattering for the 3d Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Communications in Mathematical Physics, (2017).
- [93] Z. GUO, L. PENG, AND B. WANG, Decay estimates for a class of wave equations, Journal of Functional Analysis, 254 (2008), pp. 1642 – 1660.

- [94] Z. GUO AND W. SONG, Global well-posedness and large-time behavior of classical solutions to the 3D Navier-Stokes system with changed viscosities, J. Math. Phys., 60 (2019), pp. 031502, 29.
- [95] S. GUSTAFSON, K. NAKANISHI, AND T.-P. TSAI, Scattering for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Math. Res. Lett., 13 (2006), pp. 273–285.
- [96] —, Global dispersive solutions for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation in two and three dimensions, Ann. Henri Poincaré, 8 (2007), pp. 1303–1331.
- [97] —, Scattering theory for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation in three dimensions, Commun. Contemp. Math., 11 (2009), pp. 657–707.
- [98] F. HAAS, Quantum plasmas, vol. 65 of Springer Series on Atomic, Optical, and Plasma Physics, Springer, New York, 2011. An hydrodynamic approach.
- [99] H. E. HALL AND W. F. VINEN, The rotation of liquid helium ii ii. the theory of mutual friction in uniformly rotating helium ii, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 238 (1956), pp. 215–234.
- [100] B. HASPOT, Existence of global strong solution for the compressible Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosity coefficients in 1D, Math. Nachr., 291 (2018), pp. 2188– 2203.
- [101] M. HEIDA AND J. MÁLEK, On compressible Korteweg fluid-like materials, Internat. J. Engrg. Sci., 48 (2010), pp. 1313–1324.
- [102] H. HELMHOLTZ, Über integrale der hydrodynamischen Gleichungen, welche den Wirbelbewegungen entsprechen., Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik, 55 (1858), pp. 25–55.
- [103] R. HERVÉ AND M. HERVÉ, Quelques propriétés des solutions de l'équation de Ginzburg-Landau sur un ouvert de r2, Potential Analysis, 5 (1996), pp. 591–609.
- [104] L. HÖRMANDER, The analysis of linear partial differential operators I: Distribution theory and Fourier analysis, Springer, 2015.
- [105] R. L. JERRARD AND D. SMETS, Leapfrogging vortex rings for the three dimensional Gross-Pitaevskii equation, Annals of PDE, 4 (2018), p. 4.
- [106] R. L. JERRARD AND D. SPIRN, Refined Jacobian estimates for Ginzburg-Landau functionals, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 56 (2007), pp. 135–186.
- [107] —, Refined Jacobian estimates and Gross-Pitaevsky vortex dynamics, Archive for rational mechanics and analysis, 190 (2008), pp. 425–475.

- [108] C. JONES AND P. ROBERTS, Motions in a Bose condensate. iv. axisymmetric solitary waves, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 15 (1982), p. 2599.
- [109] C. A. JONES, S. J. PUTTERMAN, AND P. H. ROBERTS, Motions in a Bose condensate. v. stability of solitary wave solutions of non-linear Schrödinger equations in two and three dimensions, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 19 (1986), pp. 2991–3011.
- [110] V. I. JUDOVIČ, Non-stationary flows of an ideal incompressible fluid, Ž. Vyčisl. Mat i Mat. Fiz., 3 (1963), pp. 1032–1066.
- [111] A. JÜNGEL, Dissipative quantum fluid models, Riv. Math. Univ. Parma (N.S.), 3 (2012), pp. 217–290.
- [112] A. JÜNGEL AND J.-P. MILIŠIC, Full compressible Navier-Stokes equations for quantum fluids: derivation and numerical solution, Kinetic Related Models, 4 (2011), pp. 785–807.
- [113] M. K, M. KOBAYASHI, AND H. TAKEUCHI, Quantum hydrodynamics, physrep, 522 (2013), pp. 191–238.
- [114] P. KAPITZA, Viscosity of liquid helium below the λ -point, Nature, 141 (1938), p. 74.
- [115] M. KEEL AND T. TAO, Endpoint Strichartz estimates, Amer. J. Math, 120 (1998), pp. 955–980.
- [116] W. KETTERLE, Nobel Lecture: When atoms behave as waves: Bose-Einstein condensation and the atom laser, Reviews of Modern Physics, 74 (2002), p. 1131.
- [117] I. M. KHALATNIKOV, An introduction to the theory of superfluidity, CRC Press, 2018.
- [118] R. KILLIP, T. OH, O. POCOVNICU, AND M. VISAN, Global well-posedness of the Gross-Pitaevskii and cubic-quintic nonlinear Schrödinger equations with non-vanishing boundary conditions, Mat. Res. Lett., 19 (2012), pp. 969–986.
- [119] G. R. KIRCHHOFF, Vorlesungen über mathematische Physik, Teubner, Leipzig, 1876.
- [120] Y. S. KIVSHAR AND B. LUTHER-DAVIES, Dark optical solitons: physics and applications, Physics Reports, 298 (1998), pp. 81–97.
- [121] D. J. KORTEWEG, Sur la forme que prennent les équations du mouvements des fluides si l'on tient compte des forces capillaires causées par des variations de densité considérables mais continues et sur la théorie de la capillarité dans l'hypothése d'une variation continue de la densit'e,, Arch. Neerl. Sci. Exactes, 6 (1901), pp. 1–24.
- [122] E. A. KUZNETSOV AND J. J. RASMUSSEN, Instability of two-dimensional solitons and vortices in defocusing media, Phys. Rev. E, 51 (1995), pp. 4479–4484.

- [123] Y.-S. KWON AND F. LI, Incompressible limit of the degenerate quantum compressible Navier-Stokes equations with general initial data, J. Differential Equations, 264 (2018), pp. 3253-3284.
- [124] C. LACAVE AND E. MIOT, Uniqueness for the vortex-wave system when the vorticity is constant near the point vortex, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 41 (2009), pp. 1138–1163.
- [125] I. LACROIX-VIOLET AND A. VASSEUR, Global weak solutions to the compressible quantum Navier-Stokes equation and its semi-classical limit, Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 114 (2018), pp. 191–210.
- [126] L. LANDAU, Theory of the superfluidity of helium ii, Physical Review, 60 (1941), p. 356.
- [127] J. LERAY, Sur le mouvement d'un liquide visqueux emplissant l'espace, Acta Math., 63 (1934), pp. 193–248.
- [128] F. LI, C.-K. LIN, AND K.-C. WU, Asymptotic limit of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation with general initial data, Science China Mathematics, 59 (2016), pp. 1113–1126.
- [129] J. LI AND Z. XIN, Global Existence of Weak Solutions to the Barotropic Compressible Navier-Stokes Flows with Degenerate Viscosities, arXiv e-prints, (2015), p. arXiv:1504.06826.
- [130] Y. LI, R. PAN, AND S. ZHU, Recent progress on classical solutions for compressible isentropic Navier-Stokes equations with degenerate viscosities and vacuum, Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 47 (2016), pp. 507–519.
- [131] —, On classical solutions for viscous polytropic fluids with degenerate viscosities and vacuum, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, (2019).
- [132] E. H. LIEB AND M. LOSS, Analysis, volume 14 of graduate studies in mathematics, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 4 (2001).
- [133] F. LIN AND J. XIN, On the incompressible fluid limit and the vortex motion law of the nonlinear schrödinger equation, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 200 (1999), pp. 249–274.
- [134] P.-L. LIONS, Mathematical topics in fluid mechanics. Vol. 1, vol. 3 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1996. Incompressible models, Oxford Science Publications.
- [135] —, Mathematical topics in fluid mechanics. Vol. 2, vol. 10 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998. Compressible models, Oxford Science Publications.
- [136] P.-L. LIONS AND N. MASMOUDI, Incompressible limit for a viscous compressible fluid, Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées, 77 (1998), pp. 585–627.
- [137] F. LONDON, The λ-phenomenon of liquid helium and the Bose-Einstein degeneracy, Nature, 141 (1938), pp. 643–644.
- [138] E. MADELUNG, Quantentheorie in hydrodynamischer form, Zeitschrift f
 ür Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei, 40 (1927), pp. 322–326.
- [139] C. MARCHIORO AND M. PULVIRENTI, On the vortex-wave system, in Mechanics, analysis and geometry: 200 years after Lagrange, North-Holland Delta Ser., North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1991, pp. 79–95.
- [140] —, Mathematical theory of incompressible nonviscous fluids, vol. 96, Springer Science, 1994.
- [141] M. MARIŞ, Nonexistence of supersonic traveling waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonzero conditions at infinity, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 40 (2008), pp. 1076–1103.
- [142] —, Traveling waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonzero conditions at infinity, Ann. of Math. (2), 178 (2013), pp. 107–182.
- [143] S. MASAKI AND H. MIYAZAKI, Global behavior of solutions to generalized Gross-Pitaevskii equation, arXiv preprint arXiv:1612.02738, (2016).
- [144] A. MELLET AND A. VASSEUR, Existence and uniqueness of global strong solutions for one-dimensional compressible Navier-Stokes equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 39 (2007/08), pp. 1344–1365.
- [145] E. MIOT, Dynamics of vortices for the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation, Anal. PDE, 2 (2009), pp. 159–186.
- [146] P. MIRONESCU, Le déterminant jacobien [d'après Brezis et Nguyen], in Séminaire Bourbaki. Vol. 2010/2011, no. 348, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2012, pp. Exp. No. 1041, x, 405–424.
- [147] P. MIRONESCU, E. RUSS, AND Y. SIRE, Lifting in besov spaces, Nonlinear Analysis, (2019).
- [148] H. MIYAZAKI, The derivation of the conservation law for defocusing nonlinear schrödinger equations with non-vanishing initial data at infinity, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 417 (2014), pp. 580–600.
- [149] S. MÜLLER, det = det. a remark on the distributional determinant, CR Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math, 311 (1990), pp. 13–17.

- [150] J. C. NEU, Vortices in complex scalar fields, Phys. D, 43 (1990), pp. 385–406.
- [151] H. K. ONNES, Investigations into the properties of substances at low temperatures, which have led, amongst other things, to the preparation of liquid helium, Nobel lecture, 4 (1913).
- [152] L. ONSAGER, Statistical hydrodynamics, Il Nuovo Cimento (1943-1954), 6 (1949), pp. 279–287.
- [153] Y. OVCHINNIKOV AND I. SIGAL, Ginzburg-Landau equation. I. Static vortices, in Partial differential equations and their applications (Toronto, ON, 1995), vol. 12 of CRM Proc. Lecture Notes, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 199–220.
- [154] —, On the Ginzburg-Landau and related equations., Sémin. Équ. Dériv. Partielles, Éc. Polytech., Cent. Math. Laurent Schwartz, Palaiseau, 1997-1998 (1998), p. ex.
- [155] —, The energy of Ginzburg-Landau vortices, European Journal of Applied Mathematics, 13 (2002), pp. 153–178.
- [156] R. E. PACKARD AND T. SANDERS JR, Observations on single vortex lines in rotating superfluid helium, Physical Review A, 6 (1972), p. 799.
- [157] H. PECHER, Unconditional global well-posedness for the 3D Gross-Pitaevskii equation for data without finite energy, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., 20 (2013), pp. 1851–1877.
- [158] D. E. PELINOVSKY, Y. A. STEPANYANTS, AND Y. S. KIVSHAR, Self-focusing of plane dark solitons in nonlinear defocusing media, Phys. Rev. E, 51 (1995), pp. 5016–5026.
- [159] L. PITAEVSKII, Vortex lines in an imperfect Bose gas, Sov. Phys. JETP, 13 (1961), pp. 451–454.
- [160] L. PITAEVSKII AND S. STRINGARI, Bose-Einstein condensation and superfluidity, vol. 164, Oxford University Press, 2016.
- [161] F. ROUSSET, Solutions faibles de l'équation de Navier-Stokes des fluides compressibles [d'après A. Vasseur et C. Yu], in Séminaire Bourbaki. Vol. 2016/2017, no. 407, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2019, pp. Exp. No. 1135, 565–584.
- [162] E. SANDIER AND S. SERFATY, Vortices in the magnetic Ginzburg-Landau model, vol. 70 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2007.
- [163] B. SCHLEIN, Bogoliubov excitation spectrum for Bose-Einstein condensates, arXiv preprint arXiv:1802.06662, (2018).

- [164] T. C. SIDERIS AND L. VEGA, Stability in L¹ of circular vortex patches, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 137 (2009), pp. 4199–4202.
- [165] M. SLEMROD, Admissibility criteria for propagating phase boundaries in a van der Waals fluid, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 81 (1983), pp. 301–315.
- [166] —, Dynamic phase transitions in a van der Waals fluid, J. Differential Equations, 52 (1984), pp. 1–23.
- [167] T. TAO, Nonlinear dispersive equations: Local and global analysis, vol. 106 of CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC; by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006.
- [168] T. TAO AND M. VISAN, Stability of energy-critical nonlinear Schrödinger equations in high dimensions, Electronic Journal of Differential Equations, 2005 (2005), pp. 1–28.
- [169] S. UKAI, The incompressible limit and the initial layer of the compressible Euler equation, J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 26 (1986), pp. 323–331.
- [170] A. F. VASSEUR AND C. YU, Global weak solutions to the compressible quantum Navier-Stokes equations with damping, SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 48 (2016), pp. 1489–1511.
- [171] Y. H. WAN AND M. PULVIRENTI, Nonlinear stability of circular vortex patches, Comm. Math. Phys., 99 (1985), pp. 435–450.
- [172] S. WEIGERT, How to determine a quantum state by measurements: The Pauli problem for a particle with arbitrary potential, Physical Review A, (1996), pp. 2078–2083.
- [173] J. YANG, Q. JU, AND Y.-F. YANG, Asymptotic limits of Navier-Stokes equations with quantum effects, Zeitschrift f
 ür angewandte Mathematik und Physik, 66 (2015), pp. 2271–2283.
- [174] P. E. ZHIDKOV, The Cauchy Problem for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Communications of the Joint Institute for Nuclear Research. Dubna, R5-87-373, Joint Inst. Nuclear Res., Dubna, 1987. With an English summary.
- [175] —, Korteweg-de Vries and nonlinear Schrödinger equations: qualitative theory, vol. 1756 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.